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Highlights

SxEn
Revenue

(3,217,138,000

7T HK$

¥4 %

IHES
Sales volume

292,000

0 METRIC TONS
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Gross profit margin

24.3%
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Profit attributable to owners
of the Company

86,623,000

BITHKS

Y93 %

siRN

Earnings per share

15.2

Bl HK CENTS

EFRI
Dividend for the year

12

Bl HK CENTS

¥87%

IQ*\S//
/

CRRTEEEAATKRREGERN A
DR EEE

*  Measured by net bank borrowings as

a percentage of equity attributable to

owners of the Company

CElud::
Gearing ratio*

14.0%
¥10.8 it

EHZE2023F12A31H LEE (KER)
For the year ended 31 December 2023 (audited)
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Mr. Wong Yuk *
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Mr. Ku Yee Dao, Lawrence *
Ms. Yau Ching Man *
(appointed on 22 March 2024)

* Independent Non-executive Directors

Executive Directors
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Mr. Ip Kwan (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Ho Sai Hou (Chief Financial Officer)

Senior Leadership Team
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Mr. Ho Pak Chuen, Patrick

Company Secretary
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Chairman’s Statement — Review and Outlook

F & Chairman
RS E Mr. Ip Chi Shing
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Review

It is my pleasure to present to all shareholders (“Shareholder(s)”)
of Yip’s Chemical Holdings Limited (the “Company”, together
with its subsidiaries collectively be referred to as “Yip’'s Chemical”
or the “Group”) an overview of the Group’s performance for the
year ended 31 December 2023 (the “year under review").

The overall business structure of the Group has changed
significantly as the Group entered into an agreement with PAG in
2022 in relation to the disposal of the controlling equity interest
in the solvents business (please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 25 July 2022 for details). Therefore, all relevant
data in the business performance overview for the year under
review have been adjusted accordingly for reporting.
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Chairman’s Statement — Review and Outlook

Last year, the Group indeed faced a very unfavorable, tough
and extremely challenging operating environment on both the
international and domestic fronts. On the international front,
the Russia-Ukraine war reached a stalemate and intense fighting
raged in Gaza amidst the heightened geopolitical instability in
many parts of the world. Furthermore, the global economy was
under extreme pressure due to the persistently high interest rates
and the rise in trade protectionism in many countries. On the
domestic front, consumer sentiment was seriously undermined
by the poor property market, stock market downturn, Renminbi
(“RMB") depreciation, and the significant hit on export business.

In general, the Group’s overall business faced significant
challenges during the year under review, making it difficult to
stay unaffected. Fortunately, the Group proactively prepared
two years ago as it consistently implemented a number of cost
control measures, which have been gradually yielding results.
Each core business further consolidated its position, performed
better than expected and significantly improved compared to
the corresponding period of the preceding year, which were
gratifying. On the other hand, the Group finally decided at the
end of the year under review to fully withdraw from the “Damai”
business that mainly engages in the automotive aftermarket.
Such decision was the most regrettable for the Group. The Group
started investing in such business in 2018. Due to many negative
internal and external factors, the growth of the business did
not meet the Group’s expectations. After prudent assessments,
the Group made a tough decision to fully withdraw from such
business starting from January 2024. The Group also had to make
a one-off write-down of approximately HK$57 million. The Group
has made a profound reflection on this unsuccessful investment
and is committed to improving its investment strategy in the
future.

On a consolidated basis, the Group recorded a revenue of
HK$3.22 billion and sales volume of 292,000 metric tonnes for
the year under review, representing a decrease of 4% and an
increase of 9% respectively when compared to the corresponding
period of the preceding year. The profit attributable to owners
recorded HK$86.6 million, representing a decrease of 93%
year-on-year. However, after excluding the significant one-off
gain from the disposal of the solvents business in 2022 and the
one-off write-down associated with Damai in 2023, the Group's
profit attributable to owners increased by 328% year-on-year.

2023 ANNUAL REPORT  YIP’S CHEMICAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Regarding financial performance, the management of the
Group continued its unrelenting efforts to impose strict and
comprehensive control over the working capital, maintaining
stable and healthy performance in terms of credit and relevant
indicators. The Group is not significantly affected by debt defaults
of property developers and received a significant cash inflow from
the disposal of 51% effective interest in the solvents business.
This resulted in a significant improvement in the gearing ratio of
the Group as the Group recorded a gearing ratio of only 14.0%,
as compared with 24.8% as at the year end of the preceding
year.

After a comprehensive and thorough assessment of the Group's
business prospects and in an effort to continuously implement
the policy of rewarding Shareholders earnestly, the board
(the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of the Company
recommended to pay a final dividend of HK10 cents per share to
all Shareholders as compared to the final dividend of HK5 cents
per share declared in the preceding year.

Outlook

| remain cautiously optimistic about the business outlook for
the coming year. It is expected that the aforesaid unfavorable
factors in the internal and external environment will continue
to pose persistent challenges and disturbances in this year
and are hard to eliminate. There will also be the possibility of
additional uncertainties in geopolitical tensions such as those
in the Red Sea, the Taiwan Straits and the South China Sea, as
well as the possibility of continued pressure from the United
States with the shift in its policy towards China in the context
of the United States presidential election this year. All of the
above factors may expose the Group to greater challenges in the
coming year. However, as the Chinese government continues
to intensively promote the transformation of China’s growth
model and accelerate the construction of a modern industrial
system so as to break free from external constraints, | fully
believe that this will help China get out of the predicament and
allow Chinese economy to fully recover, enabling the country to
extend its stable growth. As a matter of fact, relevant authorities
of the Chinese government are sending positive messages to
the public and implementing the relevant measures. This shows
that the government is addressing the serious consequences of
weak consumption of citizens, and is refining and introducing
more policies to raise citizens’ expectation of income, support
employment, stimulate consumption, propel domestic demand,
further unlock consumption potential and expand the scale
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Chairman’s Statement — Review and Outlook

of middle class. These measures will definitely help to achieve
continuous economic recovery and improvement. On the
other hand, taking advantage of the continued improvement
of the Chinese economy, the Group has made corresponding
preparations in various aspects. These include the disposal
of 51% effective interest in the solvents business, which has
brought in a significant amount of cash. Additionally, the
Group’s withdrawal from the Damai business will allow it to
focus on developing its core businesses with a leaner structure.
The Group's core businesses have weathered the challenging
operational environment of the past two years, which made
their foundations even stronger. The Group has identified a clear
market position for each of the core businesses and formulated
corresponding strategies. With determination and capabilities to
make encouraging progress in business expansion, the Group will
ultimately create greater value and returns for Shareholders.

On behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity
to express my heartfelt thanks to all employees for their hard
work; to business partners for their trust and support; and to the
Board and the leadership teams at all levels for their outstanding
leadership, solidarity and dedication.

Change of Independent
Non-executive Directors

Mr. Wong Yuk, an independent non-executive Director, resigned
from the Board with effect from 22 March 2024 after serving
the Group for 9 years under various executive and non-executive
capacities. On behalf of the Board, | would like to convey our
sincere gratitude to him for his contributions over the years.

Ms. Yau Ching Man was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director with effect from 22 March 2024. Ms. Yau
had worked for the Group from 2005 to 2018 and had once
acted as member of Senior Leadership Team and Head of
Operations of the Group. She is thus well acquainted with the
Group’s operations and businesses. Ms. Yau is currently serving
in a senior management position with another listed company in
Hong Kong. On behalf of the Board, | would like to extend our
warmest welcome to Ms. Yau for re-joining us.

Ip Chi Shing
Chairman

22 March 2024

2023 ANNUAL REPORT  YIP’S CHEMICAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Review

Despite the uncertainties in the overall economic outlook and
a high interest rate environment, Yip’s Chemical was able to
overcome these challenges and improved the profitability and
stability of our core businesses through enhancement to our
core product portfolio, effective profit margin management and
rigorous cost control. The Group's overall performance in 2023
showcased a remarkable turnaround in our core businesses, thus
providing us with a strong platform to seize new opportunities in
2024.

To further improve its corporate governance, the Group
established a new Senior Leadership Team (“SLT"”) in the first
half of 2023. This team comprises individuals with expertise
in business operations, investment and development, who will
collectively formulate and execute the Group’s next phase of
development plans.
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Key Business Highlights

The Group recorded a revenue of HK$3.22 billion and
sales volume of 292,000 metric tonnes, representing a
slight decrease of 4% and an increase of 9% respectively
compared to that of the preceding year. The decrease
in revenue was mainly attributed to the depreciation of
Renminbi against Hong Kong dollars.

Gross profit margin of the Group increased significantly
to 24.3%, representing a year-on-year increase of 2.9
percentage points. This was a result of the Group's careful
management of gross profit margins and portfolio of
products with a focus on higher-end products’ growth, and
a relatively stable price level of raw materials.

Solvents associate company recorded a strong growth in
sales volume during the year under review and the Group's
share of its profits amounted to HK$94.7 million.

As the revenue and profit growth of Damai, a car
maintenance chain in which the Group had previously
invested in, have fallen short of the Group's expectations,
the Group exited its investment in the business in January
2024, with a one-off non-cash write-down of approximately
HK$57 million in 2023. The Group will concentrate more
resources on our core businesses in the future.

The Group recorded a profit attributable to owners of
HK$86.6 million, which represents a decline of 93%
compared to that of the preceding year. After excluding
the gain of HK$1.184 billion from the one-off sale of 51%
effective stake regarding Handsome Chemical Development
Limited (“Handsome Chemical”) in 2022, and the above
write-down associated with Damai in 2023, the Group's
profit attributable to owners recorded a year-on-year
increase of 328%.

The Group’s gearing ratio at the year end of 2023
continued to be at a relatively low level of 14.0%, allowing
the Group to have more financial flexibility in investments
in growth going forward.

2023 ANNUAL REPORT  YIP’S CHEMICAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Coatings

During the year under review, the Group’s coatings segment
recorded a growth in sales volume of 11% to 219,000 metric
tonnes and a mild decline in sales revenue of 3% to HK$1.58
billion. While the overall business of the coatings segment of the
Group is affected by the real estate market downturn, the Group
focused on growing its presence in the architectural coatings
sector through the secondary renovation market. We expanded
our branded store network throughout Mainland China and
focused on higher-end coatings products and services targeting
Chinese middle-class consumers. To strengthen brand recognition
of “Bauhinia” among our target customers, we began a
sponsorship of the China Women'’s National Football Team and
invested in marketing on high-speed railway trains in China
during the year under review. Meanwhile, we also maintained
stable sales volume in our industrial coatings segment and
maintained our leading position as the top toy coatings company.
Moreover, efforts have also been made to increase the utilisation
rate of the coatings manufacturing plant in Jinshan, Shanghai for
better fixed costs absorption and hence enhanced profitability of
the coatings segment.

The coatings segment recorded a strong improvement in gross
profit margin, reaching 27.8%, representing a year-on-year
increase of 3.9 percentage points. As a result, the segment profit
substantially increased by 571% year-on-year to HK$57.3 million.
Our focuses on higher-end products in both architectural and
industrial coatings as well as good cost control measures have led
to the improved performance of the coatings segment.

In the year ahead, the Group will continue to invest in expanding
our store network and brand reach of both “Bauhinia” and
“Camel”, and grow our industrial coatings and resins in niche
markets such as protective coatings and plastic coatings.
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THRERS
Report of the Chief Executive Officer

Inks

In 2023, the Group's inks segment recorded a revenue of
HK$1.21 billion, representing a slight decrease of 10% compared
to that of the preceding year. This was due to inks products being
closely linked to local consumption of everyday products, and
the slowdown in economic growth in the Mainland China which
has led to a decrease in demand for such products. However, by
optimising the customers and product portfolio, the gross profit
margin of the inks segment increased by 1.9 percentage points
to 18.8% in 2023. As a result, the business recorded a segment
profit of HK$37.9 million, marking a significant increase of 302%
compared to that of the preceding year.

Furthermore, the Group has undertaken steps to grow in new
niche markets. In January 2024, we completed an acquisition of a
controlling stake in @ manufacturer of inks used on printed circuit
boards.

The inks market will continue to be in a competitive environment
with the current economic uncertainties, but the Group believes
that as the top packaging inks producer in China, we have a
strong platform to further grow our packaging inks business, as
well as to venture into new growth initiatives in the inks market
to set the stage for future growth.

Lubricants

During the year under review, revenue from the lubricants
business grew by 15% to HK$0.34 billion, as a result of our
continued development of distributor network for our automotive
lubricants products under our “Hercules” brand, as well as our
new manufacturing and distribution partnerships that contributed
to an increased sales volume. The gross profit margin improved
by 1.7 percentage points to 21.8%, as a result of increased sales
volume of higher-end products and improved management of
raw materials costs. The segment recorded a profit of HK$10.8
million, returning to profit in 2023.

Looking ahead, the Group believes that the auto lubricants
market remains large and stable, and we will continue to grow
through our distributor network throughout China, with a view
of becoming a top local lubricants brand and an alternative to
multinational brands. We are also developing lubricants applied
in industrial settings as a potential new avenue for higher margin
growth.

2023 ANNUAL REPORT  YIP’S CHEMICAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Other Businesses

For the properties segment, revenue in the year under review
increased by 3% to HK$11 million, comprising mainly the rental
income from the leasing of the R&D building in Shanghai.
Operating results improved by 394% to HK$30.9 million as a
result of the net increase in fair values among the Group’s several
investment properties in China and Hong Kong.

Investment in Solvents Associate

The Group retains a 24% effective stake regarding Handsome
Chemical, the largest acetate solvents company in the world.
The solvents associate recorded a strong growth of 15% in
sales volume in 2023, reaching a historical high of 1,368,000
metric tonnes. With its strong purchasing power and ability
to consistently control costs, the solvents associate delivered a
significant return of HK$94.7 million to the Group.

The Group believes that under the strong leadership of the
associate’s management team, together with our business
partnerships with PAG and Qisheng, the business prospects
remain bright. The associate has begun planning and constructing
a new manufacturing plant with capacity of 600,000-tonne acetic
acid and 600,000-tonne acetates solvents in Hubei, targeting to
commence operation in 2025. This strategic development will
enhance vertical integration and improve profit margins.
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Outlook

Yip's Chemical strives to be a leading consumer chemical
company specialising in environmental-friendly, high-quality
chemical products and services to brighten homes and lives. We
develop and invest in businesses that are environmental-friendly,
end-user driven, and service-oriented. The Group is the market
leader in the respective segments in China in its core businesses
of coatings, inks and lubricants. In 2023, with a strong focus
on healthy and sustainable growth, the Group’s core businesses
demonstrated a significant improvement compared to that of the
preceding year. We also exited underperforming investments to
avoid further negative effects on the Group’s future performance.

In the next two years, we will continue to focus our resources on
strengthening our core businesses through organic growth. This
will involve expanding our sales reach, improving recognition of
our brands, and increasing higher-end product supplies. At the
same time, Yip's Chemical maintains a strong financial position
with a relatively low gearing ratio and significant deployable
financial resources. We will leverage the Group’s solid reputation
and track record as a leading chemicals enterprise in China to
look for strategic investments or acquisition opportunities in niche
areas that further augment our core businesses. Furthermore, our
minority stake in the solvents associate will continue to generate
significant returns as the new plant in Hubei is expected to
become operational in 2025.

The Group believes that this approach will further solidify profit
growth and add new dimensions to our businesses, driving the

Group towards a successful future.

Ip Kwan (Francis)
Chief Executive Officer

22 March 2024
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Group’s Major Properties
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The Group's headquarters in
Wanchai, Hong Kong
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The coatings plant in The coatings plant in
Jinshan, Shanghai Chengdu, Sichuan
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The inks plant in Zhongshan, The inks plant in Tongxiang,
Guangdong Zhejing
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The solvents plant in Taixing, The solvents plant in Zhuhai,
Jiangsu Guangdong
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The coatings plant in
Huizhou, Guangdong
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The lubricants plant in
Dongguan, Guangdong
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The solvents plant in Jingmen,
Hubei (under construction)
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The Group owns a portfolio of completed properties which are under use or leased out; others are held for lease or sales.
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The Bauhinia Advanced Materials Group (the “Advanced
Materials Group”) manages and operates the architectural
coatings businesses in Mainland China, Hong Kong and Macau,
and industrial coatings and resins businesses in Mainland China
under Yip’s Chemical. Meanwhile, it is expanding its business
into new materials beyond the field of traditional coatings. With
the growing environmental awareness and health consciousness
of consumers, the Advanced Materials Group remains innovative
and has implemented the brand value of “High-performing
Coatings Enabling a Healthy Lifestyle” by providing consumers
with professional and safe products and services, and delivering
quality and excellence to create a healthy and green living
environment for thousands of families in Mainland China. The
Advanced Materials Group has set up large-scale automated
production bases in Shanghai, Guangdong and Sichuan.

Architectural Coatings

Architectural coatings include inner and outer emulsion wall
paints, art coatings, wood paints and auxiliary materials. The
Advanced Materials Group insists on innovation and strives to
be the leader in China’s household paints market. Its “Bauhinia”
brand in Mainland China has sales outlets covering China’s large
and medium-sized cities as well as the majority of towns, and has
earned accolades and trust from users. By providing professional
products and high-quality services in the construction industry, it
has secured national large-scale construction projects and earned
the trust of many state-owned construction companies and
property developers. Through long-term strategic partnerships
with these companies and developers, projects utilizing the paints
supplied by the Advanced Materials Group can now be found
throughout the country.
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In terms of external collaboration, the Advanced Materials
Group maintains a proactive approach. It has become the
official supporting brand of the China Women’s National
Football Team to promote the development of China’s sports
industry and China’s paint industry together, and has developed
health-conscious products to promote a healthy lifestyle. The
Advanced Materials Group has also become the title sponsor of
two high-speed railway lines, displaying Bauhinia’s brand logo,
in order to harness the power of “China’s Speed” to further
promote the brand and embark on a new journey of brand
marketing.

EREENTELEEARAEY

\ S —

In addition, the Group also provides high-quality,
environmentally-friendly auxiliary materials, including wall

reinforcement, floor leveling and smoothing, tile paving,
waterproof adhesive, tools and consumables, etc. Its
comprehensive sales network provides consumers with a one-stop
shopping experience.
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Camel Paints

Yip's Chemical acquired coatings brands, namely “Camel”,
“Aquapro” and “VIVA” in early 2018, and their respective
coatings businesses in Hong Kong, Macau and Mainland China.
Camel was founded in 1932. Over the years, Camel has been
dedicated to developing the paint workers market and channel
business by maintaining close interaction with paint workers,
ensuring long-term stability and growth. The acquisition can
strengthen our Group’s position in the coatings market in
Southern China, and create synergies with the current businesses
of the Advanced Materials Group in manufacturing, technology,
distribution and marketing. It will lay a solid foundation for the
development in the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macau Greater Bay
Area, and future expansion across Mainland China.

Industrial Coatings

Industrial coatings consist of a range of products, including
coatings for furniture and plastic, as well as anti-corrosive
coatings. The industrial paints of the Advanced Materials Group
have experienced consistent and rapid growth over the years.
Its professional products with its superb product quality and
accompanied by exceptional services, have successfully gained the
trust of both new and long-standing customers. The industrial
coatings laboratory is an accredited facility recognised by the
China National Accreditation Service for Conformity Assessment
(“CNAS"), offering testing services tailored to customer requests.
This not only provides a solid guarantee of product quality,
but also substantially tightens the collaboration between the
Advanced Materials Group and the supply chain units and
end-users of numerous international brands.

Resins

The Advanced Materials Group also produces resins, which
are vertically integrated into related coatings products to
provide more competitive raw materials and further enhance
product function and quality. Its products range includes acrylic
resins, water-based resins alkyd resins, polyester resins, and
polyurethane curing agents, among others. It can also develop
resins according to customer requirements to meet their specific
needs for coatings applications.
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Business Profiles — Inks

Yip's Chemical’s inks business started in 1998. Its brand
“Bauhinia Variegata Ink” has now developed to become the
largest inks supplier in the country and it ranks among the top 20
inks enterprises globally. Bauhinia Variegata Ink mainly produces
gravure printing inks, offset printing inks, screen printing inks,
UV printing inks, solvents and environmentally friendly processing
materials, which are widely used in various industries including
food, beverage, daily necessities, industrial products, printed
materials, electronic products, gift packaging, and decorative
materials. It has production bases in South China (Zhongshan,
Guangdong) and East China (Tongxiang, Zhejiang) with its sales
network covering the whole country.

Bauhinia Variegata Ink is a staunch advocate of environmental
protection and is leading the industry in both environmentally
friendly products and green technologies. For example, it takes
the lead in establishing a separated benzene-free production
plant and adopting the full pipeline production model, equipped
with the most advanced automatic control system. It is also one
of the few inks production systems in China that is connected
with an Enterprise Resources Planning system. In its effort to
protect employee health and the environment, Bauhinia Variegata
Ink has also become one of the pioneers in China’s inks industry
in adopting a hazardous substance process management system.
Moreover, it has reduced volatile organic compounds (VOC)
emission during the production process through technological
advancement. It has also developed products with outstanding
eco-friendly performance including water-based inks and pure
plant oil inks, which have earned the company the “Corporate
Environmental Leadership Awards” in recognition of its efforts.
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New Asia Pacific Testing Technology Service (Zhongshan)
Company Limited, a subsidiary of Bauhinia Variegata Ink, was
established in 2022. It is a comprehensive technical service
organization with laboratory accreditation from CMA and
CNAS in China, as well as CPSC in the United States. It has
established strategic partnership with internationally renowned
testing institutions and scientific research institutes to provide
customers with one-stop services, including consultation, training,
inspection, testing, certification and other diversified high-quality
services and solutions, ensuring product quality and safety for
customers.

In addition, Bauhinia Variegata Ink has completed the acquisition
of the controlling stake in a circuit board inks manufacturer to
expand into new niche market in the inks industry, bringing it
more development opportunities and advantages.
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Yip’s Chemical started engaging in the production of lubricants
in 1992. Since then, it has rolled out a wide array of lubricants
for use in automobiles and related industries under the Hercules
brand, including engine oils, antifreeze fluids, system coolants,
brake oils, lubricating greases, gear oils, automatic gearbox oils,
hydraulic oils, etc. The lubricating oil it has developed specifically
for use in methanol dual-fuel engines has been recognised as a
key achievement in the National High-tech R&D Programme of
China (the “863 Programme”). The Group also produces a range
of high-performance industrial lubricants and special lubricants
under the Pacoil brand. Pacoil products are used in various
industries including electronics, home appliances, automobiles,
bearing manufacturing, engineering machinery, steelworks, port
terminals, cement works, toys manufacturing, textiles, metal
processing, etc.

In recent years, the lubricants business has engaged mainly in
re-building and repositioning the Hercules brand. Its objective is
to secure a solid footing in the automotive aftermarket through
strategies such as upgrading products, streamlining channels and
empowering end-user stores. Concurrently, with the upgrading of
domestic demand, investment in the R&D of industrial specialty
lubricant technologies has been stepped up with the view of
achieving greater breakthroughs in specialty greases and metal
processing oils (liquids) for the medium to high-end markets.
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The associate of the Company in the solvents business is the
largest acetate solvents producer globally. A major turning point
in the history of the business came in 1993, when the then
subsidiary of the Company, Handsome Chemical set its sights on
economic reforms which took place in China. A joint venture with
Jiangmen Qisheng Chemical Development Company Limited was
formed and, by capitalizing on the advantages of a Sino-foreign
joint venture and complementing each other, the two partners
were able to achieve close to 30 years of dazzling performance.

The solvents business produces mainly eco-friendly industrial
organic solvents. These include ethyl acetate, normal butyl
acetate, normal propyl acetate, mixed butyl acetate and butyl
acrylate which are extensively used in coatings, tannery,
medicine, adhesives and battery industries. The solvents division
has established production bases in Southern and Eastern
China. The business maintains a huge sales team and operates
a sales network that covers the whole of China and overseas.
By operating mainly on a direct-sale basis, it manages to ensure
thorough and satisfactory services, and to afford its sales team
a better understanding of customer needs — a vital edge of the
business.

Handsome Chemical always values its customers and the
customer-oriented pre-sales and post-sales services of the
solvents business have, over the years, won the trust and support
of customers. It also cooperates with world-class chemical
companies in sourcing raw materials of superior and stable
quality so as to guarantee product quality.

In order to enhance the competitiveness of the downstream
products, the Group sold its controlling interest in its solvents
business to PAG in 2022 and continues to participate in the
significant investment in the upstream of acetate solvents
through its remaining 24% equity, including the establishment
of a new factory in Jingmen, Hubei, with a planned production
capacity of 600,000 tonnes of acetic acid and 600,000 tonnes
of acetate solvents. In March 2023, the Group further invested
in such project through the subscription of a PAG subsidiary’s
preferred shares of US$85 million, so that the Group may benefit
from its potential upside to create more value for the Group's
business partners and Shareholders.
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For the year ended 31 December
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2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
TER FABL TET TET TABT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(&) (&E7))
(Restated) (Restated)
ES Results
XS Revenue
-BEREER — From continuing operations 3,217,138 3,358,509 3,994,160
-BRIEEEERK - From discontinued operations - 10,666,671 13,811,237
EEEE Total reveune 3,217,138 14,025,180 17,805,397 10,776,026 10,464,834
SEE (Tmg) Sales volume ('000 metric tons)
-BEREER - From continuing operations 292 269 335
-BRIEEEER ~ From discontinued operations - 1,195 1,224
S Total sales volume 292 1,464 1,559 1,490 1,379
BRBL AT 7 Profit before taxation 83,865 1,534,704 739,198 © 534,911 480,895
B Taxation (23,269) (238,897) (164,647) (131,335) (143,821)
RNEEEF Profit for the year 60,596 1,295,807 574,551 403,576 337,074
155 7 Attributable to
ARERE Owners of the Company 86,623 1,217,774 406,280 302,575 272,907
JESR AR Non-controlling interests (26,027) 78,033 168,271 101,001 64,167
60,596 1,295,807 574,551 403,576 337,074
BRER Per share data
SRER CGEWL) Earnings per share (HK cents)
B - Basic 15.2 214.2 72.8 53.8 48.4
- B - Diluted 15.2 214.2 72.8 53.8 484
GRS (GBI * Dividend per share (HK cents)* 12.0 90.0 40.0 22.0 20.0
B = Financial ratios
FHEEERIIE  Return on average total assets 1.2% 13.2% 43% * 3.7% 3.4%
FHREELBBHE  Return on average
shareholders’ funds 2.1% 29.7% 11.3% 9.5% 9.4%
PRI RIT I FoBEER # Amount for 2022 and 2021 included continuing and discontinued

iaﬁﬁéf%i‘%&aﬁt,ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ% o

operations.

* R —E7FBRREBREENERE *  Dividend per share in 2022 included special dividend HK75 cents per
FRR75BAL ° —% *—¢ZE§EH§E share. Dividend per share in 2021 included special dividend HK10
BEEFIREFRIOEILEGR -F cents per share and scrip dividend alternative was offered in respect
——FHH &ﬁ BIE BAR Bt ARR R B of the 2021 interim and special dividend.

B o
R+=ZB=+-H
As at 31 December
“E-=f ZEF--f Z%T=-— —T-TF  ZZ-NF
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
FET FABL THEL AL THBL
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(s E5)
(Restated)
BERER Assets and Liabilities
BEHLE Total assets 6,419,027 8,011,501 10,420,089 8,439,363 7,752,659
BEEE Total liabilities (2,503,925)  (3,552,588)  (5,692,590)  (4,213,164)  (4,190,462)
3,915,102 4,458,913 4,727,499 4,226,199 3,562,197
Ly —Iﬂﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁ Equity attributable to owners
of the Company 3,926,349 4,406,955 3,802,373 3,405,924 2,941,479
3H§H§ﬁé%ﬁ Non-controlling interests (11,247) 51,958 925,126 820,275 620,718
3,915,102 4,458,913 4,727,499 4,226,199 3,562,197
FRITEEHR Net bank borrowings to
R shareholders’ funds 14% 25% 37% 31% 33%

2023 ANNUAL REPORT  YIP’S CHEMICAL HOLDINGS LIMITED



28

— 2=~ = % [0][f5 2023 ANNUAL REVIEW

hEWHMER

Five Year Financial Summary

EER un
Revenue ksoo0

HE+Z-A=+—HBILFE For the year ended 31 December

BEE P e %% [RESIw S 37
Revenue . Continuing operations . Discontinued operations
20,000,000
17,805,397
15,000,000 14,025,180

10,464,834 10.776,026
10,000,000

! 5,000,000 3,217,138

o 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

%Eﬁ Hﬁ/%\ (&4l
Dividend per share ek cents

HE+-A=+—HIFE For the year ended 31 December

L3l R ]
. Special Final Interim
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* BREREE X
Paid with final dividend

# RS XA RSR R R AR REAURRE ZEE
Paid with interim dividend with scrip dividend alternative offered
for both special and interim dividends

ARFRREEESR an
Equity attributable to owners of
the Company «sooo)

W+ZHA=+—H Asat31 December

5,000,000
4,406,955
4,000,000 3,802,373 3,926,349
3,405,924
2,941,479
3,000,000
2,000,000
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AATBREREAERH cun
Profit attributable to owners
of the company (HKS'000)

HZE+ZH=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December

1,500,000

1,000,000 1,217,774*
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* BRERRREEBRERILEERE
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ts For The Past Five Years

X Revenue
BET-A=t-HLEE
For the year ended 31 December
—E-=fF —E-CfF —T-—F —E-ZF “E-NF
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
TER FTER TET TET FER
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(mz5) (mE5)
(restated) (restated)
BE () Solvents (Note 1) - - - 7,867,873 7,403,491
21 Coatings 1,584,807 1,639,448 2,036,898 1,442,690 1,610,221
HE(WiE=) Inks (Note 2) 1,206,236 1,340,198 1,498,448 1,244,546 1,286,405
BB Lubricants 344,944 299,026 333,214 219,973 203,682
mE Properties 10,998 10,685 10,163 8,904 14,195
B (=) Others (Note 2) 71,533 74,015 139,329 136,883 104,295
THEH Elimination (1,380) (4,863) (23,892) (144,843) (157,455)
BE Total 3,217,138 3,358,509 3,994,160 10,776,026 10,464,834
et - Notes:

— REz-—E=-—#+-AF=+—8

tFE FHEYEREEEEAN
MEBERZEEDEDRIER
Lo WFEFRBE_E-_—F+_A
S+ HALFENDEEEERE
BVEBEZECORIEKEEERZ
EREIcE-

REBEEZZZTF+=ZA=+—H
tEE #HuBHA-_Z_TFN
BttRz@BEME—FTHFn &
REZ RN EUEREERER
HEERNHEBEARRFEARH
ME (TPE])EBHELXSHBY L
M AEECEIARSEERR
FHERB2oEAE - BEHER
—ETFREAEREBEHREN
HEESR TEELEIAhED
EHTE®RMEMATER AL -
HE-_Z-AF+_A=+—81t
FEUESHLAEBREEDEN

275 -

o AEBBHEERERE LM
CETEMNERERRETERE
MR MM BE T AR E OB
E(ER) HEER T 2% 5 HN
EEF HZELENIEWE] A
B2

During the year ended 31 December 2022, an operating segment
regarding the manufacture of and trading in raw solvents and
related products was discontinued. The segment reveune and
results for this year and the year ended 31 December 2021 did not
include any amounts for these discontinued operations.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, in view of the proposed
separate listing of a subsidiary engaging in manufacturing
and trading of inks and related products on a stock exchange
in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC") as further detailed
in the circular dated 17 August 2020, the Group revised the
organisation of segments that is used to allocate resources and
assess performance. The inks segment in 2020 included the
manufacture of and trading in inks and related products, excluding
other chemical products which were previously reported under
the inks segment. As a result, the corresponding segment revenue
and results for the year ended 31 December 2019 have been
re-presented.

In addition, the Group’s operation relating to the manufacture of
and trading in other chemical products together with the acquired
business engaging in car maintenance services do not meet the
guantitative threshold for reportable segment in both current and
prior year (if applicable). Accordingly these were aggregated and
presented in “Others”.
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Analysis of Revenue And Segment Results For The Past Five Years

EER mssn
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#HZE=+=-F=+—HIL5JE For the year ended 31 December
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Analysis of Revenue And Segment Results For The Past Five Years

S HEES Segment Results
BET-A=1-BLEE
For the year ended 31 December
—E-=fF —E-CfF —T-—F —T-ZF “E-NF
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
TER TET FAET TET FER
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(& E3)) (&55))
(restated) (restated)
B (B ) Solvents (Note 1) = - - 471,454 277,904
21 Coatings 57,250 8,526 (123,503) 51,156 56,574
wEWHE=) Inks (Note 2) 37,861 9,424 47,337 60,767 78,616
BB Lubricants 10,849 (2,113) 19,735 7,593 6,441
LES Properties 30,869 6,247 67,579 981 140,272
Bt (Hfs=) Others (Note 2) (44,759) (34,141) (31,511) (12,130) 15,208
T HEH Elimination - (186) 333 (316) 31
k] Total 92,070 (12,243) (20,030) 579,505 575,046
et - Notes:

— REEZE-_—_F+=-A=+-—H
tFE FHEYEREEEEAN
MEBERZEEDEDRIER
oW EFRBE-_ZE-_—F+=-A
S+ HALFENDEEEERE
BUEDEZSERIEELCEER Y
&% -

= RE=E TF+=ZA=+—H
IEFE - ﬂﬁﬂﬁﬁﬂﬁ_g_gﬁ)\
ATtBz@mmprE—SeFul - &
REZHNFREREEHER
HEERNHMBARRFEARH
ME(THRBE]) ZBAHERIABEL L
W AEEEBBITRRIEZERK
FERBRZOBEE - BESER
ZEEFPRREREEHRER
HEER TEEERNBESE
BHTERMEMICITER - Bt -
HE-_T—NWF+_A=+—81
FEHESHEXBREECDEN
E I

o AEBBHEERERE LM
CETEMNERERRETERE
MR MM BE T AR E OB
E(ER) HEER T 2% 5 HN
BEER HMZEIBERTHMIE
B2

During the year ended 31 December 2022, an operating segment
regarding the manufacture of and trading in raw solvents and
related products was discontinued. The segment reveune and
results for this year and the year ended 31 December 2021 did not
include any amounts for these discontinued operations.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, in view of the proposed
separate listing of a subsidiary engaging in manufacturing
and trading of inks and related products on a stock exchange
in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC") as further detailed
in the circular dated 17 August 2020, the Group revised the
organisation of segments that is used to allocate resources and
assess performance. The inks segment in 2020 included the
manufacture of and trading in inks and related products, excluding
other chemical products which were previously reported under
the inks segment. As a result, the corresponding segment revenue
and results for the year ended 31 December 2019 have been
re-presented.

In addition, the Group’s operation relating to the manufacture of
and trading in other chemical products together with the acquired
business engaging in car maintenance services do not meet the
guantitative threshold for reportable segment in both current and
prior year (if applicable). Accordingly these were aggregated and
presented in “Others”.
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Analysis of Revenue And Segment Results For The Past Five Years

PEEB e
Segment Results ikswilion)

HZE=+-HF=+—HIL5JE For the year ended 31 December
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MENEE KSR

Liquidity and Financial Resources

As at 31 December 2023, the Group's gearing ratio (calculated
by net bank borrowings as a percentage of equity attributable
to owners of the Company) was 14.0% (31 December 2022:
24.8%), representing a decline of 10.8 percentage points as
compared to that as at year end of 2022. With the receipt of
sales proceeds from the disposal of 51% effective interest in
the solvents business which was completed by the end of 2022,
the Group's gearing ratio has further improved. The Group will
leverage its low borrowing ratio in the current high interest
rate environment to continue to seek business development
opportunities.

The RMB exchange rate recorded a depreciation of 1.7% in 2023.
The Group remained prudent in managing its foreign exchange
exposure so as to minimise the impact of RMB fluctuation on its
results. As for operating cash flow, the Group recorded a net
cash inflow of HK$236,544,000 during the year under review
(2022: net cash inflow of HK$413,892,000). As compared with
the preceding year, due to the disposal of 51% effective interest
in the solvents business, the profit before tax and net effect of
change in working capital had declined, and these resulted in a
decrease in net cash inflow for the current year.
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Liquidity and Financial Resources

R-IZE-=F+_-_A=+—8 £8HK
SRITHRFAE1,401,793,0008 T (=&
¥+ HA=+—H :2,180,475,000
BIT) ML -E-—EEESE R
THRRGEAKHERBEZEE51%E R
=R E M RIEAEEEERMAER
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35 £854,247,0008 0 (Z 2 F +=
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As at 31 December 2023, gross bank borrowings of the
Group amounted to HK$1,401,793,000 (31 December 2022:
HK$2,180,475,000). Gross bank borrowings substantially
decreased as compared to the amount as at year end of 2022
as part of the sales proceeds from disposal of 51% effective
interest in solvents business were used for loan repayments.
After the deduction of short-term bank deposits, bank balances
and cash amounting to HK$854,247,000 (31 December
2022: HK$1,088,116,000), net bank borrowings amounted to
HK$547,546,000 (31 December 2022: HK$1,092,359,000). Of
the gross bank borrowings, HK$930,787,000 (31 December
2022: HK$1,743,650,000) were short-term loans due for
repayment within one year. Such loans were denominated in
two currencies, HK$721,667,000 in Hong Kong Dollars and
HK$209,120,000 in RMB (31 December 2022: $1,541,167,000
in Hong Kong Dollars and HK$202,483,000 in RMB). Long-term
loans due for repayment after one year amounted to
HK$471,006,000 (31 December 2022 HK$436,825,000), and they
were denominated in two currencies, HK$460,000,000 in Hong
Kong Dollars and HK$11,006,000 in RMB (31 December 2022:
HK$416,667,000 in Hong Kong Dollars and HK$20,158,000 in
RMB). The short-term bank deposits, bank balances and cash
were denominated in the following currencies: HK$179,991,000
in Hong Kong Dollars, HK$392,694,000 in RMB, HK$272,974,000
in US Dollars and HK$8,588,000 in other currencies (31 December
2022: HK$20,330,000 in Hong Kong Dollars, HK$433,270,000 in
RMB, HK$632,534,000 in US Dollars and HK$1,982,000 in other
currencies).

The Group received substantial cash proceeds from the disposal
of the solvents business during the year under review. Part of the
sales proceeds has been used to repay bank loans, fund business
development and distribute dividends. The Group has also
invested approximately US$20 million in a portfolio of various
medium to long term investment grade bonds from diversified
industries to capture a higher yield for such funds.
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Liquidity and Financial Resources

In order to refinance the previous medium to long term loans
that were due for repayment, the Group has entered into a
three-year sustainability-linked syndicated loan facility agreement
in the principal amount of HK$460 million with banks to
provide liquidity for further business development and strategic
investments.

As at 31 December 2023, medium to long term loans (including
portions due for repayment within one year which amounted to
HK$106,667,000) accounted for 41.2% of the total bank loans.
The Group will monitor the interest rate fluctuation closely and
enter into interest rate swaps or fixed rate arrangement with
the banks to hedge against the risk of interest rate fluctuation.
As at 31 December 2023, the Group's loans under fixed rate
arrangement constituted 33% of its medium to long term loans.

As at 31 December 2023, a total of 21 banks in Hong Kong
and Mainland China granted banking facilities of an aggregate
amount of HK$2,276,847,000 to the Group. Of these banking
facilities, 62% and 38% were denominated in Hong Kong Dollars
and RMB respectively. The Group will continue to increase its
RMB bank borrowings in Mainland China to finance its local
operations to take advantage of the lower interest costs there as
well as to mitigate the risk of RMB rate fluctuation. The Group
will continue to strike an optimal balance between lowering
borrowing costs and minimising currency exposure by structuring
a favourable combination of Hong Kong Dollars, US Dollars, RMB
or other foreign currency bank loans in Hong Kong and Mainland
China.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group did not have any pledged
assets and significant contingent liabilities. Other than those
disclosed in this annual report, the Group did not have any
concrete plans for future material investments or capital assets.
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Awards and Recognitions

% /& HONG KONG

EEmMERER

[BRSERIRBI BB L]

Hong Kong Brand Development Council
“Camel” awarded as “Hong Kong Top Brand”

FEEREXHE

2022F MAR-FH e K (L TIT%)

League of American Communications Professionals
LLC (LACP)

2022 Vision Awards — Gold in Annual Reports (Chemicals
Industry)

ERLEREHE

154 Plus [ 7 SR B 12 | 1256

The Hong Kong Council of Social Service
15 Years Plus “Caring Company” Logo

ERIXESE

[TEREOLIRIBTE2023 - [EBAEAHE] R

[ A BRIE AR (h/REnR)

The Federation of Hong Kong Industries

Industry Cares Recognition Scheme 2023 — Outstanding
Caring Awards & The Most Devoted Award (SME Group)

b B & #tt MAINLAND CHINA

':F'§AE £ 0 B B AR B8 BB P
HBMZRUEFRARERER SFRMEE] RIF
LSRN

o ZHEBTATERERIAFEPNEEIRIAR
RERA P

e BN EBFARARERTERIGEREREELE IR
& T

o HERLNTFATEMRIFILTBNESE]NERE
[ E S TRERMFAT A O] R EIFE S JUJ:%J

Relevant Government Agencies of the People’s

Republic of China

e Four subsidiaries of inks and coatings recognised as “High
and New Technology Enterprise” and “Technologically
Advanced Small and Medium Enterprise”

e Coatings’ Huiyang subsidiary recognised as “Innovative
Small and Medium Enterprise” and “Provincial-level
Technology Enterprise”

e Coatings’ Shanghai subsidiary recognised as “Green Supply
Chain Management Enterprise” and “Green Manufacturer”

e Inks’ Zhongshan subsidiary received “Zhongshan
Government Quality Award” and recognised as
“Zhongshan Excellent Engineering Technology Research
Center” and “Innovative Small and Medium Enterprise”

EEPERIBHES

[ESGHIE |78

The Chinese Manufacturers’ Association of Hong
Kong

ESG Pledge Scheme

tRgEAS
[FePR=s+] RMERITIEMIEH
World Green Organisation
“Green Office 5+" and “Eco-Healthy Workplace” Labels

ChE it ) %%

2023F EIBFUMBERIA - 2RF170 - PEAE L
NHERFE

Ink World

2023 Top International Ink Companies — Ranked 17"
globally and ranked 1°in Mainland China, in terms of
sales revenue

EERARBEYES
[P0 TAER ) BT #2023 - TR OB X | HRE
Hong Kong Promoting Happiness Index Foundation
2023 Happiness-at-work Promotional Scheme — “Happy
Company” Logo

CRRHE ) M

2023F BN BRI E PR — 2 IRESTA - PERMETAL -
IASHE R E

Coatings World

2023 Top International Coatings Companies — Ranked 57"
globally, and ranked 7" in Mainland China, in terms of
sales revenue

RESEREES

<[ —|E>>F T2
InspiringHK Sports Foundation
SportsHour Company Scheme

BEBEIB

ERBAA (R FmATRTEI - A B

Employees Retraining Board (ERB)

ERB Manpower Developer Award Scheme — Manpower
Developer

ERFRITHRERNRERE

BEEREERH (BEX)

Environmental Protection Department of HKSAR
Government

Hong Kong — Guangdong Cleaner Production Excellent
Partners (Manufacturing)

ER{LIEEMARLT — T =FEFH

BREBRTEHS
EBRZHGEERREBLE

Guangdong Coatings Industrial Association
Role Model Company for Green Development of
Guangdong Coatings Industry

tREH

HE T REERERR AR

Beijing Business Daily

Top 10 Best Decorative Coatings Brands in China

BAEE

o 03FEHEEREEmME

o 20234 E R ETADHE B EMT 2K @R
Tencent Youju

e Most Popular Consumer Brand in 2023
e Designer Brand of Art Coatings in 2023
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Corporate Sustainability

The Group established its vision of “Towards a Century of
Revered Leadership” in early years which laid a solid foundation
to drive our sustainable development. The Group has instilled the
concept of sustainability into its development strategies and daily
operations, empowering the Group to identify and manage risks
and opportunities in the sustainability roadmap, and leverage
those opportunities to strengthen our position as a market
leader.

The Group consistently enhances its sustainability performance by
identifying Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG") topics
that are material to the Group, and by continuously monitoring
our performances in areas related to these topics. During the
year under review, three well-known banks have granted a new
three-year sustainability-linked loan totalling HK$460 million
was made available to the Group by three prominent banks. The
proceeds of the loan will be used for general corporate financing
and refinancing, including the implementation of projects to
improve energy efficiency and other research and development
plans to promote the long-term sustainable development targets
of the Group.

The Group issues its ESG Report in accordance with the ESG
Reporting Guide set out in Appendix C2 to the Rules (“Listing
Rules”) Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The
ESG report 2023 depicts our management policies, progress and
achievements in the aspects of the environment, communities,
employees, supply chains and customers in the year. Please visit
www.yipschemical.com to view the full report.
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As of 31 December 2023, the Group has a total number of 2,561
employees (2022: 2,642 employees), among which 63 and 9 of
them are from Hong Kong and other countries respectively while
the remaining 2,489 are from different provinces in Mainland
China.

The Group places great emphasis on the management and
development of human capital. The employees are encouraged
to strive for improvement through internal and external training
programs, job rotations and participation in the Group's
educational subsidy programs, facilitating self-development
in knowledge and skills and to maximise their potential in
their work. We offer suitable platform for development of
highly committed and capable employees, regardless of their
background, geographical location or educational level. The
Group regularly identifies talented employees and tailors career
plans to support their continuous development. With versatile
experience in challenging roles in different areas, the current
management team of the Group has risen through the ranks to
positions of management. In addition to the focus of developing
employees internally, the Group also seeks to attract external
talents.

The Group offers a challenging work environment, and sets
up different programs for motivating employees to strive for
improvement and to advance their skills in order to drive the
development of business. From time to time, the Group makes
reference to market trends for reviewing its remuneration
and reward policy so as to ensure reasonable and competitive
compensation and benefits for its employees. These include basic
salary as well as results and individual performance-based bonus
to attract and retain talents.
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(I) The information contained in the
following section was as of 31
December 2023:

Chairman and Non-executive Director

Mr. Ip Chi Shing, aged 75, is the Chairman, co-founder of the
Group and a Non-executive Director of the Company. Mr. Ip was
re-designated as a Non-executive Director of the Company since 1
January 2012. He focuses on the leading of the Board, formulating
the Group’s long-term development strategy and the planning and
inheritability of human resources of the Group etc. Mr. Ip is the
brother of Mr. Yip Tsz Hin, the Deputy Chairman of the Group
and an Executive Director of the Company and the father of Mr. Ip
Kwan, the Chief Executive Officer of the Group, an Executive
Director of the Company and a member of the SLT and the uncle of
Mr. Yip Long, Brian and Mr. Yip Chun, Ivan, each a member of the
SLT. In 2006, He established “Ip Chi Shing Charitable Foundation
Limited” with the objectives of carrying out charity activities in
Mainland China and Hong Kong including fostering education in
Mainland China and providing care for the underprivileged groups
in Hong Kong and making contributions to society.

Executive Directors

Mr. Yip Tsz Hin, aged 64, joined the Group in 1977. Mr. Yip is
the Deputy Chairman of the Group and an Executive Director of
the Company. He also acts as a director of certain subsidiaries
of the Company and the Chairman of Handsome Chemical, an
associate of the Group. Mr. Yip has over 40 years of experience
in the manufacturing of and trading in petrochemical products.
He is the brother of Mr. Ip Chi Shing, the Chairman of the
Group and a Non-executive Director of the Company, the father
of Mr. Yip Long, Brian and Mr. Yip Chun, Ivan, each a member
of the SLT, and the uncle of Mr. Ip Kwan, the Chief Executive
Officer of the Group, an Executive Director of the Company and
a member of the SLT.

Mr. Ip Kwan (Francis), aged 41, joined the Group in 2007.
Mr. Ip is the Chief Executive Officer of the Group, an Executive
Director of the Company and a member of the SLT. He also
acts as a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Ip
was previously the Deputy Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Corporate Development Officer of the Group, the Co-President
and the General Manager of the Bauhinia Advanced Materials
Group, formerly known as the Bauhinia Coatings Group and
an assistant to Directors of the Group. He is the son of Mr. Ip
Chi Shing, the Chairman of the Group and a Non-executive
Director of the Company, and a nephew of Mr. Yip Tsz Hin, the
Deputy Chairman of the Group and an Executive Director of the
Company, and the cousin of Mr. Yip Long, Brian and Mr. Yip
Chun, Ivan, each a member of the SLT. Mr. Ip graduated from
the London School of Economics with a Bachelor degree in
Government and Economics. Before joining the Group, he had
worked in the investment banking industry for three years.
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Executive Directors (continued)

Mr. Ho Sai Hou, aged 57, joined the Group in 2010. He is the
Chief Financial Officer of the Group, an Executive Director of
the Company, a member of the SLT and the Company Secretary
of the Company. Mr. Ho also acts as a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Company and is responsible for the Group's
human resources and corporate communication functions since
May 2023. Before joining the Group, he acted as chief financial
officer, executive director and company secretary for several
listed companies in Hong Kong. Mr. Ho holds a Bachelor of Social
Sciences Degree in Accounting from The University of Hong
Kong and an Executive Master of Business Administration (EMBA)
with The China Europe International Business School in 2007.
He is a member of The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (HKICPA) and a fellow member of the Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants (ACCA). Mr. Ho has over 20
years of experience in accounting, finance, taxation and company
secretarial fields.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Wong Yuk, aged 60, joined the Group in 2015. He was
re-designated as an Independent Non-executive Director of the
Company since 1 January 2021. Mr. Wong was previously a
Non-executive Director of the Company from 2019 to 2020 and
prior to 1 January 2019, he was a Co-Chief Executive Officer of
the Group, an Executive Director of the Company and a member
of the SLT. Mr. Wong holds a Bachelor of Science degree in
Mechanical Engineering from The University of Hong Kong and
a Master degree in Business Administration from The Chinese
University of Hong Kong in 1992. Before joining the Group, he
was the Managing Director of China Strategy and Investment at
Methanex, a global market leader in methanol. Mr. Wong had
also worked with Shell group for over 27 years and acted as the
General Manager of Shell Specialties China/Hong Kong and China
Local Senior Downstream Representative. He has over 30 years of
extensive experience in petrochemical industry.
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Independent Non-executive Directors
(Continued)

Mr. Ho Pak Chuen, Patrick, aged 69, joined the Group as an
Independent Non-executive Director in 2018. He is currently a
chief operating officer of Fung Investment Management Limited.
Mr. Ho previously worked in The Dow Chemical Company for 40
years and retired in 2018. He was the global business director
for Ethylene Oxide, Propylene Oxide and Derivatives in Chemicals
and Metals in Dow headquarter in Midland, Michigan. Mr. Ho
returned to Hong Kong in 1998 and acted as the President for
Dow Chemical, Asia Pacific region and Global Vice President for
Epoxy & Specialty Chemicals and subsequent served as the Asia
Pacific vice president for manufacturing, public & government
affairs. Mr. Ho was the chairman of Association of International
Chemical Manufacturers (AICM) in China and Hong Kong from
2001 to 2003. In all, he has extensive experience in chemical
industry. Mr. Ho holds directorship in certain private companies
within the Fung Group and is an Independent Non-executive
Director of Computime Group Limited. Mr. Ho resigned as an
executive director of Global Brands Group Holding Limited with
effect from 1 July 2022. He holds a bachelor degree in Chemical
Engineering from Queen’s University at Kingston, Canada.

Mr. Ku Yee Dao, Lawrence, aged 45, joined the Group as an
Independent Non-executive Director in 2020. He holds a Bachelor
of Arts in Economics and a Master of Accounting from the
University of Michigan and is a member of American Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA). Mr. Ku is the Finance
Director of Johnson Controls Inc. (a company listed on the New
York Stock Exchange, stock code: JCI) since May 2023. He acted
as an accounting manager in Hong Kong Oxygen & Acetylene
Company Limited, a subsidiary of the Linde Group in 2007.
Mr. Ku also worked in Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, Certified Public
Accountants for more than four years. Furthermore, Mr. Ku also
was the Finance Director of Global Business Unit Steering and the
Regional Financial Controller of Commercial Vehicle Systems Asia
Pacific of Knorr-Bremse Asia Pacific (Holding) Limited, the Asia
Pacific regional headquarters of Knorr-Bremse Group (a company
listed on the Frankfurt Stock Exchange). He is the son of Mr. Ku
Yuen Fun, a retired Independent Non-executive Director of the
Company.
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Management Executives

Mr. Yip Long, Brian, aged 35, is a member of the SLT of
the Group since May 2023. He was the vice chairman of the
Inks Group and will be the chairman of the Inks Group from 1
January 2024. He once served as the Deputy General Manager
of the Solvents Group of the Group during 2013 to 2014, and
was promoted to the Chief Operating Officer of the Group
from 2015 to January 2016. He also acts as a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Company. He is a nephew of Mr. Ip Chi Shing,
the Chairman of the Group and a Non-executive Director of the
Company, the son of Mr. Yip Tsz Hin, the Deputy Chairman of
the Group and an Executive Director of the Company, the cousin
of Mr. Ip Kwan, the Chief Executive Officer of the Group, an
Executive Director of the Company and a member of the SLT,
and the brother of Mr. Yip Chun, Ivan, a member of the SLT.
Mr. Yip holds a Bachelor of accounting and finance degree from
the London School of Economics, a Master degree in Business
Administration from the Hong Kong University of Science and
Technology and a Juris Doctor in law from the University of Hong
Kong. Before joining the Group, he had worked in the investment
banking industry for one year and the e-commerce industry for
three years respectively.

Mr. Yip Chun, lvan, aged 33, joined the Group in 2020. Mr. Yip
is the Strategic Investment Director of the Group as well as a
member of the SLT since May 2023. Mr. Yip obtained a Bachelor
of Arts degree from University of California, Los Angeles. He is a
nephew of Mr. Ip Chi Shing, the Chairman of the Group and a
Non-executive Director of the Company, the son of Mr. Yip Tsz
Hin, the Deputy Chairman of the Group and an Executive Director
of the Company, the cousin of Mr. Ip Kwan, the Chief Executive
Officer of the Group, an Executive Director of the Company and
a member of the SLT, and the brother of Mr. Yip Long, Brian, a
member of the SLT. Before joining the Group, he had worked in
the investment industry for six years.
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Management Executives (continued)

Dr. Chow Mai Mai, Miranda, aged 47, joined the Group as
Executive Management Trainee in 2003. Dr. Chow is the Head
of Corporate Development of the Group as well as a member
of the SLT since May 2023. Dr. Chow is in charge of the
corporate development, health, safety and environmental as
well as internal audit functions of the Group. Dr. Chow holds
a PhD from the University of Cambridge and a Master degree
in Business Administration from the Hong Kong University of
Science and Technology. She has held a number of executive
and management positions in the Group, including the Head
of Research & Development. Dr. Chow has over 20 years of
experience in chemical industry.

Mr. Kwong Kwok Chiu, aged 59, joined the Group in 1987.
Mr. Kwong was the General Manager of the Inks Group and
will become the deputy chairman of the Inks Group from 1
January 2024. He was previously an Executive Director of the
Company and a member of the SLT. Mr. Kwong holds a Master
Degree in Business Administration from Hong Kong Metropolitan
University (formerly The Open University of Hong Kong) and has
over 20 years of experience in marketing and management of
petrochemical industry.

Mr. Fung Ping Kwong, aged 60, joined the Group in 2010.
Mr. Fung is currently a Co-President of the Bauhinia Advanced
Materials Group. He was a member of the SLT as well as the
Head and Senior Leader of Group Human Resources of the
Group. Mr. Fung holds a Bachelor Degree in Science (Economics)
from The University of London, a Master Degree in Business
Administration from The University of Warwick and a Diploma in
Training Management jointly conferred by The Chinese University
of Hong Kong and The Institute of Personnel and Development,
United Kingdom. He worked in a number of multi-national
companies in insurance, petrochemical and pharmaceutical
industries. Mr. Fung has extensive experience in different
human resources areas including organisational development,
management development, talent management and employee
relations etc. Before joining the Group, he was the group human
resources director of a listed company listed on the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange.
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Management Executives (continued)

Mr. Chan Chuen Sang, aged 47, joined the Group in 2003.
Mr. Chan is currently a Co-President of the Bauhinia Advanced
Materials Group. He was a member of the Group Management
Committee and Group Financial Controller, and had held various
management positions in various subsidiaries of the Company.
Mr. Chan holds a Bachelor Degree in Business Administration
from the Chinese University of Hong Kong and a Master degree
in Business Administration from the Hong Kong University of
Science & Technology. He is a fellow member of Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (HKICPA).

Mr. Zeng Zhi, aged 53, joined the Group in 2000. Mr. Zeng
is currently the General Manager of the Lubricants Group.
He was previously the Financial Controller of Yip’s Lubricant
Limited, a subsidiary of the Company. Mr. Zeng holds a Bachelor
degree in Accounting from Zhongnan University of Economics
and Law (formerly Zhongnan University of Economics). He is
a non-practicing member of The Chinese Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. Mr. Zeng has 20 years of experience in
petrochemical industry. Before joining the Group, he was a
product material control manager of a listed company listed on
the Shenzhen Stock Exchange.

Mr. Chen Tian Yi, aged 44, joined the Group in 2023.
Mr. Chen is the General Manager of the Inks Group of the
Group. Mr. Chen holds a Bachelor of Science degree in
Mechanical Engineering from the University of Shanghai for
Science and Technology and a Master of Business Administration
(International) from the University of Hong Kong. Before joining
the Group, he was the Project Manager of McKinsey & Company;
the Sales Director in Asia Pacific Region of Eastman Chemical
Company; the Deputy General Manager of Sales and Strategy
of CNNC Huayuan Titanium Dioxide; the Vice President of Sales
and Strategy of Shandong Haike Chemical Group; the Legal
Representative, General Manager and Executive Vice President of
Sales in the Asia Pacific Region of Chromaflo Technologies China
Manufacturing Company Limited. Mr. Chen has over 20 years of
extensive experience in the chemical industry.
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(I1) The information contained in the
following section was for the new
Director appointed as of 22 March
2024:

Independent Non-executive Director

Ms. Yau Ching Man, aged 40, joined the Group as an
Independent Non-executive Director of the Company since 22
March 2024. Ms. Yau holds a Bachelor Degree in Computer
Engineering from The University of Hong Kong. She is currently
the Vice President (Administration) of Tao Heung Holdings
Limited and is mainly responsible for human resources,
information technology, corporate communications and
administration functions. She is also currently an Elected Member
(Restaurant Category) of The Quality Tourism Services Association
(QTSA) Governing Council and the Board Member of Hong Kong
Federation of Restaurants and Related Trades. Before joining the
Group as an Independent Non-executive Director, she had also
served as a member of the SLT and the Head of Operations of the
Group, the General Manager of Best Lubricant Blending Limited,
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group and Co-President of the
Bauhinia Coatings Group from 2005 to 2018. She has over 10
years of extensive experience of corporate management in both
PRC and Hong Kong.
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The Board present their annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2023.

Principal Activities and Business
Review

The Company is an investment holding company. Its principal
subsidiaries and associates are engaged in the manufacturing of
and trading in coatings, inks, lubricants, properties investment as
well as other businesses including provision of car maintenance
service. There were no significant changes in the nature of the
Group's principal activities during the year under review.

Details in respect of the business review during the year under
review as required by Schedule 5 of the Companies Ordinance
(Chapter 622 of the laws of Hong Kong) (the “Companies
Ordinance”) including, a fair review of the business of the Group
with financial performance indicators including revenue and net
profit of the Group as well as revenue and operating profit of its
business segments, and return on investment properties and an
indication of likely future development in the Company’s business
are explained in the “Chairman’s Statement — Review and
Outlook” and the “Report of the Chief Executive Officer” from
pages 6 to 15 of this annual report. These indicators illustrate
the performance of the Group as a whole and of its individual
businesses in terms of business development and profitability in
attaining its corporate vision of “Towards a Century of Revered
Leadership”. The trend of these indicators for the past five years
together with other financial ratios of return on average total
assets and return on average shareholders’ funds are disclosed
in pages 27 to 28 of this annual report. Particulars of important
events affecting the Group that have occurred since the end
of the financial year, if any, can be found in the notes to the
consolidated financial statements. The Group’s liquidity and
financial resources are disclosed in pages 33 to 35. Save for
disclosed above, details of the other activities required to be
disclosed are explained as follows:
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Principal Activities and Business
Review (Continued)
Principal Risks and Uncertainties

The Group’s businesses and prospects as well as financial
conditions and results of operations will be affected by a
number of risks and uncertainties including business risks,
operational risks and financial risks. For business risks, all the
Group’s businesses are mainly carried out in the Mainland
China so it will be subject to the impact from economic
and political development and market situation of Mainland
China. For operational risks, the Group is mainly engaged in
manufacturing of chemical products and it is thus exposed to
various environmental, health and safety risks in its operations.
For financial risks, there will be market risk (currency risk,
interest rate risk and other price risk) for the Group's financial
instruments, and credit risk and liquidity risk associated therewith.
Details of the policies on mitigating these financial risks are set
out in note 34 to the consolidated financial statements.

Compliance with the Laws and Regulations

As far as the Board and management are aware, the Group
has complied in all material respects with the relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the business and
operation of the Group. During the year under review, there was
no material breach of or non-compliance with the applicable laws
and regulations by the Group.

The relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the Company include, among others, the Companies
Ordinance, the Companies Act (As Revised) of the Cayman
Islands, the Listing Rules, the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO") and the
relevant laws, rules and regulations in relation to its business
including health, safety and environmental protection, workplace
conditions and employment etc. To ensure compliance with
these requirements of laws, rules and regulations, the Company
has implemented an effective internal control and approval
procedures, and has undertaken risk management and provided
trainings.
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Principal Activities and Business
ReVieW (Continued)
Environment Policies and Performance

The discussions on the Group’s environmental policies are set
out in the "Corporate Sustainability” section on page 37 of
this annual report and will be set out in the 2023 ESG Report
published on the same day of this annual report.

Relationship with Customers, Suppliers,
Employees and other Stakeholders

The Group has a large number of customers and suppliers across
different industries and geographical areas. The Group maintains
good relationships with its customers and suppliers. As the top 5
largest customers of the Group accounted for less than 8% of the
total revenue of the Group, the Directors consider that the Group
has no significant concentration of credit risk, with exposure
spread over a large number of counterparties and customers.
Further details of the credit control system and credit terms
granted to customers are shown in note 22 to the consolidated
financial statements. The Group’s relationship with its employees,
investors and Shareholders are set out in the “Human Resources”
and the “Corporate Governance Report” sections on page 38
and pages 67 to 98 of this annual report, respectively.

Emolument Policy and Long-term
Incentive Plan

A general description of the remuneration policy of the Group
is set out in the “Human Resources” section on page 38
of this annual report. The emoluments of the Directors are
recommended by the remuneration committee of the Company
(the “Remuneration Committee”) and determined and approved
by the Board. The emolument payable to the Directors is
determined with reference to their qualification and experience,
responsibilities undertaken, contribution to the Company and the
prevailing market level of remuneration of similar position.

In addition, the Company has adopted a share option scheme to
provide incentive/reward to Directors and eligible participants/
qualifying grantees, details of the scheme are set out under
the heading “Share Option Schemes” on pages 54 to 57 of
this annual report and note 36 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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Results and Appropriations

The results of the Group and appropriations of the profit
of the Company for the year under review are set out in
the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other
Comprehensive Income on page 106 and note 11 to the
consolidated financial statements, respectively.

Dividends

During the year under review, an interim dividend of HK2
cents per Share was paid to the Shareholders. The Directors
has recommended the payment of a final dividend for the year
ended 31 December 2023 of HK10 cents in cash per Share, with
total amount of approximately HK$56,848,000, payable to the
Shareholders whose names appear on the register of members
of the Company at the close of business on Friday, 14 June 2024
and will be payable on or around Monday, 15 July 2024. The
final dividend is subject to the approval of the Shareholders at
the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company (the
“AGM") to be held on Monday, 3 June 2024.

Share Capital and Share Options

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during
the year under review are set out in note 30 to the consolidated
financial statements. Details of share options of the 2012 Share
Option Scheme and the 2022 Share Option Scheme (as defined
in the heading “Share Options” below) are set out under the
heading “Share Option Schemes” hereunder and in note 36 to
the consolidated financial statements.
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Reserves

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group during the
year under review are set out in the Consolidated Statement of
Changes in Equity on pages 111 to 113 of this annual report.
The Company’s reserves available for distribution of the final
dividends represent the share premium, special reserve and
retained profits. Under the Companies Act (as revised) of the
Cayman Islands, the share premium of the Company is available
for distribution of or paying dividends to Shareholders subject
to the provisions of its the amended and restated memorandum
and articles of association of the Company (the “Memorandum
and Articles”) and provided that immediately following the
distribution of dividend, the Company is able to pay its debts as
they fall due in the ordinary course of business. In accordance
with the Memorandum and Articles, dividends can be distributed
out of the share premium and retained profits of the Company
subjected to the satisfaction of the foregoing conditions, which
amounted to HK$1,718,599,000 as at 31 December 2023 (2022:
HK$1,163,145,000).

Property, Plant and Equipment and
Investment Properties

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment
and investment properties of the Group during the year under
review are set out in notes 14 and 15 to the consolidated
financial statements respectively.

Subsidiaries

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 December
2023 are set out in note 41 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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Directors

The Directors during the year under review and up to the date of
this annual report were:

Chairman & Non-executive Director
Mr. Ip Chi Shing (Chairman)

Executive Directors

Mr. Yip Tsz Hin (Deputy Chairman)
Mr. Ip Kwan (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Ho Sai Hou (Chief Financial Officer)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Wong Yuk

(resigned with effect from 22 March 2024)
Mr. Ho Pak Chuen, Patrick

Mr. Ku Yee Dao, Lawrence

Ms. Yau Ching Man

(appointed with effect from 22 March 2024)

At each annual general meeting of the Company, no less than
one-third of the directors for the time being shall retire from
office by rotation provided that every director (including those
appointed for a specific term) shall be subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years.

In accordance with article 95 of the Memorandum and Articles,
Ms. Yau Ching Man, being an independent Non-executive
Director newly appointed on 22 March 2024, will hold office until
the annual general meeting of the Company (i.e. the forthcoming
AGM of the Company to be held on 3 June 2024) and shall then
be eligible for election.

In accordance with article 112 of the Memorandum and Articles,
the Directors are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election
at the annual general meeting. Mr. Ip Chi Shing, being the
Chairman of the Group and a Non-Executive Director of the
Company, Mr. Yip Tsz Hin, being the Deputy Chairman of the
Group and an Executive Director of the Company, and Mr. Ho
Sai Hou, being the Chief Financial Officer of the Group and an
Executive Director of the Company will retire from office by
rotation and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at
the forthcoming AGM.

Apart from retirement by rotation pursuant to the Memorandum
and Articles, Mr. Ip Chi Shing, the Non-Executive Director, and all
Independent Non-executive Directors of the Company were not
appointed for any specific length or proposed length of service
with the Company.
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Directors’ Service Contracts

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming AGM
has a service contract with the Company or its subsidiaries which
is not determinable by the Company within one year without
payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

Directors’ and Chief Executives’
Interests and Short Positions in
Securities

As at 31 December 2023, to the best of the Company’s
knowledge, save for the interest of the Directors and chief
executives in the Shares and share options of the Company
set out below, none of the Directors and chief executives has
any interests and/or short positions in the Shares, underlying
Shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which
were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests or short positions which they are taken
or deemed to have taken under such provision of the SFO) or
which were required pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be
entered in the register referred therein or which were required
to be disclosed herein pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code"”) as
set out in Appendix C3 of the Listing Rules.

Interests and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying
Shares and Debentures of the Company

HEEATE

FREERORABRAHA BERAY

Number of Shares and underlying shares held "ok

RPER R L £ Approximate

Interests in Interests in Interests in percentage of

Shares Shares Shares the issued

A Ed L ## share capital of

B Name of Director Personal Family Corporate Total the Company
EEmEE Mr. Ip Chi Shing 161,304,532 9,192,0009  26,504,000” 197,000,532 34.65%
ErHis Mr. Yip Tsz Hin 27,200,000 13,000,000 - 40,200,000 7.07%
EHrE Mr. Ip Kwan 26,869,000 - - 26,869,000 4.73%
sEE Mr. Ho Sai Hou - - - - -
FREE Mr. Wong Yuk - - - - -
EENIER Mr. Ho Pak Chuen, Patrick - - - - -

HRERE

Mr. Ku Yee Dao, Lawrence

ER{LIEEMARLT — T =FEFH
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Directors’ and Chief Executives’
Interests and Short Positions in
Securities (Continued)

Interests and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying
Shares and Debentures of the Company (Continued)

Notes:

(a)

(b)

(o)

(d)

Out of these Shares, 7,098,000 Shares were jointly held by Mr. Ip
Chi Shing with his spouse and 2,094,000 Shares were held by his
spouse.

These Shares were held respectively by Ip Chi Shing Charitable
Foundation Limited, a charitable organisation (21,200,000 Shares)
and Yip's Care Extension Foundation Limited, a limited company,
(5,304,000 Shares). Mr. Ip Chi Shing controls 50% (together with
his spouse control 100%) and 60% (together with his younger
sister and brother control 100%) of the voting power at the
general meetings of Ip Chi Shing Charitable Foundation Limited
and Yip's Care Extension Foundation Limited respectively. He was
therefore deemed to be interested in these Shares held by these
two corporations under the SFO.

These Shares were held by Madam Yip Tso Ka Lai, Brenda, the

spouse of Mr. Yip Tsz Hin.

The percentages are calculated based on the number of issued
Shares as at 31 December 2023, i.e. 568,484,096 Shares.

Details of the share options held by the Directors under the
Company’s share option schemes (i.e. part of the interests in the
underlying shares) are set out under the heading “Share Option
Schemes” hereunder.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or chief executives
had any interests or short positions in the shares, debentures
or underlying shares or any of the Company’s associated

corpo

rations as at 31 December 2023.

2023 ANNUAL REPORT  YIP’S CHEMICAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

53



54

=Py GOVERNANCE REPORT

EFTHSE

Directors’ Report

B ESTE
RZE——FRA-_THBEREER
HEFRG LBRBMARREBRES
g(ZE——BERETSDER=Z
T FRA-FTHARER 08
BETEIZENAZTRABAEERS
BALEHESR  WiIRHER AXS%
BREBEANRREREEERRBES
IMEE  UHBERHEBELSERNZ
u%ﬁ$%§&ﬁ%%“?2§%%%
BiZ -

RiE—T——BERIE L SEARSH
Ai@%é EEENBERA/EAEE
&/ﬁHEﬂ%%QT fEH BB

REFNEMZEAEE #AA B
CREA -RBE -BFP HEBK
/ﬁ*ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁﬂ}\i °

RE-F - —BEREE > EE@+=
MH%WW&%EH FB2EATHER
(A AR T ER) M BTG
&R A EBEBE BHTRNER
MBS Z—(1%) BIFEBEETOER
REARRBBRRAREG L4 E - B2 AR
ABRIE 2H B HREFE -+ —(21)
18 & % B~ F IR IE AT A IR T B A
ZEHUAREGEEEAZMABELT
TREMBEEZ LER)  HER=F
——BRER B ER R ILRATEH
EMEHEN BREAINESTS2E
RTE PR AAER A 2 MIE N EITE - HE
TEEAEREARES TO0FER A
%%@ﬂ%%%%%ﬂ%ﬁﬁ%%ﬁﬁ
58 IS AR S PR A - %k%ﬁﬂ
&ﬁﬂ%&ﬁ?h%@&%% I
E=gERREBRBRIERHE DK
%%%@W%%%Eﬁ@%bm%ﬁm
REHR - BEERE_T Bk
S8R H B ARE - A 2R TE B IT(E
B HEEFABERTZERRDERIN
T=FZ2BRE(OROVE L BB (%
BERRSZR)ABZAE R RERFHR
ZWTE  (DRORERR L EHA A
EEXAEBAEARERABF
B HE: gDk zEE - R=_F
——BRER B EmR - BT ERE—

——EREAERNE - FPHNER
BT R SRR
BEMHOEDAEETRBIRMER
WARES M ERHKBRE—_T——
B BRI A RITRIE AR
TTEBBRERTTITENOLERE DR -
AR —F——EREE T ROMER

HREEAMRAIRE-F— Bk
AT Bl AR AT E
RECIRMBMLE —T-=FEFHR

Share Option Schemes

The old share option scheme of the Company (the “2012 Share
Option Scheme”), which was adopted by the Shareholders at
the AGM on 25 May 2012 had expired on 24 May 2022. The
purpose of the 2012 Share Option Scheme was to recognize
and motivate the contribution of the eligible participants and to
provide incentives to them and help the Group and its associates
in retaining the existing employees and recruiting additional
employees and to provide them with a direct economic interest in
attaining the long-term business objectives of the Group and its
associates.

Under the 2012 Share Option Scheme, the eligible participants
included any employees, advisers, consultants, agents,
contractors, clients, suppliers and/or such other persons, who
in the sole discretion of the Board has/have contributed or may
contribute to the Group and/or any of its associates.

Under the 2012 Share Option Scheme, the maximum number
of shares issued or to be issued upon exercise of share options
granted to (i.e. maximum entitlement of) any one participant
in any twelve months shall not exceed one percent of the total
number of issued Shares unless the proposed grant has been
approved by the Shareholders in a general meeting of the
Company. The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted
by each grantee (and upon payment of a non-refundable nominal
consideration of HK$1.00 by each grantee) until 5:00 p.m.
on the twenty-first business day following the date of offer,
provided that no such offer shall be open for acceptance after
expiry or termination of the 2012 Share Option Scheme. The
share options may be exercised during such period as the Board
may in its absolute discretion determine and notify the grantee
during which the grantee may exercise a share option, save that
such period shall not be more than ten (10) years from the date
of offer and the Board may provide restrictions on the exercise
of an share option during the period a share option may be
exercised. The 2012 Share Option Scheme does not specify any
minimum holding period or vesting period but the Board has the
authority to determine the minimum period for which a share
option in respect of some or all of the Shares forming the subject
of the share options must be held before it can be exercised.
The exercise price of a share option granted under the 2012
Share Option Scheme is determined by the Board in its absolute
discretion at the time of the grant but in any case it shall be at
least the higher of (i) the closing price of the Shares on the Stock
Exchange on the date of grant, which must be a trading day;
(ii) the average of the closing price of the Shares on the Stock
Exchange for the five business days immediately preceding the
date of grant; or (iii) the nominal value of a Share. Upon expiry
of the 2012 Share Option Scheme, no further share options will
be granted thereunder but the rules of the 2012 Share Option
Scheme will remain in full force and effect in all other respects to
the extent necessary to give effect to the exercise of outstanding
share options granted prior to its expiration or otherwise as may
be required in accordance with the rules of thereof, and options
granted under the 2012 Share Option Scheme will continue to
be valid and exercisable in accordance with the rules of the 2012
Share Option Scheme.
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Share Option Schemes (continued)

Following the expiration of the 2012 Share Option Scheme,
the Company has adopted a new share option scheme (the
“2022 Share Option Scheme”, together with the “2012 Share
Option Scheme” collectively be referred to as the “Share Option
Schemes”) by a Shareholders’ resolution passed at the annual
general meeting held on 6 June 2022. The 2022 Share Option
Scheme became effective from 6 June 2022 and, unless otherwise
terminated, will remain in force for a period of 10 years until
5 June 2032. The purpose of the 2022 Share Option Scheme
is to recognize and motivate the contribution of the eligible
participants and to provide incentives to them and help the
Group and its associates in retaining the eligible participants and
recruiting additional employees and to provide them with a direct
economic interest in attaining the long term business objectives
of the Group and its associates.

Under the 2022 Share Option Scheme, the Board may grant
share options to eligible participants including any employees,
advisers, consultants, agents, contractors, clients, suppliers and/or
such other persons, who in the sole discretion of the Board has/
have contributed or may contribute to the Group and/or any of
its associates.

The maximum number of shares issued or to be issued upon
exercise of share options granted under the 2022 Share Option
Scheme to (i.e. maximum entitlement of) any one participant
in any twelve months shall not exceed one percent of the total
number of issued Shares unless the proposed grant has been
approved by the Shareholders in a general meeting of the
Company. The offer of a grant of share options under the 2022
Share Option Scheme may be accepted by each grantee (and
upon payment of a non-refundable nominal consideration of
HK$1.00 by each grantee) until 5:00 p.m. on the twenty-first
business day following the date of offer, provided that no such
offer shall be open for acceptance after expiry or termination
of the 2022 Share Option Scheme. The share options may be
exercised during such period as the Board may in its absolute
discretion determine and notify the grantee during which the
grantee may exercise a share option, save that such period shall
not be more than ten (10) years from the date of offer and
the Board may provide restrictions on the exercise of a share
option during the period a share option may be exercised. The
2022 Share Option Scheme does not specify any minimum
holding period or vesting period but the Board has the authority
to determine the minimum period for which a share option
in respect of some or all of the Shares forming the subject of
the share options must be held before it can be exercised. The
exercise price of a share option granted under the 2022 Share
Option Scheme is determined by the Board in its absolute
discretion at the time of the grant but in any case it shall be at
least the higher of (i) the closing price of the Shares on the Stock
Exchange on the date of grant, which must be a business day;
(i) the average closing price of the Shares on the Stock Exchange
for the five business days immediately preceding the date of
grant; or (iii) the nominal value of a Share. Whilst the 2022 Share
Option Scheme was adopted prior to the amendment of Chapter
17 of the Listing Rules which has come to effect on 1 January
2023, the Company will comply with the provisions under the
amended Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules when making any
grants thereafter.
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Share Option Schemes (continveq)

During the year ended 31 December 2023, movements in the
number of share options which had been granted to certain

EENEBRSEATERE SN Directors and eligible participants under the Company's Share
T Option Schemes are as follows:
BREHE
Number of share options
R=%z=f% REBEER  RZB=Z
=1 -A-8 REREE REBFE BAM/HH t-AZt-8
TEE MR AR R Lapsed/ HRTE
Exercise BRETRH Outstanding as  Granted during Exercised during Cancelled  Outstanding as
B AH price Exercise period of at 1 January the year the year during the year at 31 December
Date of grant per Share share options 2023 underreview  under review  under review 2023
BT
HKS
£
Directors
3203 “E-ZF-B+t-B 59 -“E-REF-At-HE
“Z-=%-f+A 200,000 - - 200,000 -
Mr. Ip Kwan 11 January 2013 11 January 2015 to
10 January 2023
Eh:Edi:a “E-ZE-B+-B 59 —F-RE-Af-HE
“TZ=%¥-f+tA 200,000 - - 200,000 -
Mr. Ho Sai Hou 11 January 2013 11 January 2015 to
10 January 2023
400,000 - - 400,000 -
ETAL
Eligible persons
[E8 “E-ZE-F+-0 S92 -E-RE-AT-HE
“BZF-ATH 3,200,000 - - 3,200,000 -
Employees 11 January 2013 11 January 2015 to
10 January 2023
3,600,000 - - 3,600,000 -
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TR EIEL - 1TF - s
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#93,600,00017 & R #E & B 2 K& - 3
—E-=F+-A=+—8 #MEIH
BEZFT——_BREFEX =T
AR i T B 2 RE R A 1 R AT HE o
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During the year under review, no share options was granted,
exercised, cancelled or lapsed under the 2022 Share Option
Schemes while 3,600,000 share options granted under the 2012
Share Option Scheme lapsed. As at 31 December 2023, there
was no outstanding share option granted under the 2012 Share
Option Scheme or the 2022 Share Option Scheme.
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Share Option Schemes (continveq)

As at 1 January 2023, the number of Shares that could be issued
upon exercise of all share options that could be granted under
the then available scheme mandate limit was 56,848,409 Shares,
which represented approximately 10.00% of the total number of
issued Shares as at 1 January 2023. As at 31 December 2023 and
as at the date of this annual report, the number of Shares that
could be issued upon exercise of (i) all outstanding share options;
and (i) all share options that could be granted under the then
available scheme mandate limit were nil and 56,848,409 Shares,
which represented approximately 10.00% of the total number of
issued Shares as at 31 December 2023 and as at the date of this
annual report.

Directors’ Rights to Acquire Shares
and Debentures

Save as disclosed above and in note 36 to the consolidated
financial statements, at no time during the year under review
was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any
arrangement to enable the Directors or their respective spouse or
children under 18 years of age to acquire benefits by means of
the acquisition of Shares in, or debentures of, the Company or
any other body corporate.
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Substantial Shareholders

As at 31 December 2023, to the best of the Company’s
knowledge, the following Shareholders (other than the Directors
or chief executives of the Company disclosed above) had an
interest or long position or short position in the Shares and
underlying Shares which would fall to be disclosed to the
Company under provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the
SFO or which were required pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO,
to be entered in the register referred therein:

REROSEBRD ZHFR Long position in Shares or underlying Shares
HNEAE QT
BERTREAZ
Aot
Approximate
percentage of
FiERMEEB  the issued share
RN E 56 M iF Number of capital of the
Name of Shareholder Capacity Notes Shares held Company
EREBrL BRERA 49,381,913 8.69%
Ms. Ip Fung Kuen Beneficial Owner
FMR LLC N 1 33,877,300 5.96%
Corporate Interest
Ktit Notes:

RIFFMR LLCIR LM E R - FMR LLC
WR-EBE-_=%+-A=+—H%E
o WEH33,877,300 R - &P
30,272,575 B 17 % Bl B Fidelity
Management & Research Company
LLCEBER/ARER « LA%3,604,725
% 3% 17 FFidelity Management Trust
CompanyE # # 5 & & 12 ° Fidelity
Management & Research Company
LLC KzFidelity Management Trust
CompanyfiFMR LLCR2 & A »

ER{LIEEMARLT — T =FEFH

(1) The Company was notified by FMR LLC that FMR LLC was
beneficially interested in 33,877,300 Shares as of 31 December
2023, of which 30,272,575 Shares were directly held and managed
by Fidelity Management & Research Company LLC, and 3,604,725
Shares were directly held and managed by Fidelity Management
Trust Company respectively. Fidelity Management & Research
Company LLC and Fidelity Management Trust Company are wholly
owned by FMR LLC.
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}% 3 % AFidelity Canada Investors
LLCZ100% A # - MFidelity
Canada Investors LLCH# B Bay Street
Holdings LLCZ100% % # - # M
Bay Street Holdings LLCHE B483A
Bay Street Holdings LP2 18%J&# °
483A Bay Street Holdings LPHE A&
Bluelay Lux 1 S.a.r.l2100% /%%
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Investments Canada ULCZ 100% &
1
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Substantial Shareholders (continued

Long position in Shares or underlying Shares
(Continued)
Notes: (Continued)

The Company was further notified that out of the abovementioned
30,272,575 Shares held by Fidelity Management & Research
Company LLC, 6,012,000 Shares were advised and hence indirectly
held by Fidelity Investments Canada ULC, which is ultimately
owned by certain employees and shareholders of FMR LLC. Those
employees and shareholders of FMR LLC own 100% equity interest
in Fidelity Canada Investors LLC, which owns 100% equity interest
in Bay Street Holdings LLC, which in turn owns 18% equity interest
in 483A Bay Street Holdings LP. 483A Bay Street Holdings LP owns
100% equity interest in Bluelay Lux 1 S.a.r.l, which in turn owns
100% equity interest in Fidelity Investments Canada ULC.

(2)  The percentages are calculated based on the number of issued
Shares as at 31 December 2023, i.e. 568,484,096 Shares

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, the Directors
are not aware of any other persons who have interests or short
positions in the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the
Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the SFO) which would be required to be disclosed to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Part XV of the
SFO.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of the
Company’s Listed Securities

Saved as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries has purchased, sold or redeemed any listed securities
of the Company during the year ended 31 December 2023.
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Major Suppliers and Customers

During the year under review, the aggregate sales attributable
to the Group's five largest customers accounted for less than
30% of the Group's total turnover. The aggregate purchases
attributable to the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for
less than 30% of the Group’s total purchases.

None of the Directors, their respective close associates (as defined
in the Listing Rules) or any Shareholder (whom to the knowledge
of the Directors owns 5% or more of the issued share capital of
the Company) as at 31 December 2023 has any interest in the
Group's five largest suppliers.

Corporate Governance

Report on the Company’s corporate governance is set out in
"Corporate Governance Report” on pages 67 to 98 of this annual
report.

Sufficiency of Public Float

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has
maintained sufficient public float as required under the Listing
Rules during the year and as at the latest practicable date prior
to the issue of the annual report.

Equity-linked Agreements

Other than the Share Option Schemes as disclosed above, no
equity-linked agreements that will or may result in the Company
issuing shares or that require the Company to enter into any
agreements that will or may result in the Company issuing shares
were entered into by the Company during the year under review
or subsisted at the end of the year under review.

Donations

During the year under review, the Group made charitable
donations of approximately HK$215,000.
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Permitted Indemnity Provision

The Memorandum and Articles provides that each Director,
auditor or other officer of the Company shall be indemnified
out of the assets of the Company against any liability, loss or
expenditure incurred by him in defending any proceedings,
whether civil or criminal, which relate to anything done or
omitted to be done by him as Director, auditor or other officer
of the Company and in which judgment is given in his favour
or in which he is acquitted, or incurred in connection with any
application in which relief is granted to him by the court from
liability in respect of any such act.

The Company has taken out and kept in force appropriate
directors’ and officers’ liability insurance coverage for the
Directors and officers of the Company.

The permitted indemnity provisions and the Directors’ and
officers’ liability insurance coverage were in force during the year
under review and as of the date of this annual report.

Connected Transactions and
Continuing Connected Transactions

The Group entered into certain transactions with parties regarded
as “Related Parties” under applicable accounting standard.
Details of the related party transactions are set out in note 39
to the consolidated financial statements. Among the related
party transactions, each of the following transactions constitutes
a connected transaction or a continuing connected transaction
of the Company as defined under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules. Further, each of those transactions constitutes a de
minimis transaction under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules and
is therefore fully exempt from Shareholders’ approval, annual
review and all disclosure requirements under Rule 14A.76(1) of
the Listing Rules.

(a) During the year under review, the Group paid rent of
HK$960,000 (2022: HK$960,000) to Goldex Investments
Limited which is owned as to 50% by Mr. Ip Chi Shing, the
controlling Shareholder and a Non-executive Director and
50% by his spouse.
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Connected Transactions and
Continuing Connected Transactions
(Continued)

(b)  During the year under review, the Group received rent and
license fee of HK$304,000 (2022: HK$384,000) and service
fee of HK$53,000 (2022: HK$53,000) from Ip Chi Shing
Charitable Foundation Limited in which Mr. Ip Chi Shing,
the controlling Shareholder and a Non-executive Director
has controlling interest.

(c)  Remuneration paid to Directors pursuant to their service
contracts entered into with the Company or its subsidiaries
are fully exempted transactions pursuant to Rule 14A.95
of the Listing Rules. The details of the remuneration paid
to them are set out in note 6 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Connected Transactions
Acquisitions of Minority Equity
Interest in and of a Subsidiary

On 10 March 2023, Yip’s Ink & Chemicals (Group) Limited (an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, “Yip's Ink")
(as purchaser) entered into the agreements with 8 partnerships
(each as a vendor) to acquire the remaining 8.24% of the
equity interest in and of Bauhinia Variegata Ink & Chemicals
(Zhejiang) Limited* (¥ 5 #)m & O )L) AR 2 7)) (formerly
known as Bauhinia Ink Company Limited* CE¥X#F MR R MDA
R A @])) (a company established under the laws of the PRC
with limited liability, “Bauhinia Variegata”), other than the
91.76% of the equity interest already held by Yip’s Ink as at
the date of the agreements at an aggregate consideration of
approximately RMB69,320,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$78,137,000) (the “Acquisition”) such that, upon completion
of the Acquisition, Bauhinia Variegata would become an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.
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Connected Transactions

Acquisitions of Minority Equity
Interest in and of a Subsidiary
(Continued)

Among the agreements, FIITTHEREH AR EE(ERE
%) (Zhongshan Yumao Investment Advisory Partnership (Limited
Partnership)*) (a limited partnership established in the PRC and
a connected person of the Company, “Zhongshan Yumao”) (as
vendor) and Yip's Ink (as purchaser) entered into an agreement
(the “Zhongshan Yumao Agreement”) dated 10 March 2023 for
acquisition of sale interest of Zhongshan Yumao representing
approximately 0.53% equity interest in and of Bauhinia Variegata
by Yip's Ink from Zhongshan Yumao at a consideration of
approximately RMB4,468,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$5,036,000).

As at the date of the Zhongshan Yumao Agreement, Mr. Yip Tsz
Hin and Mr. Ip Kwan were limited partners and Mr. Yip Long,
Brian was the general partner of Zhongshan Yumao. Mr. Yip
Tsz Hin, Mr. Ip Kwan and Mr. Yip Long, Brian had contributed
approximately 54.49%, 18.20% and 27.31% of its capital,
respectively. Mr. Yip Tsz Hin and Mr. Ip Kwan were executive
Directors, while Mr. Yip Long, Brian, a son of Mr. Yip Tsz Hin,
was a director of Bauhinia Variegata and its several subsidiaries.
Accordingly, Zhongshan Yumao, being an entity controlled as to
more than 30% by, and hence an associate of, Mr. Yip Tsz Hin,
was a connected person of the Company and the Zhongshan
Yumao Agreement and the transactions contemplated thereunder
constituted connected transactions of the Company under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The Acquisition was completed on 22 March 2023.
For details regarding the Acquisition, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 10 March 2023.

*  For identification purposes only
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Major Transaction

Subscription of Preferred Shares

On 27 March 2023, Yip's H.C. (Holding) Limited (a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company) (the “Subscriber”) and PAGAC
Heisenberg Holding | Limited (the “Issuer”) entered into an
agreement, pursuant to which, among other things, the
Subscriber agreed to subscribe for, and the Issuer agreed to allot
and issue, the two redeemable non-voting preferred shares of
the Issuer for the subscription price of US$85 million (equivalent
to approximately HK$667.3 million, or approximately RMB583.5
million), payable in cash (the “Subscription”).

The Subscription was completed on 27 March 2023.

For details regarding the Subscription, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 27 March 2023 and the
circular of the Company dated 24 May 2023.

Significant Investments

As at 31 December 2023, the Group held significant investments
(including any investment in an investee company with a value of
5% or more of the Group’s total assets as at 31 December 2023)
in the aforesaid preferred shares of the Issuer and in interests in
associates as follows:

1) Preferred Shares in PAGAC Heisenberg
Holding I Limited

The subscription price of the two redeemable non-voting
preferred shares of the Issuer was approximately HK$667.3
million. As at 31 December 2023, fair value of such
preferred shares was approximately HK$660 million, which
represented approximately 10.3% of the Group’s total
assets as at 31 December 2023. During the year ended
31 December 2023, dividend income of approximately
HK$17.9 million from such investment was recognised
in the consolidated financial statements. The principal
business of the Issuer is investment holding, which through
its subsidiaries, holds and is engaged in the solvents
business. With a view to participating in the development
of the solvents business in building a new acetic acid and
acetates plant, the Group intends to hold the preferred
shares for long term strategic purposes including forming a
strategic cooperation with PAG and receiving stable profit
contribution from the solvents business.
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Significant Investments (continued)
2) Interests in associates

Following the completion of the Group’s disposal of 68%
shareholding in Handsome Chemical Development Limited
(“HSD"), which in turn holds 51% effective interest in
Handsome Chemical’s subsidiaries, to PAG by the end of
2022, Handsome Chemical and its subsidiaries became
32% and 24%-owned associates of the Group, respectively.
Fair value of the Group’s remaining effective interest in
Handsome Chemical and its subsidiaries subsequent to
the completion of disposal of approximately HK$1,209.4
million was recognised and regarded as the cost of initial
recognition of investment in such associates. As at 31
December 2023, the carrying amount of such interests in
associates was approximately HK$1,241.3 million, which
represented about 19.3% of the Group's total assets as at
31 December 2023. During the year ended 31 December
2023, share of result of approximately HK$94.7 million
from such associates was recognised in the consolidated
financial statements and dividend income of approximately
HK$43.1 million was received from such associates.
Handsome Chemical and its subsidiaries are principally
engaged in the solvents business and the Group intends to
hold such interests in the associates for long term strategic
purposes and receive stable profit contribution from the
solvents business.

Save as disclosed above, the Group did not hold any other
significant or undertake any other material acquisition or disposal
of subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures during the year under
review.
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Directors’ Interests in Transactions,
Arrangement or Contracts

Save as disclosed above, no Director or any entity connected
with a Director had a material interest, directly or indirectly, in a
transaction, arrangement or contract that is significant in relation
to the Company’s business to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party during the year under review.

Contracts Concerning Management
and Administration

No contracts, other than employment contracts with Directors
and full time employees, concerning the management and
administration of the whole or any substantial part of any
business of the Company were entered into or subsisted during
the year under review.

Pre-emptive Rights
There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Memorandum and Articles or the laws of the Cayman Islands
which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro
rata basis to existing Shareholders.

Auditor

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2023 have been audited by the
Company’s auditor, Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu. Messrs.
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu will retire and a resolution for their
re-appointment as auditor of the Company will be proposed at
the forthcoming AGM.

On behalf of the Board

Ip Chi Shing
Chairman

22 March 2024
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Statement of Compliance

The Board is committed to practicing and achieving a high
standard of corporate governance. The Board periodically reviews
the daily corporate governance practices and procedures of the
Company and its subsidiaries and procures the Company and
its subsidiaries to strictly comply with the relevant laws and
regulations, and the rules and guidelines of regulatory bodies.

Corporate Governance Practices

The Company has made detailed disclosures in relation to the
accounting period covered in this annual report in compliance
with the requirements set out in the Corporate Governance Code
(the “CG Code”) of Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules. Also, the
Company has complied with the code provisions of Part 2 of the
CG Code for the year ended 31 December 2023.

Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors

The Company has adopted a code of conduct on securities
dealings by Directors and the relevant employees (the “Code
on Securities Dealings”) on terms no less exacting than the
required standard of the Model Code as its own code of conduct
governing dealing by all Directors and relevant employees in
the securities of the Company. After making specific enquiries,
all Directors have confirmed that they have complied with the
required standard set out in the Model Code and Code on
Securities Dealings for the year under review.
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Strategy

The Company endeavours to be more environmentally friendly,
service-oriented and end-user focused in future business
development, and will actively pursue business opportunities
related to “household” and “automobile” to diversify and
increase the competitiveness of its product portfolio for
attainment of long term sustainable development. For more
details of the Company’s strategy highlights, please refer to the
sections of “Chairman’s Statement — Review and Outlook” and
"Report of the Chief Executive Officer” of this annual report.

Culture

To drive the sustainable development so as to attain its
corporate vision, the Company promotes the corporate culture
of “TIDE”, which aims to equip colleagues with the qualities of
Teamwork, Integrity, Determination and Excellence. For more
details, please refer to the section of Building Human Capital of
the Company’s website.

’®R E Purpose
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The Company focuses on the
production, sales and marketing
of chemical products for over
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Strives to establish a quality
chemical business platform to
achieve its vision — “Towards a
Century of Revered Leadership”
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The seven core values outlined
in the Company’s corporate
vision complement each other
and form the cornerstone of

half a century. The Company
aims at creating a comfortable
and beautiful living environment
for consumers, as well as
promoting sustainable lifestyle
by providing high-quality
chemical products and services.
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the Company’s commitment to
people-oriented management
philosophy and the pursuit of
sustainable development. Please
refer to the inner cover page of
this report for each core value.

The Board has established the Company’s purpose, values
and strategy, and is satisfied that they are aligned with the
Company’s culture. The Company has formulated corporate
strategy for delivering the Company’s objectives and a long-term
business model as the basis to generate or preserve value over
the longer term. For details, please refer to the above heading
of “Group’s Vision and Culture”, and sections of “Chairman’s
Statement — Review and Outlook” and “Report of the Chief
Executive Officer” of this annual report.
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Corporate Governance Structure
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2023 ANNUAL REPORT  YIP’S CHEMICAL HOLDINGS LIMITED 69



70

=Py GOVERNANCE REPORT

EHREGHRS
Corporate Governance Report

% $ % (&)

EESHER

RAFRAY SEEEARETRL
Ao oEBEReHBALNESRANK BE=
NPITES  —NUIFERTESR=UB
VIERTESZT -REBEFE  BIIEH
TEENH B KR EMHEAE310AKR
EMEEEKREAHSBB=92— R
AEFEBZEENOT :

IFERFEITES
REREE(XRE)

BITES
et (BEE)
EPnt ((THER)
Tt s e 4 (M)

BYFHTESE
EEPIFES
HRERE
BEEL+

AE—AhEERREENE BEE
ZEREAT R

(1) TWREEBTBELIFERNTES
—E-_NFEFZA-+—HR4E
B &

2) BHELTEZTABIIENT
EE AT -_WMF=ZA=-_+=
BB AR o

RZZE_NFE=AMAB - BEFERE>)
HEMRAANFEAREIERESTNR
TE LA R 1) B 22 BT R H R R B2 B sk dR A
EBESMAESIBMER  REER
BT (—REEBRBEBEEZRERE
REEMT) MBEEER  RINER
AOEEAZEENEML -

ERCLIKERMAT —T-=—FEFR

The Board (Continued)
Composition of the Board

As of the date of this annual report, the Board is chaired by
Mr. Ip Chi Shing and comprised a total of seven Directors,
namely, three Executive Directors, one Non-executive Director
and three Independent Non-executive Directors. During the
year under review, the number of Independent Non-executive
Directors represents more than one-third of the Board which
fulfills the requirement under Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules. The
Directors as of the date of this annual report were:

Chairman & Non-executive Director
Mr. Ip Chi Shing (Chairman)

Executive Directors

Mr. Yip Tsz Hin (Deputy Chairman)
Mr. Ip Kwan (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Ho Sai Hou (Chief Financial Officer)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Ho Pak Chuen, Patrick
Mr. Ku Yee Dao, Lawrence
Ms. Yau Ching Man

The following changes to the Board composition have taken
place since the date of the last corporate governance report:

(1) Mr. Wong Yuk resigned as an Independent Non-executive
Director with effect from 22 March 2024; and

(2)  Ms. Yau Ching Man was appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director with effect from 22 March 2024.

On 4 March 2024, Ms. Yau Ching Man has (i) obtained legal
advice from Messrs. Ronald Tong & Co, a firm of solicitors
qualified to advise on Hong Kong law, as regards the
requirements under the Listing Rules that are applicable to her
as a Director and the possible consequences of making a false
declaration or giving false information to the Stock Exchange;
and (ii) confirmed she understood her obligations as a Director.
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The Board (Continued)
Composition of the Board (Continued)
Independent Non-executive Directors (Continued)

Biographic details of the Directors as of 31 December 2023
and for the new Director appointed as of 22 March 2024 are
set out in the section “Directors’ and Management Executives’
Profiles” on pages 39 to 44 and page 45 of this annual report,
respectively. The list of Directors with their roles and functions
is available on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange.

As of the date of this annual report, Mr. Ip Chi Shing, the
Chairman of the Group and a Non-executive Director, is (i) the
elder brother of Mr. Yip Tsz Hin who is the Deputy Chairman and
an Executive Director; and (ii) the father of Mr. Ip Kwan, who is
the Chief Executive Officer of the Group, an Executive Director
and a member of the SLT. Mr. Yip Tsz Hin is the uncle of Mr. Ip
Kwan. To the best knowledge of the Directors, save as disclosed
above, there is no financial, business, family or other material/
relevant relationship among members of the Board.

The Company has received from each of the Independent
Non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of his and his
immediate family members’ independence pursuant to Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules. Therefore, the Company considers
all Independent Non-executive Directors were independent
throughout the year under review.

Mr. Ku Yee Dao, Lawrence, an Independent Non-executive
Director, is the son of Mr. Ku Yuen Fun, the former Independent
Non-executive Director, however, the Board considers that
Mr. Ku Yee Dao, Lawrence is independent for, among others, the
following reasons:

(i) Mr. Ku Yee Dao, Lawrence satisfies all the independence
criteria set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules except for
Rule 3.13(6) of the Listing Rules solely for him being the
son of a retired Director; and

(i) the Company believes that Mr. Ku Yee Dao, Lawrence
is capable of exercising his professional judgment and
draw upon his extensive knowledge and experience in the
accounting and financial industry.
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The Board (Continued)
Composition of the Board (Continued)

In respect of another Independent Non-executive Director
Mr. Wong Yuk, notwithstanding that Mr. Wong Yuk was a
director of Bauhinia Paints Manufacturing (Shenzhen) Company
Limited” (&£ #7E 8% CEII|) AR A F)) (a company established
in the PRC and a subsidiary of the Company, “Bauhinia Paints
(Shenzhen)”), within two years prior to 1 January 2021, the date
of his re-designation as Independent Non-executive Director,
Mr. Wong has confirmed, and the Board agrees, that Mr. Wong
is independent and satisfies all the indicative independence
criteria set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, save for Rule
3.13(7) of the Listing Rules, for the following reasons:—

(i) Mr. Wong Yuk has been re-designated from an Executive
Director to a Non-executive Director since 1 January 2019
and has no longer been involved in any daily operations,
management and business of the Group since then and has
played a valuable role to bring objectivity and independent
judgment to the Board’s deliberations; and

(i) Mr. Wong Yuk acted as a director of Bauhinia Paints
(Shenzhen) which applied for deregistration on 13
November 2018 (by then Bauhinia Paints (Shenzhen) had
already ceased its business), since then Mr. Wong ceased
to perform any executive role in Bauhinia Paints (Shenzhen)
and the deregistration process of Bauhinia Paints
(Shenzhen) was completed on 10 April 2020.

Therefore, the Board confirms Mr. Wong’s independence for
acting as an Independent Non-executive Director of the Group
during the period of 1 January to 31 December 2023.
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The Board (Continued)
Composition of the Board (Continued)

Mr. Wong Yuk has informed the Group that he has been
appointed as the acting chief executive officer (CEO) and chief
operating officer (COO) of Cashew Manfield Holding Limited
("Cashew Manfield”), an associate jointly established by Pan
Asia Data Holdings Inc. (formerly known as Manfield Chemical
Holdings Limited, stock code on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange:
1561) and Japan Cashew Company (A A FEHEH R &)
with effect from 1 January 2024. Upon discussions, the Board
considers that Mr. Wong Yuk is still to be independent for the
following reasons that:

1. the principal products manufactured by such associate of
and the industrial coatings products of the Group have
different applications and market positioning; and

2. Mr. Wong will continue to devote sufficient time to relevant
work affairs of the Group.

In general, Mr. Wong’s new employment with Cashew Manfield
has no conflicts of interest with the Group, which would
affect his independence from the Group. Therefore, the Board
confirms Mr. Wong's independence for acting as an Independent
Non-executive Director of the Group during the period of 1
January to 22 March 2024.

# for identification purpose only
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Th e Boa rd (Continued)
Operation of the Board

The details of Directors’ attendance at the Board meetings held
during the year under review are set out in the following table:

ESESRCHEREITHA
Number of Board Meetings Attended and Held
FREFT
Esg HitESS FHITES
ERe3 BREFEER EELEES

Chairman and

Independent

Non-executive

Regular Board Other Board Directors

EEHA Name of Director Meetings Meetings Meeting
EEKLEE Mr. Ip Chi Shing 5/5 3/10 11
EFekist Mr. Yip Tsz Hin 5/5 3/10 T3 FN/A
HEHEA Mr. Ip Kwan 5/5 10/10 5@ FAN/A
ftEZ A& Mr. Ho Sai Hou 5/5 10/10 i FAN/A
F B A& Mr. Wong Yuk 5/5 3/10 11
EEPIEAS Mr. Ho Pak Chuen, Patrick 5/5 3/10 1/1
HAE L AE Mr. Ku Yee Dao, Lawrence 5/5 3/10 11

REBEFERN EFEEIAREESR
REFRBESBLEX MABES
REFANTBREBESEGE KRETE
FEAERN EFEREREBEFEAT
BRTTREMEFTE SR UHLER
FEBIIRESEAMNERAREE
BZEH-

ER{LIEEMARLT — T =FEFH

During the year under review, the Board had maintained a 100%
attendance rate at the five regular Board meetings and active
participation had been achieved by all Directors throughout the
year. Besides these regular Board meetings, ten other Board
meetings were convened during the year under review to approve
routine business or discuss any matters that required the Board’s
timely attention.
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Th e Boa rd (Continued)

Mechanism to Ensure Independent Views and
Input are available to the Board

The Company has established mechanism to ensure independent
views and input are available to the Board. The Board reviewed
the implementation and effectiveness of such mechanism from
the following two aspects:

1. Independence assessment criteria for independent
non-executive Directors

(i)  annual independence assessment of each independent
non-executive Director according to the Nomination
Policy as set out below and Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules; and

(i) annual review of tenure of each independent
non-executive Director.

2. Assessment to ensure independent views and input are
available to the Board

(i) review of the Board and Board committee structure;

(i) management of conflict of interest;
(iii)  review of remuneration of non-executive Directors;

(iv)  recruitment channels and procedures for independent
non-executive Directors;

(v)  annual review of time commitment of each of the
independent non-executive Directors;

(vi) in order to facilitate Directors to properly perform
their duties, all Directors could seek advice from
the Company Secretary or in-house legal team, and
can also seek advice from independent professional
advisors, at the Company’s expense; and

(vii) annual closed-door meeting between the Chairman
and Independent Non-executive Directors.

During the year under review, the Board reviewed the
implementation and effectiveness of the mechanism to
ensure independent views and input are available to the
Board and considered the mechanism effective.
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Th e Boa rd (Continued)

Board Diversity Policy

The Board approved and adopted a board diversity policy (the
“Board Diversity Policy”) on 20 August 2013 and reviewed this
policy lastly on 21 August 2020. The Board Diversity Policy is
summarised as follows:

o the selection of candidates of the Board will be based on
a range of diversity perspectives, including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of
service to the Group. The ultimate decision will be based
on merit and contribution that the selected candidates will
bring to the Board; and

o the Board will report on the Board’s composition under
diversified perspectives and monitor the implementation of
the Board Diversity Policy.

The Board will review the Board Diversity Policy once every eight
(8) years or at appropriate times so as to ensure its effectiveness.

During the year under review, the Board reviewed the
implementation and effectiveness of the Board Diversity Policy
and considered the policy effective. On 22 March 2024, the
Group appointed Ms. Yau Ching Man to serve as a new director
(who was formerly the Head of Operations of the Group and has
the relevant specific industry experience or professional fields),
and have complied with the amended Listing Rules and the code
provision(s) of the CG Code which require gender diversity of
board members on or before 31 December 2024.

The Company has formulated a succession plan to identify and
develop potential employees to fill key positions in the Group.
Human Resources Department communicates with general
managers of each operating business and department heads to
identity the talent pool and potential successors for key positions
every year, and also arranged different types of training and
talent development for these potential successors. The selection
of successors is based on a range of diversity perspectives,
including but not limited to gender, age, educational background,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service
to the Group. Measures as mentioned above will be taken by
the Company to develop a pipeline of potential successors to the
Board and key positions for achieving gender diversity.
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Th e Boa rd (Continued)

Board Diversity Policy (Continued)

As of 31 December 2023, the gender ratio in the workforce
(including senior management) was as follows:

.\ 10 ¢

% Female

The Board reviewed the gender ratio in the workforce of the
Group as at 31 December 2023 and peer companies and believes
that the gender ratio of the Group was similar to that of peer
companies. Other than compliance with the requirement of
appointment of a new director of different gender on or before
31 December 2024, the Company currently does not set any
plans or measurable objectives for achieving gender diversity
across the workforce.

Nomination Policy

The Board approved and adopted the Nomination Policy (the
“Nomination Policy”) on 14 February 2019 which sets out the
criteria and procedures for the selection, appointment and
re-appointment of Directors. The Nomination Policy is summarised
as follows:

o The selection of candidates or re-appointment of any
existing member(s) of the Board will be based on the
following criteria:

(a) Reputation for integrity

(b)  Accomplishment and experience in the chemical or
petrochemical industry, in particular, in the solvents,
coatings, inks, lubricants and other related markets

() Commitment in respect of available time and relevant
interest

(d) Diversity perspectives as mentioned in the Board
Diversity Policy

(e) Independence for the independent non-executive
directors as defined in the Listing Rules

(f)  Any other relevant factors as may be determined by
the Board from time to time

(g) Balanced representation of different management
domain of executive directors

(h) Balanced representation on the Board by executive
directors, non-executive directors and independent
non-executive directors
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Th e Boa rd (Continued)
Nomination Policy (Continued)

The nomination and selection procedures are:

(a)

The nomination committee of the Company (the
“Nomination Committee”) and the Board shall
conduct, at least annually and once every five (5)
years, respectively, a review of the structure, size,
and composition (including skills, knowledge and
experience) of the Board and consider the Board
succession plan.

Proposed candidate(s) will be asked to submit the
necessary personal information in order for the Board
to assess the suitability of the candidate(s) based on
the above listed criteria.

When any existing member(s) of the Board is subject
to re-election according to the Memorandum and
Articles, the Board shall apply the above listed
criteria to the proposed candidate(s) on his/her/their
re-appointment.

The Board shall ensure the procedures of nomination,
selection and appointment/re-appointment to comply
with the Memorandum and Articles, the law of the
Cayman Islands and the Listing Rules from time to
time.

The Board will review the Nomination Policy once every eight (8)
years or at appropriate times so as to ensure its effectiveness.
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The Board (Continued)
Dividend Policy

The dividend policy of the Company (the “Dividend Policy”) has
been adopted by the Board since 2008 and was revised lastly in
February 2022, which includes setting guidelines to be followed
by the Board in deciding whether to recommend dividend out
of the profits and the amount of dividend per share to be
distributed. The Dividend Policy is summarised as follows:

o The Group's profitability and dividend payout ratio: In
general, the Group’s dividend payout ratio is between 40%
and 60% (except in special circumstances);

o Operating environment: If the Group believes that uncertain
operating environment will adversely affect the Group’s
future profitability, the Group may reduce the dividend
payout ratio to retain cash flows;

o The Group's cash flows and capital and operation
expenditures: In all circumstances, the Group must
maintain sufficient cash flows to meet the daily operation
expenditures arising from operations in both Mainland
China and Hong Kong;

. In addition to cash, dividends may also be distributed in
company Shares, warrants or other forms of securities of

the Company;

o In general, the interim dividend should be approximately
30% to 40% of the projected full-year dividend; and

o In special circumstances, the Group may consider issuing a
special dividend.

The Dividend Policy will be reviewed by the Board once every six
(6) years or at appropriate times so as to ensure its effectiveness.
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The Board (Continued)
Whistleblowing and Anti-corruption Policies

A new whistleblowing policy (the “Whistleblowing Policy”) and
system have been implemented and set up in 2022 for employees
and those who deal with the Group (e.g. business partners
and suppliers as well as the general public) to raise concerns,
in confidence and anonymity, with the audit committee of the
Company (the “Audit Committee”) about possible improprieties
in any matter related to the Company. An excerpt version of the
Whistleblowing Policy is available on the Company’s website. The
Company has also embedded in the employee handbook and
staff code of conduct a set of anti-bribery and anti-corruption
policies, including prohibition of employees from engaging in
activities that present a conflict of interest, completion of a
declaration of interest form by employees at designated levels
at new employee orientation and every year thereafter, as well
as policy of acceptance of advantages and by employees and
guidelines for social entertainment. The whistleblowing and
anti-corruption practices and policies are fundamental to good
corporate governance.

During the year under review, the Board also reviewed the
following guidelines and policies:

° Group Treasury Policy;

. Health, Safety and Environment Policy;

o Guidelines for Material Legal Proceedings Procedures;

J Duties of Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive
Officer;

. Terms of Reference of SLT; and

. Terms of Reference of Audit Committee.
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The Board (Continued)
Company Secretary

The company secretary of the Company (the “Company
Secretary”), Mr. Ho Sai Hou, is a full time employee of the
Company. During the year under review, Mr. Ho has duly
complied with the relevant professional training requirement
under Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

During the year under review, the role of the Company Secretary
included, amongst others, ensuring that the Directors have
access to all necessary information and that all Board procedures
were followed. The Company Secretary was also responsible for
offering opportunities of continuing professional development to
all Directors to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills to
help ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed
and relevant. Directors were also provided with monthly updates
on the Company’s performance, financial position and prospects
to enable the Board as a whole and each Director to properly
discharge their duties.

Directors’ Training and Professional
Development

The Company, from time to time, provides in-house trainings for
the Directors in the form of seminars, workshops and reading
materials on the latest development of applicable laws, rules
and regulations, management, financial and business issues to
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.

2023 ANNUAL REPORT  YIP’S CHEMICAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

81



82

&A% GOVERNANCE REPORT

EHREGHRS
Corporate Governance Report

EES
EERIIREXRR ©)

BN AAREEAIAEEL2HEEHE
B e RRE - BRIFEEMIEHEDY
ik EEREEFEEANMEZNEI
BZEwT -

The Boa rd (Continued)

Directors’ Training and Professional
Development (Continued)

In addition, all Directors are encouraged to participate in various
professional development seminars and courses. A summary
of training received by Directors during the year under review
according to the records provided by the Directors is as follows:

ZINE R
Type of Trainings
BERH
28RN BEM B R
A BB 3% 3 maE p -
Seminars
and/or
conferences Reading
In-house and/or and on-line
BEEKE Name of Director training forums studying
BEEXEE Mr. Ip Chi Shing v/
B L Mr. Yip Tsz Hin v/
e E Mr. Ip Kwan v/
(ERE=E Mr. Ho Sai Hou v/ v/ v
FhBAA* Mr. Wong Yuk* v/
EEIE X Mr. Ho Pak Chuen, Patrick 4
H B R E Mr. Ku Yee Dao, Lawrence v/
* FeEHrE-—E-mWE=A—-+— * Mr. Wong Yuk resigned as an Independent Non-executive Director

AREBEBIENTESRDHE
ZETtE-ZE-_WMF=-A=-+-Hi
BEEZERIIERITES -

ER{LIEEMARLT — T =FEFH

with effect from 22 March 2024 and Ms. Yau Ching Man was
appointed as an Independent Non-executive Director with effect
from 22 March 2024.



EES

EEeFE
EEEARAANBSENRE S8
BEEE FERESEEEL UL
BOAGESAREMBE  ABIER
AAETHEEZEHATHNEEHBEER
BEMBE - NEEEER BEERE
BB E R AR ETE L
TR SRR RE S AL BT
@ .

IF

WX - ARBRILT B EEEE
K- RNOBEFERN EHELEAEER
SEREREERREMSEERAS
ZIE-UERBRRTBERENSD
AEREREFENRENRERES
BREBRENMEFNRE - 0 EXFA
e REEFERN EFETERN R
FHESEIRRITHRERNBE -

&4 %4 GOVERNANCE REPORT

EXEGHRS
Corporate Governance Report

The Board (Continued)
Delegation by the Board

The Board, as the highest governing body, is collectively
responsible for leading, planning and controlling the businesses
of the Group, and also for performing the corporate governance
duties and functions as more specifically set out in the list of
matters reserved for the Board. During the year under review,
the position of the Chairman of the Board was held by Mr. Ip
Chi Shing, and the position of the Deputy Chairman of the Board
was held by Mr. Yip Tsz Hin and the position of Chief Executive
Officer was held by Mr. Ip Kwan.

As disclosed below, the Company established SLT. During the
year under review, Mr. Ip Kwan oversaw the works of SLT and
other senior management of the Group. The above structure is
to ensure a clear distinction between the Chairman’s duty to
manage the Board and the management’s duty to oversee the
overall internal operation of the Group. As stated above, the
Board also reviewed and updated the duties of Chairman of the
Board and Chief Executive Officer during the year under review.

2023 ANNUAL REPORT  YIP’S CHEMICAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

83



84

& A ¥ &5 GOVERNANCE REPORT

EREBHRS

Corporate Governance Report

éﬁggﬂﬁi
EEgRE
EXeCRIEREASEEEERK M
ZEBE IR ENR R BT TR
REGRRER URHEEBTRER
BUNMKRBELEE -ROBEFENA -
BErHAER T _=F— A — B
FEaEESEK mEESEBENR_Z

Z=F—ENA AE=UKBERIEY
T Mt FEERBIERZ LT (B
BMUANITES) - #IBHKLZLTRZ
E-_—FFA-ARBEISEEER
Bro BERAST A  BEREERENRKKL L
R-ZE-=FRA-HEEZTASE
HBEKKE -

ZAN/N T&ﬁ*ﬁ%*&ﬁé%Aﬁﬁ&
FFRBEZENSE - E R %A
$°%%§EE$E@%1

o HIERH B R NEE

o  HMEMFEERS

e HMEFERE

o HWAEFBEAMX WERHE

. i E Al B BR

e WEATRAMHNXZNEERS

e EBEREIRKRE

s ZUEHEEZ

e NIYEFEEZEE
=R

e M E kB
%M

e HIERBRNEXEBBRRREEMR
K EEERTRD

o BFMEERETAREERENR
o HAEZEERKIES

ER{LISEARAF T ZHEFR

Th e Boa rd (Continued)

Delegation by the Board (Continued)

The Board has delegated to SLT broad management
responsibilities, including but not limited to formulating and
implementing policies and business strategies, as well as
supervising the performance of the Group’s different business
segments. During the year under review, Mr. Yip Tsz Hin resigned
from the SLT with effect from 1 January 2023. SLT comprised
a total of three members during January to April 2023, namely
Mr. Ip Kwan, Mr. Ho Sai Hou and Ms. Tse Yik Chu, the first two
of which are Executive Directors. Ms Tse Yik Chu resigned from
the SLT on 1 May 2023 and Mr. Yip Long, Brian, Mr. Yip Chun,
lvan and Ms. Chow Mai Mai were appointed as members of the
SLT since 1 May 2023.

A formal schedule of matters reserved for the Board is maintained
and is subject to regular review. The more important matters
include:

o setting long-term objectives and strategies

° approving preliminary results announcements

o approving annual budgets

o approving major capital expenditure, acquisitions and
disposals

o establishing risk management policies

o approving notifiable transactions and connected

transactions

o declaring and recommending the payment of dividends
o appointing new Directors
o establishing Board committees

reviewing and monitoring of internal control and risk
management systems

formulating and reviewing policies and practices on
corporate governance and compliance with the CG Code

reviewing and monitoring policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements

o approving major policies and guidelines
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The Board (Continued)
Delegation by the Board (Continued)

o reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous
professional development of the Directors

o reviewing compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in
the Corporate Governance Report

Senior Leadership Team

The members of SLT as at 31 December 2023 were:

° Mr. Ip Kwan

o Mr. Ho Sai Hou

. Mr. Yip Long, Brian (since 1 May 2023)
. Mr. Yip Chun, Ivan (since 1 May 2023)
o Ms. Chow Mai Mai (since 1 May 2023)

Duties and responsibilities of SLT

o Assist the Board in setting policies and strategies;

o Execute the policies and strategic plans set by the Board;

o Supervise the businesses of subgroups; and

o Assist and co-ordinate the operations of subgroups, and
maximise the benefits for the Group.

Currently, there are four Board committees, namely
Remuneration Committee, Audit Committee, Nomination
Committee and health, safety and environment committee (the
“HSE Committee”). Except the HSE Committee, all the board
committees have formulated their specific written terms of
reference in accordance with the requirements of the CG Code.
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The Board (Continued)
Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was established in June 2005.
During the year under review, the Remuneration Committee
consisted of two Independent Non-executive Directors, namely
Mr. Ho Pak Chuen, Patrick and Mr. Wong Yuk. Mr. Ho
Pak Chuen, Patrick was the chairman of the Remuneration
Committee. Major roles and functions of the Remuneration
Committee include:

o establishing a formal and transparent procedure for
developing the Group’s remuneration policy

o making recommendation to the Board on the Group’s
policy and structure for the remuneration of Directors and
senior management

J determining the remuneration packages of all individual
Executive Directors and senior management

J making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
of Non-executive Directors

o approving the terms of Executive Directors’ service contracts

o reviewing and/or approving matters relating to share
schemes under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules

In accordance with the new Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules in
respect of listed issuers’ share schemes which took effect on 1
January 2023, the Company amended the terms of reference of
the Remuneration Committee on 14 December 2022 and the
revised terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee is
available on the Company’s website and the Stock Exchange's
website and from the Company Secretary upon request.

During the year under review, the Remuneration Committee held
three meetings and the attendance of each member at these
meetings is shown in the table below:

HE =
241 Member Attendance
] &)l % £ Mr. Ho Pak Chuen, Patrick 3/3
T8k E* Mr. Wong Yuk* 3/3
iy v il Ms. Yau Ching Man** 33 AN/A
* THREAR-_T-_NFE=ZA-+= * Mr. Wong Yuk resigned as a member of the Remuneration

PEEEFMEZEEKE -
> B ELRITR T _ME=ZA
T HEEZEHFMNEZEEKE -

ER{LIEEMARLT — T =FEFH

Committee with effect from 22 March 2024.
i Ms. Yau Ching Man was appointed as a member of the
Remuneration Committee with effect from 22 March 2024.
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The Board (Continued)
Remuneration Committee (Continued)

The works performed by the Remuneration Committee in these
meetings included but not limited to:

o reviewed and approved the remuneration of Non-executive
Directors for the year 2023 and 2024

o reviewed and approved the salary adjustment for Executive
Directors and senior management for the year 2023 and
2024

o discussed and reviewed the progress of talent development

and succession planning for key positions

o discussed the reward scheme of SLT for the year 2023

Directors’ emoluments consisted of payments to Directors in
connection with the management of the affairs of the Company
and its subsidiaries. Details of the Directors’ remuneration and
management executives’ emoluments for the year under review
are set out in note 6 to the consolidated financial statements.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was established in November 1998. During
the year under review, the Audit Committee comprised three
Independent Non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Ku Yee Dao,
Lawrence, Mr. Ho Pak Chuen, Patrick and Mr. Wong Yuk, and it
was chaired by Mr. Ku Yee Dao, Lawrence. Major duties of the
Audit Committee include:

o reviewing financial information of the Group

o overseeing the Group's financial reporting system, risk
management and internal control procedures

o monitoring the relationship between the Group and its
external auditor

As stated above, the Company amended the terms of reference
of the Audit Committee on 18 December 2023 and the revised
terms of reference of the Audit Committee is available on the
Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s website and from
the Company Secretary upon request.
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The Board (Continued)
Audit Committee (Continued)

The Audit Committee held four meetings during the year under
review and the attendance of each member at these meetings is
shown in the table below:

HE =
24=1 Member Attendance
B AS Mr. Ku Yee Dao, Lawrence 4/4
BB Mr. Ho Pak Chuen, Patrick 4/4
Tk E* Mr. Wong Yuk* 4/4
JEl e Ms. Yau Ching Man** i FAN/A
* I}L%EE’\ %E A=-+= * Mr. Wong Yuk resigned as a member of the Audit Committee with
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**

effect from 22 March 2024.
Ms. Yau Ching Man was appointed as a member of the Audit
Committee with effect from 22 March 2024.

The works performed by the Audit Committee in these meetings
included but not limited to:

reviewed the 2022 annual and 2023 interim results before
submitting the same to the Board for approval and in
doing so, the committee focused on material deviations of
the Group’s performance from past year’s results, major
areas of judgment, selection and application of accounting
policies and compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements

received reports from the internal audit department,
discussed material findings with the head of internal audit,
reviewed the adequacy of resources of the internal audit
department and effectiveness of the internal audit function
and approved the internal audit plan

reviewed the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management
and internal control systems in accordance with established
guidelines and procedures

discussed the audit plan with the Group’s external auditor
and assessed its independence with reference to its policies
for maintaining independence and reviewed the extent of
non-audit services provided

considered the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications
and experience, training programmes and budget of the
Group’s accounting, internal audit and financial reporting
function as well as those relating to the ESG performance
and reporting

approved the audit fees paid to the Group’'s external
auditor

The audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2023 have been reviewed by the
Audit Committee on 19 March 2024.
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The Board (Continued)
Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee was established on 20 December
2021. The Nomination Committee consisted of one Non-executive
Director, namely Mr. Ip Chi Shing, and two Independent
Non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Ho Pak Chuen, Patrick and
Mr. Wong Yuk, and was chaired by Mr. Ip Chi Shing. Major roles
and functions of the Nomination Committee include:

o reviewing the structure, size and composition (including
the skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board at least
annually and make recommendations on any proposed
changes to the Board

o identifying individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members and select or make recommendations to the
Board on the selection of individuals nominated to be
nominated as Directors

o assessing the independence of Independent Non-executive
Directors
o making recommendations to the Board on the appointment

or re-appointment of Directors and succession planning for
Directors

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee is available

on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange and
from the Company Secretary upon request.
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The Board (Continued)
Nomination Committee (Continued)

The Nomination Committee held one meeting during the year
under review and the attendance of each member at this meeting
is shown in the table below:

=
241 Member Attendance
EEXEE Mr. Ip Chi Shing 1/1
aE)IEE Mr. Ho Pak Chuen, Patrick 11
T8k E* Mr. Wong Yuk* 1/1
iy v il Ms. Yau Ching Man** 3@ AN/A
* TBEER-_ZTE-_NF=A=-+= * Mr. Wong Yuk resigned as a member of the Nomination Committee
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with effect from 22 March 2024.
* Ms. Yau Ching Man was appointed as a member of the Nomination
Committee with effect from 22 March 2024.

The works performed by the Nomination Committee in the
meeting included but not limited to:

o reviewed the structure, size and composition (including
skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board

o assessed the independence of Independent Non-executive
Directors
o reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the

Board’s independence mechanism

Health, Safety and Environment Committee

The HSE Committee was established in January 2012 in order to
enhance the importance of the health, safety and environmental
protection works to the Group. During the year under review,
the HSE Committee comprised two Independent Non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Wong Yuk and Mr. Ho Pak Chuen, Patrick,
and was chaired by Mr. Wong Yuk. The HSE Committee has
formulated terms of reference which include its major duties
below:

o the adoption and renewal of the Group's health, safety and
environment policies

o determining the Group’s appetite for health, safety and
environment risk

o managing the Group’s monitoring environment for health,
safety and environment matters, including organisation
structure, reward and punishment systems, resource inputs,
operation culture, etc.
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Th e Boa rd (Continued)

Health, Safety and Environment Committee
(Continued)

During the year under review, the HSE Committee held four
meetings and the attendance of each member at these meetings
is shown in the table below:

HE =
4= Member Attendance
A Mr. Wong Yuk* 4/4
BB Mr. Ho Pak Chuen, Patrick 4/4
g g Mr. Ip Kwan** 38 FAN/A
* Eﬂﬁiiﬁ/\‘\:;ﬁ:@ F=ZR=TZ= * Mr. Wong Yuk resigned as a Chairman of the HSE Committee with

HERELREGERE - effect from 22 March 2024.
o EREER-_F_NE=A-+= i Mr. Ip Kwan was appointed as a Chairman of the HSE Committee
HREEZTLEZGERE - with effect from 22 March 2024.
EA%\Z%@%J: CREGZITHEEFZET The works performed by the HSE Committee in these meetings
R included but not limited to:
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o reviewed the Group’s health, safety and environment
performance in 2022 and 2023

o reported and reviewed accidents in recent years and the
follow-up work

o reviewed the new or revised regulations and requirements
related to health, safety and environment recently issued by
the state and local governments and reviewed the impacts
on the Group

o reviewed the revision of health, safety and environment
policy

o discussed the Group's future health, safety and
environment work plan

Accountability and Audit
Directors’ and Auditor’s responsibilities

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing
the financial statements of the Group and their announcements
to Shareholders and commit to the presentation of a balanced,
clear and comprehensive assessment of the Group’s performance,
position and prospects. The Board is not aware of any material
uncertainties that may cast significant doubt upon the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern.

The Auditor’s reporting responsibilities are disclosed in the

“Independent Auditor’'s Report” on pages 99 to 105 of this
annual report.
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Risk Management and Internal
Control

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group. The
systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate the
risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only
provide reasonable but not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss.

Furthermore, the Board oversees the Group’s risk management
and internal control systems on an ongoing basis through the
following structures and processes:

o Various Board committees and sub-committees are set up
with clear terms of reference to monitor risks and controls
of key business activities. These Board committees and
sub-committees engage directly with senior management
of the Group regularly and report to the Board on material
findings and make recommendations to improve the
effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems.

o Whilst the Board delegates wide powers to the
management to conduct business activities, it also
promulgates Group Polices (GPs) and establishes Group
Authorization Limits (GAs) to ensure that such activities are
conducted prudently and that proper balance is maintained
between risks and rewards. Under these GPs and GAs, the
management is required to report to the Board regularly
on major operational risks and to seek the Board’s specific
approval on material transactions.

Annually, the Board:
o Receives annual reports from each of its committees and

sub-committees which summarise the businesses covered
during the past year and major work focus for the following

year;

o Conducts an annual review of the effectiveness of the
Group’s risk management and internal control systems
regarding:

. significant risks (including ESG risks) and their
changes;

o financial reporting procedures;

. Listing Rules compliance;
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Risk Management and Internal
Control (continueq)

° significant control failings and weaknesses; and

. adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and
experience, training programmes and budget of the
Group’s financial and internal audit functions as
well as those relating to the ESG performance and
reporting.

Having reviewed the above aspects of the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group, the Company considers
its risk management and internal control systems effective and
adequate.

The Board adopted “The Group Information Policy and Guidelines
for Handling Inside Information” in 2013 and revised the
aforesaid policy and guidelines on 1 December 2016. The Group
formed a team to manage and control its inside information (the
“IS Team"). The IS Team members include all Board members, the
Chief Financial Officer and all authorised persons. The IS Team
members review and monitor the Group's activities to identity if
there is any inside information and if so to make accurate and
adequate disclosure in a timely manner.

The Company has an internal audit function. The Internal Audit
Department was set up in 1997 to monitor independently the
implementation of the internal control procedures, compliance
with group policies and to make recommendations on the
effectiveness of the internal control systems. The head of
Internal Audit Department reports to both Mr. Ho Sai Hou (the
Chief Financial Officer of the Group, an Executive Director,
the Company Secretary and a member of SLT) and the Audit
Committee.
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Auditor’'s Remuneration

For the year under review, the fee paid/payable to the Group’s
external auditor, Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, is set out as
follows:

E/EAHE

FriR it 2 IR 7% Services rendered Fee paid/payable

FET

HK$’'000

EZRTE Audit services 1,700
JEEZ IR Non-audit services

=P RS Interim report review 500

HAb Others 450

IR R
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Shareholders’ Rights

The Company has only one class of Shares. All Shares have the
same voting rights and are entitled to all dividends declared.
The rights of the Shareholders are set out in, amongst others,
the Memorandum and Articles and the Companies Law of the
Cayman Islands.

Rights and Procedures for
Shareholders to convene a General
Meeting

Pursuant to article 68 of the Memorandum and Articles, a
general meeting shall be convened on the written requisition of
any two or more Shareholders deposited at the principal place
of business of the Company in Hong Kong or, in the event the
Company ceases to have such a principal office, the registered
office specifying the objects of the meeting and signed by the
requisitionists, provided that such requisitionists held as at the
date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the
paid-up capital of the Company which carries the rights of voting
at a general meeting.
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Rights and Procedures for
Shareholders to convene a General
|V|eeting (Continued)

A general meeting may also be convened on the written
requisition of any one shareholder which is a recognised
clearing house (or its nominee) deposited at the principal place
of business of the Company in Hong Kong or, in the event the
Company ceases to have such a principal office, the registered
office specifying the objects of the meeting and signed by the
requisitionist, provided that such requisitionist held as at the date
of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid
up capital of the Company which carries the right of voting at a
general meeting of the Company.

If the Board does not within 21 days from the date of deposit of
the requisition duly proceed to convene the meeting to be held
within a further 28 days, the requisitionist(s) themselves or any of
them representing more than one-half of the total voting rights
of all of them, may convene the general meeting in the same
manner, as nearly as possible, as that in which meetings may be
convened by the Board provided that any meeting so convened
shall not be held after the expiration of three months from the
date of deposit of the requisition, and all reasonable expenses
incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the
Board shall be reimbursed to them by the Company.

Pursuant to article 116 of the Memorandum and Articles, no
person other than a retiring Director shall, unless recommended
by the Board, be eligible for election to the office of Director at
any general meeting unless, during the period, which shall be at
least seven days, commencing no earlier than the day after the
dispatch of the notice of the meeting convened for such election
and ending no later than seven days prior to the date of such
meeting, there has been given to the Company Secretary notice
in writing by a member of the Company (not being the person
to be proposed), entitled to attend and vote at the meeting
for which such notice is given, of his intention to propose such
person for election and also notice in writing signed by the
person to be proposed of his willingness to be elected.
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Putting Forward Proposals at
Shareholders’ Meeting

The requisition must state the purposes of the meeting, and must
be signed by the requisitionists and deposited at the head office
and principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong,
and may consist of several documents in like form each signed by
one or more requisitionists.

Right to put enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may send their written enquiries to the Board by post
to the head office and principal place of business of the Company
in Hong Kong, or via e-mail through the Company’s website
(please refer to “Contact Us” at http://www.yipschemical.com).

Shareholders’ Meetings

The Board strives to maintain an on-going dialogue with the
Shareholders, and in particular, through annual general meetings
and other general meetings to communicate with Shareholders
directly.

The 2023 annual general meeting was held on 5 June 2023. The
attendance of each Director at the general meeting during the
year under review is shown in the table below:

BRREBZHERETHE

Number of General Meeting
Attended and Held

BRRBFAE
Annual General
EEHE Name of Director Meeting
HEREE Mr. Ip Chi Shing 11
R Mr. Yip Tsz Hin 171
b Mr. Ip Kwan 1/1
At s 5 A4 Mr. Ho Sai Hou 1/1
T B 5 A+ Mr. Wong Yuk* 1/1
EENIFS Mr. Ho Pak Chuen, Patrick 1/1
HUAE L Mr. Ku Yee Dao, Lawrence i7Al
EREF R A £** Ms. Yau Ching Man** i AN/A
* FHREER-_ZSE_ME=/_-_+—= * Mr. Wong Yuk resigned as an Independent Non-executive Director

BREBTBIIFENTES -
M ELX TR _FT-_MF=A
ZHBREZABIIERITES -

ER{LIEEMARLT — T =FEFH

with effect from 22 March 2024.
*x Ms.

Non-executive Director with effect from 22 March 2024.

Yau Ching Man was appointed as an Independent
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Constitutional Document

To (i) bring the Memorandum and Articles in line with the
relevant requirements of the Listing Rules, including but not
limited to the core shareholder protection standards under the
Appendix 3 to the Listing Rules, as well as the applicable laws of
the Cayman Islands, (ii) allow general meetings of the Company
to be held in the form of a hybrid meeting or electronic meeting
where Shareholders may attend by electronic means in addition
to a physical meeting where Shareholders attend in person, (iii)
provide flexibility to the Company in relation to the conduct
of general meeting, and (iv) make other housekeeping and
consequential amendments to the Memorandum and Articles,
the Shareholders at the annual general meeting held on 5 June
2023 approved the adoption of an Amended and Restated
Memorandum and Articles of the Company. The Memorandum
and Articles is available on the websites of the Company and the
Stock Exchange and from the Company Secretary upon request.

Save as disclosed above, there was no change to the Company’s
constitutional documents during the year under review.

Investor Relations and
Communication with Shareholders

The Company highly values the relationship with investors and is
committed to maintaining a high level of corporate governance.
The Company has formulated the Group External Communication
Policy (the “Group External Communication Policy”) to provide
clear procedures and guidelines for the communication with
stakeholders including Shareholders, investors, creditors and
the media. The policy states that the Company should provide
accurate, consistent and transparent information for stakeholders
through different channels in a timely manner, and respond to
stakeholders’ enquiries and opinions in accordance with the
policy, and thus strives to maintain good two-way communication
with stakeholders.

During the year under review, the Board also conducted a review
of the implementation and effectiveness of the Group External
Communication Policy. Having considered the multiple channels
of communication and engagement in place (see below), the
Board is satisfied that the Group External Communication Policy
has been properly implemented during the year under review and
is effective.
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Investor Relations and
Communication with Shareholders
(Continued)

The Group fully understands the importance of maintaining
timely communication with investors and Shareholders. During
the year under review, the Group’s Investor Relations and
Corporate Communications Department built a good long-term
relationship with investors and Shareholders through continuing
dialogues. Immediately after the announcement of interim and
annual results every year, the Group holds an investor briefing or
audio conference. Its recording is uploaded subsequently so that
investors and Shareholders from Hong Kong, Mainland China
and overseas are able to learn timely of the Group’s operating
performance and major development. Apart from results
announcements, the Group also arranges one-on-one meetings
or teleconferences with investors and Shareholders to address
their enquiries as well as understanding their views. The Group's
general meeting is also an important channel to maintain a good
two-way communication with Shareholders who can raise their
questions regarding the business and provide feedback to the
management team directly.

In addition to meeting with institutional investors, the Group
also values its communication with retail investors. Therefore,
media briefings are held regularly to update the media with
the Group’s latest development. To ensure the consistency of
any announcements of the Group, the Group timely uploads
its interim and annual financial reports, announcements, press
releases, presentation materials and etc. to corporate website.
Investors and Shareholders can thus quickly and easily browse
or download the information they need so that they can keep
abreast of the latest development of the Group. Besides, the
Group complies with the amendments to the Listing Rules
by the Stock Exchange in regards to the expansion of the
paperless listing regime by disclosing on its website the relevant
arrangement for Shareholders to request printed copies of the
Company’s corporate communications. The Group has also set
up Yip's Chemical Facebook page and WeChat subscription page
for posting the Group’s latest information regularly. Investors and
Shareholders can also lodge their enquiries to the Company via
post or email anytime.

The Company timely and accurately publishes information
through the aforementioned channels to solicit and understand
the views and opinions of investors. The Group firmly believes
that continuous enhancement of communication helps strengthen
the ties with Shareholders.
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
YIP'S CHEMICAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Yip's
Chemical Holdings Limited (the "Company") and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the "Group") set out on pages
106 to 296, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2023, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes
to the consolidated financial statements, including material
accounting policy information and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2023, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards ("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA") and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the "Code"), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

How our audit addressed

the key audit matter
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Expected credit losses assessment of trade receivables

We identified expected credit losses
("ECL") assessment of trade receivables
as a key audit matter due to the
significance of trade receivables to the
Group's consolidated financial position
and the involvement of subjective
judgement and management estimates in
evaluating the ECL of the Group's trade
receivables at the end of the reporting
period.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group's
trade receivables net of allowance

for credit losses, excluding balances
associated with bills received for
future settlement, amounting to
approximately HK$915,736,000, of
which approximately HK$263,168,000
were past due.

As disclosed in notes 4 and 34 to the
consolidated financial statements, the
management of the Group identified
debtors that are credit-impaired, of
which the ECL are assessed individually.
The remaining amounts of approximately
HK$915,668,000 are assessed on
collective basis through grouping of
various debtors that have similar loss
patterns based on the Group's internal
credit ratings, repayment history and
past due status. Estimated loss rates
are based on historical observed
default rates over the expected life

of the debtors and forward-looking
information.

As disclosed in note 34 to the
consolidated financial statements,

the Group recognised impairment of
HK$2,367,000 for the year and the
Group's lifetime ECL provision on trade
receivables amounted to approximately
HK$57,127,000 as at 31 December
2023.

Our procedures in relation to ECL
assessment of trade receivables
included:

¢ Understanding relevant controls
on how the management
estimates the loss allowance;

o Testing the accuracy of
information used by management
to formulate the grouping
for collective assessment, as
at 31 December 2023, on a
sample basis, to the supporting
documents; and

e Challenging management's basis
and judgement in determining
credit loss allowance as at 31
December 2023, including their
identification of credit-impaired
debtors, the reasonableness
of management's collective
assessment, and the basis of
estimated loss rates applied
in each individually assessed
debtors and each grouping of
various debtors (with reference
to historical default rates and
forward-looking information).
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor's report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears
to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of
this other information, we are required to report that fact. We
have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS
AND THOSE CHARGED WITH
GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing
the Group's financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion solely to you,
as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement,
and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of
this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

J Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group's internal control.
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AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continved)

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors' use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.
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AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continved)

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought
to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions
taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor's report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the
independent auditor's report is Chung Chin Cheung.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

22 March 2024
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BE-_T -_=%F+—-HA=+—HIL5Z For the year ended 31 December 2023

—E-= —EF——
2023 2022
B FHExT T
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
(g=E=7)
(Restated)
HEQKEXER Continuing operations
EER Revenue 5 3,217,138 3,358,509
$HE KR Cost of sales (2,434,868) (2,640,783)
EH Gross profit 782,270 717,726
HEabg A Other income 7a 104,609 35,397
H e &8 Other gains and losses 7b 453 4,319
HERKIHE A Selling and distribution expenses (205,490) (221,749)
— R RITERER General and administrative expenses (571,624) (563,354)
B 75 & Finance costs 8 (63,521) (49,468)
BARETAEMEEU Reversal of impairment loss
m([EAREFTAEM  recognised for debt instrument
2] 2EBITE  at fair value through other
MERMEREEE  comprehensive income
("FVTOCI") - 13,178
BB N EREE 2 DR Impairment loss recognised on
VRN SRl goodwill and intangible assets (57,504) -
i AN e Share of result of associates 94,672 (174)
BB RTAL A (E18) Profit (loss) before taxation 9 83,865 (64,125)
e Taxation 10 (23,269) (12,997)
BB QBT 2 RELH Profit (loss) for the year from
(E18) continuing operations 60,596 (77,122)
BRIEREER Discontinued operations
HEMB AR Z W Gain on disposal of subsidiaries,
R HIA net of tax 32 - 1,184,156
BRIEREXE 2 Profit for the year from discontinued
IR G 4t F| operations 12 - 188,773
NG Profit for the year 60,596 1,295,807
Ht2MEEH : Other comprehensive expense:
Te@EFHEAIEZE 2  Items that will not be reclassified
HE to profit or loss:
ETEE 27 E%m Exchange differences arising on
EXCEHLER translation to presentation
currency (91,885) (397,341)
BRRAREF AEAM Fair value changes on financial
2HEKEZ @ assets at FVTOCI
BENAREZY (1,506) (12,896)
(93,391) (410,237)
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—EgE-= —EF——
2023 2022
FEx FHIT
HK$'000 HK$'000
(1 E5))
(Restated)
Bz EFoEAEEDR  Items that may be reclassified
ZIERB : subsequently to profit or loss:
HHRTHEEAZ Net adjustment arising from
F o B hedging instruments (3,264) 7,098
HIT &/ INETS Exchange differences arising
MEEZIENZ58 on translation of foreign
operations 35,149 (128,841)
BAREFAEM Fair value changes on debt
EHENEZEB instruments at FVTOC|
TANRAERZSD 1,394 -
33,279 (121,743)
RNEEMEES Y Other comprehensive expense
for the year (60,112) (531,980)
RNEZERRER Total comprehensive income
for the year 484 763,827
AN B PR FE (R AN FE 4L Profit (loss) for the year attributable
(E18) to owners of the Company
—REFBELLEED — from continuing operations 86,623 (62,802)
—REBRIELEER - from discontinued operations - 1,280,576
86,623 1,217,774
SEIRIRHE RS FEME R (5 (Loss) profit for the year attributable
8) fF| to non-controlling interests
—REFELEED — from continuing operations (26,027) (14,320)
—REBRIEEEER - from discontinued operations - 92,353
(26,027) 78,033
60,596 1,295,807
AREZMEUEE (ZH) #2% Total comprehensive income
FEI51D %R : (expense) for the year attributable
to:
PN Owners of the Company 25,566 763,318
IEIE R = Non-controlling interests (25,082) 509
484 763,827
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—E=-= —ZE——
2023 2022
B FHExT FHBIT
NOTE HK$'000 HK$'000
(1 &%)
(Restated)
ANARBEEEZEM=E Total comprehensive income
(Z i) 2% (expense) attributable to owners
of the Company
—REFELEES — from continuing operations 25,566 (290,556)
—REBRIEEFET  — from discontinued operations - 1,053,874
25,566 763,318
BRRZF (E18) Earnings (loss) per share
REFELERERIE  From continuing and discontinued
BT operations
—ER - Basic HK15.2 centsi#{ll  HK214.2 centsi#{ll
— 88 - Diluted HK15.2 centsi& 1l HK214.2 centsi&{ll
RERFELEED From continuing operations 13
_EA — Basic HK15.2 centsi& L (HK11.0 centsi& L)
— %% — Diluted HK15.2 centsi&fli  (HK11.0 cents/&{ll)
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RZZT==4+=H=+—H At 31 December 2023
—E-= — g
2023 2022
P 5 FHRT T T
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
(e=E=7)
(Restated)
IRBEE Non-current assets
Y - BB KRR Property, plant and equipment 14 1,032,307 1,130,285
REME Investment properties 15 222,900 195,710
AR AT 7 Interests in associates 16(a) 1,241,342 1,209,492
?ﬁ’&fﬁfﬁﬁ]\ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁ Financial assets at FVTOCI
Wz &MEE 17(a) 20,444 11,098
BARERTAEZE ([ Financial assets at fair value
NREFFAER] 2 through profit or loss ("FVTPL")
TRIEE 17(b) 857,411 177,318
BARBEFFAEMET  Debt instruments at FVTOCI
Wz BB T A 17(c) 22,492 =
REEHNAZ Debt instruments at amortised
(0= cost 17(d) 135,200 -
(kS Goodwill 18 55,105 95,201
EmREE Intangible assets 19 60,794 82,097
JrE Uk BSt i N B FRIR Amounts due from associates 16(b) 76,817 78,164
ENEBEYME  MEM&  Deposits paid for acquisition of
BB RIEEMEZET property, plant and equipment
& and investment properties 37,883 51,037
MESTA Derivative financial instruments 23 97 1,164
RIEFIIEE = Deferred tax assets 29 2,727 7,327
3,765,519 3,038,893
RENEE Current assets
FE Inventories 21 393,246 416,857
2 5 W RIA Trade receivables 22(a) 1,240,923 1,249,911
E i & YT BR 3R K& Other debtors and prepayments
TR IR 22(b) 163,561 2,213,996
PTESRTA Derivative financial instruments 23 1,531 3,728
BEIBiB =@ ARH 2z  Short-term bank deposits with
HHIRITER original maturity more than
three months 24 238,154 =
RITEBRERE Bank balances and cash 24 616,093 1,088,116
2,653,508 4,972,608
REEE Current liabilities
FEER KB E R Creditors and accrued charges 25 961,029 1,038,790
AHBEE Contract liabilities 26 31,956 35,258
&7 3K Taxation payables 28,270 233,244
HESE Lease liabilities 27 15,170 16,925
BE——FANEIH Borrowings — amount due within
one year 28 930,787 1,820,317
1,967,212 3,144,534
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RZ=ZT==%+=H=+—H At 31 December 2023

—E-= —F-=
2023 2022
Bt 5 FHET FHETT
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
€=
(Restated)
mEEEEE Net current assets 686,296 1,828,074
BEERRBERS Total assets less current liabilities 4,451,815 4,866,967
FEREBAE Non-current liabilities
HEBE Lease liabilities 27 27,689 24,281
fBE — —F1& 2 H Borrowings — amount due after
one year 28 471,006 360,158
FIEFIEEE Deferred tax liabilities 29 38,018 23,615
536,713 408,054
3,915,102 4,458,913
BARFE Capital and reserves
& 75 Share capital 30 56,848 56,848
fEfE Reserves 3,869,501 4,350,107
AT RREGER Equity attributable to owners of
the Company 3,926,349 4,406,955
R ER Non-controlling interests (11,247) 51,958
3,915,102 4,458,913
ExeRN S -_NE=/A=-+=-H# The consolidated financial statements on pages 106 to 296 were
ERERETIZEFI06B 2 F£2968 2 4 approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on
EHBHRE  WHATESKREEE 22 March 2024 and are signed on its behalf by:
BEEREE EFEEE Mr. Ip Chi Shing Mr. Yip Tsz Hin
) ) DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

—ZT=-=%+=HB=1+—HILFJE For the year ended 31 December 2023

Attributable to owners of the Company

FRRAARRT
Share Non- Investment Capital  Property Non-
Share Share option distributable  Hedging  revaluation Translation Legal Other redemption revaluation  Retained controlling
capital  premum  reseve  reseve  feserve  feseve  reserve  fesee  reseve reseve  reserie profts Total  interests Total
BhE TAAE REEf EXEE WEER FER
hx ROEE i B YAk B EXRE irEE  LbRE L & REEH At 3 At
HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
Tér TExr  TEr  TEx  TEr  TEx  TEr  TEx TEr  TEx TEr  TEr TEr TEr TiEx
(Note a) (Note b) ~ (Note ¢)
(Hiita) (Bisth)  (Wik)
RZZ2ZZE-F-H At1Janvary 202 56,848 576,022 3738 255881 (2,206) (6,645 315765 213949 3,262 6,431 3008 2,376,260 3802373 925126 4727499
AR (i) Adjustments (Note 2) = = - - - - - - - - - 439 439 179 618
RZFZZF—F—R At1lanuary 2022 (restated)
(E9E) 56,848 576,022 3738 255,881 (2,206) (6,645 315765 213949 3,262 6,431 3,008 2,376,699 3802812 925305 4728117
REGF Profit for the year = = = = = = = = = = - L2774 217,774 78,033 1,295,807
RIFBZEFIEEM  Echange differences
EETEENHERE arising on translation to
BEREE presentation currency that
will not be reclassified to
profit or loss - - - - - - (319817) - - - - - (319817)  (77,524) (397,341)
EREBMEHT  Exchange differences arising
E£AEHSBABS on translation of foreign
JEREE operations that may be
reclassified to profit or loss - - - - - - (128841) - - - - - (128841) - (128841)
HATAEEZFEE Net adjustment arising from
hedging instruments - - - - 7,098 - - - - - - - 7,098 - 7,098
BRAEFALS  Fair value changes on equity
2ENEZERTEZ instruments at FVTOCI
MiERY - - - - - (128%) - - - - - - (12,89) - (12,89)
FE2ERE(FE)E Total comprehensive income
] (expense) for the year = = = = 7098  (12,89) (448,658) = = = - 117,774 763318 509 763827
N Sub-total 56,848 576,022 3738 255,881 4892 (19541) (132803) 213,949 3,262 6,431 3008 3,594,473 4566130 925814 5491944
HENBAFFEL  Release upon disposal of
subsidiaries = - - (41,95) - - 102,561 (163,215) - - - 102,612 - (806,051)  (806,051)
WEAFMHTME  Release upon deregistration of
BE a subsidiary - - - - - - (254) - - - - 254 - - -
KERBAR Acquistion of subsidiaries - - - - - - - - - - - - - 663 663
o Transfer - - - - - - - 18836 - - - (18836) - - -
BRALFARRRE  Dividends paid to owners of
the Company - - - - - - - - - - - (159,175)  (159,175) - (159,175)
BRHBRAELR  Dividends declared to
BERE non-controlling shareholders
of subsidiaries - - - - - - - - - - - - - (68468)  (68468)
RZFZZE-A—B At1January 2023 (restated)
(l%3]) 56,848 576,022 3738 213923 4892 (19541)  (30,586) 69,570 3,262 6,431 3,068 3,519,328 440695 51,958 4458913
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

HE-T=_=F+=A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2023
Attributable to owners of the Company
BERELTRR
Share Non- Investment Capital ~ Property Non-
Share Share option distributable  Hedging revaluation Translation Legal Other redemption revaluation  Retained controlling
capital premium  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve profits Total  interests Total
BEE  FUD RREf BEME NXER
Rx  RHEE RBE  RRE  HIEE B EXRE hedER  HbEE A e REEN Aif FERER Eh
HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000
Fén TEx TEr TEx TEx TEx TEx TER TRz TEx TER Tz TEx  TER  TEn
(Note a) (Noteb)  (Note )
(Hita) (Witb) (K
TEWT (B8 Profit (loss) for the year - - - - - - - - - - - 86623 86623 (26021 6059
EfEZ2HI&%E  Exchange differences
MEEREENAE  arising on translation to
REEZENZE  presentation currency that
will not be reclassified to
profit or loss - - - - - - (92,830 - - - - - (92,830 95 (91,885)
RREENZH Exchange differences arising
MEEAEHAE  on translation of foreign
BRGZEREE  operations that may be
reclassified to profit or loss - - - - - - 354 - - - - - 354 - 354
R A EF AL {2 HFair value changes on equity
w ERTAZRAE instruments at FVTOCI
23 - - - - - (1,506) - - - - - - (1506) - (1.508)
HATAEEZFEE Net adjustment arising from
hedging instruments - - - - (3,264) - - - - - - - (3,264) - (3,264)
ERREFALBRE Fair value changes on debt
WEZERIAZ  instruments at FVTOCI
RAEEY - - - - - 1,394 - - - - - - 13% - 13%
TERE (M) M Total comprehensive (expense)
] income for the year - - - - (3,264) (112)  (57,681) - - - - 86,623 25,566 (25,082) 484
Nt Sub-total 56,848 576,022 3738 213923 1628 (19653)  (88,267) 69,570 3,262 6431 3,068 3,605,951 4,432,521 26,876 4,459,397
BRELN Lapse of share option - - (3739 - - - - - - - - 318 - - -
BRADFARERE  Dividends paid to owners of
the Company - - - - - - - - - - - (466,158)  (466,158) - (466,158)
HERRBEUE  Acquired interestin
~AWEAZZEE  asubsidiary from
non-controlling shareholders - - - - - - - - (3,262) - - (1,247) (4509)  (73,628)  (78,137)
48 Transfer - - - - - - - 6009 - - - (6,009 - - -
LEE Waiver of loan - - - - - - - - (35505) - - - (35505 35505 -
At 31 December 2023
56,848 576,022 - 13923 1628 (19653)  (88,267) 75579  (35,505) 6431 3,068 3,136,275 3926349  (11,247) 3915102
ERLISEARAT —Z_=FEFR
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ROEREER
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

E-T-_=F+=A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

The non-distributable reserve represents capitalisation of retained
profits of certain subsidiaries established in the People's Republic
of China (the "PRC") for capital re-investment in these subsidiaries
and funds shall be used to (i) make up prior year losses or (ii)
expand production operations.

The legal reserve is non-distributable and represents the transfer
of profits of subsidiaries outside Hong Kong pursuant to the legal
requirements in the relevant place of registration.

The Group disposed of 8.24% interest in Bauhinia Variegata Ink
& Chemical (Zhejiang) Limited ("Bauhinia Variegata") during the
year ended 31 December 2020 at an aggregate consideration
of RMB65,883,000. The other reserve represents the difference
between the non-controlling interest's proportionate interest in
Bauhinia Variegata and the consideration received. The decrease
in equity interest did not result in a loss of control over Bauhinia
Variegata. During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group
acquired the remaining 8.24% interest in Bauhinia Variegata with a
cash consideration of RMB69,320,000 (HK$78,137,000).

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group waived a
loan of HK$91,039,063 due from a non-wholly owned subsidiary.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

HE-T=_=F+=A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

ERILISEARAF —F—

=FEFR

—ECZ= —E-C
2023 2022
THER FHT
HK$'000 HK$'000
REXBRMEEZERER Cash flows from operating activities
SECEER I BREIAIAFR  Profit (loss) before taxation from continuing
(E518) operations 83,865 (64,125)
BRI TS 2 R A Profit before taxation from discontinued operations
AL A - 215,967
83,865 151,842
AT AR Adjustments for:
B EERE Amortisation of intangible assets 2,863 2,905
EEREWEECEHER Impairment loss recognised on goodwill and
WEEE intangible assets 57,504 =
BAREFAEMEEREGE  Impairment loss recognised on debt instruments at
RIZBHEK A2 EEIA FVTOCI and amortised cost under expected credit
REREEBRERTZ loss model
CHERRERSR 640 =
ME - BERREZNE Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 124,066 226,445
R—EBEAREZZE®E  Impairment loss recognised on interest in an associate
RREREE - 4,496
BREMENABEEEH 2 WE  Gain on fair value change of investment properties (27,891) =
M ER Finance costs 63,521 65,385
7F‘ | B A Interest income (47,239) (8,822)
BAAMEFAEZZE®E  Dividend income from financial assets at FVTPL
EzBREMRA (17,855) -
BRAREFABZZE/ME  Gain from change in fair value of financial assets at
DA EEE Y NS FVTPL (7,172) (6.724)
IMERIEHRNAEEEZ  Loss on change in fair value of a foreign exchange
EE forward contracts - 65,713
HEMsEmE  BEKRRKR  Net loss (gain) on disposals/written-off of property,
w2 FEE (W) plant and equipment 937 (41,356)
BEKIEHES NS Gain relating to termination of lease contracts (553) =
W BEREHEZE®ER  Impairment loss recognised on property, plant and
BB R equipment 14,967 -
il =N E S Share of result of associates (94,672) 174
B 5 K& H ftb & Y 5 IE Net reversal of impairment loss recognised on trade
REHEEBRRERNT 2 and other receivables under expected credit loss
B R B E B R B F 5 model (37) (9,860)
BARBERAEME2EKE  Reversal of impairment loss recognised for debt
ZEBEIANERER instruments at FVTOC|
RE R E R O - (13,178)
T ERERE Reversal of allowance for slow-moving inventories (356) (1,067)
HEFE Written off of inventories 4,758 11,388
INEERZB)FTEL 2 FE  Effect of foreign exchange rate changes 19,678 3,350
BEASEIH 2L EE  Operating cash flows before movements in
BEm working capital 177,024 450,691
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

HE-T-_=F+=A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

—ECZ= —=-—
2023 2022
iz FERT FHT
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
FERD (Em) Decrease (increase) in inventories 13,453 (49,051)
2 5 e W ERIE (32 0) A (Increase) decrease in trade receivables (18,573) 955,280
H fth U AR 3R R TR A 5K IE Decrease in other debtors and
D prepayments 56,320 125,078
ERBRRRETE R Increase (decrease) in creditors and
2 CR D) accrued charges 4,834 (941,431)
AHNEERD Decrease in contract liabilities (2,696) (18,807)
SZIRHETHER D (B N)  Decrease (increase) in restricted bank
balance 12,110 (12,110)
BEMELAZRE Cash generated from operations 242,472 509,650
ERNFBEAEEH PRC Income Tax paid (5,928) (95,758)
REXBREEZ TR Net cash from operating activities 236,544 413,892
REXEBFEEZRER Cash flows from investing activities
BEWE BELEE Purchase of property, plant and
equipment (21,648) (133,622)
BEREYE Purchase of investment properties - (35,359)
BAEAREAEBZZE  Acquisition of financial assets at FVTPL
MEE (670,287) (42,838)
BARAREFAEMEE  Acquisition of financial assets at FVTOCI
sz emBEE (11,319) (8,735)
HERAAREFABZEZE  Proceeds from disposal of financial
& E TSR assets at FVTPL - 6,640
BAREERAZER TR Acquisition of debt instruments at
amortised cost (135,126) -
BAZAREFAEMEE  Acquisition of debt instruments at
WEzEEIA FVTOCI (21,351) -
(SR E N o 5 Dividend received from associates 43,120 -
m—EERER Loan to an entity (34,520) -
HEEIINERHEN Settlement of foreign exchange forward
contracts - (58,236)
WEEH B AR 2 F B e Net cash outflow on acquisition of
subsidiaries 31 - (8,469)
A FEE AR AR U BE A —RFF  Net cash outflow on acquisition
BRAZERZFHREM of interest in a subsidiary from
i non-controlling shareholders (78,137) =
HEWBARZFAEFIEFE  Net proceeds from disposal of
| subsidiaries 32 1,795,206 338,478
ENEEME BEKZME  Deposits paid for acquisition of property,
RIEEWME T © plant and equipment and investment
properties (10,215) (52,815)
HEWE  WERZEZ  Proceeds from disposal of property,
BIE plant and equipment 668 63,661
B U F & Interest received 37,145 8,822
GTRRTBA=@AZE 2  Placement of bank deposits with original
RITFER maturity more than three months (238,154) =
REXKIEEZFRE Net cash from investing activities 655,382 77,527
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—ECZ= - S
2023 2022
FBRT FHT
HK$'000 HK$'000
MEXBFAZRER Cash flows used in financing activities
MEEE Borrowings raised 1,888,563 1,762,739
BEEE Repayment of borrowings (2,667,245) (1,598,871)
BRRE Dividends paid (466,158) (159,175)
BERFE Interest paid (67,432) (61,815)
BEfTHE AR EER Dividends paid to non-controlling shareholders
e of subsidiaries (16,526) (52,509)
YHHEEERE Payment of lease liabilities (17,918) (37,206)
A5 E R R R T = [ Cash received from (paid) the settlement of the
ZITE ST ABKE derivative financial instruments used to hedge
(X)) 28R e interest rate risk 3,558 (544)
BMEXBFAZFRE Net cash used in financing activities (1,343,158) (147,381)
BERBEEHFORD) Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents
o (451,232) 344,038
FHzRekREeER Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 1,076,006 758,317
EXZHMEEzFE Effect of foreign exchange rate changes (8.681) (26,349)
ERZRERBLEE Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 616,093 1,076,006
ReRREFERERINT Analysis of balances of cash and cash equivalents
RETR=EAAEHz Short-term bank deposits with original maturity
BHRITER within three months 229,166 656,182
ReEFREFR Cash and cash equivalents 386,927 419,824
616,093 1,076,006

ERLIKERRAT —T—=—FEFR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

—RERMREZENE
3
AR B MENSRSEMR
T EBREAT HRONES
B4 %5 H A IR A T (T8 A )
P AAREBRERRTE
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HAMBREANETZS  BH
RARARZHEEEARE - K
RABBETEREZHRERZ
RE BERAARAE—HEKH
R EM 2 RARAFR WA
ARBOREEMLNREE °

ARA B/ —HEREZERRQR W H
TEMBRARRBEARNESN
ERBEERE 28 hBLE
BH MERERFAMENAR
HE% (BRERTERERSE
RRERBEEEMICTER) ° 1
EZF AERHEERNBHER
51 % B B 7 25 - 30 %08 B 7%
ENREREREXE -~
B NP

1.

Z-F-=4%+=-H=+—H L4 For the year ended 31 December 2023

GENERAL INFORMATION AND
BASIS OF PRESENTATION

The Company is an exempted company incorporated in
the Cayman Islands and its shares are listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the "Stock Exchange").
The addresses of the registered office and principal place
of business of the Company are disclosed in the corporate
information to the annual report.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars ("HK$"), which is different from the
Company's functional currency of Renminbi ("RMB"). The
reason for selecting HK$ as its presentation currency is
because the Company is a public company with the shares
listed on the Stock Exchange, where most of its investors
are located in Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company. Its
principal subsidiaries and associates are engaged in the
manufacture of and trading in solvents, coatings, inks and
lubricants, property investment and holding as well as
other businesses including provision of car maintenance
service and manufacturing of and trading in other chemical
products. During the last year, the Group disposed of its
51% effective interest in solvents business, and presented
the operation of solvents as discontinued operations.
Further details are set out in note 12 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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2.

—=%+=HA=+—HIL4E For the year ended 31 December 2023

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS ("HKFRSs")

New and amendments to HKFRSs
that are mandatorily effective for
the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
new and amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA") for the
first time, which are mandatorily effective for the Group's
annual periods beginning on 1 January 2023 for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements:

HKFRS 17 (including
the October 2020
and February 2022
Amendments to
HKFRS 17)

Insurance Contracts

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting
Estimates

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from a
Single Transaction

Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax Reform-Pillar

Two Model Rules

Amendments to HKAS
1 and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2

Disclosure of Accounting
Policies

Except as described below, the application of the new
and amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had
no material impact on the Group's financial positions
and performance for the current and prior years and/or
on the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial
statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HE-ZT-=9+—"F=+—H L5 For the year ended 31 December 2023

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs
that are mandatorily effective for

the current year (continued)

2.1 Impacts on application of Amendments
to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to
Assets and Liabilities arising from a

Single Transaction

The Group has applied the amendments for the first
time in the current year. The amendments narrow
the scope of the recognition exemption of deferred
tax liabilities and deferred tax assets in paragraphs
15 and 24 of HKAS 12 Income Taxes ("HKAS 12") so
that it no longer applies to transactions that, on initial
recognition, give rise to equal taxable and deductible

temporary differences.

In accordance with the transition provision:

(i)  the Group has applied the new accounting
policy retrospectively to leasing transactions
that occurred on or after 1 January 2022;

(i)  the Group also, as at 1 January 2022,
recognised a deferred tax asset (to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profit will
be available against which the deductible
temporary difference can be utilised) and a
deferred tax liability for all deductible and
taxable temporary difference associated with
right-of-use-assets and lease liabilities.

The details of the impacts on each financial statement
line item and earning per share arising from the
application of the amendments are set out under
"Impacts of application of amendments to HKFRSs on
the consolidated financial statements" in note 2.3.

Comparative figures have been restated.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND

AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs

that are mandatorily effective for
the current year (continued)

2.2 Impacts on application of Amendments

to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2 Disclosure of Accounting
Policies

The Group has applied the amendments for the
first time in the current year. HKAS 1 Presentation
of Financial Statements is amended to replace all
instances of the term "significant accounting policies"
with "material accounting policy information".
Accounting policy information is material if, when
considered together with other information included
in an entity's financial statements, it can reasonably
be expected to influence decisions that the primary
users of general purpose financial statements make
on the basis of those financial statements.

The amendments also clarify that accounting policy
information may be material because of the nature of
the related transactions, other events or conditions,
even if the amounts are immaterial. However, not
all accounting policy information relating to material
transactions, other events or conditions is itself
material. If an entity chooses to disclose immaterial
accounting policy information, such information must
not obscure material accounting policy information.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

—E - =HF+—-F=-+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND

AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs
that are mandatorily effective for
the current year (continued)

2.2 Impacts on application of Amendments

to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice

Statement 2 Disclosure of Accounting

Policies (continued)

HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality
Judgements (the "Practice Statement") is also
amended to illustrate how an entity applies the
"four-step materiality process" to accounting policy
disclosures and to judge whether information about
an accounting policy is material to its financial
statements. Guidance and examples are added to the

Practice Statement.

The application of the amendments has had no
material impact on the Group's financial positions
and performance but has affected the disclosure of
the Group's accounting policies set out in note 3 to

the consolidated financial statements.
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AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs
that are mandatorily effective for
the current year (continued)

2.3 Impacts of application of amendments
to HKFRSs on the consolidated financial
statements

The effects of the changes in accounting policy as
a result of application of amendments to HKAS 12
Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising
from a Single Transaction on the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive

SREBAHSENT income and earnings per share, are follows:
BE+t=-HA=t—H
LHEE
For the year ended 31 December
—E-=H§ 2
2023 2022
TER FHT
HK$'000 HK$'000
YHEFEREBARIALEF Impact on profit for the year from
ZEFERHF 2z E continuing and discontinued
operations
P15 50 7 < 45 N Increase in income tax expense 307 103
MR F R D Net decrease in profit for the year 307 103
RERES HAEEEDEEE Increase in total comprehensive
e expense for the year attributable to:
—ARRERER — Owners of the Company 175 56
— IR 2 — Non-controlling interests 132 47
307 103

122 ERICISEERAT —S - —FEFH
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

\ZE-_T-_=F+=-H=+—HIL5E For the year ended 31 December 2023

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs
that are mandatorily effective for
the current year (continued)

2.3 Impacts of application of amendments
to HKFRSs on the consolidated financial

WEMWE S ) statements (Continued)
BEt=-A=t+—-8H
HEE
For the year ended 31 December
—E=-= -
2023 2022
Bl AL
HK cents HK cents
YEEEREARIAZLERE Impact on basic and diluted
ZEREXRMEREFZE  earnings per share from
& continuing and discontinued
operations
AR FREAREEAT : Basic and diluted earnings per share
before adjustments: 15.2 214.2
BHERREDELNAE Net adjustments arising from change
A in accounting policy in relation to:
~BEEREHMERSZY - Deferred tax impact on leasing
& (M) transactions (note) - -
E2RSREARBERF Reported basic and diluted earnings
per share 15.2 214.2

Mgk : HEFBELEREKIE
KEEBEZBRER
R#EFBRANZED
0. 1B -

Note: Impact to basic and diluted earnings per share from
continuing and discontinued operations is less than
HKO.1 cent.
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HEEARERBY
R EZER 2 &5 @)

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs
that are mandatorily effective for
the current year (continued)

RAFEBREERZH
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Az T8 EE 0K
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BRRENTEMT

2.3 Impacts of application of amendments
to HKFRSs on the consolidated financial
statements (Continued)

The effects of the changes in accounting policy as
a result of application of amendments to HKAS 12
Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising
from a Single Transaction on the consolidated
statement of financial position as at the end of
the immediately preceding financial year, i.e. 31
December 2022 and the beginning of the comparative
period, i.e. 1 January 2022, are as follows:

—E-— —E-—
T=H +=A
=+-8 =+-A
31 December 31 December
2022 2022
(FR3)
(Originally HE (B=5)
stated)  Adjustments (Restated)
THET FHET THExT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BEERIEEE Deferred tax assets 6,812 515 7,327
EERBEE Deferred tax liabilities (23,615) = (23,615)
HEEFENRTZ Total effects on net assets (16,803) 515 (16,288)
FE1E R = Non-controlling interests 51,826 132 51,958
RN E R FE(E = Equity attributable to owners of
the Company 4,406,572 383 4,406,955
HERNETE Total effects on equity 4,458,398 515 4,458,913

ERIEIEMARLT — T =FEFH
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ZE-T—=4F+—F=+—HILFZ For the year ended 31 December 2023

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs
that are mandatorily effective for
the current year (continued)

2.3 Impacts of application of amendments

Bl >84S 0% to HKFRSs on the consolidated financial
RENEE (») statements (Continued)
-z -
—A—H —A—H
1 January 1 January
2022 2022
(R31)
(Originally R (L E75)
stated)  Adjustments (Restated)
TET THET TET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
EERIBEE Deferred tax assets 7,441 618 8,059
BRERIARE Deferred tax liabilities (30,804) - (30,804)
HEEFENBTE Total effects on net assets (23,363) 618 (22,745)
RS Non-controlling interests 925,126 179 925,305
AR RIRER LR Equity attributable to owners
of the Company 3,802,373 439 3,802,812
HERNETE Total effect on equity 4,727,499 618 4,728,117
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2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs in issue but
not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and

amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not

yet effective:

Amendments to
HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28

Amendments to
HKFRS 16

Amendments to
HKAS 1

Amendments to
HKAS 1

Amendments to
HKAS 7 and
HKFRS 7

Amendments to
HKAS 21

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture'

Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback’

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and
related amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)?

Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants®

Supplier Finance Arrangements®

Lack of Exchangeability?
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSS") (continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs in issue but
not yet effective (continved)

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to
be determined.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2024.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2025

Except for the new and amendments to HKFRSs mentioned
below, the directors of the Company anticipate that the
application of all other new and amendments to HKFRSs
will have no material impact on the consolidated financial
statements in the foreseeable future.
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2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs in issue but
not yet effective (continved)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification

of Liabilities as Current or Non-current

and related amendments to Hong

Kong Interpretation 5 (2020) (the "2020
Amendments") and Amendments to HKAS 1
Non-current Liabilities with Covenants (the
"2022 Amendments")

The 2020 Amendments provide clarification and additional
guidance on the assessment of right to defer settlement for
at least twelve months from reporting date for classification
of liabilities as current or non-current, which:

o clarify that if a liability has terms that could, at the
option of the counterparty, result in its settlement by
the transfer of the entity's own equity instruments,
these terms do not affect its classification as current
or non-current only if the entity recognises the option
separately as an equity instrument applying HKAS 32
Financial Instruments: Presentation.

. specify that the classification of liabilities as current
or non-current should be based on rights that are
in existence at the end of the reporting period.
Specifically, the amendments clarify that the
classification should not be affected by management
intentions or expectations to settle the liability within
12 months.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs in issue but
not yet effective (continved)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification

of Liabilities as Current or Non-current

and related amendments to Hong

Kong Interpretation 5 (2020) (the “2020
Amendments”) and Amendments to HKAS 1
Non-current Liabilities with Covenants (the
”2022 Amendments”) (Continued)

For rights to defer settlement for at least twelve months
from reporting date which are conditional on the
compliance with covenants, the requirements introduced
by the 2020 Amendments have been modified by the 2022
Amendments. The 2022 Amendments specify that only
covenants with which an entity is required to comply with
on or before the end of the reporting period affect the
entity's right to defer settlement of a liability for at least
twelve months after the reporting date. Covenants which
are required to comply with only after the reporting period
do not affect whether that right exists at the end of the
reporting period.

In addition, the 2022 Amendments specify the disclosure
requirements about information that enables users of
financial statements to understand the risk that the
liabilities could become repayable within twelve months
after the reporting period, if an entity classifies liabilities
arising from loan arrangements as non-current when
the entity's right to defer settlement of those liabilities
is subject to the entity complying with covenants within
twelve months after the reporting period.
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2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs in issue but
not yet effective (continved)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification

of Liabilities as Current or Non-current

and related amendments to Hong

Kong Interpretation 5 (2020) (the “2020
Amendments”) and Amendments to HKAS 1
Non-current Liabilities with Covenants (the
”2022 Amendments”) (Continued)

The 2022 Amendments also defer the effective date of
applying the 2020 Amendments to annual reporting
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024. The 2022
Amendments, together with the 2020 Amendments, are
effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2024, with early application permitted. If an
entity applies the 2020 Amendments for an earlier period
after the issue of the 2022 Amendments, the entity should
also apply the 2022 Amendments for that period.

Based on the Group's outstanding liabilities as at 31
December 2023, and the related terms and conditions
stipulated in the agreements between the Group and the
relevant lenders, the application of the 2020 and 2022
Amendments will not result in reclassification of the
Group's liabilities.
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E =T =%+ H=+—H1-4JE For the year ended 31 December 2023

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated

financial statements

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with the HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. For
the purpose of preparation of the consolidated financial
statements, information is considered material if such
information is reasonably expected to influence decisions
made by primary users. In addition, the consolidated
financial statements include applicable disclosures required
by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange ("Listing Rules") and by the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

The directors of the Company have, at the time of
approving the consolidated financial statements, a
reasonable expectation that the Group has adequate
resources to continue in operational existence for the
foreseeable future. Thus they continue to adopt the going
concern basis of accounting in preparing the consolidated
financial statements.

3.2 Material accounting policy

information

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and entities controlled
by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved
when the Company:

. has power over the investee;

o is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy

information (continued)
Basis of consolidation (continued)

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes
to one or more of the three elements of control listed
above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the
Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income
and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of
during the year are included in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income from
the date the Group gains control until the date when the
Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’s equity therein, which represent
present ownership interests entitling their holders to
a proportionate share of net assets of the relevant
subsidiaries upon liquidation.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy

information (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Changes in the Group's interests in existing
subsidiaries

Changes in the Group's interests in subsidiaries that do not
result in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries are
accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts
of the Group's relevant components of equity and the
non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes
in their relative interests in the subsidiaries, including
re-attribution of relevant reserves between the Group and
the non-controlling interests according to the Group's and
the non-controlling interests' proportionate interests.

Any difference between the amount by which the
non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of
the consideration paid or received is recognised directly in
equity and attributed to owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets
and liabilities of that subsidiary and non-controlling
interests (if any) are all recognised. A gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss and is calculated as the
difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the
consideration received and the fair value of any retained
interest and (ii) the carrying amount of the assets (including
goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary attributable
to the owners of the Company. All amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in relation
to that subsidiary are accounted for as if the Group had
directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities of the
subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred
to another category of equity as specified/permitted by
applicable HKFRSs). The fair value of any investment
retained in the former subsidiary at the date when control
is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition for
subsequent accounting under HKFRS 9 Financial Instrument
("HKFRS 9") or, when applicable, the cost on initial
recognition of an investment in an associate or a joint
venture.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy

information (continued)
Business combinations
Optional concentration test

The Group can elect to apply an optional concentration
test, on a transaction-by-transaction basis, that permits
a simplified assessment of whether an acquired set of
activities and assets is not a business. The concentration
test is met if substantially all of the fair value of the gross
assets acquired is concentrated in a single identifiable asset
or group of similar identifiable assets. The gross assets
under assessment exclude cash and cash equivalents,
deferred tax assets, and goodwill resulting from the effects
of deferred tax liabilities. If the concentration test is met,
the set of activities and assets is determined not to be a
business and no further assessment is needed.

Business combinations

A business is an integrated set of activities and assets which
includes an input and a substantive process that together
significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs.
The acquired processes are considered substantive if they
are critical to the ability to continue producing outputs,
including an organised workforce with the necessary skills,
knowledge, or experience to perform the related processes
or they significantly contribute to the ability to continue
producing outputs and are considered unique or scarce or
cannot be replaced without significant cost, effort, or delay
in the ability to continue producing outputs.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy

information (continued)
Business combinations (Continued)
Business combinations (Continued)

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a
business combination is measured at fair value, which is
calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of
the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by
the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the
equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control
of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are generally
recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

The identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
must meet the definitions of an asset and a liability in the
Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting 2018 (the
"Conceptual Framework") except for transactions and
events within the scope of HKAS 37 Provisions, Contingent
Liabilities and Contingent Assets ("HKAS37") or HK(IFRIC)
— Int 21 Levies ("HK(IFRIC) — Int 21"), in which the Group
applies HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC) — Int 21 instead of the
Conceptual Framework to identify the liabilities it has
assumed in a business combination. Contingent assets are
not recognised.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and
the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair values,
except that:

. deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or
liabilities related to employee benefit arrangements
are recognised and measured in accordance with
HKAS 12 Income Taxes and HKAS 19 Employee
Benefits respectively;
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy
information (continued)
Business combinations (Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-based
payment arrangements of the Group entered into to
replace share-based payment arrangements of the
acquiree are measured in accordance with HKFRS
2 Share-based Payment at the acquisition date (see
the accounting policy on share-based payment
transactions);

assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held
for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current
Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations are
measured in accordance with that standard; and

lease liabilities are recognised and measured at the
present value of the remaining lease payments (as
defined in HKFRS 16 Leases (“HKFRS 16")) as if the
acquired leases were new leases at the acquisition
date, except for leases for which (a) the lease term
ends within 12 months of the acquisition date; or
(b) the underlying asset is of low value. Right-of-use
assets are recognised and measured at the same
amount as the relevant lease liabilities, adjusted to
reflect favourable or unfavourable terms of the lease
when compared with market terms.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy

information (continued)
Business combinations (Continued)
Business combinations (Continued)

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of
the consideration transferred, the amount of any
non-controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair value
of the acquirer's previously held equity interest in the
acquiree (if any) over the net amounts of the identifiable
assets acquired and the liabilities assumed as at acquisition
date. If, after re-assessment, the net amount of the
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds
the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of
any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair
value of the acquirer's previously held equity interest in the
acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised immediately in
profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share
of the relevant subsidiary's net assets in the event of
liquidation are initially measured at the non-controlling
interests' proportionate share of the recognised amounts of
the acquiree's identifiable net assets or at fair value.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried
at cost as established at the date of acquisition of business
(see the accounting policy on business combinations or
asset acquisitions) less accumulated impairment losses, if
any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units (or
group of cash-generating units) that is expected to benefit
from the synergies of the combination which represent the
lowest level at which the goodwill is monitored for internal
management purposes and not larger than an operating
segment.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy

information (continued)
Goodwill (Continued)

A cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating
units) to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently when there is
indication that the unit may be impaired. For goodwill
arising on an acquisition in a reporting period, the
cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) to
which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
before the end of that reporting period. If the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit is less than its carrying
amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce
the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit
and then to the other assets of the unit on a pro-rata basis
based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit (or
group of cash-generating units).

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit or
any of the cash-generating unit within the group of
cash-generating units, the attributable amount of goodwill
is included in the determination of the amount of profit or
loss on disposal. When the Group disposes of an operation
within the cash-generating unit (or a cash-generating unit
within a group of cash-generating units), the amount
of goodwill disposed of is measured on the basis of the
relative values of the operation (or the cash-generating
unit) disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating
unit (or the group of cash-generating units) retained.

The Group's policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition
of an associate is described below.
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3.

3.2

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Material accounting policy
information (continued)
Interests in associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence. Significant influence is the power to
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions
of the investee but is not control or joint control over those
policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements
using the equity method of accounting. The financial
statements of associates used for equity accounting
purposes are prepared using uniform accounting policies
as those of the Group for like transactions and events
in similar circumstances. Under the equity method, an
investment in an associate is initially recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost and
adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group's share of the
profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the
associate. When the Group's share of losses of an associate
exceeds the Group's interest in that associate (which
includes any long-term interests that, in substance, form
part of the Group's net investment in the associate), the
Group discontinues recognising its share of further losses.
Additional losses are recognised only to the extent that
the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or
made payments on behalf of the associate.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy

information (continued)
Interests in associates (Continued)

An investment in an associate is accounted for using
the equity method from the date on which the investee
becomes an associate. On acquisition of the interest in an
associate, any excess of the cost of the investment over
the Group's share of the net fair value of the identifiable
assets and liabilities of the investee is recognised as
goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount of
the investment. Any excess of the Group's share of the net
fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the
cost of the investment, after reassessment, is recognised
immediately in profit or loss in the period in which the
investment is acquired.

When a group entity transacts with an associate of the
Group, profits and losses resulting from the transactions
with the associate are recognised in the Group's
consolidated financial statements only to the extent of
interests in the associate that are not related to the Group.

Revenue from contracts with customers

Information about the Group's accounting policies relating
to contracts with customers is provided in notes 5 and 26.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy

information (continued)
Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that
are held for use in the production or supply of goods
or services, or for administrative purposes (other than
properties under construction as described below). Property,
plant and equipment are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

Buildings in the course of construction for production,
supply or administrative purposes are carried at cost, less
any recognised impairment loss. Costs include any costs
directly attributable to bringing the asset to the location
and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating
in the manner intended by management, including costs of
testing whether the related assets are functioning properly,
and, for qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised
in accordance with the Group's accounting policy.
Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as other
property assets, commences when the assets are ready for
their intended use.

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests
of properties which includes both leasehold land and
building elements, the entire consideration is allocated
between the leasehold land and the building elements in
proportion to the relative fair values at initial recognition.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy

information (continued)
Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

To the extent the allocation of the relevant payments can
be made reliably, interest in leasehold land is classified as
right-of-use assets and included in "property, plant and
equipment" in the consolidated statement of financial
position except for those that are classified and accounted
for as investment properties under the fair value model.
When the consideration cannot be allocated reliably
between non-lease building element and undivided interest
in the underlying leasehold land, the entire properties are
classified as property, plant and equipment.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of
assets other than properties under construction less their
residual values over their estimated useful lives, using the
straight-line method. The estimated useful lives, residual
values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end
of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any
gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an
item of property, plant and equipment is determined as
the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy

information (continued)
Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals
and/or for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost,
including any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent
to initial recognition, investment properties are measured
at fair values, adjusted to exclude any prepaid or accrued
operating lease income.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of
investment properties are included in profit or loss for the
period in which they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or
when the investment property is permanently withdrawn
from use and no future economic benefits are expected
from its disposals. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition
of the property (calculated as the difference between the
net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset)
is included in the profit or loss in the period in which the
property is derecognised.
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CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy

information (continued)
Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired in a business
combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
are recognised separately from goodwill and are initially
recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date (which
is regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired
in a business combination with finite useful lives are
reported at costs less accumulated amortisation and any
accumulated impairment losses, on the same basis as
intangible assets that are acquired separately. Intangible
assets acquired in a business combination with indefinite
useful lives are carried at cost less any subsequent
accumulated impairment losses.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no
future economic benefits are expected from use or disposal.
Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible
asset, measured as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, are
recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HE-_Z-_=%+=-F=+—H L5 For the year ended 31 December 2023

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy

information (continued)

Impairment on property, plant and
equipment (including right-of-use assets)
and intangible assets other than goodwill

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment
(including right-of-use assets) and intangible assets with
finite useful lives to determine whether there is any
indication that these assets have suffered an impairment
loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount
of the relevant asset is estimated in order to determine the
extent of the impairment loss (if any). Intangible assets with
indefinite useful lives are tested for impairment at least
annually, and whenever there is an indication that they may
be impaired.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment
(including right-of-use assets) and intangible assets is
estimated individually. When it is not possible to estimate
the recoverable amount individually, the Group estimates
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to
which the asset belongs.
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3. MEGEMEBERE 3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

ZEEREKRES CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
HERER @ STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICY
|N FORMAT'ON (Continued)

3.2 EREFHRER @ 3.2 Material accounting policy
information (continued)
M¥E - BMENSE (BIFE Impairment on property, plant and
AREEE)RERESE M equipment (including right-of-use assets)
BERKRIZEEZ) and intangible assets other than goodwill
(Continued)
ETRSEABNM 2 BERE In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, corporate
e EL BB R — Bz DB EE - assets are allocated to the relevant cash-generating unit
NEIEESESREZHEBRSE when a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be
HEBEA KRN EMBRT  &a established, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest
HBAZEBRE Mo EESE group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable
ZEHeELEBEUZH/NEE T and consistent allocation basis can be established. The
WERcBEBHRHAREEMBNIR recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating
EA NI e IR 4 B A B8 (40 B e unit or group of cash-generating units to which the
EWHEMBEBAREEEBEMLNIR corporate asset belongs, and is compared with the carrying
CELAEMANMNEAEETL amount of the relevant cash-generating unit or group of
8 o cash-generating units.
Al Y B & Z8 Th A f B R H & AR AN Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
REREBEZ RS E - RNilt(E of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
AEBEE s RAKXRERER estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
R E B EEZE R 5L value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
H AERRBEE(KREELS market assessments of the time value of money and the
) CRFABGETRKIBER) 2 F risks specific to the asset (or a cash-generating unit) for
FRR 2 FHATBIRE BiIREHE which the estimates of future cash flows have not been
WM - adjusted.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Z-F-=4%+=-H=+—H L4 For the year ended 31 December 2023

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy

information (continued)

Impairment on property, plant and
equipment (including right-of-use assets)
and intangible assets other than goodwill
(Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating
unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit)
is reduced to its recoverable amount. For corporate assets
or portion of corporate assets which cannot be allocated
on a reasonable and consistent basis to a cash-generating
unit, the Group compares the carrying amount of a group
of cash-generating units, including the carrying amounts of
the corporate assets or portion of corporate assets allocated
to that group of cash-generating units, with the recoverable
amount of the group of cash-generating units. In allocating
the impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable)
and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on
the carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the group
of cash-generating units. The carrying amount of an asset
is not reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs
of disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if determinable)
and zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would
otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated
pro rata to the other assets of the unit or the group of
cash-generating units. An impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE-_T-_=%F+_-HA=+—HIL5Z For the year ended 31 December 2023

3. MEGEMEBERE 3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

ZEEREKRES CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
HERER @ STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICY
|N FORMAT'ON (Continued)

3.2 EREHBEER @ 3.2 Material accounting policy
information (continued)
ME BERIEB(BERE Impairment on property, plant and
AEEE)REFEE M equipment (including right-of-use assets)
BEKRIIZEEZ) and intangible assets other than goodwill
(Continued)
R EEEEEER - BEE (5 Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
—BEReEAEMX—HREE carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit
BN 2 EAcHEEHAREEL or a group of cash-generating units) is increased to the
BT 2 et i Bl & %8+ M revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that
BIZEESHETSBBUATEE the increased carrying amount does not exceed the
BREXEREE (SK—BEHEEL carrying amount that would have been determined had
Bok— RS EEBNM) BRI no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or a
BEEETETZRESE - ®E cash-generating unit or a group of cash-generating units) in
EERER SN ERER - prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised

immediately in profit or loss.

ReRBREEH Cash and cash equivalents
REEVMBIRAREINNEE R Cash and cash equivalents presented on the consolidated
REFHBHRE statement of financial position include:

(a) H& BREMAFRE KEH (@) cash, which comprises of cash on hand and demand
TR ETEEIEERG deposits, excluding bank balances that are subject to
MERZEEHRTEFTEIR regulatory restrictions that result in such balances no
SZEEMRITES & longer meeting the definition of cash; and
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HE-_Z-_=%+=-F=+—H L5 For the year ended 31 December 2023

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy
information (continued)
Cash and cash equivalents (Continued)

(b)

cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term
(generally with original maturity of three months
or less), highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible to a known amount of cash and which
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value. Cash equivalents are held for the purpose of
meeting short-term cash commitments rather than for
investment or other purposes.

Bank balances for which use by the Group is subject to
third party contractual restrictions are included as part

of cash unless the restrictions result in a bank balance

no longer meeting the definition of cash. Contractual

restrictions affecting use of bank balances are disclosed in
note 24 to the consolidated financial statements.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy

information (continued)
Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Costs of inventories are determined on a
weighted average method. Net realisable value represents
the estimated selling price for inventories less all estimated
costs of completion and costs necessary to make the sale.
Costs necessary to make the sale include incremental costs
directly attributable to the sale and non-incremental costs
which the Group must incur to make the sale. Materials and
other supplies held for use in the production of inventories
are not written down below cost if the finished products in
which they will be incorporated are expected to be sold at
or above cost.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. All regular way purchases or
sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised on
a settlement date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the time frame established by regulation or
convention in the market place.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

E =T =%+ H=+—H1-4JE For the year ended 31 December 2023

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy

information (continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value except for trade receivables arising from
contracts with customers which are initially measured in
accordance with HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers. Transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities (other than financial assets or financial liabilities
at FVTPL) are added to or deducted from the fair value of
the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on
initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to
the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at
FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense over
the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate
that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and
payments (including all fees and points paid or received
that form an integral part of the effective interest rate,
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through
the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability,
or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying
amount on initial recognition.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy
information (continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are

subsequently measured at amortised cost:

o the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows;

and

° the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and

interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are

subsequently measured at FVTOCI:

. the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is achieved by both selling and

collecting contractual cash flows; and

3 the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and

interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at
FVTPL, except that at the date of initial recognition of a
financial asset the Group may irrevocably elect to present
subsequent changes in fair value of an equity investment
in other comprehensive income if that equity investment
is neither held for trading nor contingent consideration
recognised by an acquirer in a business combination to

which HKFRS 3 Business Combinations applies.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

E =T =%+ H=+—H1-4JE For the year ended 31 December 2023

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy

information (continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of a financial asset, except for financial assets that
have subsequently become credit-impaired (see below).
For financial assets that have subsequently become
credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying
the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the
financial asset from the next reporting period. If the credit
risk on the credit-impaired financial instrument improves so
that the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset
from the beginning of the reporting period following the
determination that the asset is no longer credit-impaired.

Debt instruments classified as at FVTOCI

Subsequent changes in the carrying amounts for debt
instruments classified as at FVTOCI as a result of interest
income calculated using the effective interest method
are recognised in profit or loss. All other changes in the
carrying amount of these debt instruments are recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the
investment revaluation reserve. Impairment allowances are
recognised in profit or loss with corresponding adjustment
to other comprehensive income without reducing the
carrying amounts of these debt instruments. When these
debt instruments are derecognised, the cumulative gains or
losses previously recognised in other comprehensive income
are reclassified to profit or loss.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy

information (continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Equity instrument designated at FVTOCI

Investment in equity instruments at FVTOCI are
subsequently measured at fair value with gains and
losses arising from changes in fair value recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in the
investment revaluation reserve; and are not subject to
impairment assessment. The cumulative gain or loss will
not be reclassified to profit or loss on disposal of the equity
investment, and will be transferred to retained profits.

Dividends from the investment in equity instruments are
recognised in profit or loss when the Group's right to
receive the dividends is established, unless the dividends
clearly represent a recovery of part of the cost of the
investment. Dividends are included in the "other income"
line item in profit or loss.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated as
FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the
end of each reporting period, with any fair value gains
or losses recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss
recognised in profit or loss excludes any interest earned on
the financial asset, and is included in the "other gains and
losses" line item in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

E =T =%+ H=+—H1-4JE For the year ended 31 December 2023

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy

information (continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected
credit loss ("ECL") model on financial assets (including debt
instruments at amortised cost and at FVTOCI, amounts
due from associates, trade receivables, other debtors,
short-term bank deposits with original maturity more than
three months and bank balances) which are subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9. The amount of
ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in
credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of the
relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL ("12m
ECL") represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is
expected to result from default events that are possible
within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessments are
done based on the Group's historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general
economic conditions and an assessment of both the current
conditions at the reporting date as well as the forecast of
future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables.
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ACCOUNTING POLICY
|NFORMAT|ON (Continued)
3.2 Material accounting policy

information (continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss

allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been

a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,

in which case the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The

assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is

based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a

default occurring since initial recognition.

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with the
risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the date of initial recognition. In making this
assessment, the Group considers both quantitative
and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HEZ

T =%+ =+—H -4 For the year ended 31 December 2023

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

S

TATEMENTS AND MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICY
|NFORMAT|ON (Continued)
3.2 Material accounting policy

information (continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Fi

nancial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

In particular, the following information is taken
into account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument's external (if available)
or internal credit rating;

o significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit default
swap prices for the debtor;

o existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are
expected to cause a significant decrease in the
debtor's ability to meet its debt obligations;

o an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the operating results of the debtor; or

o an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a
significant decrease in the debtor's ability to
meet its debt obligations.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy
information (continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(i)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)
Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information
that demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been
a significant increase in credit risk and revises them
as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable
of identifying significant increase in credit risk before
the amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when
information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely
to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full
(without taking into account any collaterals held by
the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial asset
is more than 90 days past due unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is
more appropriate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HE-_Z-_=%+=-F=+—H L5 For the year ended 31 December 2023

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy
information (continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(iii)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A

financial asset is credit-impaired when one or

more events that have a detrimental impact on the

estimated future cash flows of that financial asset

have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is

credit-impaired includes observable data about the

fol

(a)

(b)

(@)

(d)

lowing events:

significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

a breach of contract, such as a default or past
due event;

the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower's
financial difficulty, having granted to the
borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s)
would not otherwise consider; or

it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation.

2023 ANNUAL REPORT  YIP'S CHEMICAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

159



160

B #3R & FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

#n BT 15 R S B 5

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE-_T-_=%F+_-HA=+—HIL5Z For the year ended 31 December 2023

3. MEGEMEBERE
ZEHEERE KRG
BERER =

3.2 EXREFHEER »)

@I A #)

SREE®)

SRAERMEH)

(iv) EESHBUR
EHANBRRSHIEY

(v)

ER{LISEARRAF

BREVKHNEE  BEEHRK
EHFEPmxBHTCE
BRAEARERRF) K
AEEEEHERMEE &
SENAREEEBRTE
BERER  ARREBEEK
CREFRCEHIEREE
REGRGIMITITE - B
PR IETERE A o EfRIEIR
Yo m 75 0 18 R HERR o

BEHEREBRRZFERER
EHREEBRAZFEREYN
BE -BOBXANENZ
BRIEE) K2R E R
OZ e - BHOBERELD
BRZFHETDERE L8R
RATEMEER - HHEEE
AR YA
BERENRR X NERE
EZe® - AKERBER
AITREE  NRAREE
P A5 E 5 B W RIR 2 B
EEBRX EPithBERE
EREARBLRETNE IS
BRARE NN A EEZ A
EIEEHR -

T SEEER

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy
information (continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(iv)

(v)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there
is information indicating that the counterparty is in
severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic
prospect of recovery, for example, when the
counterparty has been placed under liquidation or
has entered into bankruptcy proceedings. Financial
assets written off may still be subject to enforcement
activities under the Group's recovery procedures,
taking into account the legal advice where
appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition
event. Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in
profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the
exposure at default. The assessment of the probability
of default and loss given default is based on historical
data and forward-looking information. Estimation of
ECL reflects an unbiased and probability-weighted
amount that is determined with the respective risks
of default occurring as the weights. The Group uses
a practical expedient in estimating ECL on trade
receivables using a provision matrix taking into
consideration historical credit loss experience and
forward-looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy
information (continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group
in accordance with the contract and the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at
the effective interest rate determined at initial
recognition.

Lifetime ECL for certain trade receivables are
considered on a collective basis taking into
consideration past due information and relevant credit
information such as forward-looking macroeconomic
information.

For collective assessment, the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristics when
formulating the grouping:

o Past-due status;

o Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

o External and/or internal credit ratings where
available.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy
information (continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management
to ensure the constituents of each group continue to
share similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on amortised cost
of the financial asset.

Except for investments in debt instruments that
are measured at FVTOCI, the Group recognises
an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for all
financial instruments by adjusting their carrying
amount, with the exception of trade receivables
where the corresponding adjustment is recognised
through a loss allowance account. For investments in
debt instruments that are measured at FVTOCI, the
loss allowance is recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in the investment
revaluation reserve without reducing the carrying
amount of these debt instruments. Such amount
represents the changes in the investment revaluation
reserve in relation to accumulated loss allowance.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy

information (continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Foreign exchange gains and losses

The carrying amount of financial assets that are
denominated in a foreign currency is determined in that
foreign currency and translated at the spot rate at the end
of each reporting period. Specifically:

3 For financial assets measured at amortised cost that
are not part of a designated hedging relationship,
exchange differences are recognised in profit or loss
in the 'Other gains and losses' line item (note 7b) as
part of the net exchange gains/(losses);

3 For debt instruments measured at FVTOCI that
are not part of a designated hedging relationship,
exchange differences on the amortised cost of the
debt instrument are recognised in profit or loss
in the 'Other gains and losses' line item (note 7b)
as part of the net exchange gains/(losses). As the
foreign currency element recognised in profit or loss
is the same as if it was measured at amortised cost,
the residual foreign currency element based on the
translation of the carrying amount (at fair value) is
recognised in other comprehensive income in the
investment revaluation reserve;
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy
information (continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Foreign exchange gains and losses (Continued)

For financial assets measured at FVTPL that are not
part of a designated hedging relationship, exchange
differences are recognised in profit or loss in the
'‘Other gains and losses' line item as part of the gain/
(loss) from changes in fair value of financial assets
(note 7b);

For equity instruments measured at FVTOCI, exchange
differences are recognised in other comprehensive
income in the investment revaluation reserve.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy

information (continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire,
or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another
entity. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the
Group continues to recognise the financial asset and also
recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds
received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost, the difference between the asset's carrying amount
and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is
recognised in profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in a debt instrument
classified as at FVTOCI, the cumulative gain or loss
previously accumulated in the investment revaluation
reserve is reclassified to profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in equity instrument
which the Group has elected on initial recognition to
measure at FVTOCI, the cumulative gain or loss previously
accumulated in the investment revaluation reserve is not
reclassified to profit or loss, but is transferred to retained
profits.
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3. IREGZEBHRE 3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
ZEERFRE KRS CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
BERER @ STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)
3.2 EREBEER 3.2 Material accounting policy
information (continued)
SMIA® Financial instruments (Continued)
tREEREETA Financial liabilities and equity instruments
DEREHIER Classification as debt or equity
HEBRARZETZEEMERT Debts and equity instruments issued by a group entity
AENIRBAFINEAREZEER are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity
NEEReHEBBEAEETIAZTE in accordance with the substance of the contractual
BEORREBAENER - arrangements entered into and the definitions of a financial
liability and an equity instrument.
T E Equity instruments
o TARBHREEASEEE An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
FerfE= (CHNBREmMEARE) 2 residual interest in the assets of the Group after deducting
EAEHA - all of its liabilities.
REBHEKATFEZCREE Financial liabilities at amortised cost
cHEBEB(BEENERKLEER) Financial liabilities including creditors and borrowings
He A EBRR R REHKA are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
FTE effective interest method.
RIEBEAEMEE Derecognition of financial liabilities
BEEEASE B EEREK . The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
BOHSK B B R - AEE 5 g4 when, the Group's obligations are discharged, cancelled or
R ABE SRIEER have expired. The difference between the carrying amount
CRHEBEREHSBEEN REN of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration
REZEZHSNERER - paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.
ERILIKEBRLE —T_=FEF®
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E =T =%+ H=+—H1-4JE For the year ended 31 December 2023

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy
information (continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Changes in the basis for determining the
contractual cash flows as a result of interest rate
benchmark reform

For changes in the basis for determining the contractual
cash flows of a financial asset or financial liability to
which the amortised cost measurement applies as a result
of interest rate benchmark reform, the Group applies
the practical expedient to account for these changes
by updating the effective interest rate, such change in
effective interest rate normally has no significant effect
on the carrying amount of the relevant financial asset or
financial liability.

A change in the basis for determining the contractual cash
flows is required by interest rate benchmark reform if and
only if, both these conditions are met:

3 the change is necessary as a direct consequence of
interest rate benchmark reform; and

o the new basis for determining the contractual cash

flows is economically equivalent to the previous basis
(i.e. the basis immediately preceding the change).
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3. IREGZEBHRE 3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
ZEERFRE KRS CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
BERE® @ STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICY
|NFORMAT|ON (Continued)

3.2 EREFHEER » 3.2 Material accounting policy

information (continued)
SMIA® Financial instruments (Continued)
PTEEmMIA Derivative financial instruments
PMETAEMBEITETIESLR Derivatives are initially recognised at fair values at the
VERAZARBERR HEE®R date when derivative contracts are entered into and are
EHMRZARBEHE - FTE subsequently remeasured to their fair values at the end of
Az e sk Es e BN R M B s AR the reporting period. The resulting gain or loss is recognised
RIEZMTETARKBEEMBRZ in profit or loss immediately unless the derivative is
HHRTA ZEURBELT REH= designated and effective as a hedging instrument, in which
T 3R 2 TR ) BRUAR AR 59 R B (R 2 1 event the timing of the recognition in profit or loss depends
=90 on the nature of the hedging relationship.
fis 67 & T B &) F &4 HA PR 8 81 2 & A derivative is presented as a non-current asset or a
A B I FER1218 A A2 Hi 2 3R =X non-current liability if the remaining maturity of the
HEATAETIEREZYARERD instrument is more than 12 months and it is not due to be
BEIFERBEE EMITET realised or settled within 12 months. Other derivatives are
HE2 /RS EEIRDBIE - presented as current assets or current liabilities.
HEcREERESRNAR Offsetting a financial asset and a financial

liability
EREEAKEREHREA AKX A financial asset and a financial liability are offset and the
REIMITENGHEEREE net amount presented in the consolidated statement of
BERARRFEELLH KRR E financial position when, and only when, the Group currently
REEREFARR SREE has a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised
HEBMABTEHE FENEKR amounts; and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to
BHBRRKET - realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

ERILIKEBRLE —T_=FEF®
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Material accounting policy
information (continued)
Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies)
are recognised at the rates of exchanges prevailing on
the dates of the transactions. At the end of reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies
are re-translated at the rates prevailing at that date.
Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are re-translated at
the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
re-translated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
arise, except for exchange differences on monetary items
receivable from or payable to a foreign operation for
which settlement is neither planned nor likely to occur
(therefore forming part of the net investment in the
foreign operation), which are recognised initially in other
comprehensive income and reclassified from equity to
profit or loss on disposal or partial disposal of the Group's
interests.

2023 ANNUAL REPORT  YIP'S CHEMICAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

169



170

B #3R & FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

#n BT 15 R S B 5

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B

==

T—=F+—- F=+—H -4 Z For the year ended 31 December 2023

3. MAKSUBHRSE

ZEHEERE KRG
BERER =

32 EXREFHEER @

ER{LISEARRAF

INEE )
REFGAUBREMS A&
BB EEREBERNRS
RZBITEERREAEAEEY 2
Gl (BT - WA RX HiR
ZHETHERNTE  BRIEE
ERZHBAKRNERS - RUtB
AT BAEARZSBEZBAE
K FEEZERZE(ME)R
H b 2 T Ui 25 W 2R % A R 25 D B9
BRGHEET RS (RBRIEER
W2 tER) o

BERABAEENARBZINZE
EFEENMHRERAEEZIE
BEBT) CEREZRERERHE
2 KREER  WEELFER
TR C-ERFETRIANZE
EAZRERITGEEHHEER

3z
ZS o
oo

R-ZTRF-—H Bz
A W BE g SN 25 75 s Bt P U BB T
NEEEEZHERAAEBRE
DERZEBIRERBZEER
BERE ITENBREMRZE
TEXFE -ELEZELEZRE
REA 2 E K EFER o

T SEEER

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy

information (continued)
Foreign currencies (Continued)

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group's
operations are translated into the presentation currency
of the Group (i.e. HK$) using exchange rates prevailing at
the end of the reporting period. Income and expenses are
translated at the average exchange rates for the period,
unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during the
period, in which case, the exchange rates prevailing at
the dates of transactions are used. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity under the heading of the
translation reserve (attributed to non-controlling interests
as appropriate).

Exchange differences relating to the re-translation of the
Group's net assets in RMB to the Group's presentation
currency (i.e. HK$) are recognised directly in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in translation
reserve. Such exchange differences accumulated in the
translation reserve are not reclassified to profit or loss
subsequently.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets
acquired arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation
on or after 1 January 2005 are treated as assets and
liabilities of that foreign operation and translated at the
rate of exchange prevailing at the end of the reporting
period. Exchange differences arising are recognised in other
comprehensive income.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy

information (continued)
Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time
to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to
the cost of those assets until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Any specific borrowing that remains outstanding after
the related asset is ready for its intended use or sale is
included in the general borrowing pool for calculation
of capitalisation rate on general borrowings. Investment
income earned on the temporary investment of specific
borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they are incurred.

Taxation

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for investment
properties that are measured using the fair value model,
the carrying amounts of such properties are presumed to
be recovered entirely through sale. The presumption is not
rebutted.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied to the same taxable entity by the same taxation
authority.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy

information (continued)
Employee benefits
Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans
are recognised as expenses when employees have rendered
service entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be
paid as and when employees rendered the services. All
short-term employee benefits are recognised as an expense
unless another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of
the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
(such as wages and salaries and annual leave) after
deducting any amount already paid.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy

information (continued)
Employee benefits (Continued)

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

Share options granted to employees

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and
others providing similar services are measured at the fair
value of the equity instruments at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments
determined at the grant date without taking into
consideration all non-market vesting conditions is expensed
on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, based
on the Group's estimate of equity instruments that will
eventually vest, with a corresponding increase in equity
(share option reserve). At the end of each reporting period,
the Group revises its estimate of the number of equity
instruments expected to vest based on assessment of all
relevant non-market vesting conditions. The impact of the
revision of the original estimates, if any, is recognised in
profit or loss such that the cumulative expense reflects the
revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to the
share option reserve.

When the share options are exercised, the amount
previously recognised in the share option reserve will be
transferred to share premium. When the share options are
forfeited after the vesting date or are still not exercised at
the expiry date, the amount previously recognised in share
option reserve will be transferred to retained profits.
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4. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION

UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group's accounting policies, which
are described in note 3, the directors of the Company are
required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are
not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical experience
and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised
if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

Key sources of estimation
uncertainty

Management had made the following estimations that have
the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in
the consolidated financial statements and a significant risk
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation
uncertainty (continued)

Estimated impairment of goodwill and
intangible assets with indefinite useful lives

Determining whether goodwill and intangible assets with
indefinite useful lives are impaired requires an estimation
of the recoverable amount of the cash-generating units
(or group of cash-generating units) to which goodwill and
intangible assets with indefinite useful lives have been
allocated, which is the higher of the value in use or fair
value less costs of disposal. The value in use calculation
requires the Group to estimate the future cash flows
expected to arise from the cash-generating unit (or group
of cash-generating units) and a suitable discount rate in
order to calculate the present value. Where the actual
future cash flows are less than expected, or change in facts
and circumstances which results in downward revision
of future cash flows or upward revision of discount rate,
a material impairment loss or further impairment loss
may arise. Furthermore, the estimated cash flows and
discount rate for certain cash-generating units (or group
of cash-generating units) are subject to higher degree
of estimation uncertainties in the current year due to
uncertainty on volatility in economy and financial markets.

As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amount of
goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful
lives were HK$55,105,000 and HK$35,377,000 (2022:
HK$95,201,000 and HK$50,433,000), respectively. Details
of the recoverable amount calculation are disclosed in note
20.
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4.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTA'NTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation
uncertainty (continued)
Provision of ECL for trade receivables

Trade receivables that are credit-impaired are assessed for
ECL individually. In addition, for trade receivables which are
individually insignificant or when the Group does not have
reasonable and supportable information that is available
without undue cost or effort to measure ECL on individual
basis, collective assessment is performed by grouping
debtors based on the Group's internal credit ratings. The
management of the Group estimates the amount of lifetime
ECL of trade receivables based on collective assessment
through grouping of various debtors that have similar
loss patterns, after considering repayment history and
past due status of respective trade receivables. Estimated
loss rates are based on historical observed default rates
over the expected life of the debtors and forward-looking
information. The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in
estimates. The information about the ECL and the Group's
trade receivables are disclosed in notes 22 and 34.
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation
uncertainty (continued)
Fair values of investment properties

Investment properties are stated at fair value based on
the valuation performed by independent professional
valuers. The determination of the fair value involves certain
assumptions of market conditions which are set out in note
15.

In relying on the valuation report, the directors of
the Company have exercised their judgement and are
satisfied that the method of valuation is reflective of the
current market conditions. Whilst the Group considers
valuations of the Group's investment properties are
the best estimates, volatility in economy and financial
markets have led to higher degree of uncertainties in
respect of the valuations in the current year. Changes
to these assumptions, including the potential risk of any
market violation, policy, geopolitical and social changes
or other unexpected incidents as a result of change in
macroeconomic environment or other unexpected incidents
would result in changes in the fair values of the Group's
investment properties and the corresponding adjustments
to the amount of gain or loss reported in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income.

As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amount of the

Group's investment properties was HK$222,900,000 (2022:
HK$195,710,000).
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5. EXBERTEESN 5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION
EXBERFARATFHEES M Revenue represents the amount received and receivable
K fe £ B 755 B Mk B2 e i iz SR (H1 for goods sold and services provided to customers, net
BRITH0 R sH E AR BIIR) R B IR of discounts and sales related taxes, and rental income
RERHEE ZEERA received and receivable from tenants during the year.
o i B A ) .
(a) EXBEA (a) Disaggregation of revenue
—E-= ==
2023 2022
FHET FHET
HK$’000 HK$'000
HEKSEXER Continuing operations
RE -—FRHEEER : Recognised at a point in time:
EmifEEFEE Revenue from sales of products
— 2% — coatings 1,584,770 1,639,321
—H2 — inks 1,205,915 1,340,140
—H 8 h — lubricants 344,282 298,318
—AERBREAMIT - car maintenance and other
EE chemical products 33,734 31,843
R—ERERANER : Recognised over time:
RERERS Car maintenance service 37,795 38,574
BEAaHE¥EE Revenue from contracts with
customers 3,206,496 3,348,196
YIS WA Rental income from properties 10,642 10,313
3,217,138 3,358,509

RIBREFME ZMET% ©  Geographical market based on
location of customers:

F The PRC 3,113,792 3,229,278

BB Hong Kong 69,692 74,326
BN EEBIERmEER)  Overseas (mainly including

countries in South East Asia) 33,654 54,905

3,217,138 3,358,509
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT
|NFORMAT|ON (Continued)

(a) Disaggregation of revenue

(Continued)

Performance obligations for contracts
with customers

Sales of products

Revenue from sales of products is recognised at
a point in time when control of the goods has
transferred, being when the goods have been
delivered or shipped to the customer's specific
location (delivery). Transactions and handling activities
that occur before the customer obtains control are
considered as fulfilment activities. Following the
delivery, the customer has full discretion to use and
sell the goods, has the primary responsibility when on
selling the goods and bears the risks of obsolescence
and loss in relation to the goods. The normal credit
term is 30 to 90 days upon delivery.

Car maintenance service

Generally, the car maintenance services are completed
within the same day and there is no credit term
granted for these services. The Group's performance
enhances the assets controlled by the customers as
the assets are enhanced. Revenue from the provision
of car maintenance service is recognised over time
based on the Group's right to invoice.

The Group uses a practical expedient for not
disclosing the information including the aggregate
amount of the transaction price allocated to the
performance obligations that are unsatisfied at the
end of the reporting period as these sales or services
have an original expected duration of one year or
less.
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T—=F+—- F=+—H -4 Z For the year ended 31 December 2023

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT
|NFORMAT|ON (Continued)

(b) Segment revenue and results

For management purposes, the Group's reportable
segments under HKFRS 8 Operating Segments
included four business divisions, namely (i) coatings,
(ii) inks, (iii) lubricants and (iv) properties. These
divisions are the basis on which the Group reports its
operating segments information.

Principal activities of the Group's reportable segments
are as follows:

Coatings - manufacture of and trading
in coatings and related
products

Inks - manufacture of and trading
in inks and related products

Lubricants - manufacture of and trading
in lubricants products

Properties - property investment and

holding of the Group's
properties not used for
production plants, central
administration office, and
not used for other operating
segments, including but

not limited to properties for
rental
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT
|NFORMAT|ON (Continued)

(b) Segment revenue and results
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(Continued)

In addition, the Group's operation relating to the
manufacture of and trading in other chemical
products together with the business engaging
in trading of car maintenance products and car
maintenance services do not meet the quantitative
threshold for reportable segment in both current and
prior year. Accordingly these were aggregated and
presented in 'Others'.

These divisions are the basis on which the Group
reports its operating segment information. The
accounting policies of the operating segments are the
same as the Group's accounting policies described in
note 3.

Segment results represent the profit earned or loss
incurred for the year by each segment without
allocation of share of result of associates, interest
income, impairment loss recognised on interest in an
associate, central administration expenses, finance
costs and unallocated other income. This is the
information reported to the Chief Executive Officer of
the Company, the Group's chief operating decision
maker, for the purposes of resource allocation and
performance assessment.
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5. EXHEERTEER @ 5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT
|NFORMAT|ON (Continued)

(b) " EEEEBEREE (b) Segment revenue and results
(&) (Continued)
AREBER O EEFEZRA 2R An analysis of the Group's segment revenue and
REE S BE D 2o EE % results by reportable and operating segments for the
BMEBSTAOT year under review is as follows:
BFEREEK Continuing operations
2R E
2R e bepepi LS b Hitr bt g8
Reportable
segment
Coatings Inks  Lubricants  Properties total Others  Elimination Consolidated

TER TR TAR TERT TER TER TR TER
HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000

BHE-Z-=f% Year ended
+ZB=t+-HLFE 31 December 2023

PREXH Segment revenue
RPANERE Revenue from contracts
with customers

HINHE External sales 1584770 1,205915 344,282 - 3,134,967 71,529 - 3,206,496

PBRHEHEE Inter-segment sales 37 321 662 - 1,020 4 (1,024) -
MBS GRERS  External rental income

BIBMAERIE16%)  (under HKFRS 16) - - - 10,642 10,642 - - 10,642
PERBE WA Inter-segment rental income - - - 356 356 - (356) -
B Total 1,584,807 1,206,236 344,944 10,998 3,146,985 71,533 (1,380) 3,217,138
#8 Results

PREE Segment results 57,250 37,861 10,849 30,869 136,829 (44,759) - 92,070
EEHEAREE Share of result of associates 94,672
BERENMEEZERR  Impairment loss recognised

HEER on goodwill and intangible

assets (57,504)

RARMA Unallocated income 72,777
KHEER Unallocated expenses (54,629)
HRER Finance costs (63,521)
BEEERKL Profit before taxation from

BRI A A continuing operations 83,865
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HE—T =&+ A=+—HILEZ For the year ended 31 December 2023

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT
INFORMAT'ON (Continued)

(b) Segment revenue and results
(Continued)

Continuing operations (Continued)

2R A
EH hE b bedi] nE @zt Hih i Ga
Reportable
segment
Coatings Inks Lubricants Properties total Others  Elimination  Consolidated
TEL T THL T THL TEL FHL TEL
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Hz-3-CF Year ended
T-A=t-HLEE 31 December 2022
PEEEE Segment revenue
RFANEEE Revenue from contracts with
customers
HIMAE External sales 1639321 1,340,140 298,318 - 321,179 70417 - 334819
APEREHE Inter-segment sales 127 58 708 - 893 3,598 (4,491) -
MRS MA (REBEH  External rental income
BREERS16%) (under HKFRS 16) - - - 10,313 10,313 - - 10313
AREESKA Inter-segment rental income - - - 372 370 - (372) -
it Total 1,639,448 1,340,198 299,026 10,685 3,289,357 74,015 (4,863) 3,358,509
E3 Results
NEZE Segment results 8,526 9,424 @,113) 6,247 22,084 (34,141) (186) (12,43)
Eh—HBEAREE Share of result of an associate (174)
W—RBEARZESZ  Impairment loss recognised on
BRARERSSE interest in an associate (4,496)
RAERA Unallocated income 16,639
RARER Unallocated expenses (14,383)
HEER Finance costs (49,468)
SEILEER Loss before taxation from
BRAIEE continuing operations

WD BEHE A
BUWERESMEE TS RA
ZAGFRARA

(64,125)

Inter-segment sales/rental income are charged at the
similar terms as external sales/rental income.
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5. EXHEERTEER @ 5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT
|NFORMAT|ON (Continued)

(c) HEHR (c) Other information
HEREXER Continuing operations
REEPEERKSEEE Amounts included in the measurement of segment
REIETER profit or loss or segment assets:
CES: V|
2R AE b Dep: L &t Hitr f: 4 &8
Reportable
segment
Coatings Inks  Lubricants  Properties total Others  Corporate Consolidated

TER TERL TER TERT TAR TER TR TER
HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000

BZ-Z-=F+-F Year ended 31 December

=t-ALEE 2023
FRBEERE (HF)  Additions to non-current
assets (Note) 24,296 21,478 1316 8,271 55,361 1127 268 62,756
NE - BERRELHE  Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment 48,459 55,224 4,440 1,070 109,193 12,544 2,329 124,066
BYAERH Amortisation of intangible
assets 1,900 134 - - 2,034 829 - 2,863

ZHREMBEUTERE  Net impairment loss (reversal
HERBARETZ of impairment loss) under
ERARESE(AE  ECL model recognised on

BEER) 58 trade and other receivables 1,156 (1,113) (135) - (92) - 55 37)
FHEERETR Provision for (reversal of)
(Bm) allowance for slow-moving
inventories 436 (930) 169 - (325) (31) - (356)
METE Written off of inventories 463 3,930 182 - 4,575 183 - 4,758

HE/FHEME BER  Netloss (gain) on disposals/
REZER (W) FE  written off of property,

plant and equipment 520 469 26 (10) 1,005 40 (108) 937
NE - HBEREEL Impairment loss recognised
BRAREER on property, plant and
equipment - - - - - 14,967 - 14,967
BERENEEL Impairment loss recognised
BRARERE on goodwill and intangible
assets - - - - - 57,504 - 57,504
BREMENAEEHZ  Gain on fair value change of
W investment properties - - - (27,891) (27,891) - - (27,891)
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T =%+ =+—HL4E For the year ended 31 December 2023

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT
INFORMAT'ON (Continued)

(c) Other information (continued)

BEREE®Kw) Continuing operations (Continued)
N2RHE
ZR il bebepi S &5t Hith ¥ wa
Reportable
segment
Coatings Inks  Lubricants ~ Properties total Others  Corporate  Consolidated
TR TR TET TiEn TET Tir TiEx T
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BE-8--f Year ended
TZA=1t-HLEEE 31 December 2022
FRBEERE (H3)  Additions to non-current
assets (Note) 26,500 70,407 1,528 109,871 208,306 14,249 381 222,936
NE - BERRELHNE  Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment 53,381 53,597 4,510 1,128 112,616 17,101 3,182 132,899
BYEAERY Amortisation of intangible
assets 1,900 142 - - 2,042 863 - 2,905
EREMBEUGIAR  Net (reversal of) impairment
BHEEBXEATZ  loss under ECL model
ERR(KE)FEFRE  recognised on trade and
8 other receivables (10,795) 989 (301) - (10,107) = 700 (9,407)
B EEETE(BE) Provision for (reversal of)
allowance for slow-moving
inventories 2,801 3,519 (175) - 6,145 (67) - 6,078
BRABHALM2ELR  Reversal of impairment
@ EBTAMEHER  loss recognised for debt
REBEER instrument at FVTOCI (13,178) - - - (13,178) - - (13,178)
H#EEs Written off of inventories 1,728 5,618 13 - 7,359 (20) - 7,339
e /GHEME BER  Netloss (gain) on disposals/
REZEE(WE)FE  written off of property,
plant and equipment 412 4382 (1) - 4,793 (2,914) 8 1,887
W& AR Z#E%& 2 Imparment loss recognised
ERRRESSE on interest in an associate - - - - - - 4,49 4,496
MizE: FERBEETRIEEE

RIEREXBHBCE

E-mE @I A.

N NI i
Uit Bt 42 2 W) R IR SR AE

BIREE °

Note: Non-current assets excluded those related to

discontinued operations, goodwill, financial

instruments, interests in associates, amounts due from

associates and deferred tax assets.
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT
|NFORMAT|ON (Continued)

(d) *&ERT2RREEDE (d) An analysis of the Group's segment assets and
ZomoBEERS ARG segment liabilities by reportable and operating
DATEAT - segments is as follows:
RELEXRE Continuing operations
2RI E
2H HE BiE S @it Hit &8
Reportable
segment
Coatings Inks  Lubricants  Properties total Others Consolidated
T T T T TR T T
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
RZB-=%+=-B=1+-H  At31December 2023
BE Assets
NERABEE Reportable segment assets 1,289,373 1,293,008 209,107 242,476 3,033,964 12,805 3,046,769
ELHEEE Deferred tax assets 2,721
HRAREE Other unallocated assets 3,369,531
RARBEE Consolidated total assets 6,419,027
B Liabilities
AERHPBERE Reportable segment liabilities 644,976 508,774 44,049 3,105 1,200,904 31,899 1,232,803
AT Taxation payables 28,270
BEREAE Deferred tax liabilities 38,018
H KA EERE Other unallocated liabilities 1,204,834
DARBEEE Consolidated total liabilities 2,503,925
R-B--%+-H=+-H  At31 December 2022
(&E31) (restated)
BE Assets
NERNBEE Reportable segment assets 1299,083 1,387,991 218468 218315 3,123,857 112,838 3,236,695
BREHBEAE Deferred tax assets 7.327
H KA REE Other unallocated assets 4,767,479
BRBEE Consolidated total assets 8,011,501
aff Liabilities
2R EAE Reportable segment liabilities 519,186 606,027 40,730 4,527 1,170,470 67,023 1,237,493
EHH Taxation payables 233,244
BEEHEARE Deferred tax liabilities 23,615
H R EEE Other unallocated liabilities 2,058,236
GRERE Consolidated total liabilities 3,552,588
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HE-_Z-_=%+=-F=+—H L5 For the year ended 31 December 2023

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT
|NFORMAT|ON (Continued)

(e) For the purposes of monitoring segment

performances and allocating resources between
segments:

all assets are allocated to operating segments
other than deferred tax assets, short-term bank
deposits with original maturity more than three
months, bank balances and cash, derivative
financial instruments, financial assets at FVTOCI,
financial assets at FVTPL, debt instruments at
FVTOCI/amortised cost, interests in associates,
amounts due from associates and other
unallocated assets; and

all liabilities are allocated to operating segments
other than taxation payables, deferred
tax liabilities, certain derivative financial
instruments, certain borrowings and other
unallocated liabilities.

Geographical information

The Group's revenue based on geographical location of
customers has been presented in note 5(a). Other than
the PRC and Hong Kong, no further analysis by individual
countries is presented for overseas countries because
such information is not available as not used for internal

reporting.
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5. EXHEERTEER @ 5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT
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wEER @)
AEEERHEERBEE S H
BUEST2HRO T (KFsE) -

|NFORMAT|ON (Continued)
Geographical information (continved)

The analysis of the Group's non-current assets by
geographical location of assets is presented as follows
(note):

—E-=F =T
2023 2022
FExT FHIT
HK$'000 HK$'000
AR (FrfE i) The PRC (place of domicile) 1,279,978 1,421,149
BB Hong Kong 129,011 133,181
1,408,989 1,554,330

Miet: ERBDEETEERBE R
P 5T & A NCIE
B RERBEENRESRET
B

TEEF
KBRS 2P ARERE
BIEPAERMAREEEEHEE
10% °

ERIEIEMARLT — T =FEFH

Note: Non-current assets excluded interests in associates, amounts
due from associates, deferred tax assets and financial
instruments.

Major customers

No individual customer of the Group has contributed
over 10% of the revenue of the Group for both reporting
periods.
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BE-_ZT-_=F+_-FH=+—H 14 For the year ended 31 December 2023

6. EEH R EE M 6. DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION

€ AND EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS
2K ENFIN(ZEZF : 7 The emoluments paid or payable to each of the 7 (2022: 7)
M)ESTEZMES0T directors were as follows:
BITEZE FUTES BUFHTES
Non-
executive
Executive directors director  Independent non-executive directors
THER
BETH 4] At E BER E HUE CEL &t AR
Ku Yee Ho Pak
Yip Ip Ho Ip Wong Dao, Chuen, Management
Tsz Hin Kwan Sai Hou  Chi Shing Yuk  Lawrence Patrick Total  executives

TiERL TR TR TERT T TR TR TiEx TR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(Hzke) (HzEe)
(Note ¢) (Note )

HE-F-=F Year ended
T=AZ1-R 31 December 2023
LEE
e Fees - - - - 200 200 200 600 -
EhMe Other emoluments
HeREMBRH (Mita)  Salaries and other
benefits (Note a) 2,201 3,139 2,588 1,494 480 - - 9,902 10,864
BB (Hb) Discretionary bonus
(Note b) 107 966 797 - - - - 1,870 3,883
SRARTER 3 BI85 Retirement benefit
scheme contributions 310 290 239 - - - - 839 854
Hemg Total emoluments 2,618 4,395 3,624 1,494 680 200 200 13,211 15,601
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HE-_Z-_=F+=A=+—HLLFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

6. EEHMNIES M

£ )

6. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

AND EMPLOYEES" EMOLUMENTS

(Continued)
H7E% FRTES BUFHITES
Non-
executive
Executive directors director Independent non-executive directors
ARER
ES £y s 557 B HHE wall At -
Ku Yee Ho Pak
Yip Ip Ho Ip Wong Dao, Chuen, Management
Tsz Hin Kwan SaiHou  Chi Shing Yuk Lawrence Patrick Total  executives
TAL TATL THET TEL TAL TEL THEL TEL TAL
HK$ " 000 HK$" 000 HK$ " 000 HK$ " 000 HK$ " 000 HK$ " 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ " 000
(W) (Ko
(Note ¢) (Note )
BE-2-"FT-A  Yearended 31 December
St-HILEE 202
e Fees = = = = 200 200 200 600 -
Afbde Other emoluments
He REMRN Salaries and other
(Ha) benefits (Note a) 4,159 2,729 2,524 1,423 480 - - 11,315 12,240
BT Discretionary bonus
GEL) (Note b) 5,000 3,000 1,800 - - - - 9,800 6,033
RIBRF BN Retirement benefit
scheme contributions 304 252 233 - - - - 789 811
MegE Total emoluments 9,463 5,981 4,557 1,423 680 200 200 22,504 19,084

NEFMTRATEEZHMEERY
RREREERRARAEERE
BIRHE Z IRTS o A EFTRIERATT
EERBUNRTEEZHME T
BYRBREERARRBAEERE
B2 fht 2 Bk 7%

ER{LISEARRAF

—Eo=FEEH

The executive directors'

emoluments shown above

were mainly for their services in connection with the
management of the affairs of the Company and the
Group. The emoluments of the non-executive directors and

independent non-executive directors shown above were

mainly for their services as directors and consultant of the

Company.
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HE-_Z-_=%+=-F=+—H L5 For the year ended 31 December 2023

6. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION
AND EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS

(Continued)

Notes:

(a) The directors' salaries and other benefits above included
leases rentals of HK$960,000 (2022: HK$960,000) for the
year ended 31 December 2023.

(b)  The discretionary bonus is determined with reference to the
operating results, individual performance and comparable
market statistics during the year.

(c) Mr. Yip Tsz Hin was the Chief Executive Officer of the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2022 and
stepped down from his role as the Chief Executive Officer
and remained as the Deputy Chairman with effect from 1
January 2023. Mr. Ip Kwan was the Deputy Chief Executive
Officer for the year ended 31 December 2022 and was
re-designated as the Chief Executive Officer with effect from
1 January 2023. Their emoluments disclosed above included
those for services rendered by them as the Chief Executive.
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HE=

6.

EEHM R IES N
€ @)

AEBSUBES HEEATF206 (=
T F ) RARBESE
FEZHMESER EXHEE - 43
(B —F:200) AT 2B
W

T—=F+—- F=+—H -4 Z For the year ended 31 December 2023

6. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

AND EMPLOYEES" EMOLUMENTS

(Continued)

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the
Group, two (2022: three) were directors of the Company
whose emoluments are disclosed above. The emoluments
of the remaining three (2022: two) individuals were as
follows:

—E==-= —E-—
2023 2022
FBT T T
HK$'000 HK$'000
e R H @A Salaries and other benefits 5,784 4,994
BB AEAL Discretionary bonus 2,648 8,333
RIREF Retirement benefits 528 106
8,960 13,433

FEMEREHA - AEEILER
EERSUBZRFAL(BRES)
A REIEMARNE B S E E N
AREER M HBEREE -
N R BEEEMEREHA
MEEAHE -

E#M3f (Z T = —F : 2f1) AL
ZHesENT

During both reporting periods, no emoluments were
paid by the Group to the directors and five highest paid
individuals, including directors, as an inducement to join
or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of
office. In addition, no director waived any emoluments
during both reporting periods.

The emoluments of the remaining three (2022: two)
individuals were within the following bands:

—E—-= -
2023 2022
EEAE EEAH
No. of No. of
employees employees
2,500,001/ 703,000,000 7C  HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2 =
3,000,001% 7L 23,500,000/t  HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 1 =
3,500,001% 7L £4,000,000/% 7t  HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,000,000 - 1
9,500,001/ 7% 10,000,000 7  HK$9,500,001 to HK$10,000,000 - 1
3 2
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6. EEFHRIES 6. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION
cAC ) AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS
(Continued)
THREEBAE (TEREARAES) The emoluments of the management executives (excluding
2o EEWNT : the directors of the Company) were within the following
bands:
—EC-=F —E-F
2023 2022
BEAE EEAH
No. of No. of
employees employees
077t 21,000,000/ 7T HK$0 to HK$1,000,000 2 1
1,500,001 7T &2,000,000/% 7T HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 2 2
2,000,001 7T £2,500,0007% 7T HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 1 2
2,500,001 7T 23,000,000 7T HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2 -
3,000,001/% 7L £3,500,000/8 7  HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 1 =
9,500,001 7c £ 10,000,000/ 7T HK$9,500,001 to HK$10,000,000 - 1
8 6
7. HM W AL R HE#M 7. OTHER INCOME AND OTHER
WHE R EIE GAINS AND LOSSES
BEREXEK Continuing operations
() AEBZHMBAFEZRRE: (a)  The Group's other income mainly comprises:
—E-=F —EF-—
2023 2022
FTHET FAT
HK$'000 HK$'000
A2 BA Interest income 47,239 5,166
B #3227 BT B (K 5£G)) Government grants recognised
(note (i) 23,232 18,070
BARLEFABRZ Dividend income from financial
EREEZKRERA assets at FVTPL 17,855 =
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T—=F+—- F=+—H -4 Z For the year ended 31 December 2023

Haw AR H it
K=K EE e
BREREEK

(b)y AEEZEM(EE) REe

7. OTHER INCOME AND OTHER
GA'NS AND LOSSES (Continued)

Continuing operations (continued)

(b)  The Group's other (losses) gains comprises:

7=
—E-= —_E-—
2023 2022
FHET FHIT
HK$'000 HK$'000
E NS LR R X B M E 4 2 Net exchange loss arising from
& H B foreign currency balances and
transactions (18,656) (5,429)
HE MEE BMEK  Net loss on disposals/written
R FEE off of property, plant and
equipment (937) (1,887)
FRKRIEHES4MIE  Gain relating to termination of
lease contracts 553 —
Y - BE MR E 2 2R Impairment loss recognised on
VEREY property, plant and equipment (14,967) =
R—EBE AR 2#m 2 Impairment loss recognised on
BRI (E BB interest in an associate - (4,496)
REMEIRBEES 2 Gain on fair value change of
Wz (MH5E15) investment properties (note 15) 27,891 -
B 5N H Aty e U sk TE A TE HE Net reversal of impairment loss
EEFIBEAT ZE MR recognised on trade and other
VEREY k= JEIbE receivables under ECL model 37 9,407
BAREAEBZZELE  Gain from change in fair value of
BEAREEH 2K financial assets at FVTPL 7,172 6,724
BAREFAEMEEIZ Impairment loss recognised on
NI A 2 EH T A debt instruments at FVTOCI
RIBHEEEIEEA T2  and amortised cost under ECL
B iERREEE model (640) =
453 4,319
B 5E - Note:

(i) “%ECHEIBEER/H
RREEREREE
WEBERE R
Ko Bt 2 B 1O S B i UL
FWRTHHE - ZES
HOBBAAEREZE_F

—=EER-E - fF
+—A=+—HLFE
R8s o

REBEEZT_—_F+=
B=+—BLtFEE "
N & B gk S b A AR
%8 5 Bh 2R BT 4 B

1,816,000 L (= &
Z=F:F) HHEA
75 IR AT 42 4 O AR Bh 3£ 5T
256 -

T =FEFR

(i) The amounts mainly represent government grants
received as other tax benefits and encouragement for
local business development, employment support and
research and development activities in the PRC. The
amounts were fully credited to profit or loss for the
years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group
recognised government grants of HK$1,816,000
(2023: nil) in respect of Covid-19 related subsidies,
which were related to Employment Support Scheme
provided by the government in Hong Kong.
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8. MBEH 8. FINANCE COSTS
BEREXEK Continuing operations
—EZ=HF —ETE-—F
2023 2022
FET FHET
HK$'000 HK$'000
RITEEZRE Interest on bank borrowings 65,365 47,071
HEBBZFE Interest on lease liabilities 1,728 1,877
67,093 48,948
B P EWIE T A% )F B Reclassification of net (gain) loss from
ESRSRE M 2 F = hedging reserve on interest rate swaps
HERC R E Y 2 designated as cash flow hedges of
(W) Bs B floating rate debts (3,572) 520
63,521 49,468

2023 ANNUAL REPORT  YIP'S CHEMICAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

195



196

B #3R & FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

#n BT 15 R S B 5

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE-_T-_=%F+_-HA=+—HIL5Z For the year ended 31 December 2023

9. BRBIAIALF (E5i8)

9. PROFIT (LOSS) BEFORE TAXATION

Continuing operations

—8=-= —ETE-—F
2023 2022
FERT FHET
HK$'000 HK$'000
M FR AT AL A (E518) Jh 230 Profit (loss) before taxation has been
BRI B IERER arrived at after charging:
W BE N &RE2ITE Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment 124,066 132,899
B NIFEFREIFFER  Less: capitalised in inventories (61,015) (64,513)
63,051 68,386
BIRA  BFEE EHE Staff costs, including directors’
(M 5E6) remuneration (note 6) 528,217 580,353
o RMTEEREIEE AR Less: capitalised in inventories (171,364) (183,582)
356,853 396,771
RHEERX Short-term leases expense 5,578 5,869
A EEH Amortisation of intangible assets 2,863 2,905
% EAT B Auditor’s remuneration 1,700 2,600
ERAMERAN27FE  Cost of inventories recognised as cost of
A (B 5Ea) sales (note a) 2,434,868 2,640,783
H 5 (i 5Eb) Other expenses (note b) - 4,653
Bt 5 - Notes:

(@ REBEE=ZT=_=F+=A
=+—BLFE BRAEHEE
RAZBHFERBRD A
356,000 T (=& = =
46,078,000/ 7T ) & 17 & i
$4 744,758,000 L (=T ==
4F 7,339,000/ 7T) °

b)) ZERRBE_FT_-_—
TZA=T—BIFERH
REHENEEMERIAH
E mm BV P B8 R B R P B B 5
RHGMBEEBL ETHEE
ER -ARERBE_FT_—
F+-A=+—BLFEH
R REEL LB e

ERLIKERRAT —T—=—FEFR

(a)

During the year ended 31 December 2023, reversal of
allowance on slow-moving inventories amounting to
HK$356,000 (2022: provision of allowance of HK$6,078,000)
and written off of inventories amounting to HK$4,758,000
(2022: HK$7,339,000) was recognised as cost of sales.

The amount represented the professional fee in relation to
the proposed separate listing of the subsidiary engaging
in manufacturing and trading of inks and related products
on a stock exchange in the PRC during the year ended
31 December 2022. The Group resolved to withdraw the
application for such proposed separate listing during the year
ended 31 December 2022.
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10. B 18 10. TAXATION
BEREXEK Continuing operations
—E=-= —E__fF
2023 2022
FHET FHET
HK$'000 HK$'000
(f=E5)
(Restated)
BN EARL I8 — Current tax — the PRC
KEEF Current year 7,974 11,055
FEHFR Withholding tax 395 986
BNV HEA 18 — & 4 Current tax — overseas
REE Current year 1,000 370
9,369 12,411
BEFEBERE Overprovision in respect of prior years
—rh — the PRC (4,999) (3,723)
4,370 8,688
EEFRTE () T H Deferred tax (credit) charge
(Bf3E29) (note 29)
BE Hong Kong (30) 1,001
R The PRC 18,929 3,308
18,899 4,309
23,269 12,997
BEEENESHMARE  &5&K Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime of Hong Kong
EEEREE _FEATHRTE Profits Tax, the first HK$2 million of profits of the qualifying
28 25% M KRR » MBBE_-H group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above
B8 T F g 2 16.5% M) Fi R HK$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of group
B AEATERME S WE entities not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates
B A2 ) ik I 48 4 E 1716.5% 89 regime will continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.

B BERE -
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10. ﬁ IE (4&) 10. TAXATION (Continued)

BFEKEER = Continuing operations (continued)
AKRABEERE BTANSHEM The directors of the Company considered the amount
METH R 22 Y585 involved upon implementation of the two-tiered profits tax
REMsITEXN - ZMAEAEE rates regime as insignificant to the consolidated financial
B & 7B F 15 51 IR (G 51 8 2R 7 0% 7 statements. Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5%
A116.5%F & ° of the estimated assessable profit for both years.
BIEPHCERSHRARDERRN Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the
EBREEMEN  PHENB AT “EIT Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law,
ZHREB-_ZEZENF—HA—HE the tax rate of the subsidiaries in the PRC is 25% from 1
#325% °© January 2008 onwards.

AEBETHRFRELZHE A Certain of the Group's subsidiaries operating in the PRC
A EERIEAS BT AEK are either eligible as High and New Technology Enterprise
=5 B P 2R (R 2 oY B AR E or operating in encouraged industries in Western Region of
TtE AENR-_ZT-_—FFE_F China, and are entitled to an income tax rate of 15% from
—EFZHI5% B E 2021 to 2030. EIT of the PRC has been provided for after
BPERESEHREINT AZERE taking these tax incentives into account.

BRI IREE -

EBHNEFTERERERTFREKE The withholding tax mainly represented taxation recognised
NEIEEZHMBWMARNRE FH in respect of interest income derived from loans to
MEBARE T N\F—H— subsidiaries in the PRC and dividends to be distributed from
H R BE 28 5 F 5k 2’ EHE profits earned by certain subsidiaries in the PRC starting
RAZHBB FEMPEMRMEGSTFEER from 1 January 2008. The withholding tax is recognised
HARBIRE - R BE Rz F B U for interest income derived from the PRC at tax rate of 7%
ANBRI% (ZE-—F:7%) 2 (2022: 7%) and dividends to be distributed from profits
MERERENH  RARKET earned by certain subsidiaries in the PRC in accordance with
F R BT B A R BREX 2 A R 4 R the Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law of the PRC
ZREERBEN - 16 B %A that requires withholding tax with tax rate at 5% (2022:
FRRREDIRZ KB AR (= 5%) for dividend upon the distribution of such profits to
T F 5%) ZMEFHMTEN the shareholders.

REMBREEREE 2 FHETIZ Taxation arising in other jurisdictions is calculated at the
BB AER 2 BITHERAE o rates prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions.
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HE-_Z-_=%+=-F=+—H L5 For the year ended 31 December 2023

1 0 TAXATION (Continued)

The charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit (loss)
before taxation as follows:

Continuing operations

—E=-= —F-—
2023 2022
FERT FHETT
HK$'000 HK$'000
(&=35)
(Restated)
BRI AT AL A (B518) Profit (loss) before taxation 83,865 (64,125)
AR FTS R R 25%  Tax charge (credit) at the domestic income
(ZZT =% :25%)t taxrate of 25% (2022: 25%) (note)
HEoMIBEZH (ER)
(Bt =E) 20,966 (16,031)
TR T X 2 HMEF L Tax effect of expenses not deductible for
tax purposes 58,909 17,031
HEERBRIWA 22 Tax effect of income not taxable for
tax purposes (32,531) (7,383)
(g 5&%/‘ TEEY Tax effect of share of result of associates
% (23,668) 44
AIER XRIEJEETEZ Tax effect of tax losses not recognised
Mg & 28,100 36,887
A Z A AMERTIIEEE Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses
LRGSR E previously not recognised (26,312) (6,627)
=T U B AR Z@EME Effect of income tax on concessionary
HER T2 rates for certain subsidiaries (3,301) (9,819)
RO IR TENF 2 52 Effect of withholding tax on undistributed
profits 6,213 4,057
B EERE R Overprovision in respect of prior years (4,999) (3,723)
EAb Others (108) (1,439)
REFIE Taxation for the year 23,269 12,997

PR : AHPFISHB R A A S
) 48 K BE o0 S5 P A DA
s

Note: The domestic income tax rate is a tax rate in the jurisdiction
where the operation of the Group is substantially based.
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BE-_T-_=%F+_-HA=+—HIL5Z For the year ended 31 December 2023

11. B8R 11.DIVIDENDS
—E-= B
2023 2022
FHET FHET
HK$000 HK$'000
FRNIERAIEE 7 % 8 - Dividends recognised as distribution
during the year:
—Eo_—FhHKE Interim dividend for 2023 of HK2 cents
GRE2EN (=== —4: (2022: interim dividend for 2022 of
—E— R HK10 cents) per share
FRR105L) 11,370 56,848
—E-—FHREKA Final dividend for 2022 of HK5 cents
GRSl (=== —4 . (2022: Final dividend for 2021 of HK18
—T - EHRRE cents) per share
FHZ1878 1) 28,425 102,327
—E_FERIKE Special dividend for 2022 of HK75 cents
GRE755E N (== ==  (2022: nil) per share
FE) 426,363 -
466,158 159,175

AAREFEANEBEE=Z ==
F+_A=+—HLEFERE
HAKRESRIOBW (=ZE ==
F:HRSEBWN)  BLBEAY
56,848,000 L (=& = =
28,425,000 70) © HAR IR B ZEAF
NN & R NN el R
FRE LA -

ERIEIEMARLT — T =FEFH

Final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2023 of
HK10 cents (2022: HK5 cents) per share with total amount
of approximately HK$56,848,000 (2022: HK$28,425,000)
has been recommended by the directors of the Company
and is subject to approval by the shareholders of the
Company at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company.



NR.CRIEEEER

RZZE-_—_F+A+HH AR
AIZHEE2ENBRARERES
(EB)BERAR ([EKESE]) -
ARABEHRELIZREERA A
([HREECIZR]  ARARERZ
ME2ENBAR) H—2BILE
—HENEEHE NABBEE
FLERETEERNGCS%IE -
KB A ARE2,295,000,0007T °

HELCIZERRARELCLIEES
PRI E A £38.88% % 1 &
EBEBEEISREZNNE QT
ERTITXZEREBRAAHEEES
24817 %M % - ALt - FfE{H T
BEARELTEBAR D A E
BI5%MERE=RAEBHE
RRELCEIEEHFRA A REHK
BATHS1%E B -

RECIBEREWB AR ([F
FIEIZREE])RERERE
EERAERBBEEMRER - Z
LEERBE-_ZE_—_F+=A4
=+—HLEFEZEK Bt
T2 R A& 6% Jr i e ok B B e
BB -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

E =T =%+ H=+—H1-4JE For the year ended 31 December 2023

12. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

On 15 July 2022, Yip's H.C. (Holding) Limited (“Yip's
H.C.”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, the Company and Handsome Chemical
Development Limited (“HSD"”), a then indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into
a sale and purchase agreement with an independent
third party, in relation to the proposed disposal of
68% equity interest of HSD, for the consideration of
RMB2,295,000,000.

HSD directly owned an approximately 38.88% equity
interest in, and indirectly through its 75%-owned
subsidiary, Yip’'s Industrial Holding Limited, owned
approximately 48.17% equity interest in Handsome
Chemical Group Limited. Accordingly, HSD owned a 75%
effective interest in Handsome Chemical Group Limited
and the Group disposed of a 51% effective interest in
Handsome Chemical Group Limited and its subsidiaries.

HSD and its subsidiaries (“HSD Group”) were engaged in
the manufacturing and trading of raw solvents and related
products operations. The disposal was completed during
the year ended 31 December 2022, with control of HSD
passed to the acquirer on completion date.
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12.BRIEREEK 12.DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS
(Continued)
ORI B ERIRB ¥ 2 KE The profit for the year from the discontinued operations of
AR EBOT o solvents business is set out below.
HE
—=ET-
+=—A=+—8
HFE
Year ended
31/12/2022
FAT
HK$'000
BHBEREE X 2 AFAF Profit of operation of manufacturing and trading in
solvents for the year 188,773
HENB AR Z WS Gain on disposal of subsidiaries (see note 32)
(RHMEE32) 1,382,862
HEMBARZAEHAX Income tax expense on disposal of subsidiaries (198,706)
1,372,929
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HE-_Z-_=%+=-F=+—H L5 For the year ended 31 December 2023

12. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

(Continued)

12 Ell\\ l?\‘:‘é“”*i%(ﬁt)

BHEREREEXEBER (BT A The results of the solvents manufacturing and trading

FeEBmkEMEEKER) &I operation which have been included in the consolidated

e statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, were as follows:

H=E

—E__fF

+=-—A=+—8

IEFE

Year ended

31/12/2022

T

HK$'000

—F Revenue 10,666,671
S5 AR Cost of sales (9,832,834)
EF Gross profit 833,837
NN Other income 24,040
H Al zs R B 18 Other gains and losses 49,628
SHE RKCHE A Selling and distribution expenses (399,413)
—MRRITERE A General and administrative expenses (276,208)
Bi5E R Finance costs (15,917)
R 7 A A Profit before taxation 215,967
FIE Taxation (27,194)
IR 5 4 7| Profit for the year 188,773

B R IEEEER 2 RFEMF THR Profit for the year from discontinued operations has

N (5T A) THI&IE%EES :  been arrived at after charging (crediting):
M BEMSB2TTE Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 93,546
B REMEWHRIBEBRTEHEE Net reversal of impairment loss under ECL model

BEEE T 2 BEHRMMEEE  recognised on trade and other receivables

#0558 (452)
T EREREE Reversal of allowance for slow-moving inventories (7,145)
WEFE Written off of inventories 4,049
HE M YE  BEKR&R#E 2 Net gain on disposals/written off of property, plant

W& F 5 and equipment (43,243)
STEDRIEEESEKEERST A Amount included in the measurement of assets of

2B the discontinued operations:

FERBEERE Additions to non-current assets 29,578
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BE-_T-_=%F+_-HA=+—HIL5Z For the year ended 31 December 2023

1N.CRIERBEERE =

HE_ZT-_—_F+-A=+—H
LEFE #HEELIZREEARN
SERER R FEAERA2558
BET REEEFHIZHL258H
EATRERMEES X TH2768
BT o

HELCIBRRERAEERAER
FERK A HBEY BR T E A M RE 324K B o

13.8R&EF (FiE)
BEKEXRE
ADFRR A BT
IR AR AT (B598) 32
AT B B 2t 8

12. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

13.

(Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2022, HSD Group
contributed approximately HK$255 million to the Group’s
net operating cash flows, paid approximately HK$25 million
in respect of investing activities and paid approximately
HK$276 million in respect of financing activities.

The carrying amounts of the assets and liabilities of HSD
Group on completion date are disclosed in note 32.

EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE
For continuing operations

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings (loss) per
share from continuing operations attributable to owners of
the Company is based on the following data:

—E-=F —F-—
2023 2022
FHET FHIT
HK$'000 HK$'000
(Fe=51)
(Restated)
RN &) % B fE G A 4 46 K| Profit for the year attributable to owners
of the Company 86,623 1,217,774
B B AR FaR 27k~ K Less: Profit for the year from discontinued
FHA operations - (1,280,576)
AR E i & 7%~ Profit (loss) for the purpose of calculating
SRR ER R # B A A (fF basic and diluted earnings (loss) per
1B) 2 aiF (EiE) share from continuing operations 86,623 (62,802)
ROEE
Number of shares
B TR
‘000 ‘000
AR E g E A % #58 Weighted average number of shares for
BA (EE) 2 miEFyy the purpose of calculating basis and
A& 2% diluted earnings (loss) per share 568,484 568,484

ERLIKERRAT —T—=—FEFR




13.8REBA (BFH) »

FELSEXE®Kw
AESRESRT (BE)BFIE
BREE AR R 2 BRR#EH25.94276 T
TE T FE 59428 7T) 2171E
BEATE RERBE_ZT=_=
F+-_A=+—BILEERBAZ
T=—F—H—HEEEERE
R_ZE—=F—F+HXKLH
M ZEERECTEESRR
2z FHmHIE -

RECOKRIEREER
HE-_Z-_—_Ff+=RA=+—
BIEFE  REARQRREEN
ERIEEEER 2 AFEFLD
1,280,576,000/% 7T & k= AT 7]
T E SR E AR K E 2 F /i
FHoE:it8E ERIEKEERKZ
BREAREERF 5FR225.2
AL o
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E =T =%+ H=+—H1-4JE For the year ended 31 December 2023

13.EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE

(Continued)

For continuing operations (continued)

The computation of diluted earnings (loss) per share does
not assume the exercise of the Company’s options of
exercise prices of HK$5.942 (2022: HK$5.942) because
the exercise prices of those options were higher than the
average market price for shares for the year ended 31
December 2022 and from 1 January 2023 until lapse of
share options on 10 January 2023.

From discontinued operations

For the year ended 31 December 2022, basic and diluted
earnings per share for the discontinued operations
are HK225.2 cents per share, based on the profit
for the year attributable to owners of the Company
from the discontinued operations of approximately
HK$1,280,576,000 and the denominators used are the
same as those detailed above for both basic and diluted
earnings per share.
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HE-_Z-_=F+=A=+—HLLFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

14.9%  BERRE

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND

EQUIPMENT
&4
33 HE BE HE %ER
I8 s VES nx BLERE RE BEREES &t
Furniture,
fixtures
Construction Leasehold Leased Owned and office Motor  Plant and
in progress land properties properties equipment  vehicles machinery Total
TAL TAL TAL TAL TAL THET TAL TAL
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
RAE AT COST
RZFZZF—A—H At lJanuary 2022 26982 275,305 136,087 1,076,302 232,544 32,023 2,308,037 4,087,280
EERE Currency realignment (3,858) (22,837) (9,614) (81,168) (16,035) (2,785)  (195,563)  (331,860)
BB Reclassifications (32,910) - - 9,863 18 524 22,505 -
"E Additions 24,523 - 13,214 3,369 19,221 2,315 103,912 166,554
HE /i Disposals/written off (451) (15,572) (37,275) (1,185) (9,183) (1,146)  (339,484)  (404,29)
HERBAF (F332)  Disposal of subsidiaries (note
32) (6,738)  (88,883)  (15457)  (160,749)  (14,755) (9,023) (1,130,249) (1,425,854)
i St -3 At 31 December 2022
+-A=+—H 7,548 148,013 86,955 846,432 211,810 21,908 769,158 2,091,824
e Currency realignment (269) (2,551) (1,119)  (12,565) (3,248) (339)  (15701)  (35792)
ENAR Reclassifications (6,986) - = - 6,507 - 479 _
BRERENE Transferred from
investment property - - - 6,295 - - - 6,295
"E Additions 1,294 - 27,854 607 6,981 3,009 21,628 61,373
HE /i Disposals/written off - - (49,564) (19) (1,528) (2,946) (7,844) (61,901)
W-ZE-=%F At 31 December 2023
+-A=+—H 1,587 145,462 64,126 840,750 220,522 21,632 767,720 2,061,799
ERILIKEBRLE —T_=FEF®
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HE—T =&+ A=+—HILEZ For the year ended 31 December 2023

14.9%¥ - BER®ZEB @ 14.PROPERTY, PLANT AND
EQUIPMENT (Continued)

i
i3] BE BE FE %BR
IR t# ES nE RAERE RE REREE CE

Furniture,
fixtures
Construction Leasehold Leased Owned and office Motor  Plant and
in progress land properties properties equipment  vehicles machinery Total

TR TEr TRz  TExr  TEx  TEx  TEr  ThAR
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000

& BHRHEE DEPRECIATION,

AMORTISATION AND
IMPAIRMENT
WZZE-—F—A—H  At1January 2022 - 56,301 59,675 337,872 168,883 22,640 985,457 1,630,828
EREE Currency realignment - (4,554) @177) (29,826) (11,249) (2,020) (91,380)  (143,206)
TERE Depreciation for the year - 5,272 24,426 32,759 17,326 259 144,066 226,445
HE /MR Eliminated on disposals/
written off - (493) (28,536) (458) (8,908) (1,031)  (332,233) (371,659
HERBRAEEE Eliminated on disposal of
(M3E32) subsidiaries (note 32) - (23,243) (3,082)  (40,850)  (10,591) (7,141)  (295,962)  (380,869)
WZE-—% At 31 December 2022
+=A=1+-H - 33,283 48,306 299,497 155,461 15,044 409,948 961,539
SERE Currency realignment - (615) (529) (5,264) (2,034) (141) (9,298) (17,881)
TERE Depreciation for the year - 3,162 18,648 25,215 17,446 1,436 58,159 124,066
HE /HHEE Eliminated on disposals/
written off = - (82,267) (18)  (1408)  (2670)  (6,636)  (53,199)
FRmERE (F) Impairment loss for the year
(note) - - 10,250 - 863 81 3,773 14,967
RZEZ=% At 31 December 2023
+-A=+—H - 35,830 34,208 319,430 170,328 13,750 455,946 1,029,492
REE CARRYING VALUES
RZZZ=% At 31 December 2023
+-A=+—H 1,587 109,632 29,918 521,320 50,194 7,882 311,774 1,032,307
i St -2 At 31 December 2022
+ZA=+-H 7,548 114,730 38,649 546,935 56,349 6,864 359,210 1,130,285
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14.9%¥ - BEREZEB @ 14.PROPERTY, PLANT AND
EQUIPMENT (Continued)

AEFFi 2% BMERKEHE The above items of property, plant and equipment, other
B(TEEEEIRE) JWUNEKE than construction in progress, are depreciated on a
BIATFERFE : straight-line basis at the following rates per annum:
FE £ A& 2w eREF Leasehold land Over the remaining term of
st & the lease
THEWE N EFH1E Leased properties Over the term of lease
HEMHE A& F H 3¢ Owned properties Over the shorter of the term
2.5% ' L& E of the lease or 2.5%
HitE
B EER 45%%25% Furniture, fixtures and 4.5% to 25%
RNER office equipment
TS 9%%E25% Motor vehicles 9% to 25%
RE K  5%%E20% Plant and machinery 5% to 20%
sk : REBGEAETRSELS Note: The Group estimates the recoverable amount of several
L2 B] Uk B 4 %8 LAE 1T RE groups of cash generating units (“CGUs"”) for the purpose
- BEAEERE G of impairment assessment. Information about the Group's
2 BRE R HTFE20 © impairment assessment is provided in note 20.
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14.PROPERTY, PLANT AND
EQUIPMENT (Continued)
The Group as lessee

Right-of-use assets (included in property,
plant and equipment)

HELH HEME RER#KE &t
Leasehold Leased Plant and
land properties machinery Total
AT THT BT FAL
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
R-E-=ZF+=8 As at 31 December 2023
ETr=FE
R Carrying amounts 109,632 29,918 - 139,550
RZBE-Z&E+=H As at 31 December 2022
=t+-H
EEeE Carrying amounts 114,730 38,649 = 153,379
BZ_ZT_=%+_H For the year ended
=+-HLEE 31 December 2023
nEER Depreciation charge 3,162 18,648 = 21,810
HERHEEA AR Expense relating to short-term
(fff7Ea) leases (note a) 5,578
HEBe R L A% Total cash outflow for leases 25,224
WEPMEAE (Fb)  Additions to right-of-use
assets (note b) 27,854
BE-E-__F+_8 For the year ended
=t—HIEE 31 December 2022
WEEHR Depreciation charge 5,272 24,426 14,667 44,365
HERHEEA AR Expense relating to short-term
(Pt Fa) leases (note a) 12,567
HEBL R L@sE Total cash outflow for leases 55,185
REFREEE (MaEb)  Additions to right-of-use
assets (note b) 24,956
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14.9%¥ - BEREZEB @

AEBEAEAEAN®

&
ER
GEX

(a)

BEE (GFAYE - &
®iE) (®)

rEEHREIBEERBER
e EHIRT M R TS -
AEEREIFEHERER
EHEERABRE N_F
—=F%+=ZA=t+t—R8k=
T_—_F+=-A=+—H &
FEREEAZNEHBE
HeEHEEFNBRECSHEER
2 A E A A MR o

ZeERERH T LNBEEM
NEF AL E27,854,0007%8
gt (= Z = — % : 24,956,000
PEIT) °

ERIEIEMARLT — T =FEFH

14.PROPERTY, PLANT AND
EQUIPMENT (Continued)
The Group as lessee (continued)

Right-of-use assets (included in property,
plant and equipment) (Continued)

Notes:

(a)

(b)

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for staff
quarters and plant and machinery, of which the Group
applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to leases
of staff quarters. As at 31 December 2023 and 31 December
2022, the portfolio of short-term leases in which practical
expedient was applied is similar to the portfolio of short-term
leases to which the short-term leases expense disclosed
above.

The amount included addition of right-of-use assets from
new leases entered amounting to HK$27,854,000 (2022:
HK$24,956,000).
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FRREEE (GTAYE &
ERZE) &)
AEERTEFEEHRELYE
HABEREERIEF - B 5T
NHEAHTETHEFHN T
G 154 (I & 5E ISR 4% 1F4E) -
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=t+—H BERRABEAERE
42,859,000 %7t K ABRA(E A #EE
29,918,000 L (ZE ==

B R E & E41,206,000 T
N AH 8 {5 A 4 & E=38,649,000/%
L) cBREAARENHEEEER
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ML - HEBEETGRERE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

E =T =%+ H=+—H1-4JE For the year ended 31 December 2023

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND

EQ UIPMENT (Continued)

The Group as lessee (continued)

Right-of-use assets (included in property,
plant and equipment) (Continued)

For both years, the Group leases plant and machinery and
buildings for its operations. Lease contracts are entered
into for fixed term of 1 year to 15 years with no extension
or termination options. Lease terms are negotiated on an
individual basis and contain a wide range of different terms
and conditions. In determining the lease term and assessing
the length of the non-cancellable period, the Group applies
the definition of a contract and determines the period for
which the contract is enforceable.

In addition, the Group owns several industrial buildings
where its manufacturing facilities are primarily located
and office buildings. The Group is the registered owner of
these property interests, including the underlying leasehold
land. Lump sum payments were made upfront to acquire
these property interests. The leasehold land components of
these owned properties are presented separately only if the
payments made can be allocated reliably.

In addition, lease liabilities of HK$42,859,000 are recognised
with related right-of-use assets of HK$29,918,000 as at 31
December 2023 (2022: lease liabilities of HK$41,206,000
are recognised with related right-of-use assets of
HK$38,649,000). The lease agreements do not impose any
covenants other than the security interests in the leased
assets that are held by the lessor. Leased assets may not be
used as security for borrowing purposes.
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15. R EWE 15.INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

AEBEREKLEHEELEE T The Group leases out various offices and warehouses under
NEREE HEETAIT- operating leases with rentals payable monthly. The leases
PBAEREEMNHEREREE of offices and warehouses contain lease payments that are
FHABENHEEMK - fixed over the lease term.
HRAEHEEYUHBEER A The Group is not exposed to foreign currency risk as a result
ZEEEEEE RAEBETE of the lease arrangements, as all leases are denominated in
A3z S5 M E 2 B NS E e o the respective functional currencies of group entities. The
ZEMEA NI EEH T F R EE lease contracts do not contain residual value guarantee or
ERSFAEFAARTBEFHE R lessee’s option to purchase the property at the end of lease
BEMEZEERE- term.
FHE T

HK$'000
ARE FAIR VALUE
R-_EFE-——F—H—H At 1 January 2022 135,118
B AR Currency realignment (10,710)
RE Additions 71,302
W—Z——&F+-F=+—F At 31 December 2022 195,710
B Currency realignment (2,677)
AN EEM Increase in fair value 27,891
EIRTYE  BE RS Transferred to property, plant and equipment (6,295)
RE Additions 8,271
R-_E—_=F+—_HF=+—H At 31 December 2023 222,900
RBE_E_=F+=-_A=+— The change in fair value, being an unrealised gain, on
AHFtFEER BEWEALEBEZ investment properties amounted to HK$27,891,000 (2022:
) (BREIRUWS) 27,891,000 nil) during the year ended 31 December 2023 is included in
BIT(ZE-__F:E)Bt AR profit or loss (included in other gains and losses).

= (FtAE MU E R EE) -

AREBETEREMWENR_ZT == The fair values of certain Group's investment properties as
EHR—_E-_—_FE+-_/B=+—H at 31 December 2023 and 2022 have been arrived at on the
Z NS AT R BN & B 4R B basis of valuations carried out at the end of the reporting
ZHEBNABREEMGENRRS period by independent qualified professional valuers, which
HRETZHEBFET SEEH are not connected with the Group. The management works
SEBRBIINBEBHENBEZSE & closely with the qualified external valuers to establish the
NiEE ZEERN RER i A appropriate valuation techniques and inputs to the model.
i - FHEEGLERANRE The management reports the findings to the board of
EoERFHELER  UREEE directors of the Company every half-year to explain the
MENLERBHNER o cause of fluctuations in the fair value of the investment
property.
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E =T =%+ H=+—H1-4JE For the year ended 31 December 2023

15.INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

The valuation of Group’s certain investment properties at
31 December 2023 and 2022 was arrived at by using direct
comparison approach assuming sale of the properties in
their existing states with the benefit of vacant possession
and by making reference to comparable sales transactions
as available in the relevant market, or by using the income
approach taking into account the current market rent of
the property interest with due provision for any reversionary
income potential. The direct comparison approach is
based on market observable recent transactions of similar
properties in similar location. The income approach is
based on market observable recent rental income of similar
properties in similar locations. There has been change from
the valuation technique used in the current year since
there are fewer sales transaction of comparable properties
comparing to rental transactions during the year ended 31
December 2023.

In estimating the fair values of the properties, the highest
and best use of the properties is their current use.

The fair values of the Group’s investment properties
situated in Hong Kong and the PRC are classified as Level 3
of the fair value hierarchy. There were no transfers into or
out of Level 3 during both years.

The following table gives information about how the fair
values of these investment properties as at 31 December
2023 and 31 December 2022 are determined (in particular,
the valuation techniques and inputs used), as well as the
fair value hierarchy into which the fair value measurements
are categorised based on the degree to which the inputs to
the fair value measurements is observable.
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HE==-T

—=ft-A=t-BILEE

15. 8 EWHE »

For the year ended 31 December 2023

15.INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

WZBZ=£+-B=+t-0 2AARERH RER EXEEEERAHE EFBRRABBEAAEZEE
Relationship of
Fair value Valuation Significant unobservable
At 31 December 2023 hierarchy technique(s) unobservable input(s) inputs to fair value
NRBERZEBARVEET  £38& EREEE BRERATHE STHRERERTHERT BYIRERMABRABRSAA
59,042,0008 7 (ZT == REZREBTS LAHREN ALBHE UHRRHERE fE-
121,342,000 L) ZABLBHERS o EANRE (FPAN - EF

A certain portion of the 27th Level 3
Floor of Fortis Tower in Hong
Kong HK$9,042,000 (2022:

HK$21,342,000)

NRAFBERE I M ZEEN
£6,713,000 Br(Z2==
£ 17,279,000 7)

£38

Commercial properties in Level 3
Jiangmen City, Guangdong

Province, the PRC

HK$6,713,000 (2022:

HK$7,279,000)

ERLIKERRAT —T—=—FEFR

Direct comparison method
assuming sale in their existing
states and by reference to
comparable sales transactions
as available in the relevant
market.

RifBE BRE)NTE
FHR12,7008TEE T AR
17008 (ZF-—F:
FHR20,8008TEE T AR
26,0005 7c) °

Price per square feet, using
market direct comparable
and taking into account of
location and other individual
factors such as size, building
facilities, levels, age of
building, etc., which is
ranging from HK$12,700/
sq.ft to HK$21,700/sq.ft
(2022: HK$20,800/sq.ft to
HK$26,000/5q.ft).

ERUEE BREBATHE STHRERRATSEEN

RE2REMMS LAHER
ZAELREER S «

Direct comparison method
assuming sale in their existing
states and by reference to
comparable sales transactions
as available in the relevant
market.

BUBEE U RMHRA
ENER (flpA) - EF
FiBE  BRE))NTE
FRA50BTEFTAA
65008 (Z2=2F:
FhA6,10BTEFF A
7,400870) ©

Price per square meter, using

market direct comparable and
taking into account of location
and other individual factors
such as size, building facilities,
levels, age of building,

etc., which is ranging from
HK$5,940/59.m to HK$6,500/
sq.m (2022: HK$6,100/s0.m to
HK$7,400/5q.m).

A slight increase in the price
per square feet will increase
significantly the fair value.

FLRBRETHA
fGe

mm
i
Sof
1]

Al

A slight increase in the price per
square meter will increase
significantly the fair value.

JL
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15. REW = ) 15.INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

R=BZ=%+ZA=t-8 DAERH R 1 EXEAERRANE EEBRBABBENEZRE
Relationship of
Fair value Valuation Significant unobservable

At 31 December 2023 hierarchy technique(s) unobservable input(s) inputs to fair value

i@ LERRERIZT  F34 WAL ERGRUEREEE () SABTHATHASER () WESABTHKELHA
£41%141,977,00087 (=% FRR/AERNTETERL AmsERATELRY FRERBAAE(ZER-Z
Z 2% :96,871,000% ) HEWARE REtHEZE B U R REME £ BTHABRUARA

EESMAGRERER(C FIRE (FImA) - BFR BREAAE) °

TooEERURE BR i BE - BRE))NT
ERRTHEREL2RBHET SRELKISOETEE () BREHBHABABRE
BEARERZ AL BHEE RETAKIS8ETL(ZF RffE-
R5) o —ZFEENTETS
k12,8008 T2 BT A%
17,800 7T) °

(i) EACLE: 6%

Industrial property in Level 3 Income approach taking into (i) Market rent per square (i) Aslightincrease in the
Pudong District, Zhang account the net rental income meter per month, using market rent per square meter
Jiang, Shanghai, the PRC of the property derived market direct comparable per month will increase
HK$141,977,000 (2022: from the existing lease and/ and taking into account significantly the fair value
HK$96,871,000) or achievable in the existing of location and other (2022: Aslight increase in the

market with due allowance individual factors such as price per square meter will
for the reversionary income size, building facilities, increase significantly the fair
potential of the lease (2022: levels, age of building, value).

Direct comparison method etc., which is ranging

assuming sale in their existing from HK$150/5q.m/ (i)~ Aslight increase in the
states and by reference to month to HK$158/sq.m/ capitalisation rate will
comparable sales transactions month (2022: selling price decrease significantly the fair
as available in the relevant from HK$12,800/5g.m to value.

market). HK$17,800/59.m).

(i) Capitalisation rate: 6%
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15. REW = ) 15.INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

RZBZ=%+tZA=t-8 RAERH R 1 EXEAERRANE EEBRBABBENEZEE
Relationship of
Fair value Valuation Significant unobservable
At 31 December 2023 hierarchy technique(s) unobservable input(s) inputs to fair value
RPERITENRZTEE  £38 EREBE BRERATHE STHABRERTHERT BYHKERBASRABREAA
% B56,203,000% 7L (=% REZREBDSLAMEN AREEE UHRHHERE fH-
=24 170,218,007 ) ZUERBHEER S - EREE (A g5

R BE BRT)NTE
7 K40,9008 L2 BT A K
437008 (ZF=2F: §
T K47 40BTEET A K

54,700 7T) ©
7 commercial units in Luohu Level 3 Direct comparison method Price per square meter, using Aslight increase in the price per
District, Shenzhen City, the assuming sale in their existing ~ market direct comparable square meter will increase
PRC HK$56,203,000 (2022: states and by reference to and taking into account of significantly the fair value.
HK$70,218,000) comparable sales transactions location and other individual
as available in the relevant factors such as size, building
market. facilities, levels, age of

building, etc., which is
ranging from HK$40,900/

sq.m to HK$43,700/5g.m
(2022: HK$47,400/59.m to
HK$54,700/5g.m).
URPEEREZZAETEL £=R HENBABRERATHER STHAER REATHZERT BTAAEBEMARKERSAA
3,453,000 (ZE =& BL2RAEBTHLUHEN 2  BRBRHUARUEUR fBo
&) AELBHER S - EERRR (WA - BE
R 2E - BRE) NT
10,400 7T,/ F 578 %12,000
B/ TRR
3 residential units in Level 3 Direct comparison method Price per square meter, using Aslight increase in the price per
Guangdong Province, the PRC assuming sale in their existing ~ market direct comparable square meter will increase
HK$3,453,000 (2022: nil) states and by reference to and taking into account of significantly the fair value.
comparable sales transactions location and other individual
as available in the relevant factors such as size, building
market. facilities, levels, age of

building, etc., which is ranging
from HK$10,400/59.m to
HK$12,000/5g.m.
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15.INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

B

Valuation
technique(s)

EABERERARE

Significant
unobservable input(s)

ELEERABBREAAECZHE
Relationship of

unobservable

inputs to fair value

RAFER)EzREFEEL F=&
3,363,000 (=54 :
&)

4 residential units in Level 3
Sichuan Province, the PRC

HK$3,363,000 (2022: nil)

AR ERHE R —AFEEN
1,377,000 (22 ==F:
&)

F=H

1 residential unit in Anhui Level 3
Province, the PRC

HK$1,377,000 (2022: nil)

IR EHEE N —EEEE
772,008 (ZF==F : &)

E=H

1 residential unit in Hunan Level 3
Province, the PRC HK$772,000

(2022: nil)

ERUBERRERATHER
E2REAMSLARERY
EHBRHER S

Direct comparison method
assuming sale in their existing
states and by reference to
comparable sales transactions
as available in the relevant
market.

ERUBERRERATHER
E2REMMSLARERY
EHBRHER S

Direct comparison method
assuming sale in their existing
states and by reference to
comparable sales transactions
as available in the relevant
market.

ERHBERRERATHER
E2REMMSLARERY
EHBRHER S

Direct comparison method
assuming sale in their existing
states and by reference to
comparable sales transactions
as available in the relevant
market.

BYHABE RATSEEN
BLBR AL B R
EfERRR (WA BE
[ BE - BRE) NT
780087/ T 7K E8,7007%
T/ TRk
Price per square meter, using
market direct comparable and
taking into account of location
and other individual factors
such as size, building facilities,
levels, age of building,
etc., which is ranging from
HK$7,800/sq.m to HK$8,700/
5Q.m.
BYRRER RAMHBEE
BLBR AL B R
EfERRR (WA BE
[ BE - BRE) NT
9,400/ 7T,/ 71K E9,7007%
T/ TRk
Price per square meter, using
market direct comparable and
taking into account of location
and other individual factors
such as size, building facilities,
levels, age of building,
etc., which is ranging from
HK$9,400/sq.m to HK$9,700/
5Q.m.
BYRRER RAMHBEE
BLBR AL B R
EfERRR (WA BE
[ BE - BRE) NT
5,700 7T/ F 71K £6,0007%
T/ TRk
Price per square meter, using
market direct comparable and
taking into account of location
and other individual factors
such as size, building facilities,
levels, age of building,
etc., which is ranging from
HK$5,700/sq.m to HK$6,000/
5Q.m.

BYNKERMABARREAA
o

A'slight increase in the price per
square meter will increase
significantly the fair value.

BYNKERMABARREAA
o

A'slight increase in the price per
square meter will increase
significantly the fair value.

BYNKERMABARREAA
o

A'slight increase in the price per
square meter will increase
significantly the fair value.
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16. A& ARl 2R~ 16.INTERESTS IN/AMOUNTS DUE

FE IR B & N B) 2 T8 FROM ASSOCIATES
(a) REEE DT 2R (a) Interests in associates
—E-= —_=E_
2023 2022
FET FET
HK$'000 HK$'000

JE L A FIIRE R4 Cost of investment on associates,
unlisted 1,215,242 1,215,242
FE(L Uk BE 12 46 K| (548 ) K& Share of post-acquisition profit
HiamsE o ipgg  (losses) and other comprehensive

15 B BR 5, expenses, net of dividend received 50,487 (1,065)
BEEE Impairment loss (4,496) (4,496)
G L R Currency realignment (19,891) (189)

1,241,342 1,209,492
RMEHR AEBEBEQ Details of the Group’s associates at the end of the
AlZEHBAT reporting period were as follows:
BENFEM EMHRIER FEEXBH AEERAEZHERERELD FEBEHR
Principal Proportion of
Name of Country of place of ownership interest Principal
associate incorporation  business held by the Group activities
—E-=F &
2023 2022
EEER
Directly held
BT REREES  PE thE 20% 20% REDERERS
IRERAR PRC PRC 20% 20%  Provision of property
renovation Services
HiELCIER Bt B 32% 2% REZRREERE
HSD HK HK 32% 32%  Investment holding
and trading in
solvents

218 ERICISEERAT —S - —FEFH



B3 3R & FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

#n & B 15 #R S i 5

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HE-_Z-_=%+=-F=+—H L5 For the year ended 31 December 2023

16. A& ATz ER 16.INTERESTS IN/AMOUNTS DUE

FELRERE N ) 2 FRIE FROM ASSOCIATES (continued)
(a) REEZEDTZ2RER ) (a) Interests in associates (continued)
BEARER AMRIER FTEEXBH AEERAEZMAERRRLD TEEXH
Principal Proportion of
Name of Country of place of ownership interest Principal
associate incorporation  business held by the Group activities
—E-=F —E-—F
2023 2022
BERE
Indirectly held
ERI*ERERRA FHE 5 24% 2% REERKEEARE
Yip's Industrial Holdings ~ HK HK 24% 24%  Investment holding
Limited and trading in
solvents
#ECIEEERARE HE I 24% 24% BERRREERH
Handsome Chemical PRC PRC 24% 24%  Investment holding
Group Limited and trading in
solvents
XUCTIBHERDE FA BB 24% 2%  BERH
Thansome Chemical HK HK 24% 24%  Trading in solvents
Trading Limited
BMBECIARAR HE h & 24% 2% SERBERE
Huizhou Shengda PRC PRC 24% 24%  Manufacture of and
Chemical Company trading in solvents
Limited
FESTILEIR il iale 24% 2% HERSERH
ARAA
Taixing Jinjiang Chemical PRC PRC 24% 24%  Manufacture of and
Industry Company trading in solvents
Limited
WEREHMRERAA HE hE 24% 2% HERSEERE
PRC PRC 24% 24%  Manufacture of and
trading in solvents
ks (PT) 3t HE HE 24% - HERBERH
ARAH PRC PRC 24% - Manufacture of and

trading in solvents
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BE-_T-_=%F+_-HA=+—HIL5Z For the year ended 31 December 2023

16. A& ARl 2R~
FEURER = N\ T) 2 FRIE )
(a) REEZEDNTZ2RER )

EABERAIWERS

HIBE -

MBE

ERAKRBEEABZRAN
REMBEMBENT - T
X AR B TS E R 2 He B
BRAIRIEE B YRS
AR H e &7 & B 75 S PR

W AKEME
BIRAERENAEE
MBEREAANR -

RECIRBEN
wmELIEREE 2T

b JN N\ =

i = A A

VAN
o=

N

Be &

ERARYE - A B HmE M
FomEtIZEREEZE
ERBERBREMNR BT
ERMEDET  MBAR
FXIE B Rl F A Z BN HE

R
K o

16.INTERESTS IN/AMOUNTS DUE
FROM ASSOC'ATES (Continued)

(a) Interests in associates (continued)

Summarised consolidated financial information of
material associates:

The summarised consolidated financial information
in respect of the Group’s material associates is set
out below. The summarised consolidated financial
information below represents amounts shown in the
associate’s consolidated financial statements prepared
in accordance with HKFRSs. All of the Group's
associates are accounted for using the equity method
in the Group's consolidated financial statements.

HSD Group

The functional currency of HSD Group is RMB. For
financial reporting purpose, the assets and liabilities
of HSD Group are translated into HK$ using exchange
rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period,
while income and expenses items are translated at
the spot exchange rate during the year.

—E-= T —F

2023 2022

FHET FAT

HK$'000 HK$'000

B & E Current assets 3,887,580 3,389,402

FEMENE E Non-current assets 1,069,098 1,101,282

REBE Current liabilities (1,431,422) (1,195,337)

ERFAaE Non-current liabilities (124,688) (59,133)

BEFE Net assets 3,400,568 3,236,214
ERLLIKEERAT —T—_—FEFk
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\ZE-_T-_=F+=-H=+—HIL5E For the year ended 31 December 2023

16.INTERESTS IN/AMOUNTS DUE
FROM ASSOC'ATES (Continued)

(a) Interests in associates (continued)

Summarised consolidated financial information of
material associates: (Continued)

RELCIRREE 2 HSD Group (Continued)
—EZ=% T
2023 2022
FET THETT
HK$’000 HK$'000
E Turnover 10,042,794 10,666,671
N €E 4 K| Profit for the year 395,029 188,773
AEHEMEEEY Other comprehensive expense
for the year (49,784) (301,823)
ANEZ2EKE Total comprehensive income (expense)
(Fx) 48 for the year 345,245 (113,050)
AREBWEHE(LT Dividend received from HSD Group as
HEEFE ML AT associates during the year
HY B B 43,120 -
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BE-_T-_=%F+_-HA=+—HIL5Z For the year ended 31 December 2023

16. A& ATl 2R~ 16.INTERESTS IN/AMOUNTS DUE

FERERE N ) 2 FRIE FROM ASSOCIATES (continued)
(@) REFE QTR @ (a) Interests in associates (continued)
MmiELIRREREE @) HSD Group (Continued)
Lt A B S AR E A Reconciliation of the above summarised consolidated
AMBRENTEREAE financial information to the carrying amount of the
EmsEBEANREEL AT interest in the associate that is material to the Group
HERNREESRE 2 ¥R recognised in the consolidated financial statements:
—E-=HF —_E-—
2023 2022
FHET FHET
HK$'000 HK$'000

Z(={t T 2% & &= [E & & Net assets of HSD Group

HE 3,400,568 3,236,214
N & E A= (b T 3 & Effective proportion of the Group's

E@EM AT ownership interest in HSD Group

% Lt 151 24% 24%

816,136 776,691

NEEZEINE(ES%  The Group’s additional share of equity
St=( TE¢RAEEpE attributable to owners of HSD of 8%

B 826 961
AREFE(G ST The Group's share of net assets of HSD
BREBEEERE Group 816,962 777,652

FE (5 E 1 9 fE = B 4 Share of gain arising from
NE RSB B remeasurement of investment in HSD

SR TEE Group upon reclassifying to interest
B2 & A Rl 1 assodates

= 431,840 431,840
5k K Currency realignment (7,460) _
ANEE A=k T3 & Carrying amount of the Group's

EEEEWEm4es interestin HSD Group 1,241,342 1,209,492

222 ERCISEMEMAT —T - =—FEFH



16. NBt & N E 2 REm

FELRERE N ) 2 FRIE

(€))

(b)

NI N T 2 )
ERITRE AR AT ER

B3 3R & FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

#n & B 15 #R S i 5

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE-_ZT-_=F+_-FH=+—H 14 For the year ended 31 December 2023

16.INTERESTS IN/AMOUNTS DUE
FROM ASSOC'ATES (Continued)

(a) Interests in associates (continued)

Information of an associate that is not individually
material:

—E-=F —E__fF
2023 2022
FHET FHET
HK$’000 HK$'000
AREBELEEBNEZE The Group's share of loss and
Sz 4858 total comprehensive expense - (174)

REBEREEZ AR 2% Carrying amount of the Group's

HHEES R
FEW Bt E N T 2 FRIR

FE UL B & X B 2 FRIA S B
H 2ERERBEARZE
KEEERBKREE -BF
R AKEBTERRE
HREFART —BEARE
KB - Bt - ZF 25 J
RNRIERBEE

interest in the associate - -

(b) Amounts due from associates

The amounts due from associates are unsecured,
interest-free and will be repayable upon certain
milestones fulfilled by the associates. In the opinion
of the directors, the Group will not demand for the
repayment within next twelve months from the end
of the reporting period. Accordingly, the amounts are
shown as non-current assets.
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BE-_T-_=%F+_-HA=+—HIL5Z For the year ended 31 December 2023

17.
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AfEm e ARREZDEE
BEZENEZTRAZKRE
REBERIRBEFAEMCEERK
@ REEZFRELIFR
EEE RMAKEHTE
ZERAKE (F R KR A
weo ARAEFMEE RE
BERZEFRENARELZ
MRS BT e RBAKEE
ERERSRERREES
HRIBENZHKRE—B -

RZEBE_=F+ZA=+—
H ZSE#EaTAEBER
Green Monday Holdings
LimitedZ0.7% (=& = —
F:07%) BRARER N —
MABEEEZ2237% (=%
ZZF237%) BARER
ERE—FEERZ09%
(ZB=F | BRA R -

ERIEIEMARLT — T =FEFH

17.FINANCIAL ASSET(S) AT FVTPL/
FVTOCI AND DEBT INSTRUMENTS
AT FVTOCI/AMORTISED COST

(a) Financial assets at FVTOCI

Amount represents the Group’s equity interest in
private entities established in Cayman Islands and the
PRC. The directors of the Company have elected to
designate these investments in equity instruments at
FVTOCI as these investments are not held for trading,
instead, the Group intends to hold these equity
investments for long term strategic purposes. The
directors of the Company believe that recognising
short-term fluctuations in these investments’ fair
value in profit or loss would not be consistent with
the Group's strategy of holding these investments for
long-term purposes and realising their performance
potential in the long run.

As at 31 December 2023, the equity instruments
comprised of 0.7% (2022: 0.7%) equity interest
in Green Monday Holdings Limited, 2.37% (2022:
2.37%) in a PRC entity and 0.9% (2022: nil) in
another PRC entity.



T MmO\

2 M T 5 o

2D

%
—

|
c

o R E S
%gmﬁbﬁ
N o 5> B =
WE}KFI‘N’WP
S O KD > i
H S 23 @l ik Bk

5

N

k>

K
>
i ]
Bk

&
i

BEIRAR B ARENE
ZERMEE

B3 3R & FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

#n & B 15 #R S i 5

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

\ZE-_T-_=F+=-H=+—HIL5E For the year ended 31 December 2023

17.FINANCIAL ASSET(S) AT FVTPL/
FVTOCI AND DEBT INSTRUMENTS
AT FVTOCI/AMORTISED COST

(Continued)

(b) Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets mandatorily measured at FVTPL:

—E=-= ===
+=A=+-8 +=A=t+-~
31/12/2023 31/12/2022
FET FHT
HK$'000 HK$'000
FELEMREES Unlisted investment funds 196,942 177,318
JEEHERME (M5E)  Unlisted preferred shares (note) 660,469 =
857,411 177,318
M8 & - - = & Note: During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group

+ZA=1+—HLH
B AEENREE
85,000,000 7T (%
667,300,000 7T) %
& FPAGAC Heisenberg
Holding | Limited (—F&
RESESEMAME
AR BEATH M KA E
Bl 1 =B ST o

invested in two redeemable non-voting preferred
shares issued by PAGAC Heisenberg Holding | Limited,
a company incorporated in the Cayman Islands, for
a subscription price of US$85 million (equivalent to
HK$667,300,000).
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17.FINANCIAL ASSET(S) AT FVTPL/
FVTOCI AND DEBT INSTRUMENTS
AT FVTOCI/AMORTISED COST

(Continued)

(c) Debt instruments at FVTOCI

As at 31 December 2023, amount represented the
Group’s investments in listed bonds with maturity
dates over 3 years at date of investment or sinkable
bond. The maturity dates of the bonds are between
11 April 2026 and 12 September 2033 with coupon
rate ranging from 3.1% to 6.4%. The bonds are
held by the Group within a business model whose
objective is both to collect their contractual cashflows
which are solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount outstanding and to sell these
financial assets. Hence, the investments in these listed
bonds are classified as at FVTOCI.
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HE-_Z-_=%+=-F=+—H L5 For the year ended 31 December 2023

17.FINANCIAL ASSET(S) AT FVTPL/
FVTOCI AND DEBT INSTRUMENTS
AT FVTOCI/AMORTISED COST

(Continued)

(d) Debt instruments at amortised
cost

As at 31 December 2023, amount represented the
Group’s investments in listed bonds with maturity
dates within 3 years at date of investment. The
maturity dates of the bonds are between 8 January
2026 and 15 December 2026 with coupon rate
ranging from 1.1% to 7.0%. The bonds are held by
the Group within a business model whose objective is
to collect their contractual cashflows which are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding. Hence, the investments in these
listed bonds are classified as at amortised cost.

Details of the impairment assessment of debt instruments at
FVTOCI/amortised cost and fair value estimation on financial
assets at FVTPL/FVTOCI and debt instruments at FVTOCI are
set out in note 34.
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18. & 18. GOODWILL
T

HK$'000
A E AT COST
R-_E-_—_##—HF—H At 1 January 2022 152,091
W g K B 2 7] (B 7E31) Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 31) 7,020
HE B AR (KEE32) Disposal of subsidiaries (note 32) (58,313)
B Currency realignment (3,709)
N-_E-_—_F+=-A=+—H At 31 December 2022 97,089
Bk Currency realignment (691)
R-_E-_=%9+-_H=+—H At 31 December 2023 96,398
2R EES ACCUMULATED IMPAIRMENT LOSSES
RZE=——_F—HA—H At 1 January 2022 2,530
L EWB AR (KMFE32) Disposal of subsidiaries (note 32) (642)
N-EBE-_—_F€+=-HA=+—H At 31 December 2022 1,888
FRREEE Impairment loss for the year 39,405
R-E-_=F+=-HA=+—H At 31 December 2023 41,293
IR H B CARRYING VALUE
R=ZE=_=F+=A=+—H At 31 December 2023 55,105
R-ZTE-_—_F+-_A=+—H At 31 December 2022 95,201
B ERENR 2 FBERWE Particulars regarding impairment testing of goodwill are
2045 - disclosed in note 20.
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BE-_ZT-_=F+_-FH=+—H 14 For the year ended 31 December 2023

19.8F&E 19.INTANGIBLE ASSETS
BER
B EFER #at
Trademarks
and patent Customer
brands relationship Total
FAT FAT FHT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
RAE AT COST
RZZ=—=—F—F— At1January 2022
=] 53,777 37,619 91,396
WEKB AT (F3F  Acquisition of subsidiaries
31) (note 31) - 5,508 5,508
SR Currency realignment (1,392) (682) (2,074)
RZE-__F+-F At 31 December 2022
==1E 52,385 42,445 94,830
ErR Currency realignment (259) (127) (386)
R-ZE-_=%+-F At 31 December 2023
==1E 52,126 42,318 94,444
B XoRE AMORTISATION AND
IMPAIRMENT
RZZE-_—F—H— At January 2022
H 1,952 8,041 9,993
ERREE Currency realignment - (165) (165)
FREE Provided for the year - 2,905 2,905
NZZE__F+=H At 31 December 2022
=+—H 1,952 10,781 12,733
B Currency realignment - (45) (45)
FEREE Provided for the year - 2,863 2,863
FRRMEEE Impairment loss for the year 14,797 3,302 18,099
R-ZE-_=%F+=-H At 31 December 2023
=+—H 16,749 16,901 33,650
BREE CARRYING VALUES
R-ZE-_=%F+=-H At 31 December 2023
=+—H 35,377 25,417 60,794
R-ZE-_—_%F+-H At 31 December 2022
==E 50,433 31,664 82,097
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HE=

19.

20.

£ 3:4 (4

T—=F+—- F=+—H -4 Z For the year ended 31 December 2023

BEEEw®

BEREEDRBEZEN T F

HA 5

PR & A fh hE 104
(ABHERAfE
FFH)

EEREAN mE
(RBERAIE
FF )

HEBE

A E B 5

6% 194

BEPHEARTIEREABERMES
BIZREREEFRPEIARZ
ME THRERBEREFESR
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1% N B 7 am 18 45 BT MR 2 am e
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HMAE o

ERAFERAEAFHIEL
B E 2R AE R B R IE R E203
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R(ZE_—F : B9 EPRZH
HH B AR REMDIEF 2 NHE
WBAR) - PEREXEEBEMZE
ERABERIFEAFHZEE
kBT QSRS E G0R 2508
BEEE) DT :

ISEERLFT —Z—=—FEFH

19.

20.

INTANGIBLE ASS ETS (Continued)

Intangible assets are amortised on a straight-line basis over
the following periods:

Trademarks and patent brands
(with finite useful life)

10 years

Trademarks and patent brands Not amortised

(with indefinite useful life)
Customer relationship 6 — 19 years
Customer relationship mainly represents the practice of
establishing contracts with customers related to coating

products under the brand name Camel, regardless of
whether a contract existed as at acquisition date.

Trademarks and patent brands represent the brand names
acquired which have high recognition and awareness in the
market.

Particulars regarding impairment testing of intangible assets
with indefinite useful lives are disclosed in note 20.

IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON
GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE
ASSETS WITH INDEFINITE USEFUL
LIVES

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill and
trademarks and patent brands with indefinite useful lives
set out in notes 18 and 19 have been allocated to three
(2022: three) CGUs, comprising five subsidiaries in the
coatings segment and nine subsidiaries in the others
segment (2022: five subsidiaries in the coatings segment
and nine subsidiaries in the others segment). The carrying
amounts of goodwill and trademarks and patent brands
with indefinite useful lives (net of accumulated impairment
losses) allocated to these units are as follows:



B3 3R & FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

#n & B 15 #R S i 5

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HE-_Z-_=%+=-F=+—H L5 For the year ended 31 December 2023

HERAEEFERTA 20.IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON
FHFEFHcBESE GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE
EZBEAH @ ASSETS WITH INDEFINITE USEFUL

LIVES (Continued)

AEERUEHFHZ
meE BERERN S
Trademarks and
patent brands with
Goodwill indefinite useful lives
—EC-=& —E-_F —E-=F —E-F
2023 2022 2023 2022
TER FAT FTHER FHET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BRI D Coatings segment
- BREERH (L8) - ZFHEBRH(LEB)ER
BRAR - RHi RAEl, BRI
kI (LB E (EB)BRAR and
B2 A R EFAE KRR (RE)
0% () BIR AR AH (Unit A)
DA (EAF) 11,261 11,261 - =
- #XEE(FE)E - VYip's Camel (Hong Kong)
BRARREEZ Limited and 18 2 &%
(B BRA (Bf5) BRAE
F(BR2) (Unit B) 43,844 43,844 35,377 35,377
H it 73 48 Others segment
AL RERERE - AR EATBEER
RBEBERAE K BEMRAF and its
HB AR (BEAr subsidiaries (Unit C)
A) - 40,096 - 15,056
55,105 95,201 35,377 50,433
BT EamEREEERAFER In addition to goodwill and trademarks and patent brands
FH EELRERNSE A EL with indefinite useful lives above, property, plant and
HeERZWE HMERZBBRRE equipment (including right-of-use assets) and intangible
FREEENETEEERHE assets that generate cash flows together with the related
HELKESERAFERAFH2HE goodwill and trademarks and patent brands with indefinite
ELESETEEEZEENIE useful lives are also included in the respective CGU for the

B E A B AEITRERT f ©

purpose of impairment assessment.
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0. ERAEEE |3§ A 20.IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON
FRAFEFHZ2ERLE GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE
EHES uﬁmm ASSETS WITH INDEFINITE USEFUL

LIVES (Continued)

B R Unit A
e B iz 2 A] Y [B] & 58 T5 E R E B The recoverable amount of this unit has been determined
BEFEEEE - % quﬁxj&'@Eﬁﬁ based on value in use calculation. That calculation uses cash
ENEEBREIEZAFH(=F flow projections based on financial budgets approved by
4 AFEH)BBEE RFA management covering a five-year period (2022: a five-year
BRI K7 6% (ZE -4 :8.1%) period), and pre-tax discount rate of 7.6% (2022: 8.1%).
WIT RS RER - Bz AE The unit’'s cash flows beyond the five-year period (2022:
BH(CE-_—F AFH KBRS five-year period) are extrapolated using a 3% (2022: 3%)
mENTTE S R8BI IA3% (_ growth rate based on industry growth forecasts. Other key
T CF 3% MEEXREE o (F assumptions for the value in use calculation relate to the
ﬁHfETEnJrﬁ,Z;ZEmIKfEi?&, estimation of cash inflows/outflows include budgeted sales
&{a HEEREARE @%}g with growth rate ranging from 3% to 20% (2022: ranging
NF3%E20% (= 445 from 3% to 18%), such estimation is based on the unit's
F3%ZE18% ) 2 1% K K Zj‘E past performance and management’s expectations for the
HEE -BH 1E§+§ﬁé‘$1ﬁ§@& market development.
*EREEEYH TSR 28
fEH ©
REE-_E-_=EK-_F=-— During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022,
+-_A=+T—HItFE £K&EH management of the Group determines that there is no
EEEEFTZEMNTERE - B impairment on the unit. Management believes that any
BERE TNZFR ‘“HjEEEE reasonably possible change in any of these assumptions
MEEAEEEHITeEWNEMEK would not cause the carrying amount of the unit to exceed
HeEBBEKE©EE - its recoverable amount.
BuZ Unit B
Lt Bz AU E & 58 Ty E N E B The recoverable amount of this unit has been determined
BETEELZET ZTELFEH based on value in use calculation. That calculation uses cash
ERKEEEHREZCAEH (= flow projections based on financial budgets approved by
TE-—F: AEH) Eﬁ?yﬁz%%—* management covering a five-year period (2022: a five-year
TRATBEIR B15.2% (ZE = — 4 : period), and pre-tax discount rate of 15.2% (2022: 15.8%).
15.8%) /T 2B M AR - B The unit’s cash flows beyond the five-year period (2022:
ZHEFH(ZE-__F: AFH) five-year period) are extrapolated using a 3% (2022: 3%)
BESRENTTERERTEA 3% growth rate based on industry growth forecasts. Other key
(: T —F 3% ) MEREXHE assumptions for the value in use calculation relate to the
fFABEFEEAZEMEE estimation of cash inflows/outflows include budgeted sales
{Ej EHEEFRERA AL with growth rate ranging from -5% to —3% (2022: ranging
BREEN T-5%2-3% (:2:: from 0% to 3%), such estimation is based on the unit's
F: N T0%E3I%) 2ERERFE past performance and management’s expectations for the
vHEENE  BHEMETEREAM market development.
MARBEEEEHMSERZ
TBHI(ER o
REE_E_=ZFr_FT_— During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022,
—I— A=+— EIL}:EF RNEE management of the Group determines that there is no
EEEECTZEMITBREE B impairment on the unit. Management believes that any
BERE ERZER *“ﬁfﬁ{{ reasonably possible change in any of these assumptions
AAEAREEEH T EREMEK would not cause the carrying amount of the unit to exceed
HEeEBBEKEI©EE - its recoverable amount.
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20.IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON

GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE
ASSETS WITH INDEFINITE USEFUL
LIVES (Continued)

Unit C

The recoverable amount of this CGU has been determined
based on value in use calculation. That calculation uses
cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved
by the management covering a five-year period (2022: five
year period), and pre-tax discount rate of 19.0% (2022:
18.9%). The unit’s cash flows beyond the five-year period
are extrapolated using a 4% (2022: 2%) growth rate based
on industry growth forecasts. Other key assumptions for
the value in use calculation relate to the estimation of cash
inflows/outflows include budgeted sales with growth rate
ranging from -12% to 11% (2022: 27% to 49%), such
estimation is based on the unit's past performance and
management’s expectations for the market development.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, due to many
negative internal and external factors, the growth of the
business did not meet the Group’s expectations. The
management of the Group have consequently determined
impairment of goodwill, intangible assets and property,
plant and equipment directly related to Unit C amounting
to HK$39,405,000, HK$18,099,000 and HK$14,967,000
(2022: nil), respectively. The impairment loss of property,
plant and equipment has been included in profit or loss in
the other gains and losses.
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21. 178 21.INVENTORIES
—E=-= —ZET—_—
2023 2022
FHET FATT
HK$'000 HK$'000
E & Raw materials 224,199 225,299
R Work in progress 25,546 24,871
BUAK G Finished goods 143,501 166,687
393,246 416,857
REBEE—ZT-_=F+=_A=+— During the year ended 31 December 2023, reversal of
HIEFE AEFERERDY allowance on slow-moving inventories and written off
356,000 T (ZE - —_F : B E& of inventories amounting to approximately HK$356,000
51 126,078,000/8 ;) K E M5 & (2022: provision of allowance of HK$6,078,000) and
54,758,000 T (=& = — 4 : HK$4,758,000 (2022: HK$7,339,000) respectively, have
7,339,000/ 7T) 9 B 2 MR I been recognised and included in cost of sales.
ANSHERKA o

22. E 5 BINFRIE - HAth 22.TRADE RECEIVABLES, OTHER

EFEWERFRANLR DEBTORS AND PREPAYMENTS
18
(a) EZ W FE (a) Trade receivables
—EC-= —ET-—F
2023 2022
FTERT TR
HK$'000 HK$'000
KEREA #4225 EW Trade receivables from contracts
2 with customers 1,298,050 1,307,648
B EHMEEEKARE  Less: allowance for ECL (57,127) (57,737)
1,240,923 1,249,911

R—ZZT-_—F—F—H %K
BERFEHZE S ENGE
/54,598,944,0005% 7T °

As at 1 January 2022, trade receivables from contracts
with customers amounted to HK$4,598,944,000.

NS B Wk B B
325,187,000 L (=2 = =
£ : 376,281,000 7T) 5 B
AERIT A H RIER AR 2 R
TG ER o N & BZ (E 5l
BREXRF B RRITHA
HZBRTAREZEETES
FEUFRIA o

Bills received by the Group amounting to
HK$325,187,000 (2022: HK$376,281,000) refer to
R 17 % 3, [E Z("banker’'s acceptances”) which are
accepted and guaranteed for payment by PRC banks.
The Group accepts the settlement of trade receivables
by customers using banker’s acceptances accepted by
the PRC banks on a case by case basis.

ERIEIEMARLT — T =FEFH
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22. B 5 EINFIE - Hith 22.TRADE RECEIVABLES, OTHER
EWERFIRFAMNR DEBTORS AND PREPAYMENTS
IE (%) (Continued)

(a) EZEWFIE @)

(a) Trade receivables (continued)

ZELHARBEELAEEZ
RITAHLERE —KRR B H
ARENEE T —EARE
Hl o RITANEZRSAER
BARITRAFRRITAER
BERZERTALERE
HIA XAt o

RmEHR - &5 EEKRE
(BB EERXEE T
B ALK BRI &G H AT Hs
BEZREB)ENRZERAME
S Z BREC DATIAT ¢

These banker’s acceptances are issued to or endorsed
to the Group and with maturity date in general not
longer than twelve months from the date of issuance.
The banker’s acceptances will be settled by the banks,
which are state-owned banks or commercial banks or
financial institutions in the PRC, on the maturity date
of such banker’s acceptances.

An aged analysis of trade receivables net of allowance
for credit losses (excluding bills held by the Group for
future settlement), presented based on the invoice
date at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

—E-= -
2023 2022
FHT T T
HK$'000 HK$'000
TE={EA 0 - 3 months 590,704 580,917
=N A A 4 — 6 months 239,962 216,299
~NE A £ Over 6 months 85,070 76,414
915,736 873,630

AEBAFTMESEFIRM
NF30REORZIEEH -
REBRSH THRLER
FrzREIRBAEFERE

EEMEMHETLA A&
BzABEEENRRS
HEERFPZEEER M
EXEECEAREEEBAER
EFEECEEREREER
Ho-AKREETHEHETP
ZIREE -

The Group allows a credit period ranging from 30
to 90 days to its trade customers. A longer credit
period may be granted to large or long established
customers with good payment history.

Before accepting any new customers, the Group
has an internal credit control system to assess the
potential customers’ credit quality and the board
of directors has delegated the management to be
responsible for determination of credit limits and
credit approvals for customers. Limits attributed to
customers are reviewed periodically.
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22. %5&54&*”
FE W BR X
I8 &)

H 1t

j&?ﬁfﬁn

(a) EZEWRFRIE &
RZBE_=F+-_A=+—

B %71% (ZZE ==
7% ) 2 B 5 kW IE
BREANEERERKA

(R

Zigs

B2ER) REBHITEL
BRE  HRESREARE

R AR L D

ZEBHRMGREFTRA

BREFEEFR -

RZEZ=F+=ZA=+—

B AEEZESEES

hE (O

BREAKBRRREE
BEZER BRERBREEH
EEHZEBEER  REE

%8 5263,168,00078 7T (=

=

T4 1 249,494,000/ 7T) ©

Ffjff¢+ A=+—

F REEE F R
&ﬁﬁﬁﬁlix

RIE (T
EATiE

BZEE) BIEREWE A
AIE SHEEIE RAEBE
/678,000 L (Z & = =

£ 14,275,000/ 7T) °

W_?_f¢+ A=+—
CARBEREEASES

$ﬁﬂ%ﬁ[i’
113,092,000 7T (
£ : 132,082,000 7T) -
M E4EEE SRR

B =
=

—_—= ——

LA

R IH o

AEBEERRAZSESE
ZRITERAEZEEERER
BEAZEBERE EELE
BHERITERLESR 2 ZHR -

ERLIKERRAT —T—=—FEFR

22.TRADE RECEIVABLES, OTHER
DEBTORS AND PREPAYMENTS

(Continued)

(a) Trade receivables (continued)

As at 31 December 2023, approximately 71% (2022:
71%) of the trade receivables (excluding bills held by
the Group for future settlement) are neither past due
nor impaired as they were assessed to be of good
credit rating attributable under the credit control
system used by the Group.

As at 31 December 2023, included in the Group's
trade receivables (excluding bills held by the Group
for future settlement) are debtors with aggregate
carrying amount of HK$263,168,000 (2022:
HK$249,494,000) which are past due as at the
reporting date.

As at 31 December 2023, included in the Group's
trade receivables (excluding bills held by the Group
for future settlement) are trade related amounts due
from associates with aggregate carrying amount of
HK$678,000 (2022: HK$4,275,000).

At 31 December 2023, the Group endorsed
certain banker’s acceptances with an amount of
HK$113,092,000 (2022: HK$132,082,000) to
creditors to settle the trade payables to them. The
Group continued to recognise the full amount of
these endorsed banker’s acceptances and the relevant
payable to creditors until the maturity date of the
endorsed banker’s acceptances.
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HELREE
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KBRATEERERREY
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22. TRADE RECEIVABLES, OTHER

DEBTORS AND PREPAYMENTS

(Continued)

(a) Trade receivables (continued)
Transfer of financial assets

The following were the Group’s bills received that
were endorsed/discounted to suppliers or banks
with full recourse. As the Group has not transferred

the significant risks and rewards relating to these

receivables, it continues to recognise the full carrying
amount of the receivables and has recognised the
cash received on the transfer as a collateralised
borrowing. These receivables are carried at amortised
cost in the Group's consolidated statement of

financial position.

FETHEBLAE2EER
EZEWRE
Bills received
endorsed to suppliers
with full recourse

BRRAFROTUEBELZEEBRRE
ZEREE
Bills received
discounted to banks
with full recourse

—E-= —E-— —E-= —E-_—
2023 2022 2023 2022
FET FAT FTHET FHT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BEEEREEC Carrying amount of
BREm & transferred assets 113,092 132,082 33,597 121,590
HEaEYA Carrying amount of
2 5N RIE associated liabilities in
ZERHEe R trade payables (113,092) (132,082) (33,597) (121,590)
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22. E5EWFIA -

H fto

FE W AR X T A K

I8 &)

(b) Ett BV BR AR K &

ES

H i & Y R 3R & T8 A ARIR
TEREBRNEERRIE

19,489,000 7T (

— = — —

£ :31,397,000/8 L) * fE
U 4 fE 75 1 £8,679,000/%8
7T (ZF = =4 : 9,826,000
Bor) ~ B g E i E R
33,988,000 L (=T = =
£ : 43,727,000 7T) N &
I & B2 FX 1852,989,00078 T
(Z= == 30,210,000
B REER 22K
BER—FAEBRE RZ=ZF
——F+-_A=+—B8H
ERELIEREEERR
182,039,966,000/8 T A &
BT -=F+-A=+—

BIEFRKGZ -

BE—_T =k

—= — —

——

F+_A=+—HILEFE
B 5 & WOk IR B L A e UL AR
R BERH S BE N M T

34

B 5 & WOk IR I E i e UL AR
RERETINABBAEE R A
WEEEEUINZEREEBLZ

22.TRADE RECEIVABLES, OTHER
DEBTORS AND PREPAYMENTS

(Continued)

(b) Other debtors and prepayments

Other debtors and prepayments mainly consist of
payments in advance to suppliers of HK$19,489,000
(2022: HK$31,397,000), commission receivable from
suppliers of HK$8,679,000 (2022: HK$9,826,000),
value-added tax recoverable of HK$33,988,000
(2022: HK$43,727,000) and loan receivables from
entities of HK$52,989,000 (2022: HK$30,210,000)
are unsecured, interest bearing and will be repayable
within 1 year. Receivable from disposal of HSD Group
of HK$2,039,966,000 at 31 December 2022 are
received during the year ended 31 December 2023.

Details of impairment assessment of trade receivables
and other debtors for the year ended 31 December
2023 and 2022 are set out in note 34.

Included in trade receivables and other debtors are
the following amounts denominated in currencies
other than the functional currency of the group

R entities to which they relate:
—E-= —E-—F
2023 2022
FET FHIT
HK$’000 HK$'000
=N United States dollars (“USD") 1,343 2,042,490
BT HK$ 849 261
AR RMB - 3,565

ERLIKERRAT —T—=—FEFR
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TEERMIA 23.DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL

INSTRUMENTS

TE F B
Current Non-current
—E=-= —ET-— —E-=F —EF-—

2023 2022 2023 2022

FHxT FHET THR FHET

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
L et 2 EE  Derivatives financial
ZITESRMEE assets under hedge

accounting
F=IEHE 49 Interest rate swap contracts 1,531 3,728 97 1,164

URERE 2R RE
HEW

AEEESHELRTILSE
FEB A% - BB T8I
WRAEENE BT BT
BRAERZ RS hEBE RS
ERIE - ZBANZBRRERRE
% B RITE R R —
(MAEAERRTER2AS
B MERFREEAR) - XA
AEERANRAERANES K
YT A - BRI E
ERETAARSRYHATA -

YRR R E B 2 RS RARM
EOHAAREEN -EHEZZT
=F+-_A=+—BHLFE"
NEEREBZHITEZ AR
B % B) 5 183,264,0008 ¢ (==
— — 4 : Yg 57,098,000/ 7T) B
REMEEYE ([H2EikRasl)
BREREFREEBRNRG AR
RIESTEH R B &R R E
% ARREIEREARE R 2 A [F B HA

Mg -

[1 i

Interest rate swap contracts under
cash flow hedges

The Group entered into a number of interest rate swap
contracts with the commercial banks to minimise its
exposure to cash flow changes of its floating-rate Hong
Kong dollars bank loans from banks by swapping floating
interest rates to fixed interest rates. The terms of these
contracts were negotiated to match with those of the
hedged bank loans with the same notional amounts to
principal amounts of bank loans, currency and interest
rate index. The directors of the Company consider that the
interest rate swap contracts are highly effective hedging
instruments and have designated them as cash flow
hedging instruments for hedge accounting purpose.

The hedges were highly effective in hedging cash flow
exposure to interest rate movements. Fair value change
on hedging instruments in cash flow hedge of loss of
HK$3,264,000 (2022: gain of HK$7,098,000) for the
year ended 31 December 2023 have been recognised in
other comprehensive income (“OCI”) and accumulated in
hedging reserve. The directors of the Company expected
the accumulated sum is to be released to profit or loss
at various dates in the coming maturity periods after the
reporting period.
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3.0TEEm I A

w,a,ﬁ,,.&mzxuzéﬁ

€8N

Fi&%ﬁ)ﬁi W FE28FTH R 2 B
ERRReREPET ZRITE
3£176,667,000/8 70 (=T = =4 :
180,833,000/ 7T) * MA R &R
Hh 2 A ERBHEHO 2 EBER

23.DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL

| N STRU M E NTS (Continued)

cash flow hedges (continued)

end of the reporting period are as follows:

Interest rate swap contracts under

Included in borrowings as disclosed in note 28 were bank
loans of HK$176,667,000 (2022: HK$180,833,000) which
were under cash flow hedges and the major terms of the
interest rate swap contracts under cash flow hedges at the

R

FEEE HHEREE KRR TR

Notional amount Range of maturity Receive floating Pay fixed
—=f+-fA=+-RH

At 31 December 2023

100,000,000/ 7 —E-ME+-A=+-BE-ZE-AENA-THEA 7 70— {8 AHIBOR* 482

HK$100,000,000 31.12.2024 - 24.8.2026 HK$1-month HIBOR* 4.82%

50,000,0007% 7T “E-NE-A+-HE-T-_ME+AWEA 7 70— {8 AHIBOR 1,49

HK$50,000,000 12.2.2024 - 4.10.2024 HK$1-month HIBOR 1.49%

26,667,000/ 70 “E_N4-ARRE-_Z_MNE+—-A+-H % 71— (& AHIBOR 3148

HK$26,667,000 5.1.2024 - 11.11.2024 HK$1-month HIBOR 3.14%

RZBZZF+ZA=1—H

At 31 December 2022

37,500,000/ 1t B E-R-fWMBR-Z-CE/A-tZH 7 70— {8 AHIBOR 2.68[E

HK$37,500,000 24.3.2022 - 23.6.2023 HK$1-month HIBOR 2.68%

90,000,000 7T —E-=4-PREE-E-_MET+AMNA 7 70— {8 AHIBOR 1,49

HK$90,000,000 5.1.2023 - 4.10.2024 HK$1-month HIBOR 1.49%

53,333,000/ 7T —E-=f#-A+=RE-Z-ME+-A+-8 71— {8 AHIBOR 3148

HK$53,333,000 13.2.2023 - 11.11.2024 HK$1-month HIBOR 3.14%

* HIBOR#E & /B R

FRTTETERAAEFdEZE - R
B CER T &+ f
:Jr*EI CPRTAET A ZEE
PEAARERANFZE R (GF

15 R HI5E34) ©

TTRZERFE - *

details).

240 ERCISEMEMAT —T - =—FEFH

HIBOR represents Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate.

The above derivative instruments are measured at fair
value. The classification of the measurement of the above
derivative instruments at 31 December 2023 and 2022
was Level 2 under the fair value hierarchy (see note 34 for
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24.SHORT-TERM BANK DEPOSITS

WITH ORIGINAL MATURITY
MORE THAN THREE MONTHS,
BANK BALANCES AND CASH

—E=-= —F-—
2023 2022
FHET FHET
HK$'000 HK$'000
REBHBE A= B AK  Short-term bank deposits with original
EHRITER maturity within three months 229,166 656,182
BeRBEEERE Cash and cash equivalents 386,927 419,824
ZPRRHIERTT4EER (B5E)  Restricted bank balance (note) - 12,110
616,093 1,088,116
P & - %\\ — F+ ; ﬂi Note: As at 31 December 2022, included in restricted bank balance
== El ’ ’\ﬂﬁ( il 3R 17 45 HK$3,075,000 (2023: nil) was guarantee deposits and
# 3,075,000 L (==

—=F E)AERESER
9,035,000 L (ZF ==
FE)NSBERERES
MmBR - Am R BIESI °
MRS B —RAEBFARME
EREE-_ZE—_=F+_"A
=t BIEFEERMEL
FRBR PR I ©

REHHERBEB=(HNEHR
TERUARRTERRAS S
TIAEBEEER TW%EE%LA

HK$9,035,000 (2023: nil) was restricted by court order to
fulfil the potential penalty. The litigation case related to inks
segment was settled and released during the year ended 31
December 2023.

Included in short-term bank deposits with original maturity
more than three months and bank balances and cash are
the following amounts denominated in currencies other

YNz BEEF(E 2 FH than the functional currencies of the group entities to
which they relate:
—E-= —_E-—

2023 2022

FHT THT

HK$'000 HK$'000

=TT usD 272,974 632,534
BT HK$ 2,092 1,641
AR RMB 29,143 58,708

Fr A SR 1T T R R SR 1T 45 R 1%
N F0.001%%E5.82% (=T ==
F :0.001%ZE4% ) 2 % F H &
R e

REBAEABE=-EAMNESR
ﬁﬁﬁa&ﬁ“%%%ﬁﬁz

T_-FR-ZFT--_F+-A
= — B UL R A B 1B
HANHIEE34 -

All short-term bank deposits and bank balances were
carrying interest at market rates ranging from 0.001% to
5.82% (2022: 0.001% to 4%) per annum.

Details of impairment assessment of short-term bank
deposits with original maturity more than three months and
bank balances for the year ended 31 December 2023 and
2022 are set out in note 34.
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25 BENERRKREFTE 25.CREDITORS AND ACCRUED

H CHARGES
—E-=F —E - fF
2023 2022
FERT THIT
HKS$’000 HK$'000
H 5 R ERH Trade creditors 716,290 689,129
HihE BRI N EST & A Other creditors and accrued charges 244,739 349,661
961,029 1,038,790

HEMmENERREAFEAEE
BEENKEDZE BE AKX
% FX 785,945,000/ L (=T — —
& 112,394,000 L) * BB
ITHeEEN (BEREEMAE)
89,154,000/ L (=& = =

85,304,000/ 7t) A R FET & &
K 8 &25,849,0008 T (T ==
£ 131,770,000 7L) c R - &
T CE+-A=+—HMBEHE

44,972,000 7T & F& 1+ 3 122 A% I
R B 815,959,000 7T 2 R &
EZE_=F+-A=+—AHL
FEEEB -

RBERAR BHERNERER
HRAHZREDTAT

Other creditors and accrued charges mainly consist of
payables of acquisition of property, plant and equipment
of HK$5,945,000 (2022: HK$12,394,000), payables of
staff salaries and benefits (including sales commission)
of HK$89,154,000 (2022: HK$85,304,000) and payable
of storage and transportation of HK$25,849,000 (2022:
HK$31,770,000). Accrued fees and expenses related to
disposal of subsidiaries of HK$44,972,000 and dividend
payable to a non-controlling shareholder of HK$15,959,000
at 31 December 2022 were settled during the year ended
MEAREENETERRAX 31 December 2023.

An aged analysis of trade creditors at the end of the
reporting period based on the invoice date is as follows:

—E-=F —Eg-=
2023 2022
THET FET
HKS$'000 HK$'000
ZE={F A 0 — 3 months 548,586 538,853
e = 4 — 6 months 161,121 147,991
7~ME A LA E Over 6 months 6,583 2,285
716,290 689,129

BEERNTHEERRI24K -
days.

ERLIKERRAT —T—=—FEFR

The average credit period on purchases of goods is 124
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25.CREDITORS AND ACCRUED

CHARG E S (Continued)

Included in creditors are the following amounts
denominated in currency other than the functional currency
of the group entities to which they relate:

—E-= —_E-—
2023 2022
FERT FHET
HK$'000 HK$'000
ETT usD 15,283 14,431
AR RMB - 3,565

RZEZ=F+=-A=+—8"
REEE 5 TR K8 15 & 8
ERRIZESEBRE RARL
8 448,190,000/ T (ZZE = —
£ : 62,982,000/ 7T) °

BHNAE

As at 31 December 2023, included in the Group’'s trade
creditors are trade related amounts due to associates with
aggregate carrying amount of HK$48,190,000 (2022:
HK$62,982,000).

26. CONTRACT LIABILITIES

—E=-= —ZT—_—
2023 2022
FERT FAT
HK$'000 HK$’'000
SE K h R REEM Contract liabilities on sales of coatings,
ZAKEaE inks and lubricants 31,956 35,258

RNR-—ZE-_—_F—HF—H"
f& /58,504,000 7T °

aB#E

NS BRI EEE B AT U E
Be RELRBEBENSELES
HNaBE - HHEHNABEBKRASE
B EFs2E/AHANEE UK
HARBEBE REBEEZT==
F+_A=+—HILLFEE O
A& % %835,258,0008 T (= &
— — 4 : 58,504,000/ 7T) B 5t A
FYMEHNBENA

As at 1 January 2022, contract liabilities amounted to
HK$58,504,000.

When the Group receives a deposit before the
commencement of the production activity, this will give rise
to contract liabilities at the start of a contract. Contract
liabilities which are expected to be settled within the
Group’s normal operating cycle, are classified as current
liabilities. During the year ended 31 December 2023,
revenue recognised amounting to HK$35,258,000 (2022:
HK$58,504,000) was included in the contract liabilities at
the beginning of the year.
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27. HEAE 27.LEASE LIABILITIES

ER{LISEARRAF

—E-= B
2023 2022
FHERT FATT
HK$'000 HK$'000
ERNEEEE Lease liabilities payable:
—FR Within one year 15,170 16,925
HBi8 —FEARBBM A 2 Within a period of more than one year
BRI A but not more than two years 15,445 8,389
BB B R IBBA G 2 Within a period of more than two years
HAfE A but not more than five years 8,230 10,209
HBBAF 2 BHEA Within a period of more than five years 4,014 5,683
42,859 41,206
J: 121 B R EIEF 455 Less: Amount due for settlement with
WEMARBAR 12 months shown under current
o liabilities (15,170) (16,925)
R 121E B 12 B BA 455 17 85 Amount due for settlement after 12
MAEIERBAMBZEE  months shown under non-current
liabilities 27,689 24,281

fE AR T & & (& /9 10 19 E
BE R RN FR3.60%%E5.63%
T :238%%4.90% )
2 EE -

2.38% to 4.90%).

R—_ZTE—_=F+=-_A=+—H"
BE—HHEEHRZRNEETED
#91,358,0008 L (=T = =
1,254,000 7T ) 2 SRITHEAR ©

T SEEER

The weighted average incremental borrowing rates applied
to lease liabilities range from 3.60% to 5.63% (2022:

As at 31 December 2023, a bank guarantee was granted
to the landlord for a tenancy agreement amounting to
approximately HK$1,358,000 (2022: HK$1,254,000).
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28. 8 & 28. BORROWINGS
—E-= —F-—
2023 2022
FHET TR
HK$°000 HK$'000
EEBERITER Borrowings included bank loans:
RITEZ—EIKA Bank loans — unsecured 1,368,196 2,058,885
BEB2MHBEEZIZZE Discount bills with full recourse
= 33,597 121,590
1,401,793 2,180,475
RITEHEN LT EHI(E The bank loans are repayable as follows*:
_—_
—FR Within one year 239,120 584,483
—FREMEA More than one year but not exceeding
two years 176,606 228,240
MEERERAFA More than two years but not more than
five years 294,400 131,918
710,126 944,641
B S EBRKE B (KX (5| xThe bank loans that contain a repayment
AnEBEET)EEN T ondemand clause (shown under current
5 B EES R e liabilities) but repayable as follows:
—F R Within one year 691,667 1,159,167
—FREREMFNRN More than one year but not exceeding
two years - 76,667
1,401,793 2,180,475
S —FE N B HAN 8F 48 & Less: Borrowings due within one year
EE ARG EE shown under current liabilities (930,787) (1,820,317)
B AIEREAREZEE Borrowings shown under non-current
liabilities 471,006 360,158
* D H S MR e St 5 * The amounts due are based on scheduled repayment dates
TEEEEE A set out in the borrowing agreements.
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28. 6 &«
AEERITERZENENTEH
BIRTTR 4 B2 I00.6/E £ BB R
TRERBE M ATE(ZZE ==
FBEBRITRAERSEMNESR
BEBRTRIER SN AE) RiE
A & BB R R i _E SR &
BEB=(ZE=_F :HB&

Z) MER—EAZE-—FHHEE

—

28 BORROWI NGS (Continued)

The Group's bank loans carry annual interests at the range
of HIBOR plus 0.6% to HIBOR plus 1.47% (2022: HIBOR
plus 0.6% to HIBOR plus 1.4%) and at the China loan
prime rate plus or less a fixed margin (2022: China loan
prime rate plus or less a fixed margin). Interest is repriced
in the period from one month up to one year.

= o
—E=-= —ZE——
2023 2022
B R A 2= Effective interest rates
EEMEE Fixed-rate borrowings 0.07E%6.82E  1.22[E%5.90F
0.07% to 6.82% 1.22% to 5.90%
EEEER Variable-rate borrowings 6.38/E £6.83E 5.34/2 £6.29]2

& & £ $5834,120,00058 T (==
— — 4 :1,365,483,000/8 7T) F
BEE AR HBHBEA—FA-

ETIAEBEEERTY
REEBNUIINZ BB EBE A

i3
RO
@

6.38% t06.83% 5.34% t0 6.29%

Included in borrowings are HK$834,120,000 (2022:
HK$1,365,483,000) at fixed-rate borrowings with the
contractual maturity dates within 1 year.

Included in borrowings are the following amounts
denominated in currency other than the functional currency
of the group entities to which they relate:

—EC-=HF —EFE-—
2023 2022
FExT FAT
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT HK$ - 37,500
ERCISEERAT —T - —FEFH
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\ZE-_T-_=F+=-H=+—HIL5E For the year ended 31 December 2023

29. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/

LIABILITIES

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated
statement of financial position, certain deferred tax assets
and liabilities have been offset. The following is the analysis
of the deferred tax balances (after offset) for financial
reporting purposes:

—g=-= -
2023 2022
FERT FHET
HK$'000 HK$'000
(eE=75)
(Restated)
RIEFIBE B Deferred tax assets 2,727 7,327
BEF B A G Deferred tax liabilities (38,018) (23,615)
(35,291) (16,288)

RTAXREEERRY X ERE
BUBR R (AE) RARAFER
B2

The followings are the major deferred tax liabilities (assets)
recognised by the Group and movements thereon during
the current and prior year:

RO R REEE
MERERE  BEER BB MREH  BAEE it KRERE  HEAR ait
Withholding
Accelerated taxon Revaluation Right-
tax Tax undistributed of ECL of-use Lease
depreciation losses profits  properties provision Others assets  liabilities Total
L TEL T TEL ThL Thn T TR TR
HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
(R
(Note)
R-Z-—£-f-H At 1 January 2022 3212 (4,723) 19,694 1,130 2,119 6,769 = = 23,363
A8 (Wih3) Adjustments (note 2.3) - - - - - - 9,471 (10,089) (618)
R-E-—£-f-H At 1 January 2022
(BE5) (restated) 3212 (4,723) 19,694 1,130 2,19 6,769 947 (10,089) 22,745
RARRERFENH Reversal of withholding tax upon
distribution - - (10,074) - - - - - (10,074)
GANEES (Credit) charge to profit or loss (166) - 6,530 - - 1,167 (3311) 3414 7,634
HENBAR (Hi32) Disposal of subsidiaries (note 32) - - (4,765) = - (897) - = (5,662)
WENB A (H#31) Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 31) - - - - - 1377 - = 1377
EHAR Currency realignment - 400 197 (9) 229 (462) B B 268
RZE-ZE+ZF=+—H At31 December 2022 3,046 (4,323) 11,582 1,034 (2,490) 7,954 6,160 (6,675) 16,288
GtA)MBEE (Crealt) charge to profitor loss (30) 41 6213 11,727 1,366 (4,905) (4,713) 5,020 18,899
EHaR Currency realignment - 102 1 59 5 (121) - - 104
RZE-ZE+-A=+—H At31 December 2023 3,016 = 17,807 12,820 (1,072) 2,928 1,447 (1,655) 35,291
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BE-_T-_=%F+_-HA=+—HIL5Z For the year ended 31 December 2023

2. EEBEEE & 29. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/

& =) LIABILITIES (continued)

Mizy : HEZHEARWENRE A A Note: Others mainly represent deferred tax liabilities arising from
BRlkEEE (ETEE fair value adjustments on assets acquired (i.e. intangible
ARE - -BELERE) A assets and property, plant and equipment) on acquisition of
R EFABRELEZEERIES subsidiaries.

& o

RZZEFEZ=F+=ZA=+— At 31 December 2023, the Group had unused tax

H - A&EBERERABIEEE losses of approximately HK$1,180,130,000 (2022:

#31,180,130,000/8 T (Z & = = HK$1,172,976,000) available to offset against future

4 :1,172,976,000/8 jT) A K& profits. As at 31 December 2023, no deferred tax asset

HAR BN RZTEZ=F+= has been recognised in respect of such losses (2022: a

A=+—8 BRKREEFT KK deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of such

wmARE - MARBE A B EE R losses amounted to HK$17,293,000, no deferred tax

RELHEEE(ZZT =4 asset has been recognised in respect of the remaining

B 5t %5 B &5 1817,293,0007% T i HK$1,155,683,000) due to the unpredictability of future

RELERIBEBEE  KRERKT profit streams. Included in the unrecognised tax losses,

1,155,683,000/% Jt 7 R IE i& T3 HK$807,803,000 (2022: HK$730,054,000) may be carried

BHEE) AERBEEBER - forward indefinitely and the remaining balance will expire

807,803,000/ 7L (ZE = = & : at various dates up to and including year 2028 (2022:

730,054,000/ 7T) AT £ R 8 & 2027).

& O BREBER-_ZE-_NF (==
T T EF)RZANE
& B8 29 8 -

AEBEREFR BB EMRSERE Deferred taxation on undistributed profits of subsidiaries
B RO E - L5 R #F has been recognised taking into accounts the dividends to
ETHEBEARB=_ZZENF—A be distributed from profits earned by certain subsidiaries
— BRI &R 5 IR’ E in the PRC starting from 1 January 2008 under the
% - ShBI B A B R DR = R Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law of the PRC that
BELEMIE - FRCERGREE requires withholding tax with tax rate at 5% (2022: 5%)
78 168 1 38 7€ (A AR 2R 9 K B 8 s A upon the distribution of such profits to the shareholders.
BIR5% (T - —4F :15%) 2 Deferred taxation has not been recognised in respect
MEFHRIT - HREFRR of certain undistributed retained profits earned by the
7N £ [ A {5 I 48 B R A R 2 B subsidiaries in the PRC starting from 1 January 2008
B mEREZREAERAIBEREE amounting to HK$198,016,000 (2022: HK$154,661,000)
DN A NS R s as the directors are of the opinion that the Group is able
BB ArRBE=EZTNF—A— to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary
ARERER2E TR IRER & differences and it is probable that the temporary differences
198,016,000/ 7T (Z T = 4 : will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

154,661,000/ 0 ) FERIELERIIA ©
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30. A 30.SHARE CAPITAL
EE
Authorised
—E=ER
—E==-=
2023 & 2022
FHT
HK$'000
F I EE0.105 T 2 Ik H Shares of HK$0.10 each 80,000
FRARANB ZEETRANBAT Movements in the issued share capital of the Company
E - during the years are as follows:
R7EE -]
Number
of shares Amount
T FHT
‘000 HK$'000
BEETRHR Issued and fully paid:
N-_ZE-_—_F—H—H - At 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022
—ECFRZIT= and 2023
+=-—A=+—8 568,484 56,848
FrEEBTRINHERME 7K EH All shares issued rank pari passu with the then existing
ERCREDETRONZERE shares in issue in all respects.
i3 -

" NS B A ] - None of the Company’s subsidiaries purchased, sold or

FERARNBNBARRNFEANEER ] o .

NN ® " redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the
&R NG i)

#/Ti, i 1NN B = 5 Gl B ol Jear.
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31. WEBHE R~ F 31. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES
RZZE-_—_F—HA++tH &&E On 17 January 2022, the Group entered into two
BHiI MO HE DRl ARE agreements to respectively subscribe for RMB1,074,000
3,750,0007T (#855 74 494,590,000 paid-up capital of IUFEMEEFEKEAR R R(IWLE
BL)RBLAGEE FEEE W /8") at RMB3,750,000 (equivalent to approximately
BAR ([LWAKE] 2 AR HK$4,590,000) and to acquire additional interest
1,074,000t BE#E KN R KB of RMB1,333,357 paid-up capital of L7 # /8 at
AR #3,250,000 (HHER D a consideration of RMB3,250,000 (equivalent to
3,978,000 Jju) WS 1L 75 2k 18 2 approximately HK$3,978,000). Upon completion of the
mINEZS AR ¥1,333,357 0 & transaction, the Group's direct equity interest in LI 78 2% /&
BER - N FEIE RER increased to 70%, and [ 7A%t /8 and its subsidiary became
RILUAKREZEERE ELHZE indirect non-wholly owned subsidiaries of the Company.
70% @ LA S R E KB A A The purpose of the acquisition was considered to be an
KAERAANG ZEEZEIFZENE A expansion and increase in market shares of the Group’s car
Al - WEEHEANERHARERE maintenance business. The amount of goodwill arising as a
ARNEFBLERBEB 2TH D result of acquisition was HK$7,020,000.

H-RABBESTEMELEZBES
#/37,020,000% 7T °

RUE R BHKE 2 EE RER Assets acquired and liabilities recognised at the date of
BEMOT : acquisition were as follows:
A=
At date of
acquisition
FHBIT
HK$'000
EVEE Intangible assets 5,508
FE Inventories 260
B 5 WA Trade receivables 5
H b fE W K18 Other receivables 366
FE—HE & E R RIFIE Amount due from a group company 3,978
RITHEBRERS Bank balances and cash 99
B 5 e E Trade payables (1,486)
E b FE 5 5B Other payables (5,137)
EEFIEEE Deferred tax liabilities (1,377)
FE B 18 Tax payable (5)
2,211
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31. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

(Continued)

The fair value of trade receivables at the date of acquisition
amounted to HK$5,000. The gross contractual amounts of
those trade receivables acquired amounted to HK$5,000
at the date of acquisition. The best estimate at acquisition
date of the contractual cash flows not expected to be
collected was nil.

DEERE: Consideration transferred:
T T
HK$'000
RE Cash 8,568
AWEmEEZHE : Goodwill arising on acquisition:
T
HK$'000
EEENRE Consideration transferred 8,568
o SEERR R Plus: non-controlling interests 663
B BWEEFEE Less: net assets acquired (2,211)
R i i 7 2 A 2 R Goodwill arising on acquisition 7,020

HUg B B R 2 AL A S R
BB 2% 7 JE 42 AR AR 5 (30% ) T
I 12 10 0 25 81170 7 208 T L
BARTHAEEFECERS
B2 WIS -

N HRBEESNZRER
RN SE R ENE R E RS
BRME EXBER  RKM
BERRREEZABER2ESE
SR -BRZELBETTEAH
RIEFEE RGN Bt
BEHFESHBER EHRKREE
EZEEEYA AN

The non-controlling interests (30%) in | 7 #% 4§ and its
subsidiary recognised at acquisition date were measured
at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the
recognised amounts of the identifiable net assets of || 7 #f
18 and its subsidiary.

In addition, the consideration paid for the acquisition
included amounts in relation to the benefit of expected
synergies, revenue growth, future market development and
the assembled workforce of [LFE#Zi/& and its subsidiary.
These benefits were not recognised separately from
goodwill because they do not meet the recognition criteria
for identifiable intangible assets. The goodwill arising from
this acquisition was not expected to be deductible for tax
purposes.
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31. WEE M B A 8l ) 31. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

(Continued)
WEEE ZFERSRE Net cash outflows arising on acquisition:
FHET
HK$'000
KB eX 2K E Consideration paid in cash 8,568
B FTSIRITEBR IR S Less: Bank balances and cash acquired (99)
8,469

WEHEAEEEEZF
&
BHE_ZT-_—_F#+-A=+—H
EEEAFSFILARERE
MEBRAE XK ERGER
1,559,000 L c B ZE =T ==
+-—A=+—BLFEzLEHE
BRLUAKRERENBAREL
23,323,000/8 7T °

BEWER_ZT__F—H—
AR AEBHE=-_ZT ==
F+_A=t+-—BLEEzE
¥ %% 53,359,525,000/8 T ¢
MAEBHE-_ZT_—_F+=
A=+—RLEFEZHFEA
1,295,631,000/%8 7t ° B & & #H {2
A2 A WIERRE WER
T F—A—BERMEL
ERGESZAEBEEEEREE
XRZER NIERARERZE

Al o

ERIEIEMARLT — T =FEFH

Impacts of acquisition on the results
of the Group

Included in the profit for the year ended 31 December
2022, loss amounting of HK$1,559,000 was attributable to
the business operation from [ 7FE%t4E and its subsidiary.
Revenue for the year ended 31 December 2022 included
HK$3,323,000 which was generated from (L 7§ %% /8 and its
subsidiary.

Had the acquisition been completed on 1 January 2022,
revenue for the year ended 31 December 2022 of the
Group would have been HK$3,359,525,000, and profit for
the year ended 31 December 2022 of the Group would
have been HK$1,295,631,000. The pro forma information
was for illustrative purposes only and was not necessarily
an indication of revenue and results of operations of the
Group that actually would have been achieved had the
acquisition been completed on 1 January 2022, nor was it
intended to be a projection of future results.
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32.DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

As referred in note 12, for the year ended 31 December
2022, the Group discontinued its solvent operations at the
time of disposal of its subsidiary, HSD.

The net assets of HSD Group at the date of disposal were

FEEMT as follows:
FHET
HK$'000
e Property, plant and equipment 1,044,985
(RS Goodwill 57,671
ENBEME BERZEZ2 Deposits paid for acquisition of
property, plant and equipment 255
FE Inventories 765,252
B 5 EWGRIA Trade receivables 2,075,964
H b 8 U BR 3k K TR AN BB Other debtors and prepayments 271,760
ESMITA Derivative financial instruments 2,209
RITHEBR RS Bank balances and cash 272,588
ENERKREGTER Creditors and accrued charges (982,828)
oM=K Contract liabilities (59,570)
JE {5 B 3K Taxation payables (11,504)
HERE Lease liabilities (61,638)
BE Borrowings (133,268)
BEEFIEEE Deferred tax liabilities (5,662)
EHEFEE Net assets disposed of 3,236,214
HERB AR Z W : Gain on disposal of subsidiaries:
FHET
HK$'000
2 U sk E YR (B Consideration received or receivable 2,651,032
n: REtERA R Add: Interests in associates 1,209,492
N FERE AR RE A Add: Non-controlling interest 806,051
B EHEFEE Less: Net assets disposed of (3,236,214)
W R Z A Less: Transaction costs (47,499)
HEMB A A 2 W Gain on disposal of subsidiaries 1,382,862
B FTiS A X Less: Income tax expense (198,706)
HEMB ARG 2z - MKRTIE Gain on disposal of subsidiaries, net of
tax 1,184,156
HEEA T FELE Net cash inflow arising on disposal:
T T
HK$'000
BEUR &R E Cash consideration received 611,066
B BEHERITEBREES Less: Bank balances and cash disposed
of (272,588)
338,478
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32.HEMEB AT

33

ER{LISEARRAF

32.DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

(Continued)
AEPWHEELEZFHEESRA Net cash inflow arising on disposal received in current year:
—B-=5F
2023
FExT
HK$'000
BWRENRE Cash consideration received 2,039,966
B EBENRZEAREHER Less: Transaction costs and
income tax paid (244,760)
1,795,206

EXERER
AEFBEREEARAREREBE
fEEBEERTE  EAEEE
TRAREAFELE  TAKR
FREDO®R AEEEERK
ERAEFEMER -

AEBZEXAGEHEBREER =
ERNKEF28EEZEERAR
AR EGEDE (SEBTRA
Binm B K (BIRREER)) -

ARRAEZEHEHNELRER -
EREH MO EFEEELR
RARBERBBZEAR - RE
EEF AKEBBIRMNES
BIFBRRBETHELEBEDR
BEERE UWFEAEEEREN
mE e

T SEEER

33

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to shareholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s
overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debts, which
mainly include the borrowings disclosed in note 28, and
equity attributable to owners of the Company, comprising
issued share capital, share premium and reserves including
retained profits.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure
on a regular basis. As part of this review, the directors
consider the cost of capital and the risks associated with
capital. Based on recommendations of the directors, the
Group will balance its overall capital structure through the
payment of dividends and new share issues as well as the
issue of new debts or the redemption of existing debts.
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3. €@ T B 34.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
T AEER Categories of financial instruments
—E-= T
2023 2022
FERT T
HK$'000 HK$'000
SREE Financial assets
bivg: X1V PN At amortised cost 2,391,406 4,521,361
ERARER AERE At FVTPL 857,411 177,318
BRAREF AEMEE At FVTOC
&
—BEAZAAET A - equity instruments designated at
Hfh 2 W 2 FVTOCI
THE 20,444 11,098
— B AREFAEME - debt instruments at FVTOCI
B2 BT A 22,492 =
TESmIT A Derivative financial instruments
—EERAEHAFAITA — designated as hedging instruments 1,628 4,892
ERERE Financial liabilities
RS A 2 BB fE  Financial liabilities at amortised cost 2,214,149 2,992,611

2023 ANNUAL REPORT  YIP'S CHEMICAL HOLDINGS LIMITED 255



B #3R & FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

#n BT 15 R S B 5

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE-_T-_=%F+_-HA=+—HIL5Z For the year ended 31 December 2023

3. €@ T B ) 34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continved)

R REEBAEHR Financial risk management objectives
BE and policies

AREBSRTEBEE S ERR The Group’s financial instruments include trade receivables,
H HEMmEWER TEERT other debtors, derivative financial instruments, short-term
B RIHABABEB=EANE bank deposits with original maturity more than three
HSR TR RIT &8 RES - months, bank balances and cash, financial assets at FVTOCI,
BEARBETAEMEZEAKREZE financial assets at FVTPL, debt instruments at FVTOCI,
BEE - BALBEIHABEZZS debt instruments at amortised cost, amounts due from
MEE RAREFAEMEZE associates, creditors and other payables, lease liabilities
WHRZEHTLE REEKEAZ and borrowings. Details of the financial instruments are
EEITE  EUYE SN e z)IE - disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated with
EANEREEMEMNKIE HE these financial instruments include market risk (currency
BEUREE - ZEeR T AH risk, interest rate risk and other price risk), credit risk
BRESMERE HzEe/m T and liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate these
BEEzRRSETSRER (O risks are set out below. The management manages and
FER K - Al & & EH M ERE monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures
w) EERBERBESER - are implemented on a timely and effective manner. There
BRZERRZEBESHOT - has been no significant change to the Group’s exposure
EEEEENMEEZERR U to market risk or the manner in which it manages and
BRNMEA I REGEE &7 - measures the risk.

AEEFES cTSRRBRIEE
BLRiEZREBRZDABREEKX

2 & Market risk

SN EE /2 B Currency risk

RNARETWE RG] AINE 1T Several subsidiaries of the Company have foreign
HEREE BINBRTES K currency sales and purchases, bank balances and bank
RITEE  SAEE@mEINER borrowings which expose the Group to foreign currency
o REBH04% (ZF = —4F: risk. Approximately 0.4% (2022: 12%) of the Group’s
12%) ZSHEVETTHHE 2 HE S sales are denominated in currencies other than the
BARIZINEEEEUINZ BT functional currency of the relevant group entities making
B MEFTZ99% (ZT =4 : the sale, whilst almost 99% (2022: 94%) of purchases
94%) 2 B AHBAEB AR 21 are denominated in the relevant group entities’ functional
BEEKEE- currency.

REBUIINEFEZEEEER The carrying amount of the Group’s foreign currency
BEAEE HERRENE(E denominated monetary assets and liabilities including
Whig - $R1T7464 - B 5 FENEE trade receivables and other debtors, bank balances, trade
REBITEE ERBREHRZ creditors and bank borrowings at the end of the reporting
BR T & BB 5E22 ~ 24~ 25128 period are disclosed in notes 22, 24, 25 and 28.

= o
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miE Rk &)

SN B B (42)

BRRE DT
AEBTIEEmEET AREER
BT ZIINER - TRFMSSE
EArzIeE B L ABINEFH
B5% (ZE=Z—F :5%) 2 A E
BEHRE 5% (ZFE__%F :5%)
REBEHIIEEEREHIERZ
EEEHIAEMERAZHEEL
R -PRESWERENALE
AN FEE 2 EMIER - WK H
RIZINEE K5% (Z T = =
5%) BEFAEHLBE - FRAE D
MBREESEWRGIE - R1THER
EAERREE - T3 IE&ED
REEMEABIINEEESY (ZF
T F 5% )N BRERENE
Frigin o E IR & ¥ 5 ARG INKE
5559% (- E = —4F : 5% ) B -
BEBRTEEFNERSHRTE
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34.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continved)

Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

Currency risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The Group is mainly exposed to currency risk of USD,
RMB and HK$. The following table details the Group's
sensitivity to a 5% (2022: 5%) increase and decrease in
functional currency of respective group entities against the
relevant foreign currencies. 5% (2022: 5%) is the sensitivity
rate used which represents management’s assessment
of the reasonably possible change in foreign exchange
rates. The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding
foreign currency denominated monetary items and adjusts
their translation at the period end for a 5% (2022: 5%)
change in foreign currency rates. The sensitivity analysis
includes trade receivables, bank balances, creditors as
well as borrowings. A positive number below indicates an
increase in profit after taxation where functional currency
strengthens 5% (2022: 5%) against the relevant foreign
currency. For a 5% (2022: 5%) weakening of functional
currency against the relevant foreign currency, there
would be an equal and opposite impact on the profit after

taxation.

—E-= -T2
2023 2022
FET FE T
HK$°000 HK$'000
ETT usD (10,873) (102,440)
AR RMB (1,217) (2,473)
BT HK$ (114) 1,490
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3. €@ T B ) 34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continved)

R REEBAEHR Financial risk management objectives

E&%(@) and pOIiCiES (Continued)

™5 B kR () Market risk (Continued)

SERR (Z) Currency risk (Continued)

BRE DT (&) Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

REFEBFEYEREYK FEMNE The Group is also exposed to currency risk in respect

BARIZRBEBZINERR  ZER of amounts due from/to group entities, which are

TE A R & B A 7 Ih BE & B A S0 denominated in currencies other than the functional

ZEETFTE SHEBEEE QA currency of the relevant group entities. When the functional

REEM KRN E RSy (ZF currency of relevant group entities strengthens 5% (2022:

ZZF 1 5%) K AEBRKRBE 5%) against the relevant foreign currency, profit after

Y F #5358 1n24,529,0005 ¢ (=& taxation of the Group will increase by HK$24,529,000

Z T4 : 4,428,000 L) - A& (2022: HK$4,428,000) and the translation reserve will

5 % % 75 15 A05,515,000% JT (= increase by HK$5,515,000 (2022: HK$7,274,000) and vice

T =4 17,274,000 L) ' K versa.

Z IR e

EIEERA ARERERIL T In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is

B E AR BERE D AT unrepresentative of the inherent foreign exchange risk as

TRERIEINER R - the year end exposure does not reflect the exposure during
the year.

FZEB Interest rate risk

AEEEYE T AT ES 8 The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in

TRE (RN BN ES8) relation to fixed-rate bank deposits, bank borrowings

LA EGE (HERHE27) A (see note 28 for details of these borrowings) and lease

TAREHEER AT BR liabilities (see note 27 for details). However, since the bank

BAARE=EANETEX deposits with original maturity more than three months

BAMATEBRTERIER — & and the majority of the fixed-rate bank loans will mature

Nk REEERS within or in one year, the management considers the risk is

BEERYEAEETS L REA o insignificant to the Group.
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34.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continved)

Financial risk management objectives
and pOliCiES (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

The Group is also exposed to cash flow interest rate risk
in relation to bank deposits carried interest at prevailing
market deposit rate and floating-rate bank loans (see notes
24 and 28 for details). The use of financial derivatives is
governed by the Group’s policies approved by the board of
directors, which provide written principles on interest rate
risk and the use of financial derivatives. The risk is managed
by the Group by maintaining an appropriate mix between
fixed and floating rate for bank loans with initial maturity
period of two years or more. The Group uses interest rate
swap contracts to hedge interest rate risk for certain bank
loans carrying interest rate at floating rate in order to
achieve the appropriate mix in accordance with the Group’s
risk management policy. Hedging activities are evaluated
regularly to align with interest rate views and defined
risk appetite; ensuring the most cost-effective hedging
strategies are applied.

Interest rate swap contracts are designated as effective
hedging instruments and hedge accounting is used (see
note 23 for details). Under interest rate swap contracts,
the Group agrees to exchange the difference between
fixed and floating rate interest amounts calculated on
agreed notional principal amounts. Such contracts enable
the Group to mitigate the risk of changing interest rates
and the cash flows exposures. As the critical terms of
the interest rate swap contracts and their corresponding
hedged items are the same, the Group performs a
qualitative assessment of effectiveness and it is expected
that the value of the interest rate swap contracts and the
value of the corresponding hedged items will systematically
change in opposite direction in response to movements in
the underlying interest rates. The main source of hedge
ineffectiveness in these hedge relationships is the effect of
the counterparty and the Group’s own credit risk on the
fair value of the interest rate swap contracts, which is not
reflected in the fair value of the hedged item attributable
to the change in interest rates. No other sources of
ineffectiveness emerged from these hedging relationships.

2023 ANNUAL REPORT  YIP'S CHEMICAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

259



B #3R & FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

#n BT 15 R S B 5

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE-_T-_=%F+_-HA=+—HIL5Z For the year ended 31 December 2023

3. €@ T B ) 34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continved)

THEEREEBEHR Financial risk management objectives
E&%(@) and pOIiCiES (Continued)
™5 B kR () Market risk (Continued)
FRE R (&) Interest rate risk (Continued)
NZEBEREIHTE B RENR =X All interest rate swap contracts exchanging floating rate
TﬁHHAf{J 0 —fi?ﬁiﬁiﬁﬁiﬁ% interest amounts for fixed rate interest amounts are
/EP AR D AR B ERTE R designated as cash flow hedges to reduce the Group's cash
rrrrrrr R =R 1 | Ee E’]Eﬁ’f,mﬁuigg ° flow exposure resulting from variable interest rates on bank
%|J$¢$,Ef,ﬁ&§ms’\jﬁlj B A R loans. The interest rate swap and the interest payments on
BE -BRaAMRGNEE & the loan occur simultaneously and the amount accumulated
B EENATEESNEEE in equity is reclassified to profit or loss over the period that
T EEEE o the floating rate interest payments on debt affect profit or
loss.
AREB RS RMNEXRBEES The Group cash flow interest rate risk is mainly
RESRITES Z F X A EFH concentrated on the fluctuation of interest rates on
ZAEATLEEEREEB 2B BRI bank balances and HIBOR arising from the Group’s HK$
B2 SIRE) ° denominated borrowings.
FEZRGEERNE ETEF REE A fundamental reform of major interest rate benchmarks
ETBRAMRE  BFENAEMA is being undertaken globally, including the replacement
PlER RN ERERARETETRZE of some interbank offered rates (“IBORs"”) with alternative
WE ([RITRAIEFRE]) - NEH nearly risk-free rates. The Group intends to continue using
BRHERNESNBETEERMNZE HIBOR for its bank borrowings and interest rate swap
HHENEEFRBEBRITAZE contracts in Hong Kong.
HE o
BARRITE 2 IRITH SR R The Group’s bank balances have exposure to cash flow
B oMASBEZRTEGEEIR interest rate risk due to the fluctuation of the prevailing
ERAMERR - NAREERE market interest rate on bank balances. The directors
BRETERITESGR IR E|H] - of the Company consider the Group’s exposure of the
WAEERFBBE=MAREZ short-term bank deposits with original maturity more
HHESRITIE X MR 1T A R P than three months and bank balances to interest rate risk
ZARERTTEKXN  HTBIE is not significant as interest bearing bank balances are
RBREREDITA © within short maturity period and thus it is not included in

sensitivity analysis.
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34.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continved)

Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based
on the exposure to interest rates for non-derivative
instruments at the end of the reporting period. For bank
borrowings, the analysis is prepared assuming the amount
of liabilities outstanding at the end of the reporting period
was outstanding for the whole period. A 100 basis points
(2022: 100 basis points) increase or decrease is used which

represents management’s assessment of the reasonably
possible change in interest rates.

If interest rates on interest bearing borrowings (excluding
bank loans under cash flow hedges of HK$176,667,000 and
loans at fixed rate of HK$230,126,000 (2022: excluding
bank loans under cash flow hedges of HK$180,833,000
and loans at fixed rate of HK$450,641,000)) had been 100
basis points (2022: 100 basis points) higher/lower and all of
other variables were held constant, the profit after taxation
for the year ended 31 December 2023 would decrease/
increase by approximately HK$8,308,000 (2022: decrease/
increase by approximately HK$12,934,000). This is mainly
attributable to the Group’s exposure to interest rates on its
variable-rate borrowings which are not hedged against their
exposures to cash flow interest rate risk at the end of the
reporting period.
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3. €@ T B ) 34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

T ERERE B ZHE Financial risk management objectives

E&%(@U and pOIiCiES (Continued)

™% E R (2 Market risk (Continued)

HthE % R Other price risk

AEBHERERTIE JELETER The Group is exposed to price risk through its investments

EREESREBEHTAEZKRE MY in equity instruments, unlisted investment funds and

ERERE AEBERRHARK debt instruments. The Group invested in unquoted equity
EMmEEEERZ AR ER investments for long term strategic purposes which had

AHME2mEWZE 2 EREEZRL been designated as FVTOCI. The Group has a special team

B - ANREBEREEZEBEKEEE to monitor the price risk and will consider hedging the risk

WER iR EZSEREEY exposure should the need arise.

PR TED 2 e o

BRRE DT Sensitivity analysis

B E DT I ERRE BT E The sensitivity analysis has been determined based on the
H2EREIEREREARETE - exposure to debt or equity price risk at the reporting date.
WEAREBEFAERZEMEE If the price of the financial assets at FVTPL had been 5%
RE®R EH,T¥5% Al AEE higher/lower, the Group's profit after taxation for the year
BHE_Z_=F+-H=+—H ended 31 December 2023 would increase/decrease by
iﬁrz&fﬂ{é/ #3240 R HK$42,275,000 (2022: HK$8,469,000).

142,275,000 T (ZF ==
8,469,000/87T) °

WMIELETHEBZTENME =R If the price to sales ratio of the unlisted equity instruments
Fr/ TFB®10% (Z & = — F : had been 10% (2022: 10%) higher/lower, the Group’s
10%) I AEBR =T =% investment revaluation reserve as at 31 December
+-_RB=+t—"Bz2REEHGHEG 2023 would increase/decrease by HK$63,000 (2022:
1% 00 B 463,000 T (=& HK$214,000). If the price of other unlisted equity
4 :214,00008 7T) o M EH i instruments had been 10% (2022: 10%) higher/lower, the
ELTESTENEBREA T Group's investment revaluation reserve as at 31 December
BK10% (ZFE=-—_F:10% ) * 2023 would increase/decrease by HK$1,486,000 (2022:
AAEER-_ZT-_=ZF+_A4 HK$672,000).

=+ — B2 EE L
SR 1,486,000 T (2 ==
£ 1 672,000/87C) °

WEAREFAEMEER RS 2 If the price of the debt instruments at FVTOCI had been 5%
ﬁﬂ‘klﬁﬁ’jﬁ‘ﬁg\tﬁ/TﬁS% g higher/lower, the Group’s investment revaluation reserve
BAREBR _ZT_=%+_A1 as at 31 December 2023 would increase/decrease by
=E4—1 2&551&&%% 1% 45 N HK$1,125,000 (2022: nil).

/R A1,125,0008 8 (Z 2 = =

F ) o
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34.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continved)

Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment

Credit risk refers to the risk that the Group’s counterparties
default on their contractual obligations resulting in financial
losses to the Group. The Group's credit risk exposures are
primarily attributable to trade receivables, other debtors,
amounts due from associates, short-term bank deposits
with original maturity more than three months, bank
balances and debt instruments at FVTOCI/amortised cost
(2022: to trade receivables, other debtors, amounts due
from associates and bank balances). The Group does not
hold any collateral or other credit enhancements to cover
its credit risks associated with its financial assets, except
that settlement of certain trade receivables are backed by
bills issued by reputable financial institutions.

The Group performed impairment assessment for
financial assets. Information about the Group’s credit
risk management, maximum credit risk exposures and
the related impairment assessment, if applicable, are
summarised as below:
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R EEBEHE
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AEBEZzARESERRFREE
AT 85

ABEEFR B

34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continved)

Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

The Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment
comprises the following categories:

B 5 R WRE NS
B % WA ZERMEE

Financial assets

Internal other than trade

credit rating Description Trade receivables receivables

1B e RHFZEXNRBREEEBSABRRIBE 2BBBCERL-T 2EARACEERX
RENERRERES - EHBGEENE

Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default Lifetime ECL — 12m ECL
and the debtors sometimes repay after due not credit-impaired
dates but usually settle in full.

ERRE EBALEAREN EEREAAREXY 2HEHRFEERA- NEARBEEEX
FZEH o W R EERE

Watch list Debtors frequently repay after due dates Lifetime ECL — 12m ECL
but with reasonable and supportable not credit-impaired
information.

7 8¢ MEPER TEENSEAABEIRHCE 2HRBEERL-T 2HEHREERX-T
e EMW%&%%Q%% BT ELBGEENE EHREERE
TR TETR AT - e E B

Doubtful Overdue W|thout any reasonable and Lifetime ECL — Lifetime ECL -
supportable information. There have been not credit-impaired not credit-impaired
significant increases in credit risk since
initial recognition through information
developed internally or externally resources.

EPS FEBBRREELREERE - FHRAEERL- 2HESREEREX-

EHREERE EHREERE

Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is Lifetime ECL — Lifetime ECL -
credit-impaired. credit-impaired credit-impaired

i BEBBEREBABABREYR AEEY FESHTH TRIA B ot 85
EWOHEZERES -

Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is  Amount is written off Amount is written off

in severe financial difficulty and the Group
has no realistic prospect of recovery.
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34.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continved)

Financial risk management objectives
and pOliCiES (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

Trade receivables arising from contracts with
customers

Trade receivables consist of a large number of customers,
which spread across diverse industries and geographical
areas. In order to minimise the credit risk, the management
of the Group has delegated the responsible personnel for
determination of credit limits, credit approvals and other
monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action is
taken to recover overdue debts.

The Group only accepts bills issued or guaranteed by
reputable PRC banks. Bills received from trade customers
amounted to approximately HK$325,187,000 (2022:
HK$376,281,000) as at 31 December 2023. The directors of
the Company consider the ECL for those trade receivables is
insignificant because the relevant banks are reputable banks
with high credit rating issued by credit rating agencies
in the PRC. In this regard, the directors of the Company
consider that the Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.

In addition, the Group performs impairment assessment
under ECL model on trade receivables not backed by
bills individually or on collective basis. Except for trade
receivables that are credit-impaired are assessed for ECL
individually, the Group applies internal credit rating for its
remaining customers. Debtors are grouped based on shared
credit risk characteristics based on the Group’s internal
credit ratings, and by reference to repayment history and
past due status. Net impairment loss of HK$2,367,000
(2022: reversal of impairment loss of HK$12,359,000) was
recognised during the year ended 31 December 2023.
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3. R T B » 34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
R REEBAEHR Financial risk management objectives
E&%(@) and pOIiCiES (Continued)

FERREEBERNG &) Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)
EFEHNMELEZE SRR Trade receivables arising from contracts with
I () customers (Continued)
TR B RS RS EETE The following table provides information about the
REREHREEBRX (LELR exposure to credit risk for trade receivables which are
EERE) NESEKRRBZE assessed based on collective basis within lifetime ECL
R zERN RZTZ=4F (not credit-impaired). Debtors which are credit-impaired
+TZT A=+ —HRERELEA with gross carrying amounts of HK$49,636,000 (2022:
49,636,000 0 (=& — — HK$50,172,000) as at 31 December 2023 were assessed
50,172,000/ 7T ) I B HH 3 15 B R individually.
1B 2 & W AR O BRI 5T A o
R-ZB-Z=F+=-H=+—8H At 31 December 2023
HMEESE FTHEAE FEAARE RESE
Gross Average Net
carrying loss loss Carrying
amount rate  allowance amount
FERT FHET TER
HK$’'000 HK$°000 HK$'000
WS E AR Internal credit rating
1K 2 B2 Low risk 906,132 0.08% (750) 905,382
ERAE Watch list 2,592 18.13% (470) 2,122
15 5% Doubtful 14,503 43.71% (6,339) 8,164
923,227 (7,559) 915,668
ERILIKEBRLE —T_=FEF®
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34.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continved)

Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

Trade receivables arising from contracts with
customers (Continued)

At 31 December 2022

REESE FHEXEX FEAEE BRE S5
Gross Average Net

carrying loss loss Carrying
amount rate allowance amount
T T T T T T
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

A EB1E E AR Internal credit rating
1K 2, Bz Low risk 862,539 0.08% (700) 861,839
ERyE Watch list 6,361 17.15% (1,091) 5,270
17 5& Doubtful 12,295 47.60% (5,853) 6,442
881,195 (7,644) 873,551

CRIREEE VEE- YN L SR
FHAZELBERRZOERLE
FREABERANKLE S BT
BeiBEEERBE RE2E
MERITEBBENAEEER A
AEBEREERRFGNHRER
HiZ BNEA™ O R FE B TR A o
DHEBASEEEEEHNEN -
NHEREEEHTAZEBEENE
TE#H -

The estimated loss rates are estimated based on historical
observed default rates over the expected life of the debtors
and forward-looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort. Such forward-looking information
with reference to market and industry data is used by
the management of the Group to assess both the current
as well as the forecast direction of conditions at the
reporting date. The grouping is regularly reviewed by the
management of the Group to ensure relevant information
about specific debtors is updated.
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3. €@ T B ) 34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
MEEKREEREBEZEHE Financial risk management objectives
Eﬁ%(@é} and pOIiCiES (Continued)

FEERKBRBETM @)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

BEFENFEELEZESERR
I ()
TERERBRBEBLETZERES
W FIERRZZHEHREEE

Trade receivables arising from contracts with
customers (Continued)

The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL
that has been recognised for trade receivables under the

K2 g o simplified approach.
2HED 2 HE
EEEX EEEX
(MM B (BEHEEE
EERE) HE) @t
Lifetime Lifetime
ECL ECL
(not credit- (credit-
Impaired) impaired) Total
FHET FHET FHET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
RZE-__F—H—H As at 1 January 2022 8,327 85,710 94,037
BEAEHREERE Transfer to credit-impaired (1,008) 1,008 =
BRREFERE Net impairment losses (reversal of
(B[R EEE) impairment losses) recognised 1,302 (13,661) (12,359)
s AR e £ 58 Amounts written off as uncollectible (262) (4,925) (5,187)
B Currency realignment (715) (8,017) (8,732)
HE—FRB AT Disposal of a subsidiary = (10,022) (10,022)
R-ZEBE-_—F As at 31 December 2022
+=-A=+—H 7,644 50,093 57,737
BABLREERE Transfer to credit-impaired (2,883) 2,883 =
ERREFER Net impairment losses (reversal of
(BEmEEE) impairment losses) recognised 2,931 (564) 2,367
WisE AR E € 5 Amounts written off as uncollectible (157) (1,983) (2,140)
BHsRE Currency realignment 24 (861) (837)
RZTZ=%F As at 31 December 2023
+=-A=+—H 7,559 49,568 57,127
ERLCISEERLT —Z——FEFH
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34.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continved)

Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

Trade receivables arising from contracts with
customers (Continued)

The Group writes off trade receivables when there is
information indicating that the debtor is in severe financial
difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery,
e.g. when the debtor has been placed under liquidation or
has entered into bankruptcy proceedings whichever occur
earlier.

The table below details the credit risk exposures of the
Group's other financial assets, which are subject to ECL
assessment:

2EA%R R-B-=F R-B-=F
2HEMEE t-A=t-A t-A=1-H

ABEETR ABEEIR Bx RERESE COKELHE
Gross Gross
carrying carrying
amount amount
External Internal as at as at
credit credit 12mor 31 December 31 December
rating rating lifetime ECL 2023 2022
TR TET
HK$'000 HK$'000
RBHEKANELMEE  Financial assets at
amortised cost
REIBB=MAZHz  Short-term bank deposits with AR E NEA 128 AR 854,247 1,088,116
BHBTEARBTES original maturity more than A or above N/A FER%
three months and bank 12m ECL
balances
H i FEURIE Other receivables A ERB 1218 A H 85,165 2,105,170
N/A Low risk EEBX
12m ECL
JE U B 2 A B R Amounts due from associates &R [lvEN 1218 AR 76,817 78,164
N/A Low risk EEBX
12m ECL
RSHKAZ BT A Debt instruments at BBB-f sk A £ TiE 1218 BB 135,750 -
amortised cost BBB - or above N/A FERX
12m ECL
BAAEGAEM2EY Financial assets at FVTOCI  BBB-Ak &I TER 12{8 B 7&H
RIEMEE EERX
BAREFAEMAEY Debt instruments at FVTOCI  BBB - or above N/A 12m ECL 22,492 =
wlBHIE
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3. €@ T B ) 34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continved)

BEEMREEREHAE Financial risk management objectives
E&%(@U and policies (Continued)

FERREEBERNG &) Credit risk and impairment assessment

(Continued)

REHEARBRB=@ANEH Short-term bank deposits with original maturity
BITFERRIBITHERR more than three months and bank balances
HRRZAFAEEERITBEEBRRKR Credit risk on short-term bank deposits with original
FEEIRRBLTEEETELE Y maturity more than three months and bank balances is
R17 - HERIHAE AEBB=MEA limited because the counterparties are reputable banks with
WEBRRTERRBITERZE high credit ratings assigned by international credit agencies.
ERMEAR - NEEFEREINI The Group assessed 12m ECL for short-term bank deposits
FEEFFREMEMRIEETR with original maturity more than three months and bank
BEHOWMRNENEBRZEN  F balances by reference to information relating to probability
R 2 EA A =8 i = @ A /Y % 5 of default and loss given default of the respective credit
BITERARBRITEHZI12(AAE rating grades published by external credit rating agencies.
HEEEX - AEETEERE The management of the Group considers the short-term
REEAR 2HEE=EA KRR bank deposits with original maturity more than three
TEZRRETEGBEREHED - months and bank balances are short-term in nature and
EREFHELRE  REHAEA based on the average loss rates, the 12m ECL on short-term
8 i@ = & A &) %8 B iR 17 17 3k M 6R bank deposits with original maturity more than three
TS Z1IEREHEEIBAW months and bank balances is considered to be insignificant.

BRIETERXN -

H i & W SR8 Other receivables

HEMEKZBLIESMES For other receivables and deposits, the directors of the
RKRREERERLEE L Company make periodic individual assessment on the
BECHBUAMEGERBEEEYHF recoverability of other receivables and deposits based on
ZTE 2 REMAEEER - EH historical settlement records, past experience, and also
HHMEWRIE LIRS 2 lkh guantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable
MHEITEBIEEGE - ANAFESE and supportive forward-looking information. The directors
F - ZEREZEERRBBE DA of the Company believe that there are no significant
BRART EBEEENAEAER increase in credit risk of these amounts since initial
BiE1218 A B HIE EB KGR recognition and the Group provided impairment based on
BEEE BHE-_ZE-_=%F+=_A1 12m ECL. For the year ended 31 December 2023, reversal
=+t BLIEFE  BERERR of impairment loss of HK$2,404,000 (2022: impairment loss
B E5182,404,0008 T (ZE = = of HK$2,499,000) was recognised.

& RMEE1E2,499,000/87T) °
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BHNEERR - K=
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76,817,000/ 7Tt (= g:_
78,164,000) HJ & U B & TIE
Z1I2EABHEERKE ﬂflﬁu
FHEI R AR AT ©

i

L5 Y

@“”%w4m®
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%EJ%

BRBEKAAREZAALEBEFAH
fhrmEkazEKITE
AREBREBETIAEZREBREAR
4% %/519,970,000% 7T (FHE R
156,477,000 7T) &) E &%
ZRAMENTF11%E7.0%  &HE
—E_=F+-_A=+—HIt%F
B REBEAEBAEESIENN
EMHER  HBHEHNENREAR
Bt AEME2EKE 2 EBELIA
3R 78 Hi {5 B 8 K 5 $5640,000
BT - BE-_ZE_—_F+=A
=+ —HBIEFE - B FE4207
BHWE —HFABEEMERDA
Bt AEME2EKSZEB T
B mMRBEOEHEEBELREE
13,178,000 7T ©
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34.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continved)

Financial risk management objectives
and pOliCiES (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

Amounts due from associates

The Group regularly monitors the business performance
of the associates. The Group’s credit risk in these balances
are mitigated through the value of the assets held by
these entities and the power to participate the relevant
activities of these entities. As at 31 December 2023,
amounts due from associates with gross carrying amount
of HK$76,817,000 (2022: HK$78,164,000) were assessed
individually based on 12m ECL and were considered to be
performing.

Debt instruments at amortised cost and FVTOCI

The Group’s investments in debt instruments comprise
listed bonds with principal amount of US$19,970,000
(equivalent to HK$156,477,000) with coupon rate ranging
from 1.1% to 7.0%. For the year ended 31 December 2023,
the ECL loss allowance for debt instruments at amortised
cost and FVTOCI of HK$640,000 was recognised based on
the reasonable and supportive forward-looking information.
For the year ended 31 December 2022, the reversal of ECL
allowance for debt instrument at FVTOCI of HK$13,178,000
was recognised in relation to acquisition of an investment
property disclosed in note 42.
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3. €@ T B ) 34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continved)

R REEBAEHR Financial risk management objectives
Eﬁ%(@é} and pOIiCiES (Continued)

REE SRR Liquidity risk

AEEBERHESRER  ANEEE In management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
PMESRBEEEZEEZKE BH and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed
HIEHFENREERBRAAS B Z/KE adequate by the management to finance the Group’s
BAREFBXGKHE  YHERS operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash
MK s E - EIEEBEEIEEIT flows. The management monitors the utilisation of bank
BEEZFEHEBELARERFTEER borrowings and ensure compliance with loan covenants.
2o

AEBRBRERITEREARD The Group relies on bank loans as a significant source of
BEZTBRE- R_ZE_=4F liquidity. As at 31 December 2023, the Group had available
+ - A=1+—"H8B X&EBKFH unutilised bank facilities of approximately HK$598,457,000
AzOsARTEERENA (2022: HK$921,860,000).

598,457,000 L (Z & = —
921,860,000/ 7T) °

TRHFLAEESHABEZH T The following table details the Group’s remaining
AEXHNBNEBR HIESTESFRE contractual maturity for its financial liabilities. For
BEmMs  ZHIKRDBERAERA non-derivative financial liabilities, the table has been drawn
YRNEeMEERFEZAZIERR up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial
REnMmeE -JIRBENERAK liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group
SHEER -WMANERBEE Al can be required to pay. The table includes both interest
JEBLIE £ XBIR M E HI R 2 F| R HE and principal cash flows. To the extent that interest flows
G FmEEELE JOTET A are floating rate, the undiscounted amount is derived
S2WHHEIFALIRIA S A IEREFN © from interest rate at the end of the reporting period. For

derivative instruments settled on a net basis, undiscounted
net cash outflows are presented.
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34.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continved)

Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continued)

hEBELREREZ) Liquidity risk (Continued)
RBEERANRARE Liquidity and interest risk tables
—EH LR MENL ARFRR
mEYEHE  OR-R -BAE-£ TEAME ETEEDE BENE BEREER RELH
More than  More than Total
Weighted Tmonth  1yearbut  2yearsbut contractual
average Less than to less than less than Over  undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 1 month 1 year 2 years 5 years Syears  cash flows amount
E T T TEL TEL T TEn TEnL
% HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
REBZZETZA=-2 At3112.2023
FiESBAERARER  Nonderivative financial liabilities
and lease liabilities
Rk Creditors TR NA 356,850 455,506 - - - 812,35 812,35
&8 Borrowings
-8 - at variable rate 6.68 10,056 89,580 182,654 344,768 - 627,058 556,667
-8 - at fived rate 5.36 645,385 195,617 12137 - - 853,139 845,126
RERE Lease liabilities 48 1,442 15,359 12,742 13,761 4353 47,657 42,859
1,013,733 756,062 207,533 358,529 4353 2,340,210 2,257,008
RIBZZETZAZT-B  At31.12202
FTESHEERAZAR  Non-derivative financial liabilities
and lease liabilities
B Creditors TaF NA 400424 411,712 - - - 812,136 812,136
faE Borrowings
-8 - at variable rate 5.61 20,093 368,889 239,712 85,790 - 714,484 674,834
-EE - at fixed rate 477 1,100,516 295,582 81,514 41,889 - 1,525,501 1,505,641
BERE Lease liabilties 445 1,738 17,030 9,249 12,139 6,288 46,444 41,206
1,522,171 1,093,213 336,475 139,818 6,288 3,098,565 3,033,817
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3. €@ T B ) 34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continved)

EMITEZAREE Fair value measurements of financial
instruments
AREEBLH P EREERTRARE Some of the Group's financial assets and financial liabilities
REHRSHRZAREGTE - & are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting
NAEBEEETAAEFEZEE period. The directors of the Company determine the
fHERMN RE ASE - Ef:TA appropriate valuation techniques and inputs for the fair
AEE ARTESHEAETEH value measurements. In estimating the fair value, the
IH A A B T 5 EE o directors of the Company use market-observable data to

the extent it is available.

TRIEHEBAUNEBEETXES A The following table gives information about how the fair
BERESRBEZARB(LER values of these financial assets and financial liabilities are
B A 2 (8 B iy Rt A B determined (in particular, the valuation techniques and
REAREFEERALEE inputs used), as well as the level of the fair value hierarchy
MASBEZIEBEREES>BEZA into which the fair value measurements are categorised
ARERR(BE—ZE=H) 2ER - (Level 1 to 3) based on the degree to which the inputs to
the fair value measurements is observable.
LREE/LRAR RTSIBHZAAE Rl MEFERTRIZRALE ERELEREAUE
Financial assets/ Fair value valuation Significant
financial liabilities Fair value as at Hierarchy techniques and key input(s) unobservable inputs
Z§-=E-AZt-R ZE-ZFtZA=1-H
31.12.2023 31.12.2022
ERARBHAAMRENEZEHEIA  22,492,00087 - 24 —EERTSBE - R
Debt instruments at FVTOCI HK$22,492,000 - Level 1 Quoted price in an active market. N/A

PREESRIAZHEESEAY  BE(REEWEME) EEREBRedE) £z BRRET - RRBLHNENESAE TERA
- 1,628,000 % - 4,892, 00057 (Rsmx UHRbERAEEL)
RETHORIERE  RREX AR
AEE (WER) GERR 2B EE

B
Interest rate swap contracts classified as  Assets Assets Level 2 Discounted cash flow. Future cash flows — N/A
derivative financial instruments (under hedge (under hedge are estimated based on forward
accounting) accounting) interest rates (from observable yield
- HK$1,628,000 - HK$4,892,000 curves at the end of the reporting

period) and contracted interest rates,
discounted at a rate that reflects the
credit risk of the counterparties and of
the Group as appropriate.
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3. €M T B 34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
TRTEZAAREEE Fair value measurements of financial
(&) instruments (continued)

SREE/ERAR RI5IREZAAfE ) MERBERTRIEGAHE EREEEREARE
Financial assets/ Fair value valuation Significant
financial liabilities Fair value as at Hierarchy techniques and key input(s) unobservable inputs
“®-cf+ZB=t-B ZB-fft-A=1-H
31.12.2023 31.12.202
BOAEFARMEEREZERAE  19.811,00087 8,959,000/ 0 2R R AER: iyl
-BAREHARRZENEZEREE
#I&
Financial asset at FVTOCI HK$19,811,000 HK$8,959,000 Level 2 Recent transaction price. N/A
- unquoted equity instrument at FVTOCI
BAREFAREZERAE 19,811,0008 7 12,355,000 0 224 THRHER 0 i
-FETREES
Financial assets at FVTPL HK$19,811,000 HK$12,355,000 Level 2 Recent transaction price. N/A
- unlisted investment funds
BAREAAAMRENGZEHEE 63300087 2,139,000 224 ERERSZOXTHEMARL AR THE-THERR
-BAREHARRZENEZEREE @ RAERRE R2H
IR e
Financial asset at FVTOCI HK$633,000 HK$2,139,000 Level 3 Fair value derived by the management Price to sales ratio.
- unquoted equity instrument at estimation with reference to the price o The higher the price
FvTOC sales ratio of the industry. to sales ratio, the
higher the fair value

and vice versa.
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3. R T B »

EMTRAZARENE

(%)

SHEE/LRER
Financial assets/
financial liabilities

BOAEF ARG ERAR-
if

S#-=FtoAZ1-R

31.12.2023

177,131,000

FLmhEES

Financial asset at FVTPL

HK$177,131,000

- unlisted investment funds

BOAEFARELERAE-
i

660,469,000 10

FEmERR

Financial asset at FVTPL

HK$660,469,000

- unlisted preferred shares

B &L -

(if)

ER{LISEARRAF

BRI 5 7% 4T 8 0
W 0.5% T F A 5 f 8 BOR
B BE-—_ZT-_=#F+=-A4
=+ — B LIEFEBR R
4 /18 41886,000% T (=&
4 : 825,000/ T) °

BEZR &R 40.5% i
FiEEMEHTE HE=
T-_=F#+-_A=+—H
1E F 5 /9 45 F A5 0m 4 3 0
16,013,0007% 7t /16,493,000
HETT ©

T =FEFR

34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continved)

Fair value measurements of financial
instruments (Continued)

REIABZAALE
Fair value as at
31.12.2022

164,963,000/ 70

HK$164,963,000

Notes:

&5 MERERARIZRALE

Fair value valuation

ERELEREAUE
Significant

ZE-CE+ZR=

Hierarchy techniques and key input(s) unobservable inputs
=t-H
£=R LERABENNEERERRTARE RTTARBLNT
iZEID RZ B RELTN
6 AERS
RZ IR < (RE()
Level 3 Applying marketability discount to Discount on lack
the net asset values per share or unit. of marketability.
The lower the
discount on lack of
marketability, the
higher the fair value
and vice versa.
(note (i))
=4 ERRERDERASAESRUENGE BRE -HRERD.

AR RIAR ARG ERER
BRRBEREERRZEAEHS «

Discounted cash flow hased on the

RAERE R
98 = (P (i)

Discount rate. The
higher discount rate,
the lower the fair
value and vice versa.
(note (if)

Level 3
estimated future cash flows that are
expected to be received by the Group
as well as the estimated timing of such
receipts, discounted at a rate that
reflects the credit risk of the preferred
shares.

A 0.5% increase/decrease in discount on lack of marketability
holding all other variables constant would decrease/
increase the profit for the year ended 31 December 2023 by
HK$886,000 (2022: HK$825,000).

A 0.5% increase/decrease in discount rate holding all other
variables constant would decrease/increase the profit for
the year ended 31 December 2023 by HK$16,013,000/
HK$16,493,000.
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34.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continved)

Fair value measurements of financial
instruments (continued)

A list equity securities was classified as Level 3 hierarchy
investment as at 31 December 2021 due to the locking
period on the trading of shares in public stock exchange.
The locking period ended during the year ended 31
December 2022 and therefore the investment was
transferred out from Level 3 hierarchy. As at 31 December
2022, the fair value of two (2021: three) unlisted fund
investments classified as financial assets at FVTPL was
determined by reference to the recent transaction prices
and hence was classified as Level 2 of the fair value
hierarchy. As at 31 December 2023, one (2022: two) of
these unlisted fund investments have no recent transactions
as such the fair value of these unlisted fund investments
classified as financial assets at FVTPL was determined
based on applying marketability discount to the net asset
values per share or unit. As valuation of these unlisted
fund investments involves unobservable inputs for the
asset, these unlisted fund investments classified as financial
assets at FVTPL are transferred to Level 3 of the fair value
hierarchy as at 31 December 2023 and 2022.

Except of the above, there were no transfers between Level
1, 2 and 3 during both years. The transfers between levels
of the fair value hierarchy are determined at the date of the
event or change in circumstances that caused the transfer.

2023 ANNUAL REPORT  YIP'S CHEMICAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

277



218

B #3R & FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

#n BT 15 R S B 5

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE-_T-_=%F+_-HA=+—HIL5Z For the year ended 31 December 2023

3. £®m I H 34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
TRMIBEZAAREE Fair value measurements of financial
(%) instruments (continued)
F=EMAAREFEZHER Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value

measurements
BRARETTA BRDARE
Hfth 2 1 W STABRZ
ZEBMEE SMEE
Financial Financial
asset assets
at FVTOCI at FVTPL
T T T
HK$'000 HK$'000
R-—ZT—-—%—H—H At 1 January 2022 15,035 109,528
EEREE =R Transfers into Level 3 = 24,833
BHE =R Transfers out of Level 3 = (6,678)
WEEHEE Acquisition of financial assets - 32,797
REMPEKL R 2 Fair value change recognised in other
NAEEE comprehensive income (12,896) =
RIBRMERZ AAEE  Fair value change recognised in profit or
£l loss = 6,150
B Currency realignment = (1,667)
R-ZB-—&F+=A At 31 December 2022
=+—H 2,139 164,963
BEEE =R Transfers into Level 3 = 5,636
WEeHEE Acquisition of financial assets - 657,267
A EL M 2 T A T AR Fair value change recognised in other
N EEE comprehensive income (1,506) =
RIBER 2 AR EE  Fair value change recognised in profit or
) loss - 7,172
& B 1A Dividend income = 17,855
B Currency realignment = (15,293)
R-_ZE-_=%F+—-AH At 31 December 2023
=+—H 633 837,600

FANFFABZ WS BIBBE
FORERREARBTAZER
AEFABRZZERMEEZHH
KRB W /7,172,000 7T (=
T REHIE6,150,000
BIT) cBRARBEFAERZ SR/ gains and losses’.
BEZARERSHKEEFATH

s R -

ERLIKERRAT —T—=—FEFR

Of the total gains or losses for the year included in profit or
loss, HK$7,172,000 unrealised gain (2022: HK$6,150,000
unrealised gain) relates to financial assets at FVTPL held at
the end of the current reporting period. Fair value gains or
losses on financial assets at FVTPL are included in ‘other
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34.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continved)

Fair value measurements of financial
instruments (Continued)

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value
measurements (Continued)

Of the total fair value change for the year recognised in
OCl, HK$1,506,000 (2022: HK$12,896,000) unrealised loss
relates to financial assets at FVTOCI held at the end of the
current reporting period.

The fair values of other financial assets and financial
liabilities are determined in accordance with general
accepted pricing models based on discounted cash flow
analysis. The directors of the Company consider that the
carrying amounts of these financial assets and financial
liabilities recorded at amortised cost approximate their fair
values.

Financial assets and financial
liabilities subject to offsetting,
enforceable master netting
arrangements and similar
agreements

The Group has entered interest rate swaps that are covered
by the International Swaps and Derivatives Association
Master Agreements (“ISDA Agreements”) signed with
various banks. These derivative instruments are not offset
in the consolidated statement of financial position as the
ISDA Agreements are in place with a right of set off only in
the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy so that the
Group currently has no legally enforceable right to set off
the recognised amounts. No further disclosure is provided
as the amounts involved in master netting enragements are
not significant.

2023 ANNUAL REPORT  YIP'S CHEMICAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

219



B #3R & FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

#n BT 15 R S B 5

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE-_T-_=%F+_-HA=+—HIL5Z For the year ended 31 December 2023

B.RMEEEMELE 2
EEYHER

TREINBEBEAEEREXRHP
EXZRABEEDHFE BRAS
EReBH -MEXBHEL
ZBETIEES RGN IR
AEBEZGARRERERAD A
RIBEXRBHELEZRSR]Z
BfE-

35.RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES
ARISING FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities
arising from financing activities, including both cash and
non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities
are those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows
will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of
cash flows as cash flows from financing activities.

EMFS ENRS

T4 (FEAEHAt (FEAEHAt
SRRE BE HESE EE) E5E) @it
Hedge Interest Dividend
derivative payable payable
financial Lease (included in  (included in
investments  Borrowings liabilities other payable) other payable) Total
THT THT THT THT THT T
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
RZEZZ%—FA—H At1January 2022 2,206 2,149,875 134,568 1,862 - 2,288,511
RERSR Financing cash flow (544) 163,868 (37,206) (61,815) (211,684) (147,381)
8% Interest expense 544 - - 64,841 - 65,385
EERKRE Dividends declared - - - - 227,643 227,643
P TEEAZFHZ  Net adjustment arising
from hedging
instruments (2,206) - - - - (2,206)
HERERRE Addition on lease liabilities - - 24,956 - - 24,956
BIEAE Termination of leases = = (8,739) = = (8,739)
ElHE Currency realignment - - (10,735) - - (10,735)
HEMBAR Disposal of subsidiaries - (133,268) (61,638) (1,862) - (196,768)
R-ZT-—%+=H  At31 December 2022
=+—H - 2,180,475 41,206 3,026 15,959 2,240,666
RERER Financing cash flow 3,558 (778,682) (17,918) (67,432) (482,684)  (1,343,158)
s Interest expense (3,558) - - 67,079 = 63,521
EERKE Dividends declared - - - - 466,158 466,158
HERERRE Addition on lease liabilities - - 27,854 - - 27,854
BIEAE Termination of leases = = (7,650) = = (7,650
EHAE Currency realignment - - (633) - 567 (66)
R-Z-=%+—"FH  At31 December 2023
== = 1,401,793 42,859 2,673 - 1,447,325
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36. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

On 25 May 2012, a share option scheme (the “2012
Scheme”) was adopted by the shareholders of the Group’s
ultimate holding company, Yip’s Chemical Holdings Limited
("YCHL") and the 2012 Scheme expired on 24 May 2022.

Following the expiry of the 2012 Scheme, a new share
option scheme (the “2022 Scheme”, together with the
2012 Scheme, collectively the “Share Option Schemes”)
was adopted by the shareholders of YCHL at the annual
general meeting held on 6 June 2022. The 2022 Scheme is
valid and effective for a period of ten years from the date
of adoption, i.e. 5 June 2032.

Options granted under the 2012 Scheme prior to its expiry
will continue to be valid and exercisable in accordance
with the rules of the 2012 Scheme. YCHL operates the
Share Option Schemes for the purpose of recognising and
motivating the participants, and providing incentives and a
direct economic interest in attaining the long term business
objectives of YCHL. Under the 2022 Scheme, the directors
of YCHL may grant options to any eligible participant,
including directors of YCHL or of any its subsidiaries and
associated company, adviser, consultant, agent, contractors,
client, supplier and/or such other person, who in the sole
discretion of the board of directors of YCHL has contributed
or may contribute to YCHL and its subsidiaries and/or
associated company, to subscribe for shares of YCHL. The
exercise period of options granted shall not be more than
ten years from the date of grant and the board of directors
of YCHL may provide restrictions on the exercise of options
during the period the options may be exercised. A nominal
consideration of HK$1 is payable on acceptance of the
grant of options.
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36. B R EST &l 0 36. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)
ARABBERENE T 2 HAKRITE A summary of the movements of the outstanding options
BEBRERSREHAZEHRE and their related weighted average exercise prices during
PR MEE S ITEEMTIT ¢ each of the reporting periods under the Company’s share

option scheme is as follows:

BE-_ZE—-_=%+=—A For the year ended 31 December
=+—BLEFE 2023
BRERR
Number of share options
R-B==% R=B==%
-A-A +=A=t+-H
REBH THE EE XK FREH i R AT
Outstanding Lapsed  Outstanding
Date of at during at
grant Exercise price 1.1.2023 the year 31.12.2023
B
HK$
—2-cita —2-=4-At-A
2012 Scheme 11.1.2013 5.942 3,600,000 (3,600,000) -
ARERITEE
Exercisable at the end of the year -
BT B o
HK$ HKS HK$
BRMETFHTEE
Weighted average exercise price per share 5.942 5.942 -
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36. B IR AERH & o) 36.SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)
BE-—_ZE-——F#+—A For the year ended 31 December
=+—HLFE 2022

BREHA
Number of share options
R-T-—4F R-B-—F
—A—H +ZA=+—~H
KA H T6E W R ATE FRRM W RATE
Outstanding Lapsed Outstanding
Date of at during at
grant Exercise price 1.1.2022 the year 31.12.2022
BT
HK$
—E-CiE I i =
2012 Scheme 11.1.2013 5.942 3,600,000 = 3,600,000
ARERITRE
Exercisable at the end of the year 3,600,000
BT BT BT
HK$ HK$ HK$
BRMETATEE
Weighted average exercise price per share 5.942 5.942 5.942
ERERLEERRNEESMEERE Details of the options held by the directors included in the
ZEBEWT above table are as follows:
BEE=-E—_=%+4+—A For the year ended 31 December
= R RIS 2023
BREHA
Number of share options
R-B-=% R-B-=f§
-A—-H t=ZA=t-H
REHBH TEE HARTE FRER i RTE
Outstanding Lapsed Outstanding
Date of at during at
grant Exercise price 1.1.2023 the year 31.12.2023
BT
HK$
—T-ZiE —T-=5-A+—H
2012 Scheme 11.1.2013 5.942 400,000 (400,000) -
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36. B IRERTEl 2
BE-_ZE-_—_+=A

36. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)
For the year ended 31 December

=+—BLEE 2022
BREA
Number of share options
REF==4 REF==4
—A—-H +=R=+-H
Bt A TEE R AT FRERM AT
Outstanding Lapsed Outstanding
Date at during at
of grant Exercise price 1.1.2022 the year 31.12.2022
BT
HK$
“T——itE “Z-=f-At—H
2012 Scheme 11.1.2013 5.942 400,000 - 400,000

MEFERYETEERE - R
—E-_—_F+-_A=+—HEX
TEEREZNEFHRGELD
FHI50.034F ©

P fIE] 67 2 35 8 3% 1 R A

BE-_ZT-_s8RHZ228E
IRHER R BB AT M F R 5
B-ZE-AF—At+t—HEE_
FE_=F—AtBLATITE"
mEBEBEREZSHIR_-_F—_=
F+_A=+—HEXK -

ER{LISEARRAF

—Eo=FEEH

No share options were exercised for both years. The options
outstanding at 31 December 2022 have a weighted average
remaining contract life of 0.03 year.

No share options were granted for both years.

All share options granted under the 2012 Scheme were
vested over two years from the dates of grant and they
were exercisable commencing from 11 January 2015 to 10
January 2023, all of which have lapsed as at 31 December
2023.
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37.CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

—EZ=fF —F-—

2023 2022

FEx FHIT

HK$’000 HK$'000

BREWEYE - BE K& Capital expenditure in respect of
BRI FEREZER  the acquisition of property, plant
FX - BRIAERR4E  and equipment and land use right
&M EREE contracted for but not provided in the
consolidated financial statements 5,444 8,124

38. REHERIE

AEBFEIHEA

PRERERBRESZWERN F
AR-—FENFE AL EZAM
A e

MEZ RUGHREEENROT

38. OPERATING LEASE

COMMITMENTS
The Group as lessor

All of the properties held for rental purposes have
committed lessees for the next ranged from 1 year to 4
years.

Undiscounted lease payments receivables on leases are as
follows:

—EZ=fF —F-_—
2023 2022
FEx FHIT
HK$'000 HK$'000
—FR Within one year 5,093 7,797
REZF In the second year 820 990
RE=F In the third year 585 442
REME In the fourth year 122 =
6,620 9,229

2023 ANNUAL REPORT  YIP'S CHEMICAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

285



286

B #3R & FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

#n BT 15 R S B 5

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE-_T-_=%F+_-HA=+—HIL5Z For the year ended 31 December 2023

3. TR B

Br 4R & B 15 3R & E B0 D P 52 BR
EFON FAZHEBARZ 2500
T

(a)

(b)

(©)

(d)

(e)

()

ER{LISEARRAF

F R A& B 1960,000
Bt (ZZ = — 4 : 960,000
/%E)Zfﬂ%j_{’/a1—b\§ﬁ
A ([BE]) - XaRlZ
% B% A% 3R K B =B R AK
f‘aihﬁﬁéﬁaﬂ &4 75 o
T A12EANBE T
WAEEHAE -

FR - AEEREEEKEE
EESERARZHE RE
F8 & FH304,0008 T (= &
— —4F : 384,000/ 5T) M AR
7% & U A53,000% 7T (=
T — — £ : 53,000/ T) °
KRB 2 EERBRERE
HEEREERZARHEE
b

FRN AEBHREAEEH
ZHERANAEEAHK
108,736,000 L (= ZE ==
FmIZEM-°

TN AN E A A 5 E 2 B
& N A 1Rt R 207,720,000
BIL(ZEZZF : E) 2R
i"%o

RBE-_ZTE-_=—F+=A
=+t HLEFE: AEERA
REEZHERARLEABH
578,000 L (ZE = =% :
)2 E R
FTEEBAEAARAES
RAEETHEEAS - ff
F 18 55 2 5 N 15 A B o
60

T =FEFR

39.RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Other than those disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated

financial statements, the related party transactions for the

year are presented below:

(a)

(@]

During the year, the Group paid rent of HK$960,000
(2022: HK$960,000) to Goldex Investments Limited
(“Goldex”) in which Mr. Ip Chi Shing, the ultimate
controlling shareholder and a director of the
Company, has controlling interests over Goldex. The
lease arrangement with lease term of 12 months is
considered as a short-term lease.

During the year, the Group received rent and license
fee of HK$304,000 (2022: HK$384,000) and service
fee income of HK$53,000 (2022: HK$53,000) from
Ip Chi Shing Charitable Foundation Limited in which
Mr. Ip Chi Shing, the ultimate controlling shareholder
and a director of the Company, has controlling
interest over it.

During the year, the Group purchased goods
from associates of the Group amounting to
HK$108,736,000 (2022: nil).

During the year, the Group provided services to
associates of the Group amounting to HK$7,720,000
(2022: nil).

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group
sold goods to associates of the Group amounting to
HK$578,000 (2023: nil).

The key management personnel are the directors of
the Company and the management executives of the
Group. The details of the remuneration paid to them
are set out in note 6.
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40. RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLAN

The Group participates in both a defined contribution
scheme which is registered under the Occupational
Retirement Schemes Ordinance (the “ORSO Scheme”) and
a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”)
established under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance in December 2000. The assets of the schemes
are held separately from those of the Group, in funds under
the control of trustees. Employees who were members of
the ORSO Scheme prior to the establishment of the MPF
Scheme were offered a choice of staying within the ORSO
Scheme or switching to the MPF Scheme, whereas all new
employees joining the Group on or after 1 December 2000
are required to join the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC
are members of a state-managed retirement benefit plan
operated by the government of the PRC. The subsidiaries
are required to contribute a specified percentage of
payroll costs to the retirement benefit scheme to fund the
benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect
to the retirement benefit plan is to make the specified
contributions.

The costs charged to profit or loss of HK$43,733,000
(2022: HK$54,826,000) represent contributions paid or
payable to these plans by the Group at rates specified in
the rules of the plans in respect of the current accounting
period.
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41. T EHB A T 41.PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
ARRIEZENBERAG ZFBAOT - Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as
follows:
BRARAZEE/ FAEBREERTR
MEARER EfAL/ SR HMEE AEE/EMERZLA EEER
Proportion of nominal
Nominal value of value of issued share
Place of incorporation/ issued share capital/ capital registered capital
Name of subsidiary registration registered capital held by the Group Principal activities
ZBECZZf —E-—F
2023 2022
EREHHEEBRAT R Lk-149,6658 7 100% 100% RERK
Bauhinia Advanced Materials Group  Hong Kong Ordinary - HK$149,665 100% 100%  Investment holding
Limited
EHEMI(ER)BRAR HE-BENERE ERER-ARS2,000000T  100% 100% EEZH
Bauhinia Chemical (Shanghai) PRC - wholly owned Capital contribution - 100% 100%  Trading in coatings
Company Limited foreign enterprise RMB2,000,000
ZHEEH (EB)BRAA HE-BENERE &7 E§1-40,800,000% 7 100% 100% BEREEZH
Bauhinia Coatings Manufacturing ~ PRC - wholly owned Capital contribution - 100% 100%  Manufacture of and
(Shanghai) Co., Limited foreign enterprise USD40,800,000 trading in coatings
ZHERH (85N BRAT Bk ERR-1ET 100% 100% REZK
Bauhinia Coatings (Overseas) Limited Hong Kong Ordinary - HK$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
Bauhinia Paints Limited RERUES LR - 1,0008 7T 100% 100%  REER
British Virgin Islands Ordinary - HK$1,000 100% 100% Investment holding
ZHERR (HB) BRAT hE - BENERE BRER - ARH 100% 100% HEREEEH
28,000,0007T
Bauhinia Paints Manufacturing PRC - wholly owned Capital contribution - 100% 100%  Manufacture of and
(Chengdu) Company Limited foreign enterprise RMB28,000,000 trading in coatings
AP RRARAE BA ElMk - 2087 100% 100% REZK
Bauhinia Paints Manufacturing Hong Kong Ordinary - HK$20 100% 100%  Investment holding
Limited
HEFME (T3 BRAR hE - BENELE EXEH - AR% 100% 100% HERE
20,350,0007T
Bauhinia Variegata Ink & Chemicals ~ PRC - wholly owned Capital contribution - 100% 100%  Property Investment
(Hebei) Limited foreign enterprise RMB20,350,000
REHmE L) BRAT TE - BENERE ERER - AR 100%  91.76% HEREERE
299,900,0007T
Bauhinia Variegata Ink & Chemicals ~ PRC - wholly owned Capital contribution - 100% 91.76%  Manufacturing of and
(Zhejiang) Limited foreign enterprise RMB299,900,000 trading in inks
FEFRE(PIL)BRAR hE - BENERE BRER - AEH 100%  91.76% HEREERE
162,524,4017T
Bauhinia Variegata Ink & Chemicals ~ PRC - wholly owned Capital contribution - 100% 91.76%  Manufacture of and
(Zhongshan) Limited foreign enterprise RMB162,524,401 trading in inks
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41. T EWE A 7 =) 41.PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

BRTREZEE/ FEESACRTR
WEARER AR/ E R EfER AEE/ERERZHA TEER

Name of subsidiary

Place of incorporation/
registration

Proportion of nominal
value of issued share
capital registered capital
held by the Group

Nominal value of
issued share capital/
registered capital

Principal activities

Bz —F-—F
2023 2022
EEBRRERAT B LRR-28T 100% 100% EEEER
Best Lubricant Blending Limited Hong Kong Ordinary - HK$2 100% 100%  Trading in lubricants
BERE (BE)ARAH BB LRk 100% 100% RERK
Best Prospect Investments (Hong Hong Kong Ordinary - HK$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
Kong) Limited
Brandway Limited EERIES LBR-1%T 100% 100% ®AERK
British Virgin Islands Ordinary - USD1 100% 100% Investment holding
B IRRERAR &k EiBR-160,0008 7T 75% 5% RERK
Concord Chemical Storaging Limited Hong Kong Ordinary - HK$160,000 75% 75%  Investment holding
RE#E G FRAR mE-BENERE &R F 524,500,000/ ¢ 100% 100% EE#HRE
Da Chang Polymers (Huizhou) PRC - wholly owned Capital contribution - 100% 100%  Trading in resins
Limited foreign enterprise HK$24,500,000
REATHERERRARAR  ME-BENELE &R E15-50,000,0007 7 100% 100% HEREERER
Dongguan Pacoil Lubricant Company  PRC - wholly owned Capital contribution - 100% 100%  Manufacture of and
Limited foreign enterprise HK$50,000,000 trading in lubricants
BEEBERERAA BB EiAR-15,807,383. 744 L 100% 91.76% RAERREEHE
Focus Hong Kong Development Hong Kong Ordinary - HK$15,807,383.74 100% 91.76%  Investment holding and
Limited trading in inks
ERERRA BED EER-1ET 100% 100% REERK
Great Success Limited Samoa Ordinary - USD1 100% 100% Investment holding
RELIREERAR Bk £ Bt-60,0007% 10 100% 100% REAERBRIZER
i
Handsome Chemical Services Limited Hong Kong Ordinary - HK$60,000 100% 100%  Provision of treasury
services and
investment holding
BEEH(BR)FRAR mE-BANELK EARER-20,000,000% 100% 100% HEREEZH
Hang Cheung Coatings (Hui Yang) ~ PRC - wholly owned Capital contribution - 100% 100%  Manufacture of and
Limited foreign enterprise UsD20,000,000 trading in coatings
Hang Cheung Coatings (Viet Nam) ~ #FE-BENELE BARER-100,000% 7T 100% 100% EEZH
Company Limited Vietnam - wholly owned  Capital contribution - 100% 100%  Trading in coatings
foreign enterprise UsD100,000
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41. T EWE A B =) 41.PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

ER{LISEARRAF

BRTRAZEE/ FEESAERTR
HELAEH AR/ E R EfER AEE/ERERZLE TEER

Name of subsidiary

Place of incorporation/
registration

Nominal value of
issued share capital/
registered capital

Proportion of nominal
value of issued share
capital registered capital
held by the Group

Principal activities

“B-=F —Z__F
2023 2022
BERRILIERAT Eh & #-800,000/% T 100% 100%  REER
Hang Cheung Petrochemical Limited  Hong Kong Ordinary - HK$800,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
Hang Cheung (W.S.) Limited EED EER-1ET 100% 100% REZR
Samoa Ordinary - USD1 100% 100% Investment holding
BEATFRBERAH B ERR-18T 100% 100% #®AEER
Hong Kong Pacific Oil & Chemical ~ Hong Kong Ordinary - HK$1 100% 100% Investment holding
Company Limited
IRXBREERBRAA mE-BENELK &R E[#-53,000,0007 T 75% 5% NERE
Jiangmen Thansome Solvents PRC- wholly owned Capital contribution - 75% 75%  Property investment
Production Limited foreign enterprise HK$53,000,000
FEREREARAR Bk EER-1ET 100% 100% REZRK
Joint Rich Hong Kong Investment Hong Kong Ordinary - HK$1 100% 100% Investment holding
Limited
Prophet Investments Limited RERAHS LBR-1ET - 100% #®AEER
HizE(b)
British Virgin Islands Ordinary - USD1 - 100%  Investment holding
Note (b)
Radiant New Limited RBRRHE ERR-1ET 100% 100% #HERE
British Virgin Islands Ordinary - USD1 100% 100%  Property investment
REEE(FB)ERAA BB LER-28T 100% 100% #HEAER
TM Holding (Hong Kong) Limited Hong Kong Ordinary - HK$2 100% 100%  Holding of trade mark
TM Holding Limited RERUES LER-1BT 100% 100% HAHE
British Virgin Islands Ordinary - HK$1 100% 100%  Holding of trade mark
ERR5E(BE)ARAR A EER-1ET 100% 100% EEZH
Yip's Camel (Hong Kong) Limited Hong Kong Ordinary - HK$1 100% 100%  Trading in coatings
Yip's Chemical (BV) Limited AERAES L BR-5008 7T 100% 100% REERK
British Virgin Islands Ordinary - HK$500 100% 100% Investment holding
ERACTHE (LB AERAR mE-BENEE EARER-17,000,000% T 100% 100% MERE
Yip's Chemical Research & PRC - wholly owned Capital contribution - 100% 100%  Property Investment

Development (Shanghai)
Company Limited

foreign enterprise

T SEEER

UsD17,000,000
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WEARER

Name of subsidiary

AR/ E R

Place of incorporation/
registration
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BRORAZEE/
EfER

Nominal value of
issued share capital/
registered capital

rEERFEROR
AEE/ERERZLH
Proportion of nominal
value of issued share
capital registered capital
held by the Group

41.PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

IRRH

Principal activities

Bz —F-—F
2023 2022
ERES(RE)ARAF R £18R-999,500% 100% 100% BERRREGRS
Yip's H.C. (Holding) Limited Hong Kong Ordinary - HK$999,500 100% 100%  Investment holding and
provision of services
ERhE(RE)FRAR BB LRR-28T 100% 100% REEK
Yip's Ink & Chemicals (Group) Hong Kong Ordinary - HK$2 100% 100%  Investment holding
Limited
ERERM(ZE)ARDT &R £3R-290,000% 7 100% 100% RABRREERRH
Yip's Lubricant Limited Hong Kong Ordinary - HK$290,000 100% 100%  Investment holding and
trading in lubricants
Yip's Pacific Limited RERAES E1AR-36,251,000% T 100% 100% REZR
British Virgin Islands Ordinary - HK$36,251,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
ERERMB (RN BRAA mE-BANELE ERER-ARHE0000000  100% 100%  FREMRT
PRC - wholly owned Capital contribution - 100% 100%  Provision of services
foreign enterprise RMB1,000,000
AERERELEERBERAR  hE-2880% EAER-AK%8,903,0627C 61% 61% REZRRRMEER
BR%
PRC - equity joint venture  Capital contribution - 61% 61% Investment holding
RMB8,903,062 and provision of car
maintenance services
WRAESEAERBEARAT  E-BELE BARB-AR3,000,0007T 61% 61% REIERRRE
PRC - wholly owned Capital contribution - 61% 61%  Provision of car
enterprise RMB3,000,000 maintenance services
RETABBERERBERAR HE-BELR BAEB-AR1,000,0007T 61% 61% REERRRE
PRC - wholly owned Capital contribution - 61% 61%  Provision of car
enterprise RMB1,000,000 maintenance services
BUTAEBERERKERAR HE-BECE BB F- AR 500,0007 61% 61% REAERERS
PRC - wholly owned Capital contribution - 61% 61%  Provision of car
enterprise RMB500,000 maintenance services
ROTABBEERBERAT HE-BELE BB - AR 500,000 61% 61% REAERERE
PRC - wholly owned Capital contribution - 61% 61%  Provision of car
enterprise RMB500,000 maintenance services
MRABAEZSEREBERAT  PE-BALR BAEB-AR1,000,0007T 61% 61% REAERRRE
PRC - wholly owned Capital contribution - 61% 61%  Provision of car

enterprise

RMB1,000,000

maintenance services
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41. T EWE A B =) 41.PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

BRTRAZEE/ FEESAERTR
HELAEH AR/ E R EfER AEE/ERERZLE TEER

Proportion of nominal
value of issued share
capital registered capital
held by the Group

Nominal value of
issued share capital/
registered capital

Place of incorporation/

Name of subsidiary registration Principal activities

ER{LISEARRAF

“B-=F —Z__F
2023 2022
WEAKRERERBERAR  PE-BELE BREF-AK$1,000,0007 61% 61% RESERERS
PRC - wholly owned Capital contribution - 61% 61%  Provision of car
enterprise RMB1,000,000 maintenance services
WEREEFERERAR PE-SERERE ERER-ARE343865m  42.7% 427% RESERERS
M (c) fizE(Q)
PRC - equity joint venture ~ Capital contribution - 42.7% 42.7%  Provision of car
RMB3,438,656 Note (c) Note (c) maintenance Services
ARG RERKER AT hE-SERERE BRBRE-ARB6T1,479T 42.7% 42.7% REABRERS
(A RILAERE B RS Hi&E(c) HizE(Q)
BRAR) PRC - equity joint venture ~ Capital contribution - 42.7% 42.7%  Provision of car
RMB671,479 Note (c) Note () maintenance services
ZHREHARERS (R ERAR hE-BENECE ERER-ARE5,000000C  100% 100%  REER
PRC - wholly owned Capital contribution - 100% 100% Investment holding
foreign enterprise RMB5,000,000
ELESHBE ORI BRAA mE-BENELK ERERE-AR1,000,0007 - 100% EEHRSERRELR
HizE(b) %
PRC - wholly owned Capital contribution - - 100%  Trading in sanitizing
foreign enterprise RMB 1,000,000 Note (b) products and
provision of services
AR AR R B AR 75 (7 1) HE-BERE BXER-ARE 100%  91.76% HERAHERESR
BRAR 24,000,000 =)
PRC - wholly owned Capital contribution - 100% 91.76% Inks and other product
enterprise RMB24,000,000 quality inspection
BEER(RINERAA mE-BENELE ERER-ARE 100% 100%  REER
60,400,0007C
PRC - wholly owned Capital contribution - 100% 100% Investment holding
foreign enterprise RMB60,400,000
SEVRABRARA mE-BEMELE ERAR-AKE10100000  100% - REER
T Bt (a)
PRC - wholly owned Capital contribution - 100% - Investment holding
foreign enterprise RMB10,100,000 Note (a)

T SEEER



41. T EM B A T @)

GEE

(a)

(b) &% WE“_ NELE
IEZ: ¢ = i

(0 JARKEARBHEBREER
AEEEZERB AR Z
70%HE % ©

BxYip's Chemical (BVI) Limitedfh
RABEEREIN A H
BRARYARHERE KEEE
EEMEB ZIREERQTIN
BLilfBARIEEERNES A
SEM AL, T 2 B AR o

ERAIIASEZHBARINE
ERREFELAKRBEXRELEE
HEBEZTEMBRA -EER
RIBEMHE LR ZFHBERB
RUERRE -

EWBRARNR-_ZTE-_=F+_A
E+—ET¢WEﬂ%ﬁWﬁE
AIERE 5 o

RZBE_=FR=-_ZFE-_—_F+=
A=+—H8 3F2EHNBRARHN
SEIE RIS AE R REKX o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

E =T =%+ H=+—H1-4JE For the year ended 31 December 2023

41.PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Notes:

(@) The subsidiary was incorporated during the year ended 31
December 2023.

(b)  The subsidiaries were deregistered during the year ended 31
December 2023.

() JAERERBHEREBMR AT has 70% interest in these
subsidiaries.

Except for Yip's Chemical (BVI) Limited which is held directly
by the Company, all other subsidiaries are indirectly held.
Except for the investment holding companies which have
no specific place of operation, all the above subsidiaries
operate principally in their respective place of incorporation/
registration.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group which, in
the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results
or assets or liabilities of the Group. To give details of other
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result in
particulars of excessive length.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities subsisting

at 31 December 2023 or at any time during the year.

The non-controlling interests of non-wholly owned
subsidiaries are individually immaterial as at 31 December
2023 and 2022.
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412. T EFBERXH 42. MAJOR NON-CASH
TRANSACTION
RBE-_ZE-_=F+-_A=+— During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group
HIEFEE AEBEFERAEE entered into new lease contracts for the use of leased
MERBE RT3 A properties and plant and machinery. On the lease
EAR -REBEEZE-_ZT_=F1+—= commencement, the Group recognised right-of-use assets
A=Z+—BIL&E XEBR of HK$27,854,000 (2022: HK$24,956,000) and lease
HERBEEERTETAESRE liabilities of HK$27,854,000 (2022: HK$24,956,000) during
27,854,000 T (Z & = —F : the year ended 31 December 2023.

24,956,000 ) A E & &
27,854,000 L (Z & = =
24,956,000/ 7T ) ©

REBEE-—E-_=F+=-A=+— During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group
HIEFE AEERXRIEEEEAEES terminated leases and derecognised right-of-use assets of
K% - TR 2 A #E & & 7,097,000 HK$7,097,000 (2022: HK$8,739,000) and lease liabilities of
Bor (ZZF = — 4 :8,739,000/8 HK$7,650,000 (2022: HK$8,739,000).

7T) R E & {&7,650,000/8 7T (=
L — —4F : 8,739,000/87T) °

REE_E-_—_F+=_A=+— During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group
BIEFE AEEKREREDHE acquired an investment property of HK$71,302,000 with
71,302,000 0 RERERE consideration consisting of cash of HK$35,359,000,
35,359,000/ 0 - B 5 K& H {th fE trade and other receivables of HK$5,707,000 and debt
g X IE5,707,000/ 7T R IE A 1 instrument at FVTOCI of HK$30,236,000. During the year
Bif \AEttzEmkaszEEK LA ended 31 December 2023, the Group acquired investment
30,236,000 L c HE T = = properties of HK$8,271,000 with consideration consisting
F+_A=1+—"HBIEFE - Z]K‘EE of trade and other receivables of HK$8,271,000.

& U B8 1% & ) 38,271,000/ TT
REBEES R EMEKRKE
8,271,000/ JT, ©

RBEE T - " F+-_A=+— During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group
BIEFE AEEKE S ERK transferred trade receivables of HK$30,631,000 to deposits
T830,631,000/8 THEBE ZHEZ 5 paid for acquisition of investment properties in relation to
BRAFIVEETHERBRND settlement arrangements entered with trade debtors.

NBEREMEZRE °
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BE-_ZT-_=F+_-FH=+—H 14 For the year ended 31 December 2023

43.STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL

POSITION OF THE COMPANY

—EZ= —ET - —F
2023 2022
FET FHTT
HK$'000 HK$'000
EMENE E Non-current assets
KRB AR ZIRE Investments in subsidiaries 1,254,006 1,275,051
JEU — R B ARFKIE  Amount due from a subsidiary 509,525 109,554
1,763,531 1,384,605
mEE E Current assets
H At & WK IE K Other receivables and prepayments
B R IE 8,792 151
RITHEHRRIB S Bank balances and cash 235,074 509
243,866 660
mBEE Current liabilities
H At & 7 BR X% Other creditors and accrued charges
FEEtE A 988 878
FERf—TEIMI B ARz E  Amount due to a subsidiary 139,528 _
MBS EREE Financial guarantee liability 277 277
140,793 1,155
MBEE (BE) F58 Net current assets (liabilities) 103,073 (495)
BEFE Net assets 1,866,604 1,384,110
R& AN K 7E Capital and reserves
& 7 Share capital 56,848 56,848
iE Reserves 1,809,756 1,327,262
RtE Total equity 1,866,604 1,384,110
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43. KD B IR R T =)

43. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL
POSITION OF THE COMPANY

(Continued)
Fﬁﬁ@@] Movement of reserves
E1EE
REE BRERE HbEE EIGRE i REEA ait
Share Capital
Share option Other Translation redemption  Retained
premium  reserve  reserve  reseve reserve profits Total
Tin Tin ThL Tin TiEn Tin Tin
HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000
(W)
(Note)
RZE-Z%-f-H At 1 January 2022 576,022 3,138 71,700 208,405 6,431 589,147 1,461,443
KELF| Profit for the year - - - - - 157,150 157,151
RiNEZ25 €% Exchange difference arising on translation to
EEZENZE presentation currency - - - (132,159) = - (13,19)
AERE (L) ha s Total comprehensive (expense) income
for the year - - - (132157) - 157,151 24,994
Bfifke Dividends paid - - - - - (159175 (159,175)
RIBZZETZAZT-H  At31 December 2022 576,022 338 TL00 76248 6431 81123 1321062
AEGH Profit for the year - - - - - 1017874 1017874
ENEZ2FEEMELZ  Exchange difference arising on translation to
EizE presentation currency - - - (69,222) = = (69,222)
AERE (Rt hReE Total comprehensive (expense) income for
the year - - - (69,222) - 1,017,874 948,652
ERELH Lapse of share option - (3,739) - - - 3,738 -
EfRE Dividends paid - - - - - (466,158)  (466,158)
RZE-ZE+-A=F-H  At31December 2023 576,022 - 71,700 7,026 6,431 1142577 1,809,756

st : HEMREEEE-LL—F%
B EEmEL 2R -

ER{LISEARRAF

—=—
— =

=FEFR

Note: Other reserve represents the reserve arising from group

reorganisation in 1991.
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